
































































































































































































































































































































































































































































Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

February 1, 2022 

 
Town of Huachuca City 
Attn: Town Clerk’s Office 
500 N. Gonzales Blvd. 
Huachuca City, AZ 85616 
 
Re: Fire Protection, Emergency Medical and Fire Prevention Services Proposals 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 

As the Fire Chief for the Fry Fire District, it is my distinct privilege to offer the included proposals 

for fire protection, emergency medical and fire prevention services to the Town of Huachuca City 

for your review.  It is my sincere belief that you will find the Fry Fire District uniquely qualified and 

positioned to be able to provide responsive, professional, and efficient emergency services to the 

Town and its residents.   

The Fry Fire District is incredibly proud of our long-standing relationship with the Town of 

Huachuca City that dates back to our inception more than 50 years ago.  We look forward to 

continuing to provide you with exceptional services whether our proposals are selected or not.  All 

three proposals anticipate the Town maintaining ownership of its fire and emergency response 

apparatus and facilities, making them available to responders for their use as appropriate. 

As requested, we have included three separate and distinct proposals for your review.  Proposal 1 

is for full-time staffing with a minimum of two emergency responders 24 hours per day, 7 days per 

week, 365 days per year.  Due to the cost of personnel and employee-related expenses, this 

proposal understandably comes with the highest cost.   

 Personnel and Indirect Costs:        $574,657.00 

 Fire Prevention and Inspection Services:    No charges for labor*  

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:                                       $30,000.00 

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Proposal 2 is built around a minimum of two emergency responders employed during the peak 

hours of 7:00 am to 9:00 pm.  After-hours responses could be provided by initial response trained 



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

law enforcement officers or volunteers supported by a full-time response from our nearby fire 

station on Second Street in Sierra Vista.   

 Personnel and Indirect Costs:       $383,121.00 

 Fire Prevention and Inspection Services:    No charges for labor*  

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:                    $30,000.00  

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Proposal 3 reflects the provision of management and oversight services, with the Town of 

Huachuca City retaining all fiscal duties related to apparatus and equipment, facilities, and 

personnel with administrative duties, such as recruitment, selection, training, and operational 

direction provided by the Fry Fire District.  

 Administrative, supervisory and management costs:       $65,000.00

 Fire Prevention Services:                  No charges for labor* 

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:            $30,000.00 

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Although we have made every effort to address all of the services considered within your Request 

for Proposals, a few particular areas remain open to review and clarification, specifically, the 

Town’s apparatus and equipment inventory, as well as your needs and preferences regarding 

these emergency response apparatus and other capital resources, to include facilities. 

It is our position that we would be engaged to provide emergency response and associated 

community support services, i.e. professional emergency responder staffing and management to 

the Town of Huachuca City Fire Department rather than replacing it.  We would prefer to work 

with you, as partners, to extend the services the Town provides to your residents than replace the 

department your community has built. 

You will find Proposal 1 included with this letter as well as the following Supplemental 

Information: 

o Leadership Team and Critical Staff Bios 

o Heavy and Light Duty Apparatus Inspection Checklists 

o 2021 FFD Fee Schedule (Costs are waived unless noted in the proposal)  

o DRAFT Copy of the 2021 FFD Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (GFOA 

response and Final Letter pending) 



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

Pricing estimates included in these proposals are valid through 5:00 pm on May 9, 2022.  If I can 

provide any clarification regarding any of the supporting materials presented or our underlying 

cost assumptions, please don’t hesitate to reach out to me at the email address or contact number 

below.  

      

Respectfully, 

 

Mark H. Savage, JD, CFO 
msavage@fryfiredistrict.com  
(520) 678-6745 
 

mailto:msavage@fryfiredistrict.com


 

1 
 

 

 

Fire Protection, Emergency Medical and Fire Prevention Services for the 

Town of Huachuca City 

 

Proposal 1 

24/7 Coverage 

 

 

Background and Project Summary 

Fry Fire District Profile and History - The Fry Fire District (FFD) was originally formed in April of 

1965 as the Fry Volunteer Fire Company. Governance for the original Volunteer Fire Company 

evolved from an elected Fire Chief to the current elected five-member Board in 1985. Volunteer 

Firefighters were originally only responsible for handling the fire suppression needs of the 

community. Emergency medical treatment and transport services were added later along with 

full-time employees to provide round-the-clock protection. Early volunteers operating out of a 

single fire station on Second Street laid the foundation for the professional services FFD 

personnel deliver today.  

Fry Fire District currently provides all hazard emergency services from three fire stations.  We 

are staffed with a total of 36 full-time firefighters augmented by several additional part-time 

Firefighters and EMS personnel. The last year saw four additional firefighters obtain their 

Paramedic certification bringing our total staff of Paramedics up to 29, which means that more 

than 75% of our staff can now provide advanced life support (ALS) level care. At a minimum, all 

full-time suppression personnel are trained in structural and wildland firefighting and are 

certified basic EMT’s. We currently have an Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating of 3 and have 

extensive experience with all the service areas presented in your request for proposals.  We 

would anticipate maintaining or improving your current ISO rating. 

FFD operates under Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48, Chapter 5 and is recognized by the 

State of Arizona as a special taxing district. FFD is governed by a five-member Board, comprised 

of a Board Chair, Clerk and three additional members. All Members are elected at large and 



 

2 
 

serve staggered four-year terms. The Board is responsible for adopting an annual budget, 

setting District policy and ensuring the Fire Chief implements policy and manages day-to-day 

operations of FFD. We have five administrative and support staff including a full-time Fire Chief, 

Fire Marshal, Ambulance Billing Supervisor, Fleet Mechanic and Administrative Assistant. 

Financial and accounting services are provided by the James Vincent Group. 

Operationally, the Fire Chief is supported by Battalion Chiefs who directly supervise assigned 

Captains and response personnel. Operations are funded primarily through limited assessed 

value property taxes, with additional funding being generated through other avenues including 

billing for ambulance transports, federal and state wildfire responses, and support from various 

grants.  

Our current organizational chart is below and shows how our personnel are organized into 

three separate shifts to provide 24/7 coverage.  Our suppression personnel are currently 

assigned to rotating shifts that see them working for a period of 48 hours before going off-duty 

for 96 hours.  

 

FFD responded to just over 4,400 calls for service in 2021.  Emergency medical service-related 

calls make up more than 80% of our annual calls for service. We provide ambulance transport 

services under Certificate of Necessity (CON) #18 on file with the Arizona Department of Health 

Services.  Our CON covers over 200 square miles of southeastern Arizona, and currently 

includes the Town of Huachuca City (Town). 



 

3 
 

FFD exists to provide the most professional and empathetic services possible to improve the 

quality of life for our communities.  Our personnel will respond to any emergency that 

threatens life, safety or property.  We work closely with partners from the Sierra Vista Fire and 

Medical Department, Ft. Huachuca Fire Department, Palominas Fire District, Whetstone Fire 

District, and the Southeastern Arizona Communications Center (SEACOM) to provide 

emergency response customers with the closest available unit with the appropriate capacity to 

provide service. FFD also responds to various non-emergency situations that are not routinely 

handled by other agencies or providers. These non-emergency responses include things such 

as: snake removals, open burn permits, home safety surveys, etc. The FFD Community Risk 

Reduction programs cover topics such as fall injury prevention, fire safety, CPR, immunizations 

and first aid and proactively work to reduce or mitigate risk either through prevention or 

otherwise. 

As noted above, we also have full-time personnel filling support positions for Fleet 

Maintenance and Fire Prevention.  In the past few years, we have provided high-quality 

maintenance and repair services to the U.S. Forest Service, Palominas Fire District, and the 

Sunsites-Pearce Fire District.  These services are often provided much sooner than would 

otherwise be possible in the civilian market.  Our fleet mechanic currently maintains a total of 4 

fire engines, 2 brush trucks, 5 ambulances, and 9 support vehicles.  In addition to conducting 

fire origin and cause investigations, our Fire Marshal regularly reviews building plans and 

conducts approximately 260 in-person business inspections annually. 

We are strong believers in community engagement and collaborative partnerships.  We have 

automatic aid agreements in place with the City of Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department 

and the Palominas Fire District and have a very strong working relationship with the Ft. 

Huachuca Fire Department.  We also provide significant support to SEACOM, the Cochise 

County All Hazards Incident Management Team, the Cochise County Local Emergency Planning 

Committee, and the Ft. Huachuca Sentinel Landscape Restoration Partnership.  We participate 

with several regional teams including Hazardous Materials Response Team, Technical Rescue 

Team, and the Cochise County Wildland Group.  We have several recognized experts in the 

areas of hazardous materials response, wildland interface firefighting, high-angle rescue and 

swift water rescue who provide training across the county.  

We have been providing emergency services and support to the Town of Huachuca City since 

our inception and are incredibly proud of that history and our collaborative working 

relationships.  Many of our tenured employees started out as young EMTs and Paramedics 

responding to emergency calls along with Fire Chief Bob Fenimore and EMT’s Lynn and Janet 

Morlock and Mark Genz.  



 

4 
 

During the past few years, we have continued to perform more than 99% of the Town’s 

emergency medical transports; providing your citizens with professional, experienced, 

advanced life support (ALS) certified paramedics on every single call that we respond to.  We 

have also provided support for fires and other emergencies throughout the period, including a 

few large fires, and the coordination of a Covid-19 Vaccination Clinic recently supported by 

Town staff and the Whetstone Fire District hosted in your very own community center. 

We are currently providing your EMS responses and ambulance transports from our fire station 

at 207 N. Second Street, in Sierra Vista.  This service is reinforced by units from our other two 

fire stations south and east of Sierra Vista at 4817 S. Apache and 5019 S. Arabian respectively.   

Should either of our proposals for staffing be selected, the staff proposed would be hired in 

addition to our current staff and would work out of your fire station at 502 Gonzales Boulevard.  

These personnel would be reinforced by the entirety of the Fry Fire District as well as our 

automatic and mutual aid partners.  

Summary of Work to Be Done: 

As an all-hazards emergency response agency, we are intimately familiar with the emergency 

response services needed in your community, and the non-emergent, community support 

services that help build strong relationships and improve the quality of life for your residents.    

Our data shows that the Town experienced approximately 421 calls for service in 2021.  The 

following chart illustrates 

your call volume for 2021 

broken down by the type 

of call.  We have 

experienced similar trends 

across the rest of our fire 

district with most 

incidents being medical-

related.  Of note is the 

fact that actual fire calls 

make up less than 2% of 

your total call volume, 

with medical-related and 

service calls accounting for 90%.   

The distribution of the total annual call load for the Town by day of the week and hour of the 

day is demonstrated on the following charts. 

1% 11%
8%

1%

79%

2021 Huachuca City Call Distribution 
by Nature of Call

400-480 Hazardous
Condition (No Fire)

500-571  Service Call

700-751 False Alarm and
False Call

Fire 100-170

Rescue and EMS Incident.



 

5 
 

On average, the Town experiences less than 1.2 calls for service per day, leaving most of your 

emergency responders’ time relatively free.  Two trends are notable in the daily distribution of 

emergency calls 

throughout the week.  

Slight peaks are noted on 

Monday and Thursday, 

with calls declining over 

the subsequent few days 

throughout the week.  

The lowest average 

demand is noted on 

Wednesdays.  Proposal 1 

includes round-the-clock 

service and anticipates 

response times from 

dispatch to arrival under three minutes to initial calls for service.   

Concurrent calls, where two calls are active at or near the same time, occurred on 

approximately 25 separate occasions during the past year.  These calls will continue to be 

covered with other responding units from Whetstone Fire District, Fry Fire District, and Sierra 

Vista Fire and Medical Department.  The next closest ambulance from FFD would be dispatched 

from our fire station at 207 N. Second Street in Sierra Vista, approximately 8 miles away. 

A review of the distribution 

of the Town’s calls for 

emergency services for the 

past year throughout each 

day shows a predictable 

increase in volume during 

the daytime hours, with an 

additional spike shortly 

after midnight.  

Approximately 78% of your 

calls for service occurred 

between the hours of 7:00 

am and 9:00 pm.   

Your scope of work also includes providing regular business inspections and fire prevention 

services, which would easily be incorporated into our current Fire Marshal’s daily duties.  Fleet 

64
66
68
70
72
74
76
78
80
82

2021 Huachuca City Call Distribution
Day of the Week

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

00:00-…

03:00-…

06:00-…

09:00-…

12:00-…

15:00-…

18:00-…

21:00-…

2021 HC Call Distribution by Hour of 
the Day



 

6 
 

maintenance would also be easily incorporated into our current Fleet Mechanic’s regular 

duties. 

Objectives:  

✓ Full-Time Station Staffing and Emergency Response with ALS personnel 

 Staffing the Huachuca City Fire Station at 502 E. Gonzales St., with a minimum of two 

personnel.  One to fill the role of Lieutenant / Paramedic, and one to fill the role of Firefighter / 

EMT.  Personnel would be assigned to a 48/96 schedule matching the current schedule used by 

the FFD.  Personnel would be trained in all aspects of structure and wildland fire suppression, 

prevention, and emergency medical response, patient treatment and transport.   

✓ Apparatus and Equipment  

 The FFD would provide one advanced life support (ALS) ambulance at no cost to the 

Town of Huachuca City.  In the event a resident requires transport to a local hospital, they 

would be billed according to the FFD ambulance rates currently approved by the Arizona 

Department of Health Services.  There are currently no charges for any patient who is assessed 

or treated by paramedics on scene, who refuses transport to a hospital.  

 If requested the FFD may provide one fully equipped fire engine, if the Town’s current 

apparatus are not in serviceable condition.  This engine would be provided under an annual 

lease agreement with the FFD covering all ongoing maintenance and support costs, as well as 

any required equipment replacement or repairs.  The proposed lease cost of the engine if 

needed is $30,000.00 which includes the total cost of operations and equipment maintenance 

and repair.  

✓ Fleet Maintenance 

 Under this proposal, the FFD would assume responsibility for providing maintenance 

and repair services for fire apparatus owned by the Town of Huachuca City but leased to the 

FFD under this Proposal.  Labor costs for fleet maintenance provided by our mechanic would 

become the responsibility of FFD with the costs for replacement parts and supplies, or any 

outside repair services paid by the Town. 

✓ Fire Prevention / Community Risk Reduction 

 Under this proposal, the FFD would begin performing annual Fire and Life Safety 

Inspections for businesses and schools in the Town, in close cooperation with the Town’s 

Building Official under the current Fire Code as adopted by the Town.  Public Education events 

would be easily incorporated to the FFD’s regular routine.  Some more intricate building plans 

may be submitted to a third-party vendor for review.  Any costs for subdivision development or 



 

7 
 

building plan reviews completed by an outside third-party vendor would be passed to the 

applicant.   

✓        First Responder Training 

Under this proposal, the FFD would provide all appropriate and required training to emergency 

response personnel.  In addition, we would also like to offer any interested volunteers or other 

staff with basic first aid and CPR training at no cost to build immediate response capacity within 

the town. 

Methodology:  

This proposal reflects the provision of all emergency services identified in the Scope of Work as 

if the Town of Huachuca City was part of the Fry Fire District.  Costs reflected in this proposal 

are all-inclusive unless specifically provided on an as-needed basis under the fee schedule 

adopted annually by the Fry Fire District Board and provided with our proposals.  

Staffing: This proposal reflects a minimum staffing level of two full-time, professional 

firefighting personnel at the Huachuca City Fire Station 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 365 

days per year.  These personnel will reflect the minimum listed certifications: at least one 

certified Paramedic filling a supervisory role, and at least one certified EMT filling a support 

role.  Both personnel will be trained to current National Fire Protection Administration 

standards and certified to perform basic structural firefighting and wildland interface 

firefighting.  The annual total cost of staffing and indirect costs for this proposal is projected to 

be: $574,657.00. 

Recruitment, selection, training, and supervision will be provided by the Fry Fire District utilizing 

existing administrative and support resources at no additional cost.   

The anticipated hourly pay rates used in this proposal range from $15.48 / hour for a Firefighter 

/ EMT to $20.08 / hour for a Lieutenant / Paramedic prior to the inclusion of employee-related 

expenses.  Employee benefits offered will match those provided to other full-time Fry Fire 

District employees including health and dental insurance, paid time off, paid holidays, uniform 

allowance, and membership in the Arizona Public Safety Personnel Retirement System.    

The cost for this proposal reflects our experience with the current fiscal year.  Annual contract 

increases are estimated to run approximately 5% based on a 2.5% annual merit step increase 

for employee pay as well as cost-of-living and other employee-related expense increases.   



 

8 
 

Apparatus and Equipment Included:  

This proposal includes the provision of 

one advanced life support (ALS) 

ambulance registered with the Arizona 

Department of Health Services (ADHS), 

together with all appropriate 

equipment and medications for 

advanced medical patient assessment, 

treatment, and transport.  All costs for 

ambulance operations, maintenance 

and repairs will be covered by the Fry 

Fire District.  

The Town currently owns two fire engines and one brush truck.  It is our understanding that the 

Spartan Gladiator fire engine (age and mileage unknown) is currently out of service due to 

issues with the braking system.  The serviceability of the Ferrara Intruder fire engine (age and 

mileage unknown) is similarly undetermined.  The brush truck is a 2013 Ford that is believed to 

be serviceable. 

If selected, the Fry Fire District would perform thorough inspections of all apparatus for 

compliance with National Fire Protection Administration (NFPA) standards and ensure ongoing 

annual service testing and certification of fire equipment and pumps.  Apparatus would also be 

inspected for ISO compliance.  Inspections would be provided at no cost with current apparatus 

remaining the sole and separate property of the Town of Huachuca City, with costs for fuel, 

maintenance and repairs remaining the responsibility of the Town.  If our proposal is selected, 

we would provide fleet maintenance and repair services, within our capacity, at no cost to the 

Town, other than the costs of maintenance supplies and replacement parts.  

In the event the Town would be interested in deploying its apparatus on wildland fire 

assignments, the Fry Fire District would recommend a separate intergovernmental agreement 

for staffing and billing support, allowing the Town to generate non-tax revenue from the use of 

its fire apparatus under a Cooperative Fire Rate Agreement with the State of Arizona.  

If the current fire apparatus owned by the Town is not in serviceable condition, a fire engine 

could be provided by the Fry Fire District at an additional cost of $30,000 per year.  The engine 

would include all appropriate equipment for offensive firefighting operations, medical 

response, and vehicle extrication.  If this option is selected, the Fry Fire District will bear all fuel, 

maintenance and repair costs for its apparatus so leased. 



 

9 
 

Additional Apparatus and Equipment:  Routine inspections and inventories would also be 

performed on all other apparatus and equipment and reported to the Town. 

Operational Effectiveness: 

With the exceptions of the specified costs for emergency response personnel and the potential 

need to acquire serviceable apparatus identified above, this proposal will leverage existing 

capacities within the Fry Fire District.  Ancillary non-emergency services such as Fire Prevention 

and Community Risk Reduction, Fleet Management, Fire and EMS Training can easily be 

incorporated into our current operations at no additional costs to the Town.  Fleet maintenance 

and repair services falling within our capacity would be provided to the Town at cost for 

apparatus owned by the Town, except for the actual replacement cost of parts and shop 

supplies and materials.    

Fire Suppression responses will be easily incorporated to our current automatic aid agreement 

with the City of Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department and mutual aid agreement with the 

Whetstone Fire District and Ft. Huachuca Fire Department.  Our current response plans include 

these partners and utilize a closest, most-appropriate response model regardless of jurisdiction.  

Although we anticipate cross staffing the 

ambulance and fire engine at your station, 

additional resources from Fry Fire District, 

the City of Sierra Vista, and Ft. Huachuca, 

and Whetstone Fire District will reflect our 

existing fire and EMS response procedures.   

The Fry Fire District understands that quality 

training is a key component to support 

professional fire fighters and to provide for 

citizen safety.  According to a recent NFPA 

study, “The estimate of total fires was 54 

percent lower in 2020 than in 1980.” This 

means that there are fewer fires for firefighters to gain experience on, which makes training 

even more vital. FFD conducts its training on a calendar year basis. During each year FFD will 

hold quarterly officer training to included leadership development and command training. 

Other training held quarterly includes engineer or driver / operator training, wildland training, 

technical rescue training, and hazmat training. FFD also provides shift friendly EMS training 3 

days every month. Our EMS training allows our employees the ability to renew their EMT or 

Paramedic certifications with no need to attend outside training off-duty. FFD also ensures all 

online employees meet or exceed the ISO requirements for training. The ISO requirements 

include the following: 192 hours of company or individual training, 18 hours of facilities training 



 

10 
 

(including live burns, LPG burns, and any single or multi company training performed at the 

FFD’s designated training site), 12 hours of officer training, 12 hours of driver operator training, 

and 8 hours of Haz-mat training.  Total hours required for Firefighters are 216 hours and 228 

hours for Engineers, Captains, and Battalions Chiefs. FFD regularly participates in regional 

training with agencies including Sierra Vista Fire and Medical, Palominas Fire, Ft Huachuca Fire, 

and Whetstone Fire. The latest regional training hosted by Fry Fire District and supported by a 

State Emergency Preparedness grant added 15 live fire instructors to agencies across Cochise 

County.  

One area of concern is your three-story apartment complex, which we believe would benefit 

from a ladder truck.  The closest operational ladder trucks currently come from the Sierra Vista 

Fire and Medical Department and the Ft. Huachuca Fire Department.  Although a ladder truck is 

recommended, we appreciate that they may be cost-prohibitive and would take a close look at 

other, more feasible options to ensure appropriate ground ladders were available to support 

rescue operations in this complex.    

Vehicle Rescue, Technical Rescue, and Hazardous Material response services are incorporated 

in our regular annual training, as are annual wildland refresher training and physical tests.  We 

currently have several experienced 

instructors in all three areas and 

play a large role in the development 

and deployment of these highly 

specialized teams throughout 

Cochise County.  

Emergency medical response and 

transport / non-transport services 

account for over 90% of our 4,400 

annual calls for service.  As noted, 

we currently employ 29 certified 

Paramedics (ALS), at least one of 

which is included on every single medical response we make.  In addition to emergency medical 

response, we are also responsible for providing emergency medical ambulance transportation 

to patients in the Town of Huachuca City under CON #18 on file with the Arizona Department of 

Health Services.  We do not currently charge for medical responses that do not result in a 

patient transport. 

Fire Prevention and Community Risk Reduction services would be easily addressed by our full-

time Fire Marshal with the support of our Battalion Chiefs and duty personnel.  The Fry Fire 



 

11 
 

District has adopted the 2018 Edition of the International Fire Code, which we may request that 

the Town formally adopt in the event our proposal is selected and current staff are amenable. 

Our Fire Marshal regularly conducts plan reviews in partnership with Cochise County Building 

Department, however some large-scale construction projects are outsourced to a private 

company for additional review.  We routinely perform more than 260 business inspections per 

year.  In addition to regular business inspections, pre-fire plans are developed and updated at 

least annually by our fire crews.  On average, we respond to and investigate 5-10 actual 

structure fires per year. 

We define ‘community’ broadly and 

are incredibly involved in 

community engagement events 

across the county, regardless of 

jurisdictional boundaries.  The last 

year saw us support several large-

scale vaccination events across 

Cochise County.  We also supported 

National Night Out in both 

Huachuca City and Sierra Vista as 

well as several community-based CPR and Stop the Bleed training events.  We are currently 

taking a strong role in the delivery of Compression-Only CPR training across the county so that 

citizens will have the confidence and competence to give help when and where it is needed, 

prior to the arrival of professional rescuers.  We would be honored to be invited to support 

additional community engagement events in the Town of Huachuca City. 

Fleet Management Services will be provided by our full-time mechanic.  Apparatus inspections 

for NFPA compliance will occur no less than quarterly.  Detailed Quarterly and annual NFPA 

apparatus inspection lists are included with our proposals.  Fire pump certification testing 

would also be performed no less than annually at no cost for serviceable apparatus owned by 

the Town of Huachuca City.  If required to maintain apparatus in a serviceable condition, 

estimates for required repairs and maintenance would be prepared and forwarded to the Town 

Manager for approval and payment separate and apart from this proposal.  Our mechanic’s 

labor would be included under this proposal, with the Town bearing responsible for 

replacement parts and supplies.  Our normal shop rates are reflected in the attached Fee 

Schedule provided with the proposals. 

  



 

12 
 

Project Schedule:   

Every attempt will be made to provide initial staffing in accordance with the timeline 

established in the RFP beginning on March 21, 2022.  However, we may request some flexibility 

in the event there is a delay in the decision being made, notification to the winning bidder, or 

delays in contract negotiation and execution.  Since we would be bringing on additional staff for 

this project, we would anticipate a timeline approaching 6-8 weeks from the notification to 

have emergency response operations up and running.  This timeline is built around the 

following rough framework: 

 Week 1-3 

Bid Award and initial contract discussions  

Apparatus / Facility Inspections conducted 

 Lieutenant / Firefighter Job Descriptions posted (Minimum of 2 weeks) 

Testing and Selection of Personnel - with a preference for currently serving 

personnel meeting minimum requirements 

Begin transition planning with existing service provider  

Deconflict responses with automatic and mutual aid partners and begin building 

updated response plans 

 

Week 3-6 

Initial onboarding and training of personnel (Minimum of 2 weeks)  

Contract discussions continued, draft developed and forwarded to Governing 

Bodies for review and approval 

Apparatus / Facility preparation 

Continue transition with existing service provider 

Finalize updated emergency response plans 

 

Weeks 6-8 

Governing Bodies execute final contracts 

Finalize any needed Apparatus / Facility changes 

Complete transition with existing service provider 

Finalize and activate new response plans through SEACOM 

Staffing move-in and Go-Live. 

  

  



 

13 
 

Miscellaneous:  

This proposal anticipates regular and ongoing interaction and communication between Town 

and FFD Staff.  The included biographies reflect our current leadership team and the individuals 

most likely to frequently interface with Town staff from a management perspective.  We know 

that clear and transparent communication will be key if we are going to succeed in providing 

the service your citizens deserve.  We pride ourselves on our commitment to providing our 

community with unimagined excellence in service and look forward to the opportunity to 

continue working with you. 



 

Supplemental Information Packet 
 
 

TABT 
 
 

 
 
1 - Leadership Team………………………………………………………………………….. 1 

2 - Heavy Duty Apparatus……………………………………………………………………. 4  

3 - Light Duty Apparatus…………………………………………………………………….. 12AB 

4 - Fee Schedule……………………………………………………………………………… 23 

5 - Financial Report…………………………………………………………………………... 24 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 



 

FFD Leadership Team and Critical Staff 
 

 

Fire Chief Mark Savage has worked for the Fry Fire District (FFD) since 1993.  

Originally beginning as a Reserve Firefighter, he was hired full-time and promoted 

through all ranks.  He was promoted to Fire Chief in 2017.  He is a certified Paramedic 

with undergraduate degrees in Fire Prevention Administration and Business 

Management.  He received his juris doctorate from the University of Arizona, Rogers 

College of Law in 2007 and completed the National Fire Academy’s Executive Fire 

Officer Program in 2017.  He is also a Certified Public Manager and designated Chief 

Fire Officer through the Center for Public Safety Excellence.  He recently began pursuing 

the Public Leadership Credential through the Kennedy School of Government. 

 

Mark currently serves as the Fire District representative on the SEACOM Board and is 

participating in the Inter-Governmental Agreement (IGA) / Bylaws subcommittee.  He is 

a strong advocate for community risk reduction policies that drive innovative health and 

wellness programs as well as aggressive wildfire fuel reduction projects.  In addition to 

his work in emergency service, Mark is a certified peace officer and Reserve Deputy with 

the Cochise County Sheriff’s Office where he has served as a tactical medic and operator 

with their SWAT team since 2000.   

 

Mark volunteers with local health-related organizations, including current service as the 

Board Vice-Chair of the Legacy Foundation of Southeast Arizona, and as a Board 

Director for Chiricahua Community Health Centers, Inc.  

 

Battalion Chief Billy Seamans has been serving with the Fry Fire District 

since 2000.  He promoted through the ranks to Battalion Chief in 2013 and has been 

responsible for the support services of the District.  He is responsible for the oversite and 

management of the District’s radio systems, information technology and fleet 

services.  He is an active participant with SEACOM having recently completed service as 

the Chair of the Operations Committee and participates in the IGA / Bylaws 

subcommittee.  He has assisted with the recent ProQA implementation and is assisting 

with the Cochise County Fire Station Alerting project.  He is a fire investigator and has 

been called on throughout the county to investigate possible incendiary fires and assist 

with other fire investigations.  He is a member of the Cochise County Incident 

Management Support team.  

  

Billy enjoys making sure that the county systems are up to date and working properly to 

ensure that the citizens are at the forefront of every decision that is made.  He is a life 

long learner and is working towards a business management degree through Cochise 

College and the University of Arizona with a minor in computer systems.  He plans on 

assuming the duties of Fire Marshal and is training to that end.  

  

1



His training and Certifications include Fire Officer III, Blue Card Command, Inspector 

I, NFPA 921 Arson I-IV.  He is a Technical Rescue Technician, Hazmat Technician, and 

Paramedic.  

 

Battalion Chief Kaleb Mauzy has been serving in the fire service since 2001.  He 

started his career with the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) as a wildland firefighter and 

transitioned to the Fry Fire District in 2005.  

 

Kaleb promoted through the ranks and recently assumed responsibility for Fire and EMS 

Training.  He has been responsible for managing Special Operations Teams which 

include Hazardous Materials, Wildland, and SWAT Medics for the past few years.  He is 

an active participant on the regional Command Training Center Team, the regional Live 

Fire 1403 Instructor Team, and regional Standard Operating Procedure committee. He is 

a member of the Cochise County Incident Management Support team and participates 

with many other county-wide support groups.  

 

He enjoys training and working to continually better himself and those around him. He is 

a lifelong learner and is working towards earning his bachelor’s degree in Fire 

Management through Columbia Southern University.  After graduating, he plans to 

pursue a master’s degree in Emergency Management.  

 

His training and certifications include National Wildland Coordinating Group (NWCG) 

Strike Team Leader (STL) and is currently qualified as a Task Force Leader Trainee 

(TFLT). He is a Technical Rescue Technician, SWAT Medic, and Hazmat Technician.  

 

Finance Director – James Vincent Group’s Certified Public Accountants have been 

serving the FFD since 2017.  Founded in 2010, JVG is a full-service accounting, tax, and 

consulting firm with extensive experience with municipal fire departments and Arizona 

fire districts.  Their public finance and accounting expertise has allowed us to develop 

precise operating and capital budgets and reverse trends that would have seen us in the 

red for the past few years.     

 

Local 4913 Acting President Jared Haros has served the Fry Fire District since 2013 

and was promoted to Engineer / Paramedic in 2018. He began his career in ground 

ambulance and fixed wing air medical service and has been in EMS for 15 years, 13 of 

which has held NREMT paramedic certification.  
 

Jared has been involved in medical training for the last eight years as an instructor of the 

EMT and Paramedic programs at Cochise College. He has also implemented in-house 

training programs for Fry Fire District that include Advanced Cardiovascular Life 

Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support Classes for paramedics. He also developed 

a Paramedic Field Training Orientation (FTO) program that provides an environment for 

new paramedics to integrate into operations under the mentorship of a senior paramedic 

to enhance each experience into one in which new paramedics learn to operate 

independently. He recently assumed the role of EMS Training Coordinator with the goal 

of ensuring continuing education training is focused on top of the certification advanced 

2



medical and trauma treatments.  
 

Jared has been the Vice President of IAFF Local 4913 for the last four years.  He was 

recently appointed Acting President by majority vote of the membership. As the Acting 

President of L4913 he participates in regular Meet and Confer meetings with 

management to discuss labor issues as representative of the membership. 

 

Fire Marshal Ed Shiver has been with the Fry Fire District since 2007.  He has served 

as the Fire Marshal since 2016.  Ed has as Associates of Applied Science in Fire Science, 

and more than 60 fire training certificates including: Fire Inspector I / II and Fire 

Investigation I – IV.  He has a total of over 350 tested training hours in fire investigations 

and regularly attends annual Advanced Fire Investigation Seminars through the 

International Association of Arson Investigators. 

 

Ed conducts an average of 260 regular business and life safety fire inspections each year.  

He also conducts plan reviews and fire origin and cause investigations in close 

collaboration with Cochise County Planning and Zoning Department and the Cochise 

County Sheriff’s Office.  He also works closely with the Arizona State Fire Marshal’s 

Office and the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. 

 

Ed is also responsible for managing and coordinating public education and community 

risk reduction events and manages our open-burning permit program, which oversees 

approximately 425 open burning permits per year.  He recently received a Fire Prevention 

and Safety Grant that has allowed us to provide and install fire and smoke detectors in 

homes for residents without them.  Ed also responds to many 911 service calls, typically 

still fire alarms, smoke detector checks, smoke investigation and outside fire and snake 

calls, keeping emergency responders in service.   

 

Fleet Mechanic Jimmy Ayers has been with the Fry Fire District since 2017.  He began 

his mechanic career with Sierra Toyota in 1982. In his 25 years prior to joining the 

District, he owned and operated Jim’s Mobile Auto Repair, a small business providing 

mobile maintenance and repair services for local contractors and private individuals.  He 

holds an Emergency Vehicle Technician (EVT) certification in Ambulance Inspection 

and operations and has numerous American Society of Automotive Excellence (ASE) 

certifications as well.  He is currently preparing to test for ASE certifications in Light and 

Heavy Class diesel engines.  

 

 

 

 

 

3



Daily Weekly Monthly Quarterly Annual

Visual and Operational 

Checks to be 

performed by 

Operations Personnel 

on site at house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician on site at 

house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician on site at 

house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician at fleet 

garage. Unit will be out 

of service.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician at fleet 

garage. Unit will be out 

of service.

Air 

Conditioning
CHECK A/C AND HEATER OPERATION X X X

8.11 All electrical accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Heater and 

defroster (2) Air-conditioning system (3) Windshield wipers and washers (4) Instrumentation (5) Traffic preemption (6) Other 

electrical accessories on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.11(1) through (5).

Air Intake INSPECT AIR INTAKE SYSTEM X X

7.7.1 The engine air intake system shall include, but not be limited to the following: (1) Air cleaner element (2) Piping (3) 

Turbocharger (4) Air after-cooler (5) Intercooler (6) Air-to-air cooler (7) Blower (8) Ember separator 7.7.2 The engine air 

intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service recommendation. If no severe 

service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or 

mileage, shall be followed. 7.7.3 Where engines are equipped with a charged air after-cooler, it shall be inspected visually 

for outward signs of damage or deformation. 7.7.4 All hoses, tubes, and fittings shall be inspected for deformation and 

leakage. 7.7.5 The airflow shall be monitored for restriction greater than that recommended by the engine manufacturer.

Air Intake CHANGE AIR FILTERS  X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake
CHECK AND CLEAN AIR INTAKE SPARK 

ARRESTER
X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT CRANK CASE BREATHER TUBES X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT ENGINE DRIVE BELT(S) X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT TURBO CHARGER CONNECTION X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air-Powered

Accessories

Alternator

Test

Apparatus

Lighting

Apparatus

Lighting

Apparatus

Lighting

Automatic 

Electrical Load 

Mgmt System

TEST AUTOMATIC  ELECTRICAL  LOAD 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
X X

8.7.1 If so equipped, all components of the automatic electrical load management  system including, but not limited to, the 

following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation:  (1) Electronic hardware (2) Associated wiring and 

cables (3) Relays, controls, and indicators (4) Low v oltage warning devices. 8.7.2* The system shall be checked for 

activation and operation of low v oltage warning devices in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations. See 

A.8.7.2 for test.

Axle
CHECK AND LUBRICATE  KING PINS OR 

BALL JOINTS
X X

7.3.1 All axle components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural 

integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, and leakage, shall be functionally  operated, and shall be lubricated: (1) Ball joints 

(2) King pins (3) Spindles and bushings (4) Attaching hardware (5) Axle beams and housings (6) Axle shafts (7) Axle power 

div iders (8) Differentials and controls (9) Two-speed axle shift units (10) Upper and lower control arms.

Axle
CHECK TANDEM AXLE SPACING  AND 

ALIGNMENT
X Check axles for tightness and leaks

Axle
CHECK DIFFERENTIAL FLUID LEVEL, 

CLEAN VENTS
X X Check differential  fluid level and fill or replace following manufacturer's  recommendations.

Axle TWO SPEED AXLES AND CONTROLS X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Axle UPPER AND LOWER CONTROL ARMS X X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Battery 

Charger/Cond 

itioner Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

CHARGER/CONDITIONER TEST
X

17.7 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, 

it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

17.3 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs

CHECK HEADLIGHT  ADJUSTMENT X X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

7.13 All chassis air-powered accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Air

horn (2) W indshield wiper and washer (3) Air-ride seats (4) Air-powered steps and cab tilting systems (5) Fire pup shift and

valves.

ANNUAL ALTERNATOR TEST  X

17.5 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications  to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system hav e been made. Follow alternator test 17.5. This test verifies the output of the 

alternator and the alternator wiring.

CHECK WINDSHIELD  W ASHER, W IPER 

OPERATION
X

CHECK OEM LIGHT OPERATION X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

CHECK INSTRUMENT  PANEL LIGHTS, 

GAUGES
X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

Battery Test
ANNUAL BATTERY LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST
X

Fry Fire District NFPA 1901 Heavy Line Maintenance Schedule

Inspection ItemSystem Special Instruction

4



or modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. 17.3.2 Each battery 

shall be individually tested using either the procedure specified in 17.3.2.1 or 17.3.2.2. A.17.3.2.1 Conductivity testing is 

preferred to load testing because it does not stress the battery, it is a more accurate indication of the state of health of the 

battery, and it provides values that can be recorded and tracked for trend analysis. Follow Chapter 17 for test.

Body SERVICE ROLL UP DOORS/TRACKS X X

7.15.1 All compartments and storage areas shall be inspected for structural integrity, deformation, and leaks. 7.15.1.1 

Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.  7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically 

checked for correct operation and position.

Body PERFORM BODY LUBRICATION SERVICE X X 7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically checked for correct operation and position. 7.15.1.3

The hazard warning light and interlocks associated with, but not limited to, the following conditions shall be diagnostically 

checked: (1) Open passenger or equipment compartment doors (2) Ladder or equipment rack not in the stowed position (3) 

Deployed

stabilizer system (4) Extended powered light tower.

INSPECT MOUNTED STEPS,

7.15.2 All steps, platforms, handrails, and access ladders shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and

deformation. 7.15.2.1 All slip resistant surfaces shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition. 7.15.2.2 All

mechanical steps shall be

PLATFORMS,  HANDRAILS AND LADDERS. diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Body
INSPECT FINISHES, STRIPING, SIGNS AND 

LABELS
X X

7.15.4* All finishes and reflective striping shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.15.5* Where required, all 

signs and labels shall be inspected for their presence and any defects, corrosion, and damage. If apparatus does not have 

reflective striping, or warning labels, consider adding in accordance with applicable sections of current NFPA 1901

7.16.1 All locks used to hold equipment racks in the road travel position and all interlocks to prevent operation of equipment 

racks when the fire apparatus is in motion shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation. 7.16.2 Racks and 

interlocks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.3 All warning lights and visual signals for the equipment

racks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.4 Reflective striping or reflective paint shall be

inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.16.5 Equipment-holding  devices shall be inspected for security of mounting 

and deformation, shall be diagnostically checked, and

shall be lubricated.

Body INSPECT FOR SHIELDS AND GUARDS X Inspect that all shields and guards are installed and tighened properly.

Body WAX COMPLETE EXTERIOR OF UNIT X X Wax body.

INSPECT ACCESSORIES CONNECTED TO 7.12.10.1 If air accessories are connected to the chassis air brake system, then perform

AIR BRAKE SYSTEM

the next 2 items. 7.12.10.1.1 The air brake system pressure protection valve's) shall be diagnostically checked to the shutoff 

point. 7.12.10.1.2 The pressure protection v alve shall prevent the air accessories from drawing air from the air brake system 

when the air pressure drops below 80 psi (552 kPa) to ensure adequate air pressure for the braking system.

Brake SERVICE AIR DRYER X
7.12.10.2 Air reservoir tanks, air dryers, and drains shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and leakage and 

shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Brake INSPECT BRAKE LINES X X
7.12.10.3 All valves, lines, cylinders, and chambers shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and leakage 

and shall be diagnostically checked.

Brake CHECK AIR BRAKE COMPRESSOR X
7.12.10.4 The compressor and inlet filter system shall be inspected for security of mounting and shall be maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations'.

7.12.10.5 All chassis air system belts shall be inspected for wear and deformation and

shall be maintained at the manufacturer's recommended adjustment.

Brake PERFORM COMPLETE BRAKE INSPECTION X X
7.12.10.6 The cut-in and cut-out pressure settings of the air compressor gov ernor shall be tested and maintained at the 

manufacturer's recommended settings.

Brake
CHECK LOW AIR PRESSURE W ARNING 

SYSTEM
X X

7.12.10.7 The low-air warning systems shall be tested to ensure that activation occurs at the manufacturer's recommended 

setting.

Brake CHECK AIR PRESSURE INDICATORS X X 7.12.10.8 Air pressure indicators shall be diagnostically checked.

Brake PERFORM NFPA AIR BRAKE SYSTEM TEST X X X

7.12.10.9 Leak-down rate (time) of the applied side of the air brake system shall be tested with the engine stopped and the 

service brakes applied, and the air pressure shall not drop more than 3 psi (20.7 kPa) in 1 minute for a straight v ehicle or 

more than 4 psi (27.6 kPa) in 1 minute for a combination vehicle. 7.12.10.10 Leak-down rate (time) of the supply-side of the 

chassis air system shall be tested with the engine stopped and the service brakes released, and the air pressure shall not 

drop more than 2 psi (13.8 kPa) in 1 minute for a straight vehicle or more than 3 psi (20.7 kPa) in 1 minute for a combination 

v ehicle.

7.12.2 The parking brake shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, missing or broken parts, and wear 

and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.3 The parking brake controls and activating mechanism shall be inspected for 

structural integrity,

security of mounting, and missing or broken parts, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

7.12.4 The brake linings shall be replaced in accordance with the brake manufacturer's severe service recommendation 

when they are contaminated, when the lining is worn to the minimum thickness for safe operation as defined by the brake 

manufacturer, or when the brake drum or rotor is replaced. 7.12.5 The drums or rotors shall be inspected during scheduled 

maintenance, when there is a suspected problem or at the time of brake lining replacement, and the inspection shall consist 

of, but not be limited to the following: (1) Evidence of extensive heat or heat cracking (2) Out of round (3) Wear beyond 

manufacturer's specifications (4) Rust (5) Taper (6) Rotor parallelism (7) Metal fatigue.

7.12.6 Machining of brake drums or rotors shall be done only in accordance with

Body INSPECT DOOR LATCHES, HINGES, LOCKS X X

Battery Test
ANNUAL BATTERY LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST
X

Body X X

Brake X X

Brake CHECK CHASSIS AIR SYSTEM BELTS X

Body INSPECT POWERED EQUIPMENT RACKS X X

Brake
INSPECT BRAKE LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS
X

X

Brake CHECK PARKING BRAKE OPERATION X X X

5



manufacturer's recommendations. 7.12.7 All components of the braking system shall be inspected for damage and wear 

when performing a brake overhaul.

Brake TEST ABS SYSTEM X

7.12.8.1 Antilock braking systems (ABS) including the electronic control unit, cables, switches, relays, sensors, and v alv es 

shall be inspected for any deficiencies and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.8.2 The ABS electronic control unit (ECU) 

diagnostic codes shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes that have been logged.

7.12.9 If the fire apparatus has a hydraulic brake system, the components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: (1) Pedal and linkage (2) Brake switches (3) Master cylinder (4) Brake booster (5) Hydraulic 

lines (6) Valves (7) Wheel cylinders or calipers (8) Brake shoes or pads (9) Brake drums or rotors (10) Warning devices (11) 

Mounting hardware (12) Fluid level and contamination. 7.12.10 If

the fire apparatus has an air brake system, the components to be inspected and

maintained shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  (1) Air compressor (2) Pedal assembly (3) All valves (4) Hoses 

and lines (5) Brake switches (6) Brake air chambers (7) Slack adjusters (8) Cams and wedges (9) Brake shoes or pads (10) 

Brake drums or rotor (11) Calipers (12) Air dryers (13) Drain valves (14) Air tanks (15) Warning devices (16) Mounting 

hardware.

Brake
CHECK DISC BRAKE TORQUE PLATE 

BOLTS
X Check for security of mounting and deformation.

Brake
INSPECT CALIPER RETAINING RING AND 

BOLTS
X Check for security of mounting and deformation.

Brake CHECK SLACK ADJUSTERS X X
Inspect on a severe duty schedule for freedom of movement, security of mounting, and deformation and should be tested for 

proper operation. Lubricate on severe duty schedule.

Brake
LUBRICATE SLACK ADJUSTERS AND S- 

CAMS
X X Lubricate on severe duty schedule.

Brake System

Test

Braking 7.12.1 The braking system shall be inspected and maintained

System in accordance with the manufacturer’s severe serv ice recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the

shortest interval recommended by the braking system manufacturer,

based on time or mileage, shall be followed. If the vehicle is equipped with backing plates on the brakes the bolts should be 

checked on every B maintenance.

Breathing Air 

Compressor 

System Test

ANNUAL TEST OF BREATHING AIR 

COMPRESSOR SYSTEMS
X

23.1 If the apparatus is supplied with a breathing air compressor system, the compressor system shall be tested annually by 

the manufacturer or the manufacturer's authorized representative to verify that the system still meets the manufacturer's 

requirements for the system when it was new. Follow Chapter 23 for test.

CHECK GLASS/MIRRORS FOR 7.14.1 All glass, windows, and mirrors shall be inspected for condition and shall be

DELAMINATION, CHIPS, AND CRACKS diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK AIR RIDE SEAT SYSTEM X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK SEAT FOR CUTS AND TEARS X X X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK SEAT FRAME FOR CRACKS X X X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

7.14.3 All seat belts shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be

diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK COMPARTMENT DOORS X X X X
7.14.4 Doors, door hinges, latches, and door stops shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition, shall be 

diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Cab CHECK CAB MOUNTING SYSTEMS X X X

All components of the cab mounting system including but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation: (1) Mounting brackets (2) Cab base structure (3) Resilient cushions (4) Securing fasteners. 

7.14.6* All equipment mounting systems including, but not limited to, mounting systems for the following shall be inspected 

for security of mounting and deformation and shall be maintained free of corrosion: (1) Radios, computers, and siren 

controls (2) Self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) (3) Portable lights (4) Hand tools (5) Emergency medical service 

(EMS) equipment (6) Books, street directories, and maps. For the safety of personnel, equipment should be mounted in 

accordance with the requirements of NFPA 1901.

Cab INSPECT CAB INTERIOR CONDITION X X X X X
Inspection to include, but not limited to, pedals, knobs, handles, headliner, interior door cov ers, and lights, for security of 

mounting, deformation and proper operation.

Cab Tilting 

System
CHECK CAB JACK FLUID AND OPERATION X X

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system shall be inspected for security of mounting, leaks, and shall be 

diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended by 

the manufacturer.

Charging CHECK CHARGING SYSTEM X

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.

Charging CHECK VOLTAGE REGULATOR X X

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.

7.5.1 The engine coolant shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level

Brake
INSPECT BRAKE LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS
X

ANNUAL BRAKE SYSTEM TEST X

16.3 Braking System test. Testing of the braking system, including antilock brake systems and auxiliary brake system, shall 

be conducted at least annually and whenever adjustments, repairs, or modifications have been performed on any 

component that can affect the proper operation of the braking system or systems. Follow instructions in Chapter 16.

Brake PERFORM COMPLETE BRAKE INSPECTION X

Cab CHECK SEAT BELTS X X X X

CHECK BACKING PLATE BOLTS X X

Cab X X X XX

X

XCooling CHECK COOLANT LEVEL X X XX

6



specified by the manufacturer.

Cooling INSPECT AUXILIARY HEAT EXCHANGERS X X
7.5.10 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the engine cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.

Cooling INSPECT AND CLEAN RADIATOR FINS X X 7.5.2 The radiator assembly shall be inspected and cleaned of dirt, debris, and obstructions to airflow.

Cooling
CHECK COOLING SYSTEM HOSES AND 

BELTS
X X X

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage. 7.5.6 All belts shall be inspected for wear, 

deformation, and proper adjustment.

Cooling CHECK WATER PUMP  X 7.5.4 The water pump's) shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

Cooling PRESSURE TEST COOLING SYSTEM X X 7.5.5 The cooling system shall be pressure tested for leakage.

7.5.7 The chemical components of the coolant shall be tested and maintained at the

proper balance.

Cooling INSPECT GAUGES X X X 7.5.8 Cooling system temperature indicators and gauges shall be diagnostically checked.

Cooling CHECK FAN CLUTCH X
7.5.9 Temperature control devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) 

Thermostats (2) Clutch fans (3) Radiator shutters (4) Electric cooling fans.

Cooling CHECK RADIATOR CAP(S) X X Check to see if missing or not sealing properly.

Cooling INSPECT RADIATOR AND MOUNTS X X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Cooling CHANGE COOLANT FILTER X Replace coolant filter as recommended by the manufacturer.

Crew

Compartment

Dielectric 5 YEAR DIELECTRIC VOLTAGE 22.8 At least every 5 years, and after a vehicle accident or body repair, a dielectric test

Voltage Test WITHSTAND TEST
shall be performed on the line voltage electrical system. Follow Chapter 22 for test. Also see Annex A for additional 

information.

Driveline
CHECK DRIVELINE CENTER SUPPORT 

BEARING
X X

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.

Driveline CHECK DRIVE SHAFTS AND U JOINTS X
7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.

Driveline
CHECK AND LUBRICATE U-JOINTS, 

FLANGES
X X

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for 

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated. 7.10.2 Driveline retarding systems shall be cleaned, shall 

be inspected for security of mounting, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Electrical ELECTRICAL SYSTEM X
13.1 If the apparatus has a line voltage electrical system, it shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter, and with the manufacturers recommendations.

Engine CHECK ENGINE COVER BOLTS X 7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

Engine INSPECT ENGINE MOUNTS X 7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

7.4.3 Engine oil and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the engine manufacturer's severe service. If no sev ere serv 

ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall 

be followed.

7.4.1 The engine oil shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the engine manufacturer.

7.4.4 The diagnostic codes for electronically controlled engines shall be reviewed for types

and frequency of error codes that have been logged.

7.4.5* The engine performance shall be maintained in accordance with the engine

manufacturer's recommendations.

Engine TEST ENGINE BRAKE X X 7.4.6 Engine braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Engine CHECK ENGINE IDLE SPEED X X Inspect for proper operation and adjust as recommended by the manufacturer.

Engine PRESSURE WASH ENGINE X X Pressure wash as needed to inspect engine.

Engine TEST ENGINE SHUT DOWN MECHANISM X Test as recommended by manufacturer.

Engine 

Coolant 

System

INSPECT FREEZE PLUGS AND OIL COOLER 

AND LINES
X 7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

Exhaust
CHECK EMISSION CONTROL LINES, 

FITTINGS, BRACKETS
X

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and exhaust 

leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

Exhaust INSPECT EXHAUST SYSTEM X

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and exhaust 

leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

Frame INSPECT FRAME AND SUPPORTS X X X X X
7.2.1 All frame rails and members shall be inspected for defects, structural integrity, corrosion, perforations, cracks, and 

missing or loose parts.

Fuel CHANGE FUEL FILTER(S) X X 7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Fuel CHANGE FUEL/WATER SEPARATOR X X 7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting,

deformation, and leakage.

CHECK FUEL TANK MOUNTING  AND TIE 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting,

DOWNS deformation,  and leakage.

X

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system including,shall be inspected for security of mounting and leaks and shall 

be diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended 

by the manufacturer.

X

Cooling LITMUS TEST COOLANT X X

Cooling CHECK COOLANT LEVEL X X XX

INSPECT CAB AND BODY MOUNTS

X

Engine CHANGE ENGINE OIL AND FILTERS X X

Engine CHECK ENGINE PERFORMANCE X X

Engine CHECK ALL DIAGNOSTIC CODES X X

Fuel X

Fuel CHECK FUEL TANK DRAIN PLUG X

7



Fuel INSPECT FUEL LINES X 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

Fuel INSPECT FUEL PUMP(S) X 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

7.6.3 The carburetor or the injection pump and injectors shall be maintained in accordance

with the engine manufacturer's  recommendations.

Fuel
INSPECT GAUGES, INDICATORS,  AND 

SENDING UNITS
X X 7.6.4 Gauges, indicators, and sending units shall be diagnostically  checked.

Fuel CHECK ENGINE THROTTLE X X

7.6.5* All mechanical  throttle linkage and stops shall be inspected for proper adjustment and diagnostically  checked. 

A.7.6.5 All linkage should be inspected for freedom of movement,  adjustment,  full throttle position, idle position, and 

smooth operation. 7.6.6 All electronic throttle components  and throttle position sensors (TPS) shall be inspected for counts 

and diagnostically  checked.

22.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a line voltage electrical system, the system and components  shall be tested as 

required by this chapter. 22.2 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually, unless otherwise noted, and whenever 

major repairs or modifications  to the line voltage electrical system or any component of the system have

been made.

8.8 Miscellaneous  electrical components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:

(1) Battery conditioners and chargers (2) Shoreline receptacles (3) Radios and intercoms (4) Converters and inverters (5) 

Fast idle system (6) Interlock system(s) (7) Operator alert devices (8) Other electrical components  on the apparatus not 

otherwise specified above.

Parking Brake 16.4 The parking brake system shall be tested at least annually. Follow instructions in

Test Chapter 16. See A.16.4.1 and A.16.4.2.

Pump CHECK PUMP X

9.2.1 All fire pumps, auxiliary pumps, industrial pumps, and transfer pumps shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

structural integrity, and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked. 9.2.2 All pump shaft packing or mechanical  seals 

shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations.

Pump CLEAN PUMP TRANSMISSION STRAINER X
9.2.3 Renewable anodes, intake strainers, or any other means to prevent galvanic corrosion shall be inspected for condition 

and replaced if necessary.

Pump TEST PUMP SHIFT UNIT X

9.2.4.1 The pump drive system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage, shall be diagnostically  checked, 

and shall be lubricated as required by the component manufacturer.  9.2.4.2 All pump shift controls, pump shift indicators 

located in the driving compartment  and on the operator's panel, engine speed advancement  interlocks, and any other 

interlocks of the pump drive system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage, shall be diagnostically  

checked, and shall be lubricated as required. See A.9.2.4.1 and A.9.2.4.2

Pump CHECK COMPONENTS OF DRIVE SYSTEM X

A.9.2.41 Components  of the pump drive system could include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) Split-shaft power 

takeoff (PTO) (2) Pump transmission (3) Pump transfer case (4) PTO (5) Pump clutch (6) Pump drive shafts (7) Hydraulic 

drive systems (8) Auxiliary drive engine.

A.9.2.4.2 Pump shift controls can include electrical, pneumatic, or mechanical

components  working individually or in combination  to shift the pump drive system into and out of pump mode. Some pumps 

have manual backup shift controls. Pump shift indicators in-cab and on the operator's panel on split-shaft PTO pump drive 

systems typically reuire an electromechanical device, such as a switch mounted on the pump transmission,  to sense pump 

shift status. The controls need to be inspected, diagnostically  checked, and lubricated as part of a preventive maintenance  

program.

CHECK PUMP TRANSMISSION CASE 9.2.4.3 All fluids in the pump drive system shall be inspected for contamination and

FLUID LEVEL AND CONTAMINATION maintained at the level and condition specified by the component manufacturer.

Pump CHECK ALL PIPING AND VALVES X X

9.2.5 All pump piping, valves and valve controls, fire hose connections, caps, chains, and gaskets shall be inspected for 

security of mounting, structural integrity, proper valve operation, deformation, corrosion, and leakage and shall be lubricated 

as required by the component manufacturer.

Pump CHECK INSTRUMENTATION AND GAUGES X X X X
9.2.6 All instrumentation, gauges, and lighting shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be 

diagnostically checked.

9.2.7 All pump control systems including, but not limited to, the following shall be

diagnostically checked: (1) Engine speed control and interlock (2) Pressure control devices (3) Transfer valve (4) 

Transmission lockup system.

Pump CHECK PRIMING SYSTEM X X X X

9.2.8.1 The pump priming system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically 

checked. 9.2.8.2 The priming fluid, if required, shall be inspected for contamination and proper type and shall be maintained 

at the level recommended by the component manufacturer.

9.2.9 If the pump has a separate drive engine, that engine shall be inspected and

maintained in accordance with Sections 7.4 through 7.8, as applicable, and in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations.

9.3 If the apparatus is equipped with a water tank, the tank shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, 

deformation, and leakage and shall be maintained in accordance with 9.3.1 and 9.3.2 and the component manufacturer's 

recommendations.

9.3.1 The tank sumps, if equipped with a sump cleanout, shall be cleaned. 9.3.2 Where so equipped, anodes and other 

means to prevent galvanic corrosion shall be inspected and maintained as recommended by the manufacturer.

18.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a fire pump or an industrial supply pump, the

Fuel

Miscellaneou s 

Electrical 

Components

X
CHECK MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL 

COMPONENTS

X

Line Voltage 

Electrical 

System Test

X

Pump X X

X

Pump X X

ANNUAL LINE VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL 

SYSTEM TEST

ANNUAL PARKING BRAKE TEST

X

Pump X X X

Pump TEST PUMP PRIMER MOTOR X X X

Pump CHECK FOR WATER LEAKS X X X

X

X

Pump Test ANNUAL PUMP TEST X

INSPECT INJECTORS

CHECK PUMP SHIFT CONTROLS  A

XTEST PUMP PANEL THROTTLE OPERATION

8



pump shall be inspected and tested as required by this chapter. 18.2 Service test shall be conducted at least annually and 

whenever major repairs or modifications to the pump or any component of the apparatus that is used in pump operations 

have been made. Follow Chapter 18 for the test. See Annex A and Annex B for additional information.

Regulator 17.6 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or

Test
modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. Follow regulator test 

17.6

Road Test ANNUAL ROAD TEST X

16.5 A road test of the fire apparatus shall be conducted at least annually, after each scheduled maintenance interval, and 

after repair, adjustment, or modification of the engine, transmission, drivetrain, suspension, brakes, or steering. Follow 

instructions in Chapter 16.

Solenoid and 17.9 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or

Relay Test
modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.9 for the 

solenoid and relay test.

Starter Wiring

Test

Starting INSPECT STARTER X
17.4.1 The wiring from the battery to the starter shall be inspected for corrosion, loose connections, worn insulation, or 

potential chafing points.

17.7.1 If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, it shall be tested

as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

Starting INSPECT AND CLEAN BATTERY CABLES X X

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems.

Starting INSPECT STARTING SYSTEM X X

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 8.3 All wiring and wire looms shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, tight connections, proper routing, presence of grommets, condition, and cleanliness.

8.4 The battery(ies) shall be tested for storage and performance capabilities in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 17.3.1.1 Batteries shall be cleaned of any accumulated dirt or corrosion, and the connections shall be 

checked to ensure that they

are clean and tight,.17.3.1.2 Batteries shall be inspected for cracks, swelling, deformation, or other physical defects. 17.3.1.3 

Batteries that are not sealed shall be checked to verify that the cells have the proper electrolyte level, and distilled water 

shall be added if necessary. 17.3.1.4 Batteries that are sealed shall be inspected to verify that any electrolyte level indicator 

indicates sufficient electrolyte.

Steering CHECK STEERING SYSTEM X X

7.11.2 All steering system components shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, leakage, and 

condition, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated. 7.11.2.1 The surrounding vehicle components shall be 

inspected for indications that the wheels or tires have been rubbing during steering.

Steering CHECK AXLE STOPS X
7.11.2.2 Both the left and right steering axle stops shall be diagnostically checked to ensure the steering gear hydraulics 

relieve before contacting the steering stops.

7.11.2.3.1 The steering gear mounting bracket shall be cleaned and inspected for cracks.

7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear mounting bracket fasteners shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 

The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are 

in place and properly secured. Lubricate as recommended by the manufacturer.

Steering LUBRICATE STEERING COLUMN LINKAGE X X
7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining 

hardware are in place, properly secured and lubricated.

Steering CHECK STEERING WHEEL X X X X X 7.11.2.5 The steering wheel shall be rotated to check for steering backlash.

Steering CHANGE GEAR BOX FLUID LEVEL X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHANGE POWER STEERING FLUID X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHECK GEAR BOX FLUID LEVEL X X X X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHECK POWER STEERING FLUID X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering
CHECK TIE RODS, DRAG LINK, PITMAN 

ARM
X X

7.11.4 The steering valve(s), steering arms, drag links, pitman arms, tie rod ends, and steering column assembly shall be 

lubricated.

Steering
INSPECT POWER STEERING LINES, BELTS 

AND HOSES
X X X X 7.11.5 All steering pump belts, hoses, and lines shall be inspected for wear, adjustment, and deformation.

Steering CONTROLS AND INDICATORS X
7.11.6 Electronic steering controls and indicators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations.

Steering CHANGE POWER STEERING FILTER X Follow manufacturer's recommendation.

Suspension

CHECK AIR SUSPENSION BAGS, 

MOUNTING BRACKETS, ATTACHED 

HARDWARE AND CONTROLS

X X X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

Pump Test ANNUAL PUMP TEST X

Starting SERVICE BATTERY X

Starting TEST ON BOARD BATTERY CHARGER X X

Steering
CHECK STEERING GEAR BOX, MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, AND LINKAGE
X X

ANNUAL STARTER WIRING TEST X
17.4 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.4 for test.

ANNUAL REGULATOR TEST X

ANNUAL SOLENOID AND RELAY TEST X

9



Suspension
CHECK EQUALIZER BEAMS AND TORQUE 

ARMS
X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be

inspected for defects, missing or loose parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring 

hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock 

absorbers

Suspension
LUBRICATE SUSPENSION PINS AND 

BUSHINGS
X X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

Suspension
CHECK FRAME AND SUSPENSION FOR 

PROPER ALIGNMENT
X X 7.2.3 The frame and suspension shall be inspected for proper alignment.

Tires/Wheels INSPECT WHEEL BEARINGS AND SEALS X X
7.3.2 Wheel bearings and seals shall be cleaned, inspected for deformation, wear, cracks, and leakage, and shall be 

lubricated.

Tires/Wheels
INSPECT TIRES FOR WEAR, DAMAGE, 

INFLATION
X X X X

7.3.3* Tires shall be inspected for damage and shall be inflated to the tire manufacturer's recommended pressure. 7.3.4* 

Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal standards as 

determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. [See 6.3.1(4)] A.7.3.3 It is important that the cold tire inflation be 

maintained to the fire apparatus manufacturer's recommended tire pressure, which is based on the weight of the completed 

apparatus, and not to the maximum pressure shown on the sidewall of the tire. If the information from the fire apparatus 

manufacturer is not available for the tires on the v ehice, each axle should be weighed with the vehicle fully loaded and the 

tires inflated to the tire manufacturer's inflation specification for the tire model, size, and axle load. A.7.3.4 Tire age can be 

determined by checking the DOT code on the sidewall of each tire.

Tires/Wheels CHECK TREAD DEPTH X
7.3.4* Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal 

standards as determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge.

Tires/Wheels CHECK WHEEL STUDS AND LUG NUTS X X X X X

7.3.5* Wheel-attaching nuts shall be torqued to the wheel manufacturer's recommendation. A.7.3.5 Wheel-attaching 

hardware should be torqued to the manufacturer's recommendation at the time of wheel installation. The wheel- or rim- 

attaching hardware should be re-torqued at 50 mi to 100 mi (80 km to 160 km) after installation and periodically thereafter. 

Wheel cov ers or nut cov ers might have to be removed for proper inspection.

Tires/Wheels
CHECK FOR WHEEL CRACKS 

DEFORMATION AND CORROSION
X X 7.3.6 Wheels and rims shall be inspected for cracks, deformation, structural integrity, and corrosion.

Tires/Wheels CLEAN AND POLISH OR PAINT WHEELS X Clean and polish or paint wheels as needed.

Tires/Wheels INSPECT WHEEL CHOCKS X Inspect that wheel chocks are not missing and are easily accessible.

Total 

Continuous 

Electrical Load 

Test

ANNUAL TOTAL CONTINUOUS ELECTRICAL 

LOAD TEST
X

17.8 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  17.8.1 The total continuous electrical load test shall be permitted 

to be conducted simultaneously with other electrical or pumping tests. A.17.8 This test is designed to verify that the charging 

system, with the load management system, if supplied, is sufficient to supply the total connected load.

Trans CHECK TRANSMISSION X
7.9.1 The transmission shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and leakage and shall be 

diagnostically checked.

Trans
CHECKS TRANSMISSION BRAKING 

SYSTEMS
X 7.9.10 Transmission braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Trans CHECK AUXILIARY HEAT EXCHANGERS X
7.9.11 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the transmission cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.

Trans CHECK TRANSMISSION  FLUID X
7.9.3 Transmission lubricants and filters shall be inspected for contamination,  and lubricants shall be maintained at the lev 

el specified by the manufacturer.

Trans CHANGE TRANSMISSION  OIL AND FILTERS X

7.9.4 The lubricant and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the transmission manufacturer's sev ere service 

recommendation.  If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended  by the transmission 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be f ollowed.

Trans CHECK INDICATORS AND GAUGES X 7.9.6 All transmission indicators and gauges shall be tested for proper operation and accuracy.

Trans CHECK DIAGNOSTIC CODES X
7.9.7 The diagnostic codes for all electronically controlled transmissions shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error 

codes that have been logged.

Trans
CHECK POWER TAKE OFF(S) MOUNTING 

AND LEAKS
X 7.9.8 PTO's shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked.

Trans CHECK LOCKUP SYSTEM X
7.9.9 The lockup system for pumps and other accessories shall be inspected for leakage and shall be diagnostically  

checked.

Transfer

Case

Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Suspension X X
CHECK TORQUE ON SUSPENSION U-

BOLTS

TEST HORNS, SIRENS, ALARMS X

Inspect transfer case, check fluid level and change fluid as recommended  by manufacturer.

CHECK WARNING LIGHT OPERATION X

CHANGE TRANSFER CASE FLUID X

10



Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Wear Points
CHECK AND LUBRICATE ALL WEAR 

POINTS
X

7.1 General. All components and systems commonly found on or in the chassis, driving compartment, crew compartment, 

and body shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and this chapter. Special 

attention should be paid to steering stops, stricker plates, and hinges.

16.2 Fire apparatus Axle Weight Test. The fully loaded fire apparatus shall be weighed following the procedure specified in 

16.2.2 through 16.2.5 to ensure that the weight on the front and rear axles and the gross vehicle weight do not exceed the 

gross axle weight ratings (GAWRs) and the gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination

weight rating (GCWR) as shown on the rating plate on the fire apparatus. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. Also see 

A.16.2.3, A16.2.4(3), A.16.2.4(4).

Winch

Systems

Windshield

Washer

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

8.10(1) through (5).

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

8.10(1) through (5).

 

Weight 

Verification 

Test

ANNUAL WEIGHT TEST X

TEST INSTRUMENT  PANEL WARNING 

DEVICES AND GAUGES
X

FILL WINDSHIELD WASHER RESERVOIR X 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected f or contamination and maintained to the levels recommended  by the manufacturer.

INSPECT WINCH SYSTEM X
15.1 Any winch or winch attachment point on a fire apparatus shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter and with the manufacturers recommendations.

Work Lighting CHECK WORK LIGHT OPERATION X

Work Lighting CHECK EMERGENCY  LIGHT OPERATION X

11



System Description NFPA 1901 Standard Reference FRH

Air Conditioning
CHECK A/C AND 

HEATER OPERATION

8.11 All electrical accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Heater and 

defroster (2) Air-conditioning system (3) Windshield wipers and washers (4) Instrumentation (5) Traffic preemption (6) Other 

electrical accessories on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.11(1) through (5).
0.2

Air Intake
INSPECT AIR INTAKE 

SYSTEM

7.7.1 The engine air intake system shall include, but not be limited to the following: (1) Air cleaner element (2) Piping (3) 

Turbocharger (4) Air after-cooler (5) Intercooler (6) Air-to-air cooler (7) Blower (8) Ember separator 7.7.2 The engine air 

intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service recommendation. If no severe 

service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or 

mileage, shall be followed. 7.7.3 Where engines are equipped with a charged air after-cooler, it shall be inspected visually 

for outward signs of damage or deformation. 7.7.4 All hoses, tubes, and fittings shall be inspected for deformation and 

leakage. 7.7.5 The airflow shall be monitored for restriction greater than that recommended by the engine manufacturer.
0.3

Air Intake CHANGE AIR FILTERS

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

CHECK AND CLEAN 

AIR INTAKE SPARK 

ARRESTER

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe service 

recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

INSPECT CRANK 

CASE BREATHER 

TUBES

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake
INSPECT ENGINE 

DRIVE BELT(S)

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

INSPECT TURBO 

CHARGER 

CONNECTION

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air-Powered 

Accessories

CHECK WINDSHIELD  

WASHER, WIPER 

OPERATION

7.13 All chassis air-powered accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Air

horn (2) W indshield wiper and washer (3) Air-ride seats (4) Air-powered  steps and cab tilting systems (5) Fire pup shift and 

valves.
0

Alternator Test
ANNUAL 

ALTERNATOR TEST

17.5 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications  to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system hav e been made. Follow alternator test 17.5. This test verifies the output of the 

alternator and the alternator wiring. 0.2

Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK HEADLIGHT  

ADJUSTMENT

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0.1

Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK INSTRUMENT  

PANEL LIGHTS, 

GAUGES

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0

Annual Service for Light Class Emergency Response Vehicles (Ambulance, Light Class Rescue, Type VI Engines)

12



Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK OEM LIGHT 

OPERATION

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0

Automatic 

Electrical Load 

Mgmt System

TEST AUTOMATIC  

ELECTRICAL  LOAD 

MANAGEMENT 

SYSTEM

8.7.1 If so equipped, all components of the automatic electrical load management  system including, but not limited to, the 

following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation:  (1) Electronic hardware (2) Associated wiring and 

cables (3) Relays, controls, and indicators (4) Low v oltage warning devices. 8.7.2* The system shall be checked for 

activation and operation of low v oltage warning devices in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations. See 

A.8.7.2 for test. 0.1

Axle

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE  KING 

PINS OR BALL JOINTS

7.3.1 All axle components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural 

integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, and leakage, shall be functionally  operated, and shall be lubricated: (1) Ball joints 

(2) King pins (3) Spindles and bushings (4) Attaching hardware (5) Axle beams and housings (6) Axle shafts (7) Axle power 

div iders (8) Differentials and controls (9) Two-speed axle shift units (10) Upper and lower control arms.
0.2

Axle

CHECK 

DIFFERENTIAL FLUID 

LEVEL, CLEAN VENTS

Check differential  fluid level and fill or replace following manufacturer's  recommendations.

0

Axle
UPPER AND LOWER 

CONTROL ARMS
Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

0.1

Battery 

Charger/Cond 

itioner Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

CHARGER/CONDITIO

NER TEST

17.7 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or 

conditioner, it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3. 0.3

Battery Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST

17.3 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage 

electrical system or any component of the system have been made. 17.3.2 Each battery shall be individually tested using 

either the procedure specified in 17.3.2.1 or 17.3.2.2. A.17.3.2.1 Conductivity testing is preferred to load testing because it 

does not stress the battery, it is a more accurate indication of the state of health of the battery, and it provides values that 

can be recorded and tracked for trend analysis. Follow Chapter 17 for test.
0

Body
SERVICE ROLL UP 

DOORS/TRACKS

7.15.1 All compartments and storage areas shall be inspected for structural integrity, deformation, and leaks. 7.15.1.1 

Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.  7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically 

checked for correct operation and position. 0.3

Body

PERFORM BODY 

LUBRICATION 

SERVICE

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

0

Body

INSPECT DOOR 

LATCHES, HINGES, 

LOCKS

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated. 7.15.1.2 Doors shall be 

diagnostically checked for correct operation and position. 7.15.1.3 The hazard warning light and interlocks associated with, 

but not limited to, the following conditions shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Open passenger or equipment compartment 

doors (2) Ladder or equipment rack not in the stowed position (3) Deployed stabilizer system (4) Extended powered light 

tower. 0

Body
INSPECT MOUNTED 

STEPS,

7.15.2 All steps, platforms, handrails, and access ladders shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity,

and deformation. 7.15.2.1 All slip resistant surfaces shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition. 7.15.2.2 All

mechanical steps shall be 0

13



Body

INSPECT FINISHES, 

STRIPING, SIGNS 

AND LABELS

7.15.4* All finishes and reflective striping shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.15.5* Where required, all 

signs and labels shall be inspected for their presence and any defects, corrosion, and damage. If apparatus does not have 

reflective striping, or warning labels, consider adding in accordance with applicable sections of current NFPA 1901
0

Body

INSPECT POWERED 

EQUIPMENT RACKS 

INSPECT FOR 

SHIELDS AND 

GUARDS

7.16.1 All locks used to hold equipment racks in the road travel position and all interlocks to prevent operation of equipment 

racks when the fire apparatus is in motion shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation. 7.16.2 Racks and 

interlocks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.3 All warning lights and visual signals for the equipment racks shall be 

diagnostically checked. 7.16.4 Reflective striping or reflective paint shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 

7.16.5 Equipment-holding  devices shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation, shall be diagnostically 

checked, and shall be lubricated.  Inspect that all shields and guards are installed and tighened properly.
0

Brake
CHECK PARKING 

BRAKE OPERATION

7.12.2 The parking brake shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, missing or broken parts, and wear 

and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.3 The parking brake controls and activating mechanism shall be inspected for 

structural integrity, security of mounting, and missing or broken parts, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be 

lubricated. 0.6

Brake

INSPECT BRAKE 

LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS

7.12.4 The brake linings shall be replaced in accordance with the brake manufacturer's severe service recommendation 

when they are contaminated, when the lining is worn to the minimum thickness for safe operation as defined by the brake 

manufacturer, or when the brake drum or rotor is replaced. 7.12.5 The drums or rotors shall be inspected during scheduled 

maintenance, when there is a suspected problem or at the time of brake lining replacement, and the inspection shall consist 

of, but not be limited to the following: (1) Evidence of extensive heat or heat cracking (2) Out of round (3) Wear beyond 

manufacturer's specifications (4) Rust (5) Taper (6) Rotor parallelism (7) Metal fatigue.  7.12.6 Machining of brake drums or 

rotors shall be done only in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. 7.12.7 All components of the braking system 

shall be inspected for damage and wear when performing a brake overhaul.
1

Brake TEST ABS SYSTEM

7.12.8.1 Antilock braking systems (ABS) including the electronic control unit, cables, switches, relays, sensors, and v alv es 

shall be inspected for any deficiencies and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.8.2 The ABS electronic control unit (ECU) 

diagnostic codes shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes that have been logged.
0

Brake
PERFORM COMPLETE 

BRAKE INSPECTION

7.12.9 If the fire apparatus has a hydraulic brake system, the components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: (1) Pedal and linkage (2) Brake switches (3) Master cylinder (4) Brake booster (5) Hydraulic 

lines (6) Valves (7) Wheel cylinders or calipers (8) Brake shoes or pads (9) Brake drums or rotors (10) Warning devices 

(11) Mounting hardware (12) Fluid level and contamination. 7.12.10 If the fire apparatus has an air brake system, the 

components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  (1) Air compressor (2) Pedal 

assembly (3) All valves (4) Hoses and lines (5) Brake switches (6) Brake air chambers (7) Slack adjusters (8) Cams and 

wedges (9) Brake shoes or pads (10) Brake drums or rotor (11) Calipers (12) Air dryers (13) Drain valves (14) Air tanks (15) 

Warning devices (16) Mounting hardware.
0

Brake

CHECK DISC BRAKE 

TORQUE PLATE 

BOLTS

Check for security of mounting and deformation.

0

Brake

INSPECT CALIPER 

RETAINING RING AND 

BOLTS

Check for security of mounting and deformation.

0

Brake System 

Test

ANNUAL BRAKE 

SYSTEM TEST

16.3 Braking System test. Testing of the braking system, including antilock brake systems and auxiliary brake system, shall 

be conducted at least annually and whenever adjustments, repairs, or modifications have been performed on any 

component that can affect the proper operation of the braking system or systems. Follow instructions in Chapter 16.
0.2

14



Braking System
CHECK BACKING 

PLATE BOLTS

7.12.1 The braking system shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the braking system 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed. If the vehicle is equipped with backing plates on the brakes the 

bolts should be checked on every B maintenance. 0

Cab

CHECK 

GLASS/MIRRORS FOR 

DELAMINATION, 

CHIPS, AND CRACKS

7.14.1 All glass, windows, and mirrors shall be inspected for condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK AIR RIDE 

SEAT SYSTEM
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK SEAT FOR 

CUTS AND TEARS
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK SEAT FRAME 

FOR CRACKS
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab CHECK SEAT BELTS 7.14.3 All seat belts shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.
0

Cab

CHECK 

COMPARTMENT 

DOORS

7.14.4 Doors, door hinges, latches, and door stops shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition, shall be 

diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.
0

Cab
CHECK CAB 

MOUNTING SYSTEMS

All components of the cab mounting system including but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation: (1) Mounting brackets (2) Cab base structure (3) Resilient cushions (4) Securing fasteners. 

7.14.6* All equipment mounting systems including, but not limited to, mounting systems for the following shall be inspected 

for security of mounting and deformation and shall be maintained free of corrosion: (1) Radios, computers, and siren 

controls (2) Self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) (3) Portable lights (4) Hand tools (5) Emergency medical service 

(EMS) equipment (6) Books, street directories, and maps. For the safety of personnel, equipment should be mounted in 

accordance with the requirements of NFPA 1901. 0.1

Cab
INSPECT CAB 

INTERIOR CONDITION

Inspection to include, but not limited to, pedals, knobs, handles, headliner, interior door covers, and lights, for security of 

mounting, deformation and proper operation.
0.1

Charging
CHECK CHARGING 

SYSTEM

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.
0

Charging
CHECK VOLTAGE 

REGULATOR

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.
0

Cooling
CHECK COOLANT 

LEVEL
7.5.1 The engine coolant shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the manufacturer.

0.3

Cooling
INSPECT AUXILIARY 

HEAT EXCHANGERS

7.5.10 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the engine cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.
0.1

15



Cooling
INSPECT AND CLEAN 

RADIATOR FINS
7.5.2 The radiator assembly shall be inspected and cleaned of dirt, debris, and obstructions to airflow.

0

Cooling

CHECK COOLING 

SYSTEM HOSES AND 

BELTS

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage. 7.5.6 All belts shall be inspected for wear, 

deformation, and proper adjustment.
0

Cooling CHECK WATER PUMP 7.5.4 The water pump's) shall be inspected for condition and leakage.
0

Cooling
PRESSURE TEST 

COOLING SYSTEM
7.5.5 The cooling system shall be pressure tested for leakage.

0

Cooling
LITMUS TEST 

COOLANT
7.5.7 The chemical components of the coolant shall be tested and maintained at the proper balance.

0

Cooling INSPECT GAUGES 7.5.8 Cooling system temperature indicators and gauges shall be diagnostically checked. 0

Cooling CHECK FAN CLUTCH
7.5.9 Temperature control devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) 

Thermostats (2) Clutch fans (3) Radiator shutters (4) Electric cooling fans. 0.1

Cooling
CHECK RADIATOR 

CAP(S)
Check to see if missing or not sealing properly.

0

Cooling
INSPECT RADIATOR 

AND MOUNTS
Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

0

Cooling
CHANGE COOLANT 

FILTER
Replace coolant filter as recommended by the manufacturer.

0.1

Crew 

Compartment

INSPECT CAB AND 

BODY MOUNTS

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system including,shall be inspected for security of mounting and leaks and shall 

be diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended 

by the manufacturer. 0.1

Dielectric 

Voltage Test

5 YEAR DIELECTRIC 

VOLTAGE WITH 

STAND TEST

22.8 At least every 5 years, and after a vehicle accident or body repair, a dielectric test shall be performed on the line 

voltage electrical system. Follow Chapter 22 for test. Also see Annex A for additional information.
0.2

Driveline

CHECK DRIVELINE 

CENTER SUPPORT 

BEARING

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.
0.3

Driveline

CHECK DRIVE 

SHAFTS AND U 

JOINTS

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.
0

Driveline

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE U-

JOINTS, FLANGES

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for 

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated. 7.10.2 Driveline retarding systems shall be cleaned, shall 

be inspected for security of mounting, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.
0

Electrical ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
13.1 If the apparatus has a line voltage electrical system, it shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter, and with the manufacturers recommendations. 0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE 

COVER BOLTS
7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

0

Engine
INSPECT ENGINE 

MOUNTS
7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

0

Engine
CHANGE ENGINE OIL 

AND FILTERS

7.4.3 Engine oil and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the engine manufacturer's severe service. If no sev ere serv 

ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall 

be followed.  7.4.1 The engine oil shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the engine 

manufacturer. 0.3

16



Engine
CHECK ALL 

DIAGNOSTIC CODES

7.4.4 The diagnostic codes for electronically controlled engines shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes 

that have been logged.
0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE 

PERFORMANCE
7.4.5* The engine performance shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE IDLE 

SPEED
Inspect for proper operation and adjust as recommended by the manufacturer.

0.1

Engine
PRESSURE WASH 

ENGINE
Pressure wash as needed to inspect engine.

0.2

Engine Coolant 

System

INSPECT FREEZE 

PLUGS AND OIL 

COOLER AND LINES

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

0

Exhaust

CHECK EMISSION 

CONTROL LINES, 

FITTINGS, BRACKETS

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and 

exhaust leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.
0.2

Exhaust
INSPECT EXHAUST 

SYSTEM

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and 

exhaust leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.
0

Frame
INSPECT FRAME AND 

SUPPORTS

7.2.1 All frame rails and members shall be inspected for defects, structural integrity, corrosion, perforations, cracks, and 

missing or loose parts. 0

Fuel
CHANGE FUEL 

FILTER(S)
7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0.3

Fuel

CHANGE 

FUEL/WATER 

SEPARATOR

7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0.3

Fuel

CHECK FUEL TANK 

DRAIN PLUG CHECK 

FUEL TANK 

MOUNTING  AND TIE 

DOWNS

7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

0

Fuel INSPECT FUEL LINES 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage. 0

Fuel
INSPECT FUEL 

PUMP(S)
7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage. 0

Fuel INSPECT INJECTORS
7.6.3 The carburetor or the injection pump and injectors shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's  

recommendations.
0

Fuel

INSPECT GAUGES, 

INDICATORS,  AND 

SENDING UNITS

7.6.4 Gauges, indicators, and sending units shall be diagnostically  checked. 0

Fuel
CHECK ENGINE 

THROTTLE

7.6.5* All mechanical  throttle linkage and stops shall be inspected for proper adjustment and diagnostically  checked. 

A.7.6.5 All linkage should be inspected for freedom of movement,  adjustment,  full throttle position, idle position, and 

smooth operation. 7.6.6 All electronic throttle components  and throttle position sensors (TPS) shall be inspected for counts 

and diagnostically  checked.

0.1

17



Line Voltage 

Electrical 

System Test

ANNUAL LINE 

VOLTAGE 

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM 

TEST

22.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a line voltage electrical system, the system and components  shall be tested as 

required by this chapter. 22.2 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually, unless otherwise noted, and 

whenever major repairs or modifications  to the line voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been 

made.

0.2

Miscellaneou s 

Electrical 

Components

CHECK 

MISCELLANEOUS 

ELECTRICAL 

COMPONENTS

8.8 Miscellaneous  electrical components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Battery conditioners and chargers (2) Shoreline 

receptacles (3) Radios and intercoms (4) Converters and inverters (5) Fast idle system (6) Interlock system(s) (7) Operator 

alert devices (8) Other electrical components  on the apparatus not otherwise specified above.

0

Parking Brake 

Test

ANNUAL PARKING 

BRAKE TEST

16.4 The parking brake system shall be tested at least annually. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. See A.16.4.1 and 

A.16.4.2.
0

Regulator Test
ANNUAL REGULATOR 

TEST

17.6 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow regulator test 17.6 0

Road Test ANNUAL ROAD TEST

16.5 A road test of the fire apparatus shall be conducted at least annually, after each scheduled maintenance interval, and 

after repair, adjustment, or modification of the engine, transmission, drivetrain, suspension, brakes, or steering. Follow 

instructions in Chapter 16. 0.2

Solenoid and 

Relay Test

ANNUAL SOLENOID 

AND RELAY TEST

17.9 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.9 for the solenoid and relay test. 0.2

Starter Wiring 

Test

ANNUAL STARTER 

WIRING TEST

17.4 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.4 for test. 0.3

Starting INSPECT STARTER
17.4.1 The wiring from the battery to the starter shall be inspected for corrosion, loose connections, worn insulation, or 

potential chafing points. 0

Starting
TEST ON BOARD 

BATTERY CHARGER
17.7.1 If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

0

Starting
INSPECT AND CLEAN 

BATTERY CABLES

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 0

Starting
INSPECT STARTING 

SYSTEM

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 8.3 All wiring and wire looms shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, tight connections, proper routing, presence of grommets, condition, and cleanliness.
0.2

Starting SERVICE BATTERY

8.4 The battery(ies) shall be tested for storage and performance capabilities in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 17.3.1.1 Batteries shall be cleaned of any accumulated dirt or corrosion, and the connections shall be 

checked to ensure that they are clean and tight,.17.3.1.2 Batteries shall be inspected for cracks, swelling, deformation, or 

other physical defects. 17.3.1.3 Batteries that are not sealed shall be checked to verify that the cells have the proper 

electrolyte level, and distilled water shall be added if necessary. 17.3.1.4 Batteries that are sealed shall be inspected to 

verify that any electrolyte level indicator indicates sufficient electrolyte.
0

Steering
CHECK STEERING 

SYSTEM

7.11.2 All steering system components shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, leakage, and 

condition, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated. 7.11.2.1 The surrounding vehicle components shall be 

inspected for indications that the wheels or tires have been rubbing during steering. 0.4

Steering CHECK AXLE STOPS
7.11.2.2 Both the left and right steering axle stops shall be diagnostically checked to ensure the steering gear hydraulics 

relieve before contacting the steering stops. 0

18



Steering

CHECK STEERING 

GEAR BOX, 

MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, AND 

LINKAGE

7.11.2.3.1 The steering gear mounting bracket shall be cleaned and inspected for cracks.7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear 

mounting bracket fasteners shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 The steering linkage 

assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are in place and 

properly secured. Lubricate as recommended by the manufacturer. 7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear mounting bracket fasteners 

shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to 

ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are in place and properly secured. Lubricate as 

recommended by the manufacturer. 0

Steering

LUBRICATE 

STEERING COLUMN 

LINKAGE

7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining 

hardware are in place, properly secured and lubricated.
0

Steering
CHECK STEERING 

WHEEL
7.11.2.5 The steering wheel shall be rotated to check for steering backlash.

0

Steering
CHANGE GEAR BOX 

FLUID LEVEL

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0.2

Steering
CHANGE POWER 

STEERING FLUID

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0.3

Steering
CHECK GEAR BOX 

FLUID LEVEL

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0

Steering
CHECK POWER 

STEERING FLUID

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0

Steering

CHECK TIE RODS, 

DRAG LINK, PITMAN 

ARM

7.11.4 The steering valve(s), steering arms, drag links, pitman arms, tie rod ends, and steering column assembly shall be 

lubricated.
0

Steering

INSPECT POWER 

STEERING LINES, 

BELTS AND HOSES

7.11.5 All steering pump belts, hoses, and lines shall be inspected for wear, adjustment, and deformation.

0

Steering
CONTROLS AND 

INDICATORS

7.11.6 Electronic steering controls and indicators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 0

Steering
CHANGE POWER 

STEERING FILTER
Follow manufacturer's recommendation.

0.1

Suspension

CHECK AIR 

SUSPENSION BAGS, 

MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, 

ATTACHED 

HARDWARE AND 

CONTROLS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

0.3

Suspension

CHECK EQUALIZER 

BEAMS AND TORQUE 

ARMS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers 0

Suspension

CHECK TORQUE ON 

SUSPENSION U-

BOLTS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets 0

Suspension

LUBRICATE 

SUSPENSION PINS 

AND BUSHINGS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers 0

19



Suspension

CHECK FRAME AND 

SUSPENSION FOR 

PROPER ALIGNMENT

7.2.3 The frame and suspension shall be inspected for proper alignment.

0

Tires/Wheels

INSPECT WHEEL 

BEARINGS AND 

SEALS

7.3.2 Wheel bearings and seals shall be cleaned, inspected for deformation, wear, cracks, and leakage, and shall be 

lubricated.
1

Tires/Wheels

INSPECT TIRES FOR 

WEAR, DAMAGE, 

INFLATION

7.3.3* Tires shall be inspected for damage and shall be inflated to the tire manufacturer's recommended pressure. 7.3.4* 

Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal standards as 

determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. [See 6.3.1(4)] A.7.3.3 It is important that the cold tire inflation be 

maintained to the fire apparatus manufacturer's recommended tire pressure, which is based on the weight of the completed 

apparatus, and not to the maximum pressure shown on the sidewall of the tire. If the information from the fire apparatus 

manufacturer is not available for the tires on the v ehice, each axle should be weighed with the vehicle fully loaded and the 

tires inflated to the tire manufacturer's inflation specification for the tire model, size, and axle load. A.7.3.4 Tire age can be 

determined by checking the DOT code on the sidewall of each tire.
0

Tires/Wheels
CHECK TREAD 

DEPTH

7.3.4* Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal 

standards as determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. 0

Tires/Wheels

CHECK WHEEL 

STUDS AND LUG 

NUTS

7.3.5* Wheel-attaching nuts shall be torqued to the wheel manufacturer's recommendation. A.7.3.5 Wheel-attaching 

hardware should be torqued to the manufacturer's recommendation at the time of wheel installation. The wheel- or rim- 

attaching hardware should be re-torqued at 50 mi to 100 mi (80 km to 160 km) after installation and periodically thereafter. 

Wheel cov ers or nut cov ers might have to be removed for proper inspection. 0

Tires/Wheels

CHECK FOR WHEEL 

CRACKS 

DEFORMATION AND 

CORROSION

7.3.6 Wheels and rims shall be inspected for cracks, deformation, structural integrity, and corrosion.

0

Tires/Wheels
INSPECT WHEEL 

CHOCKS
Inspect that wheel chocks are not missing and are easily accessible.

0

Total Continuous 

Electrical Load 

Test

ANNUAL TOTAL 

CONTINUOUS 

ELECTRICAL LOAD 

TEST

17.8 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  17.8.1 The total continuous electrical load test shall be permitted 

to be conducted simultaneously with other electrical or pumping tests. A.17.8 This test is designed to verify that the 

charging system, with the load management system, if supplied, is sufficient to supply the total connected load.
0

Trans
CHECK 

TRANSMISSION

7.9.1 The transmission shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and leakage and shall be 

diagnostically checked. 0.5

Trans

CHECKS 

TRANSMISSION 

BRAKING SYSTEMS

7.9.10 Transmission braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0

Trans
CHECK AUXILIARY 

HEAT EXCHANGERS

7.9.11 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the transmission cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.
0

Trans

CHECK 

TRANSMISSION  

FLUID

7.9.3 Transmission lubricants and filters shall be inspected for contamination,  and lubricants shall be maintained at the lev 

el specified by the manufacturer.
0

Trans

CHANGE 

TRANSMISSION  OIL 

AND FILTERS

7.9.4 The lubricant and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the transmission manufacturer's sev ere service 

recommendation.  If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended  by the transmission 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be f ollowed. 0

20



Trans
CHECK INDICATORS 

AND GAUGES
7.9.6 All transmission indicators and gauges shall be tested for proper operation and accuracy.

0

Trans
CHECK DIAGNOSTIC 

CODES

7.9.7 The diagnostic codes for all electronically controlled transmissions shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error 

codes that have been logged.
0

Trans

CHECK POWER TAKE 

OFF(S) MOUNTING 

AND LEAKS

7.9.8 PTO's shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked.

0

Trans
CHECK LOCKUP 

SYSTEM

7.9.9 The lockup system for pumps and other accessories shall be inspected for leakage and shall be diagnostically  

checked. 0

Transfer Case
CHANGE TRANSFER 

CASE FLUID
Inspect transfer case, check fluid level and change fluid as recommended  by manufacturer.

0.3

Warning 

Devices

CHECK WARNING 

LIGHT OPERATION

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Warning 

Devices

TEST HORNS, 

SIRENS, ALARMS

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Warning 

Devices

TEST INSTRUMENT  

PANEL WARNING 

DEVICES AND 

GAUGES

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Wear Points

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE ALL 

WEAR POINTS

7.1 General. All components and systems commonly found on or in the chassis, driving compartment, crew compartment, 

and body shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and this chapter. Special 

attention should be paid to steering stops, stricker plates, and hinges. 0

Weight 

Verification Test

ANNUAL WEIGHT 

TEST

16.2 Fire apparatus Axle Weight Test. The fully loaded fire apparatus shall be weighed following the procedure specified in 

16.2.2 through 16.2.5 to ensure that the weight on the front and rear axles and the gross vehicle weight do not exceed the 

gross axle weight ratings (GAWRs) and the gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination weight rating 

(GCWR) as shown on the rating plate on the fire apparatus. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. Also see A.16.2.3, 

A16.2.4(3), A.16.2.4(4). 0

Winch Systems
INSPECT WINCH 

SYSTEM

15.1 Any winch or winch attachment point on a fire apparatus shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter and with the manufacturers recommendations. 0

Windshield 

Washer

FILL WINDSHIELD 

WASHER RESERVOIR
7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected f or contamination and maintained to the levels recommended  by the manufacturer.

0

Work Lighting
CHECK EMERGENCY  

LIGHT OPERATION

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.10(1) through (5).
0

21



Work Lighting
CHECK WORK LIGHT 

OPERATION

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.10(1) through (5).
0

10.7

22



         Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227  www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

2020-2021 Fee Schedule 

• Classroom clean-up     $25.00 fee 

• CPR Class       $50.00 per student 

• Employment Application (Processing fee)   $10.00 

• Fire Reports (copying charge)    $1.00 per page (non-residents/insurance) 

• Public Information Request (copying charge)  $0.50 per page 

• Haz-Mat response out of district + personnel costs  $225.00 an hour (Trailer/Tow Vehicle) 

        $50.00 an hour (Command Vehicle) 

        $75.00 an hour (Air unit) 

• Pile burning / standby (in district only)   $200.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

• MSA SCBA Maintenance and testing   $70.00 per pack, $20.00 per mask + parts 

• Vehicle Maintenance Light Duty (up to F550)  $90.00 an hour + shop fees + parts 

    Heavy Duty    $125.00 an hour + shop fees + parts 

    Travel    $40.00 an hour (plus government mileage) 

• Out of District Fire Responses    2020 CFRA Contracted Rates + personnel costs 

• Plans Review      $0.25 per sq. ft. 

o Subdivision Plan Review    $500.00 

o Transmittal letters    $30.00 

• Engine/Rescue Response to an MVA   $139.00 + personnel costs 

• Smoke Detector (new home construction)   $25.00 per visit 

• Sporting Events   Ambulance   $150.00 a day donation 

    Brush Truck   $200.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

    Tender     $225.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

    CEP   $315.00 a day / $35.00 an hour (paid to individual) 

    EMT   $225.00 a day / $25.00 an hour (paid to individual) 

• Training   Drafting Pit   $40.00 a day + Technicians hourly rate 

    Burn Building   $150.00 an hour (includes 1 operator) 

    LPG Props   $100.00 an hour (includes 1 operator) 

        Renter will pay for LPG / Class A fuels 

• TRT missions      $100.00 an hour + employee rates 

FEES MAY BE WAIVED BY THE FIRE CHIEF 

23



FRY FIRE DISTRICT
A R I Z O N A

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE  
FINANCIAL REPORT
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021

24



Fry Fire District    

4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

FRY FIRE 
DISTRICT 

COCHISE COUNTY, ARIZONA 

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

DRAFT

25



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CONTENTS

Page

Introductory Section

Letter of transmittal 1 ‐ 8

List of elected and appointed officials  9

GFOA Certificate of Achievement 10

Financial Section

Independent auditors' report 12 ‐ 13

Management's discussion and analysis 15 ‐ 23

Basic financial statements:
Government‐wide financial statements:
Statement of net position 25
Statement of activities  26

Fund financial statements ‐ governmental funds:
Balance sheet 27
Reconciliation of the balance sheet to the statement of net position 28
Statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances 29
Reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures and
  changes in fund balances to the statement of activities 30

Fund financial statements ‐ fiduciary funds:
Statement of fiduciary net position
Statement of changes in fiduciary net position

Notes to financial statements 31 ‐ 55

Required supplementary information:
Schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance ‐
budget to actual ‐ general fund 57

Schedule of the District's proportionate share of the net pension/OPEB liability ‐ 
cost‐sharing plan (ASRS) 58

Schedule of changes in the net pension liability and related ratios ‐ agent 
retirement plan (PSPRS) 59

Schedule of changes in the net OPEB liability and related ratios ‐ agent 
retirement plan (PSPRS) 60

Schedule of pension/OPEB contributions 61 ‐ 62
Notes to required supplementary information 63 ‐ 64

DRAFT

26



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CONTENTS (continued)

Page

Statistical Section

Financial trends:
Net position by component 67
Changes in net position 68
Fund balances of governmental funds 69
Changes in fund balances ‐ governmental funds and debt service ratio 70

Revenue capacity:
Assessed and estimated actual value of taxable property 71
Property tax rates ‐ all direct and overlapping governments 72
Principal property taxpayers 73
Property tax levies and collections 74

Debt capacity:
Ratios of general bonded debt outstanding  75
Direct and overlapping governmental activities debt 76
Legal debt margin information 77

Demographic and economic information:
Demographic and economic statistics 78
Principal employers 79

Operating information:
Operating indicators by function 80
Full‐time equivalent employees by function 81
Capital asset statistics by function 82

Report on internal control and on compliance:
Independent auditors' report on internal control over financial reporting and on 84 ‐ 85
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and report on 
compliance with State of Arizona regulatory requirements 

DRAFT

27



INTRODUCTORY SECTION

DRAFT

28



 

 
Fry Fire District    1  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Wednesday, November 17, 2021 

 

To the Honorable Members of the Board and Citizens of Fry Fire District:  

 

The following is the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of Fry Fire District (FFD) for 

the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. This ACFR report is intended to meet and exceed all legal 

reporting requirements that are borne by this jurisdiction. Management assumes full responsibility for 

the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this report, based upon a 

comprehensive framework of internal control established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal 

control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than 

absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatements. As management, 

we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in 

all material respects.  

 

Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) 48-253 and 48-805(9) require an annual audit to be performed in 

accordance with the statutory requirements and in conformance to generally accepted government 

auditing standards. As such, the fiscal year audit has been performed by an independent certified public 

accounting firm, BeachFleischman PC. The auditors have issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on 

the Fry Fire District’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021.  

 

The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial section of this report. 

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report 

and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A 

complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it. 

 

District Profile 

The Fry Fire District was originally formed in April of 1965 as the Fry Volunteer Fire Company.  

Governance for the original Volunteer Fire Company evolved from an elected Fire Chief to the 

current elected Board in 1985.  Volunteer Firefighters were originally only responsible for handling 

the fire suppression needs of the community.  Emergency medical treatment and transport services 

were added later along with full-time employees to provide round-the-clock protection. Early 

volunteers operating out of a single fire station on Second Street laid the foundation for the 

professional services FFD personnel deliver across the region today.  

 

Fry Fire District currently provides all hazard emergency services from three fire stations staffed by a 

total of thirty-six full-time firefighters augmented by several additional part-time Firefighters and EMS  

personnel. All full-time suppression personnel are trained in structural and wildland firefighting and 

are certified EMT’s as a minimum.  The last year saw four additional Paramedics obtain their 

DRAFT

29



 

 
Fry Fire District    2  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

certification bringing more than 75% of our staff to the advanced life support level. Operations are 

supported by five administrative and support staff.  

 

 

FFD operates under Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48, Chapter 5 and is recognized by the State 

of Arizona as a special taxing district. The District is governed by a five-member Board, comprised of 

a Board Chair, Clerk and three additional members. All Members are elected at large and serve 

staggered four-year terms.  

 

The Board is responsible for adopting an annual budget, setting District policy and ensuring the Fire 

Chief implements policy and manages day-to-day operations of the District. The Fire Chief is 

supported by three Battalion Chiefs who directly supervise assigned Captains and operations 

personnel. Operations are funded primarily through limited assessed value property taxes, with 

additional funding being generated through other avenues including billing for ambulance transports, 

federal and state wildfire responses and support from various grants.   

 

A current organization chart follows:  

 

 
Current Intergovernmental agreements, state requirements and national standards suggest a minimum 

staffing level of 3 firefighters for engine companies and 2 personnel for ambulances providing medical 

transport.  Recently hired personnel should help FFD better meet these minimums and to provide 

safe and effective fire suppression and advanced medical care for FFD customers and members. FFD 

          

      

         
        

    

          

             

           
                   

             
                              

                       

         
        

     

          

             

           
                     

             
                        

                            

         
        

       

          

                

           
                     

             
                             
                           

          
       

     

          
             

    

      
         

     

      
        

     

            

      

DRAFT

30



 

 
Fry Fire District    3  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

employs a total of thirty paramedics and provides Advanced Life Support medical treatment with 

every staffed unit.  Emergency medical service-related calls make up more than 85% of annual calls 

for service.    

 

FFD personnel respond to any emergency situation that threatens life, safety or property and work 

closely with partners from the Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department, Ft. Huachuca Fire 

Department, Palominas Fire District, Whetstone Fire District and the Southeastern Arizona 

Communications Center (SEACOM) to provide the closest available unit with the appropriate 

capabilities to provide service.  FFD is happy to report the addition of ProQA software to SEACOM 

which allows dispatchers to provide emergency callers with immediate instructions about life-saving 

measures they may be able to implement while we’re responding. 

 

FFD also responds to various non-emergency situations that are not routinely handled by other 

agencies or providers.  These non-emergency responses include things such as: snake removals, open 

burn permits, home safety surveys, etc.  The FFD community risk reduction programs cover topics 

such as fall injury prevention, fire safety, CPR, immunizations and first aid and proactively work to 

reduce or mitigate risk either through prevention or otherwise. 

 

About the Area 

FFD serves residents and visitors to several unincorporated neighborhoods in and around the 

community of Sierra Vista. At an elevation of 4600’ the area has an average high temperature of 77 

and an average low temp of 49, with average annual rain fall of 14 inches and less than 2 inches of 

snow. The area boasts the southern end of the Arizona Trail and the Huachuca Mountains which are 

a must-see for outdoor enthusiasts and birdwatchers. 

 

FFD has a fire coverage footprint of approximately 60 square miles and provides ambulance transport 

service for approximately 200 square miles. The district has grown to serve an estimated 17,089 full 

time residents. We provide fire protection and emergency medical services, ambulance transport, 

technical rescue, public education and fire prevention. FFD deploys 12 Fire/EMS personnel daily and 

responded to approximately 3,743 calls during this reporting period. 

 

 

 

DRAFT

31



 

 
Fry Fire District    4  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

 

 

A snapshot of FFD-Demographics and service levels includes:    

District Size 60 square miles 

Ambulance Transport Service Area 200 square miles 

Full-time Resident Population 17,089 

Part-time, Seasonal Population 1,000 

Stations 3 

Fire and Rescue Service Staffing 36 

Administrative and Support  4 

Fire Prevention 1 

 

 

DRAFT

32



 

 
Fry Fire District    5  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Budget Overview 

The District budgets all funds in accordance with the requirements of state law. All funds are budgeted 

on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

 

The Board adopts the general fund budget prior to the beginning of the fiscal year of the District. 

Throughout the budget process the Board reviews the budgeted expenses at the fund, function and 

object level. This is done to allow the Board, and participating community members, to gain a more 

detailed understanding of the budget and to be in compliance with Arizona Revised Statute 48-

805.02(A) which requires a detailed estimate of expenditures. Although the Board reviews the budget 

at the fund, function and object level, the budget is approved at the fund level and sets the level by 

which actual expenditures should not exceed budgeted expenditures. The Board is not required to 

adopt a formal budget for the Capital fund however transfers between funds require Board 

authorization, as do any transfers from Contingency. 

 

Budgeted expenditures lapse at year-end and may not be carried over to subsequent years. 

 

Local Economy and Outlook 

As with many communities, Covid-19 has created significant economic challenges. The uncertainty 

around Covid-19 and its overall impact on the local economy will take time to understand.   

 

The presence of Ft. Huachuca and the U.S. Border Patrol are major contributors to the local economy 

and will continue to be so in the future.  

 

Economists predict that the district will see an average increase in net assessed valuation of 

approximately 2% for the next years and we are happy to see some increases in both residential and 

commercial construction in recent years, as well as rises in median home prices and median household 

incomes.   

 

The District’s population is expected to continue to grow in the next 20 years, although prior growth 

estimates have been significantly curtailed.  District management and staff are working proactively and 

cooperatively with other governments, surrounding fire districts, and regional planning groups to 

ensure continued ability to serve this future population.   

 

Long-term financial planning and major initiatives  

Using focused and detailed financial management, FFD has increased both its unrestricted fund 

balance and ability to fund capital needs. Given both the GFOA minimum recommendation of 

maintaining of no less than two months of regular fund operating revenues, and the volatility 

DRAFT

33



 

 
Fry Fire District    6  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

associated with FFD revenues and expenses, this increased fund balance is an important piece in 

providing long term financial sustainability for the organization and its ability to provide the highest 

level of service to the community it serves. As an organization, FFD is extremely proud of the fund 

balance growth it has achieved over recent years. 

 

The district has developed a comprehensive ten-year capital improvement plan.  This plan is primarily 

funded by a $7 million bond election that passed by more than 72% of the voters in the 2018 general 

election. The capital improvement plan has already begun to improve and enhance emergency 

responses.  It will also add life to existing infrastructure by upgrading aging facilities and replacing 

aging capital assets.  The FFD capital improvement plan forecasts the life expectancy and replacement 

and or maintenance costs for each of the District’s long-term assets and matches those costs to defined 

funding levels that will need to be met over the next decade. Over recent years FFD has continued to 

excel at managing both revenues and expenses which has enabled further funding of the capital 

improvement plan. This has allowed FFD to fully fund its ten-year capital improvement plan. This 

capital improvement plan is reviewed every year to ensure it captures the needs of the organization 

and is receiving adequate funding.  

 

Major initiatives include: improving firefighter safety, replacing aging apparatus and equipment, and 

expanding community risk reduction services to include large-scale vaccination support. This year, 

FFD members proactively supported local Covid-19 vaccination delivery in collaboration with the 

Cochise County Health Department and Cochise College Allied Health Programs, helping to vaccinate 

more than 8,400 community members. 

 

Firefighters are exposed to an ever-increasing risk of occupational exposure to carcinogens.  Station 

renovations will bring FFD into compliance with accepted industrial hygiene standards and reduce 

exposures to carcinogens by removing vehicle exhaust gases and improving individual 

decontamination after a fire.  FFD are also actively working to improve the quality of the personal 

protective equipment provided to firefighters and to provide additional sets of gear to keep them 

protected while exposed gear is being decontaminated. 

 

Upgrades to FFD aging fleet are underway.  A new 2020 Ford F350 rescue truck was recently 

purchased with bond funds and placed into service.  This vehicle replaced a 2006 Ford F550 that had 

seen extensive service.  In addition to improving local coverage during our almost year-round fire 

season, the new truck also helps protect other communities across the west during catastrophic fires 

and generates non-tax revenue during out-of-district fire and rescue assignments.   

 

Two 2020 Ford Type 1 Ambulances were currently placed in service with power-load gurneys and are 

currently serving local patients.  A 2021 Rosenbauer Type 6 Engine has been put into service as well 

as two 2022 F-250 support trucks.  

DRAFT

34



 

 
Fry Fire District    7  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

 

FFD firefighters have also seen the purchase and deployment of new handheld radios.  Over the past 

few years, FFD have placed approximately fifteen new radios in service.  The new Motorola radios 

are intrinsically safe, fire-rated and interface with our self-contained breathing apparatus via Bluetooth 

technology to dramatically improve the clarity of communications when working in an environment 

that is immediately dangerous to life and health (IDLH).  This year also saw additional Firefighter 

radios upgraded to include multi-band capability to enhance communication with local partners, as 

well as the deployment of tough tablet devices to enhance connectivity and streamline data sharing 

with SEACOM.  The next steps in the FFD communication improvement project include upgrading 

the repeater and microwave links on one of our existing VHF channels. 

   

Community Risk Reduction efforts have been augmented by new employee engagement and state and 

local grant funds.  These programs include a continuation of a large-scale hazardous fuel reduction 

project on high-risk wildland interface areas east of the Huachuca Mountains with a focus on Ramsey 

Canyon and other canyons west of Hwy 92 and the exploration of part-time seasonal employees as an 

alternative to the use of fire crews for work.  Pending treatment projections should push the project 

close to the 400-acre mark and will have an impact on fire activity in our highest-risk neighborhoods 

for years to come.  These efforts also include public education about fall injury prevention, CPR, and 

emergency first aid.  Supported by a grant from the Legacy Foundation, the Matter of Balance program 

has been ongoing for the past several years and has produced a reduction in the number of fall-related 

calls we’re seeing.  CPR and Stop the Bleed are also providing tangible improvements in community 

readiness.  FFD have recently completed vaccination training for more than 20 FFD Paramedics, 

which has enabled FFD to support large-scale community-wide vaccination programs. Together with 

Pulsepoint and ProQA from SEACOM, FFD are engaging a community with immediate responders 

that are trained and ready to assist when and where emergencies happen. 

 

During the last year, FFD also completed the long-term strategic planning process and are seeing 

movement towards the necessary objectives to meet identified plan goals that will align the future 

budget cycles needs. 

 

Relevant Financial Policies 

FFD has adopted a comprehensive set of financial policies. The policies are constantly evaluated for 

their effectiveness and how they keep the Governing Board and staff focused on increased internal 

controls, reporting and long-term sustainability.  The policies implemented have been effective in 

protecting the District and its focus on maintaining service levels while also providing long term 

sustainability and success.  

 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

DRAFT

35



 

 
Fry Fire District    8  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

We believe that our current ACFR meets the requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to 

determine its eligibility for this award. 

 

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the personnel of the finance department who assisted 

and contributed to the preparation of this report. Appreciation is also extended to Board Chair Joe 

Huish, members of the Board, the managers, employees and citizens of the District whose continued 

support is vital to the financial health of Fry Fire District. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Mark Savage    The James Vincent Group 

Fire Chief    Finance Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DRAFT

36



 

 
Fry Fire District    9  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Fry Fire District 

List of Elected and Appointed 

June 30, 2019 

 
 

 
 

Elected Board Members 
 

Term Expires 

Board Chair Joseph Huish      November 30, 2022 

Board Clerk Eric Andersen      November 30, 2024 

Board Member Robert McMurtrie     November 30, 2024 

Board Member Norman Sturm     November 30, 2024 

Board Member Thomas Tucker     November 30, 2022 

 

 

 

Administrative Offices 

4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650 

Fire Chief/Administrator 

Chief Mark Savage 

Finance Director 

The James Vincent Group 

Legal Counsel 

Barret & Matura, P.C. 

 

DRAFT

37



FINANCIAL SECTION

DRAFT

38



Independent Auditors' Report

Governing Board and Management
Fry Fire District
Sierra Vista, AZ

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry
Fire District as of and  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021, and  the  related notes  to  the  financial  statements, which
collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management  is  responsible  for  the preparation and  fair presentation of  these  financial  statements  in accordance
with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America;  this  includes  the  design,
implementation and maintenance of  internal control  relevant  to  the preparation and  fair presentation of  financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable
to  financial  audits  contained  in Government Auditing  Standards,  issued by  the Comptroller General of  the United
States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.   The procedures  selected depend on  the auditors'  judgment,  including  the assessment of  the  risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments,
the  auditor  considers  internal  control  relevant  to  the  entity’s  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An  audit  also  includes  evaluating  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

12

DRAFT

39



Opinions

In  our  opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all material  respects,  the  respective
financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry Fire District as of June 30, 2021, and the
respective changes  in financial position for the year then ended,  in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted  in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and  analysis,  budgetary  comparison  information,  and  the  pension  plan  and  other  postemployment  benefit  plan
(OPEB)  information, as  listed  in  the  table of contents, be presented  to  supplement  the basic  financial  statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards  Board,  who  considers  it  to  be  an  essential  part  of  financial  reporting  for  placing  the  basic  financial
statements  in  an  appropriate  operational,  economic  or  historical  context.    We  have  applied  certain  limited
procedures to the required supplementary  information  in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United  States  of  America, which  consisted  of  inquiries  of management  about  the methods  of  preparing  the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the  information because the  limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
Fry  Fire  District's  basic  financial  statements.  The  introductory  section  and  statistical  section  are  presented  for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.   The  introductory and
statistical  sections have not been  subjected  to  the  auditing procedures  applied  in  the  audit of  the basic  financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also  issued our report dated November 23, 2021, on
our consideration of Fry Fire District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of  laws,  regulations,  contracts,  and  grant  agreements  and other matters.    The purpose of  that
report  is solely to describe the scope of our testing of  internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the  results of  that  testing, and not  to provide an opinion on  the effectiveness of Fry Fire District's  internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance.   That report  is an  integral part of an audit performed  in accordance with
Government  Auditing  Standards  in  considering  Fry  Fire  District's  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and
compliance.

Tucson, Arizona
November 23, 2021

13

DRAFT

40



Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

(Required Supplementary Information)

DRAFT

41



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

INTRODUCTION

The management of Fry Fire District (the District) presents these financial statements with a narrative overview and
analysis of  financial activities  for  the  twelve months ended  June 30, 2021.   We encourage  readers  to consider  the
information presented here in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and the accompanying
notes to those statements in their understanding of the District’s financial position.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR

 In the government‐wide financial statements, the total assets and deferred outflows of the Fry Fire District

were $16,289,295 at the close of the fiscal year.  The total liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded assets

and  deferred  outflows  by  $7,362,909.    Of  this  amount  $(9,561,229)  represents  the  balance  of  the

unrestricted net position.

 The  District  realized  an  increase  in  its  net  position  of  $197,067  equal  to  the  excess  of  revenues  over

expenses, which was primarily due to an increase in revenue.  Property tax revenue increased $139,744

due  to an  increase  in assessed value.   Non‐tax  levy  revenues  increased due  to a more active wildland

season in 2020 compared to 2021.

 Cash and  investments decreased by $903,242 primarily due to spending capital funds on the purchase of

apparatuses and remodel of fire stations. 

 As of the end of the current fiscal year, the District’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund

balances of $6,946,462, a decrease of $1,235,022 in comparison with the prior year. The decrease in fund

balance was due to capital outlay for the purchase of apparatuses and remodeling fire stations.

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balances for the general fund was $2,443,153.  The

change in fund balance for the general fund was an increase of $358,101 for the fiscal year.  The District

Board  and Administration  are working diligently  to  enhance  the  financial position of  the organization

while still providing a high level of service to the community it serves.

 The  total  long‐term  liabilities of  the District  increased by a net amount of $1,600,575.    Increases  in  the

District’s  actuarially determined net pension/OPEB  liability of $1,872,161  contributed  to  this  increase.

There was no new debt issued in the current year.  

15

DRAFT

42



OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis  is  intended to serve as an  introduction to the basic financial statements of the District.
These  basic  financial  statements  comprise  three  components:    1)  government‐wide  financial  statements,  2)  fund
financial  statements,  and  3)  notes  to  the  financial  statements.    This  report  also  contains  other  supplementary
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government‐Wide Financial Statements

The  Government‐wide  financial  statements  present  the  financial  picture  of  the  District  from  the  economic
measurement  resources  focus  using  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    These  statements  include  all  assets  of  the
District  (including capital assets) as well as all  liabilities  (including  long‐term debt).   They are  intended to provide a
broad overview in a manner similar to a private sector business.  Additionally, certain eliminations have occurred as
prescribed by Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund activity, payables and receivables.

Statement of Net Position ‐ The Statement of Net Position (page 25) presents information of all District's assets plus
deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net
position.   Over time,  increases or decreases  in net position may serve as a useful  indicator of whether the financial
position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

Statement of Activities ‐ The Statement of Activities (page 26) presents information showing how the net position of
the District  changed during  the most  recent  fiscal  year.   All  changes  in net position  are  reported  as  soon  as  the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Fund Financial Statements

The Fund Financial Statements provide detailed  information about  the most  significant  funds not  the District as a
whole.   Some  funds are  required  to be established by State  law and by bond covenants.   However, management
establishes other funds to help it control and manage resources for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting
legal  responsibilities  for using certain  taxes, grants, and other money.   All  the  funds of  the District are considered
governmental funds.

16

DRAFT

43



Governmental Funds Governmental Funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as

governmental activities in the Government–wide financial statements.  All of the basic services of the District
are reported  in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows  into and out of those funds and the
balances  left  at  year  end  that  are  available  for  spending.    These  funds  are  reported  using  an  accounting
method  called modified  accrual  accounting, which measures  cash  and  all  other  financial  assets  that  can
readily be converted to cash.   The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short‐term view of the
operations  and  basic  services  provided  to  residents.    Governmental  fund  information  helps  determine
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance programs
of  the District.   Because  the  focus of governmental  funds  is narrower  than  that of  the Government–wide
financial statements,  it  is useful to compare the  information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented  for governmental activities  in the Government–wide  financial statements.   By doing
so, readers may better understand the long‐term impact of the near‐term financing decisions of the District.
The reconciliation of differences between the governmental fund financial statements and the government‐
wide financial statements is explained in a section following each governmental fund financial statement.

The District maintains three individual government funds: the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund, and the
Debt  Service  Fund.  Information  is  presented  separately  in  the  governmental  fund  balance  sheet  and
governmental  fund  statement of  revenues, expenditures,  and  changes  in  fund balances  for each of  these
funds, all of which are considered to be major funds of the District; the concept and determination of major
funds has been  established by  the Governmental Accounting  Standards Board  (GASB).  There  are no non‐
major governmental funds.

The District adopts an annual appropriated budget to levy taxes and provide for its general fund. A budgetary
comparison  statement has been provided  for  the  fund  to demonstrate compliance with  the budget and  is
presented on page 57.

Notes to the Financial Statements.  The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that
is essential  to a  full understanding of  the data provided  in  the Government‐wide and Governmental  fund
financial statements.  

GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may  serve over  time as a useful  indicator of  the  financial position of a government
entity.    In  the case of  the Fry Fire District,  liabilities and deferred  inflows exceed assets and deferred outflows by
$7,362,909 at the close of the 2021 fiscal year.

By  far,  the  largest portion of net position of  the District, $1,757,056,  reflects  the District's  investment  in  capital
assets (land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, equipment and vehicles), less any related debt
still outstanding that was issued to acquire those items. The District uses these capital assets to provide services to
citizens;  consequently,  these  assets  are not  available  for  future  spending.   Although  the District’s  investment  in
capital assets  is  reported net of  the outstanding  related debt,  the  resources needed  to  repay  that debt must be
provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be liquidated to service these liabilities.  

The restricted portion of net position of $441,264 reflects amounts restricted for debt service obligations. 

17

DRAFT

44



The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $(9,561,229), reflects its cash and current account receivable less
any current  liabilities  (e.g. accounts payable, accrued payroll, and compensated absences) and  long‐term  liabilities
not  associated  with  capital  assets.    The  District  uses  the  cash  balances  to  pay  current  and  ongoing  financial
obligations in order to provide services to residents.

At the end of fiscal year 2021, the District has a negative balance in unrestricted net position.  In fiscal year 2015, the
District adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Pensions, which requires the District to report a net liability for pensions of $17,535,414. In fiscal year 2018, the
District adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefits Other  than Pensions, which  requires  the District  to  report a net  liability  for OPEB of
$97,372.  The District pays for pensions and OPEB on a pay‐as‐you go basis with current financial resources each year.
However, the net pension/OPEB  liability required to be reported  is an actuarially determined amount for resources
that are required sometime in the future.

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position:

Fry Fire District
Condensed Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities Increase

2021 2020 (decrease)

Cash and investments $ 7,011,084 $ 7,914,326 $ (903,242)
Other assets 805,042 766,590 38,452
Capital assets 3,670,685 1,727,541 1,943,144
Total assets 11,486,811 10,408,457 1,078,354

Total deferred outflows 4,802,484 4,099,402 703,082

Other liabilities 575,842 313,821 262,021
Long‐term liabilities 22,027,699 20,427,124 1,600,575
Total liabilities 22,603,541 20,740,945 1,862,596

Total deferred inflows 1,048,663 1,326,890 (278,227)

Net investment in capital assets 1,757,056 1,170,035 587,021
Restricted 441,264 430,877 10,387
Unrestricted (9,561,229) (9,160,888) (400,341)

Total net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ 197,067

Statement of Activities – The net position of  the District  from governmental activities  increased $197,067.   Key
elements of this increase are as follows:

 Net  investment  in  capital assets  increased by $587,021 primarily due  to  spending of bond proceeds on

capital assets.

 Property taxes increased by $139,744 as a result of an increase in assessed valuation.

18

DRAFT

45



 Operating  grants  and  contributions  decreased  by  $136,467.    The  district  receives  fuel  reduction  grants

from  the State of Arizona where  the district  focuses on hazardous  fuel  reduction  in high‐risk wildland

interface areas. The activity in 2021 decreased from 2020 due to COVID‐19.

 Charges  for  services  revenue,  which  includes  both  ambulance  revenue  and  wildland  fire  revenue,

increased $929,794, due to an increase in wildland deployments during the year.

 Expenses  for  the District  increased about $774,298  from  the prior year, primarily due  to an  increase  in

personnel expenses for wildland and pension expenses.

 Pension expense for the year ending June 30, 2021 was $2,387,292, compared with $2,102,691 in the year

ending June 30, 2020.  

The  following  table presents a  comparative  summary of  the District's  revenues and expenses  for  the  current and
preceding fiscal years.

Fry Fire District
Condensed Statement of Activities

For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities Increase

2021 2020 (decrease)

Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 2,610,508 $ 1,680,714 $ 929,794
Operating grants and contributions 79,946 216,413 (136,467)
Rental income 82,006 69,531 12,475

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,397,177 4,257,433 139,744
Fire District Assistance Tax 397,163 400,000 (2,837)
Investment earnings 38,046 ‐ 38,046
Miscellaneous 123,680 194,598 (70,918)

Total revenues 7,728,526 6,818,689 909,837

Expenses:
Public safety 7,415,871 6,613,013 802,858
Interest on long‐term debt 115,588 144,148 (28,560)

Total expenses 7,531,459 6,757,161 774,298

Change in net position 197,067 61,528 135,539

Beginning net position, restated (7,559,976) (7,621,504) 61,528

Ending net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ 197,067

19

DRAFT

46



DISTRICT FUNDS FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance‐related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds ‐ The focus of the District’s governmental funds is to provide information on near‐term inflows,
outflows,  and  balances  of  spendable  resources.  Such  information  is  useful  in  assessing  the  District’s  financing
requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balances may serve as a useful measure of the District’s net resources
available for discretionary use as they represent the portion of fund balance which has not yet been limited to use for
a particular purpose by either an external party, the District  itself, or a group or  individual that has been delegated
authority to assign resources for use for particular purposes by the District’s Governing Board.

At June 30, 2021, the governmental funds of the District reported a combined fund balance of $6,946,462, which is a
decrease of $1,235,022 in comparison with the prior year. 

General Fund ‐ The general fund accounts for all the financial resources retained by the District not accounted for in
any other fund.  As of June 30, 2021, total fund balance was $2,887,392, of which $48,257 was nonspendable because
of prepaid  items, $395,982 was assigned  for paying employee  leave  liabilities, and $2,443,153 was unassigned  for
financial reporting purposes.  Total General Fund balance increased by $358,101.

Capital Projects Fund ‐ The capital projects fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for future construction
costs for new and existing facilities and for the purchase of large fire apparatus. As of June 30, 2021, the ending fund
balance in the Capital Projects fund was $3,617,806.  The decrease in the fund balance of $1,603,510 is primarily due
to purchases of capital assets. 

Debt Service Fund  ‐ The debt service fund accounts for the property tax  levy dedicated to the payment of principal
and interest on general obligation bonds.  The increase in the fund balance was $10,387.

The following statement provides the detail of the District fund balances:

Fry Fire District
Governmental Funds – Fund Balances

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Major funds Amount % Amount %

General  $ 2,887,392 %41.6 $ 2,529,291 %30.9

Capital 3,617,806 52.1 5,221,316 63.8

Debt services 441,264 %6.4 430,877 %5.3

Total fund balance $ 6,946,462 %100.0 $ 8,181,484 %100.0

20

DRAFT

47



BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

There were some variances of note for the fiscal year.

 Revenues  were  over  budget  by  $904,847.    An  increase  in  property  tax  revenues  contributed  to  this

increase. 

 Expenses were over budget by $697,756 primarily due to increases in personnel costs related to wildland

deployments and grant expenses. 

For more detailed information, see budget to actual comparison at page 57.

Fry Fire District
Condensed Budget to Actual ‐ General Fund

As of June 30, 2021

Budget Actual
Variance with

budget

Total revenues $ 6,216,321 $ 7,121,168 $ 904,847

Total expenditures 6,107,839 6,805,595 697,756

Revenue over expenditures 108,482 315,573 207,091

Total other financing sources (uses) (108,482) 42,528 151,010

Net change in fund balance  $ ‐ $ 358,101 $ 358,101

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The District’s investment in capital assets for its governmental type activities as of June 30, 2021 totaled $3,670,685
(net  of  accumulated  depreciation).  This  investment  in  capital  assets  includes  land,  construction  in  progress,
buildings and improvements, equipment, and vehicles.  

During the year, the District purchased or placed in service capital assets of $2,231,325.  This included purchases of
a light rescue truck, two ambulances, two engines, equipment and commencement of fire station remodels. 

The  District  depreciates  capital  assets,  except  for  land  and  construction  in  progress,  consistent  with  generally
accepted accounting principles, utilizing the straight‐line depreciation method. The cost of the asset is divided by its
expected useful life in years and the result is charged to expense each year until the asset is fully depreciated. Major
outlays  for  capital  assets  and  improvements  are  capitalized  as  projects  are  completed  and  placed  into  service.
Additional information on the District's capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial statements at page
40 of this report.

21

DRAFT

48



Fry Fire District
Capital Assets (net of depreciation)

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities

2021 2020
Increase
(decrease)

Land $ 158,423 $ 158,423 $ ‐
Construction in progress 463,943 ‐ 463,943
Buildings and improvements 1,397,855 1,397,855 ‐
Fire equipment 2,254,120 2,123,132 130,988
Vehicles 4,343,911 2,923,899 1,420,012
Accumulated depreciation (4,947,567) (4,875,768) (71,799)

$ 3,670,685 $ 1,727,541 $ 1,943,144

Long Term Liabilities

At the end of the current fiscal year, the District had approximately $22 million in long‐term liabilities outstanding.

The District continues to retire and manage debt to fund various capital projects which support program services. As
of June 30, 2021, the District had bonds payable outstanding of $3,490,000.  This debt currently requires annual debt
service payments that consist of principal and interest of approximately $460,000. All debt is backed by the full faith
and credit of the District. The District has been issued an "AA" rating from Standard and Poor's.  

In accordance with GASB Statements No. 68 and 75, the District is required to include the net pension/OPEB liability
(asset) on  the  financial statements. The net pension/OPEB  liability  is measured as  the  total pension/OPEB  liability,
less the plan’s fiduciary net position.  Relating to the District’s participation in the Public Safety Personnel Retirement
System  (PSPRS),  a  net  pension  liability  is  recorded  at  June  30,  2021  of  $17,238,648  and  a  net OPEB  liability  of
$96,060.  Relating to the District’s participation in the Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS), a net pension liability
is recorded at June 30, 2021 of $296,283.

22

DRAFT

49



The following table shows the District’s Long‐term Liabilities:

Fry Fire District
Long‐term Liabilities

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities

2021 2020
Increase
(decrease)

Compensated absences $ 569,588 $ 514,086 $ 55,502
Bonds payable 3,490,000 3,780,000 (290,000)
Unamortized premium 322,642 343,554 (20,912)
Capital leases 12,683 28,859 (16,176)
Net pension/OPEB liability 17,632,786 15,760,625 1,872,161

Total noncurrent liabilities $ 22,027,699 $ 20,427,124 $ 1,600,575

Additional  information  regarding  the  long‐term debt  and noncurrent  liabilities of  the District  can be  found  in  the
notes to the financial statements at pages 40 ‐ 41 of this report.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FY 2022 BUDGET/TAX RATE

The District has continued to pursue every feasible method of reducing operational costs while providing the highest
level of service to the community.  The increase in funding from nontax revenues, such as grants and contributions,
wildland  revenue,  and  ambulance  revenue  have  helped  mitigate  the  impact  of  rising  costs,  such  as  employee
benefits,  to  the budget.    In  current  and  recent  years  the district has  focused on operational efficiency  to  reduce
expenses.  The increase nontax revenues and operational efficiency has allowed the District to maintain the level of
service provided.  Assessed value for fiscal year 2022 did not increase at the rate of previous years with only a 0.54%
increase.  As a result, the district raised its tax rate to $3.2200 for fiscal year 2022. This will allow the District to build
its unrestricted reserve balance to meet future financial needs and ensure long‐term financial stability.

FINANCIAL CONTACT

The financial statements of the District are designed to present users (citizens, taxpayers, customers,  investors and
creditors) with a general overview of  the  finances of  the District and  to demonstrate accountability.    If you have
questions regarding  the report or need additional  financial  information, please contact the Finance Director of the
District at 4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, Arizona 85650 or at 520‐378‐3276.

23

DRAFT

50



Basic Financial Statements

DRAFT

51



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

 JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental
activities

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 5,099,388
Receivables:

Property taxes 96,092
Ambulance, net 434,973
Other 223,598

Prepaid items 48,257
Cash and investments, restricted 1,911,696
Capital assets, not depreciated 622,366
Capital assets, depreciated, net 3,048,319
Net pension/OPEB asset 2,122

Total assets 11,486,811

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred outflows related to pensions/OPEB 4,802,484

4,802,484

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 353,526
Accrued expenses 127,024
Accrued interest 68,250
Unearned revenue 27,042
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 540,683
Due in more than one year 21,487,016

Total liabilities 22,603,541

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to pensions/OPEB 1,048,663

1,048,663

Commitments and contingencies

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,757,056
Restricted:

Debt service 441,264
Unrestricted (9,561,229)

Total net position $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 25

DRAFT

52



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental
activities

Expenses:
Public safety:

Communications and IT $ 114,831
Depreciation 286,887
Grants 36,545
Managerial  198,641
Other 13,974
Payroll taxes and employee benefits 2,988,990
Salaries and wages 3,393,367
Training and related 73,862
Utilities and station 82,648
Vehicles and equipment 226,126

Interest 115,588

Total program expenses 7,531,459

Program revenues:
Charges for services 2,610,508
Operating grants and contributions 79,946
Rental income 82,006

Total program revenues 2,772,460

Net program expense 4,758,999

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,397,177
Fire district assistance tax 397,163
Investment earnings 38,046
Other 67,674
Gain on disposal of capital assets 56,006

Total general revenues 4,956,066

Change in net position 197,067

Net position, beginning of year (7,559,976)

Net position, end $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 26

DRAFT

53



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

BALANCE SHEET ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2021

General fund Capital projects Debt service

Total
governmental

funds

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 2,893,930 $ 1,706,110 $ 499,348 $ 5,099,388
Receivables:

Property taxes 85,926 ‐ 10,166 96,092
Ambulance, net 434,973 ‐ ‐ 434,973
Other 223,598 ‐ ‐ 223,598

Prepaid items 48,257 ‐ ‐ 48,257
Cash and investments, restricted ‐ 1,911,696 ‐ 1,911,696

Total assets $ 3,686,684 $ 3,617,806 $ 509,514 $ 7,814,004

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 353,526 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 353,526
Accrued expenses 127,024 ‐ ‐ 127,024
Accrued interest ‐ ‐ 68,250 68,250
Unearned revenue 27,042 ‐ ‐ 27,042

Total liabilities 507,592 ‐ 68,250 575,842

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenue ‐ property taxes 67,753 ‐ ‐ 67,753
Unavailable revenue ‐ charges for
services 223,947 ‐ ‐ 223,947

Total deferred inflows of
resources 291,700 ‐ ‐ 291,700

Fund balance:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 48,257 ‐ ‐ 48,257
Restricted:

Debt service ‐ ‐ 441,264 441,264
Capital projects ‐ 1,911,696 ‐ 1,911,696

Assigned to:
Capital projects ‐ 1,706,110 ‐ 1,706,110
Employee leave 395,982 ‐ ‐ 395,982

Unassigned 2,443,153 ‐ ‐ 2,443,153

Total fund balance 2,887,392 3,617,806 441,264 6,946,462

Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources
and fund balance $ 3,686,684 $ 3,617,806 $ 509,514 $ 7,814,004

See notes to financial statements. 27

DRAFT

54



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2021

Total fund balances ‐ governmental funds  $ 6,946,462

Amounts  reported  for  governmental  activities  in  the  statement  of  net
position are different because: 

Capital  assets  used  in  governmental  activities  are  not  financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 3,670,685

Some  receivables  are  not  available  to  pay  for  current  period
expenditures and, therefore, are reported as deferred inflows in the
funds. 291,700

Net  pension/OPEB  assets  held  in  trust  for  future  benefits  are  not
available  for District operations and,  therefore, are not  reported  in
the funds. 2,122

Certain  liabilities  are not due  and payable  in  the  current period  and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Accrued compensated absences (569,588)
Capital leases payable (12,683)
Bond payable (3,490,000)
Unamortized premium (322,642)
Net pension/OPEB liability (17,632,786)

Deferred outflows and  inflows of  resources  related  to pensions/OPEB
are  applicable  to  future  reporting  periods  and,  therefore,  are  not
reported in the funds:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB 4,802,484
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB (1,048,663)

Net position of governmental activities $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 28

DRAFT

55



 FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

General fund Capital projects Debt service

Total
governmental

funds

Revenues:
Property taxes $ 3,911,049 $ ‐ $ 490,325 $ 4,401,374
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 ‐ ‐ 397,163
Charges for services 2,572,572 ‐ ‐ 2,572,572
Grants and contributions 79,946 ‐ ‐ 79,946
Rental income 82,006 ‐ ‐ 82,006
Investment earnings 10,758 8,376 18,912 38,046
Other 67,674 ‐ ‐ 67,674

Total revenues 7,121,168 8,376 509,237 7,638,781

Expenditures:
Public safety:

Emergency operations 5,176,744 ‐ ‐ 5,176,744
Administration 1,008,008 ‐ ‐ 1,008,008

Capital outlay:
Buildings and improvements ‐ 463,943 ‐ 463,943
Fire equipment 130,988 ‐ ‐ 130,988
Vehicles 473,679 1,162,715 ‐ 1,636,394

Debt service:
Principal 16,176 ‐ 290,000 306,176
Interest ‐ ‐ 208,850 208,850

Total expenditures 6,805,595 1,626,658 498,850 8,931,103

Revenues over (under) expenditures 315,573 (1,618,282) 10,387 (1,292,322)

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in (out) (14,772) 14,772 ‐ ‐
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 57,300 ‐ ‐ 57,300

Total other financing sources 42,528 14,772 57,300

Net change in fund balances 358,101 (1,603,510) 10,387 (1,235,022)

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,529,291 5,221,316 430,877 8,181,484

Fund balances, end of year $ 2,887,392 $ 3,617,806 $ 441,264 $ 6,946,462

See notes to financial statements. 29

DRAFT

56



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Net change in fund balances ‐ governmental funds $ (1,235,022)

Amounts  reported  for  governmental  activities  in  the  statement  of  activities  are
different because:

Capital  outlays  are  reported  in  governmental  funds  as  expenditures.
However,  in  the statement of activities,  the cost of  those capital assets  is
allocated over their estimated useful  lives as depreciation expense.   In the
current year, these amounts are:

Capital outlay 2,231,325
Depreciation expense (286,887)
Gain on disposal of capital assets 56,006
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (57,300)

Certain  revenues  relating  to  property  taxes  and  charges  for  services  in  the
statement of activities  that do not provide current  financial  resources are
not reported as revenues in the funds. 33,739

District  pension/OPEB  contributions  are  reported  as  expenditures  in  the
governmental  funds when made. However,  they are  reported as deferred
outflows  of  resources  in  the  statement  of  net  position  because  the
reported net pension/OPEB liability is measured a year before the District's
report  date.  Pension/OPEB  expense,  which  is  the  change  in  the  net
pension/OPEB  liability  adjusted  for  changes  in  deferred  outflows  and
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, is reported in the statement
of activities.

Pension/OPEB contributions 1,498,562
Pension/OPEB expense (2,387,292)

In the statement of activities,  interest  is accrued on  long‐term debt, whereas
in  the governmental  funds  it  is  recorded as an  interest expenditure when
paid. 72,350

Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use
of  current  financial  resources  and,  therefore,  are  not  reported  as
expenditures in governmental funds:

Change in compensated absences (55,502)

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long‐term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Repayment of debt principal  is an expenditure  in the governmental funds,
but  the  repayment  reduces noncurrent  liabilities  in  the  statement of net
position. In the current period, the amount consists of:

Principal paid 306,176
Amortization of premium 20,912

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 197,067

See notes to financial statements. 30

DRAFT

57



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies:

The accounting policies of Fry Fire District (the District) conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) applicable to governmental units as promulgated by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  

Reporting entity:
The District,  established  in  1965 pursuant  to Arizona Revised  Statute  Title 48,  is  a  special‐purpose  local
government organized  to provide  fire protection and other emergency  services  to  residents within  the
District boundaries and the unincorporated areas in and around the City of Sierra Vista.  

The District  is  a  primary  government  because  it  is  a  special‐purpose  government  that  has  a  separately
elected  governing  body,  is  legally  separate,  and  is  fiscally  independent  of  other  state  or  local
governments.    Furthermore,  there  are  no  component  units  combined  with  the  District  for  financial
statement presentation purposes and it is not included in any other governmental reporting entity.

Government‐wide and fund financial statements:
The  basic  financial  statements  include  both  government‐wide  financial  statements  and  fund  financial
statements.   The government‐wide financial statements focus on the District as a whole, while the fund
financial statements focus on major funds.   Each presentation provides valuable information that can be
analyzed  and  compared  between  years  and  between  entities  to  enhance  the  usefulness  of  the
information.

The government‐wide financial statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities.
These statements report the financial activities of the overall government.

A statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function  of  the  District's  governmental  activities.    Direct  expenses  are  those  that  are  specifically
associated with  a  program  or  function  and,  therefore,  are  clearly  identifiable  to  a  particular  function.
Program revenues include:

 charges to customers for services provided

 grants and contributions

Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes and internally dedicated resources,
are reported as general revenues.

Fund  financial statements provide  information about  the District's  funds.   The emphasis of  fund  financial
statements is on major governmental funds, each displayed in a separate column. 

31

DRAFT

58



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation:
The  government‐wide  financial  statements  are  presented  using  the  economic  resources measurement
focus  and  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Revenues  are  recorded  when  earned  and  expenses  are
recorded  at  the  time  liabilities  are  incurred,  regardless  of  when  the  related  cash  flows  take  place.
Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied.  Grants are recognized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements the provider imposed have been met.

Governmental  funds  in  the  fund  financial  statements  are  reported using  the  current  financial  resources
measurement  focus  and  the modified  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Under  this method,  revenues  are
recognized  when  measurable  and  available.    The  District  considers  all  revenues  reported  in  the
governmental  funds  to  be  available  if  the  revenues  are  collected  within  60  days  after  year‐end.
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on
general  long‐term  debt,  claims  and  judgments,  and  compensated  absences,  which  are  recognized  as
expenditures to the extent they are due and payable.   General capital asset acquisitions are reported as
expenditures  in governmental funds.   Proceeds of general  long‐term debt and acquisitions under capital
lease agreements are reported as other financing sources.

Real and personal property taxes are levied on or before the third Monday in August that become due and
payable  in two equal  installments.   The first  installment  is due on the first day of October and becomes
delinquent after  the  first business day of November.   The  second  installment  is due on  the  first day of
March  of  the  next  year  and becomes delinquent  after  the  first business day of May.   A  lien  assessed
against real and personal property attaches on the first day of January preceding assessment and levy.  All
property  taxes  are  billed  and  collected  by  Cochise  County  and  remitted  to  the  District.    In  the
governmental fund financial statements, property taxes are reflected as revenues  in the fiscal period for
which they were levied, provided they are due, or past due and receivable within the current period, and
collected within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay
liabilities of the current period (60 days).  Otherwise, they are reported as deferred inflows of resources. 

Investment earnings associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual
and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered
to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

The District reports the following major governmental funds:

The general fund is the primary operating fund of the District.  The principal revenue source is property
taxes.  Primary expenditures are for public safety. 

The capital projects  fund  is used  to account  for  financial  resources  that are  restricted, committed, or
assigned for the acquisition or construction of major capital assets.

32

DRAFT

59



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation (continued):
The  debt  service  fund  is  used  to  account  for  financial  resources  that  are  restricted,  committed,  or
assigned to expenditure for principal and interest.  

Estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the basic financial statements  in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions  that affect  the  reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of  resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of  the  basic  financial  statements  and  the  reported  amounts  of  revenues  and  expenses  during  the
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Cash and investments:
The District’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, investments
in the County Treasurer's local government investment pool and highly liquid investments with a maturity
of three months or less when purchased. Investments are stated at fair value.  

Investment earnings are comprised primarily of interest earnings. 

Cash and investments, restricted:
Certain proceeds of  the District's  long‐term debt are  classified as  restricted assets on  the balance  sheet
because  they  are maintained  in  separate  bank  accounts  and  their  use  is  limited  by  applicable  debt
covenants. 

Fair value measurements:
Fair value is defined as the price to sell an asset between market participants in an orderly exchange in the
principal or most advantageous market for that asset.  Mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices.
The  fair value  for  the commingled  funds and qualifying alternative  investments  is determined based on
the  investment’s  net  asset  value  as  a  practical  expedient.  Considerable  judgment  is  required  in
interpreting  market  data  used  to  develop  the  estimates  of  fair  value.    Accordingly,  the  estimates
presented in the financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized
in a current market exchange.   The use of different market assumptions and estimation methodologies
may have a material effect on the estimated fair value.

Receivables, unearned revenue and deferred inflows of resources:
All  accounts  and  property  tax  receivables  are  shown  net  of  an  allowance  for  doubtful  accounts,  if  any.
Property  taxes  receivable  for  the  governmental  fund  types, which  have  been  remitted within  60  days
subsequent to period end, are considered measurable and available and recognized as revenues.  All other
property taxes are offset by unavailable revenue and, accordingly, have not been recorded as revenue in
the fund financial statements.  

33

DRAFT

60



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Receivables, unearned revenue and deferred inflows of resources (continued):
Revenue from emergency medical and transportation services are recognized as charges for services.  These
charges  for  services  are  reported  at  their  estimated  net  realizable  amounts  from  patients,  third‐party
payers,  and  other  for  services  rendered,  including  estimated  retroactive  adjustments  under
reimbursement allowances with third‐party payers, provisions for bad debt and uncompensated care.  The
allowance for doubtful accounts, including contractual adjustments, as of June 30, 2021 is approximately
$570,000.   Amounts not collected by the District within 60 days subsequent to year‐end are recorded as
deferred inflows of resources in the fund financial statements. 

Federal  and  state  grants  and  contracts  are  recorded  as  receivables  and  revenues  when  the  related
expenditures  are  incurred.    The  portion  of  reimbursement  in  excess  of  expenditures  are  recorded  as
unearned revenues and amounts not remitted within 60 days subsequent to period end are recorded as
deferred inflows of resources.

Prepaid items:
Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit future accounting periods are recorded as prepaid
items using the consumption method.  A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the time of
purchase and an expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which services are consumed.  

Capital assets:
Capital assets, which  include  land, construction  in progress, buildings and  improvements, equipment, and
vehicles, are reported  in the government‐wide financial statements.   Capital assets are defined as assets
with an initial, individual cost of $1,500 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Such
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost  if actual cost  is not available. Donated
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend
assets  lives  are  not  capitalized.   Major  outlays  for  capital  assets  and  improvements  are  capitalized  as
projects are constructed.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight‐line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Land Not depreciated
Construction in progress Not depreciated
Buildings and improvements 15  to 40 years
Equipment 5 to 20 years
Vehicles  5 to 15 years

34

DRAFT

61



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Compensated absences:
It is the District's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused paid time off.  A liability is
reported for paid time off that the District will pay upon termination or retirement.  None of the liability
for  compensated  absences  is  expected  to  be  liquidated with  expendable  available  financial  resources.
Accordingly,  compensated  absences  are  accrued  as  a  liability  only  in  the  government‐wide  financial
statements.  The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for compensated absences
in prior years. 

Long‐term obligations:
In the government‐wide financial statements, long‐term debt and other long‐term obligations are reported
as noncurrent liabilities in the statement of net position.

In  the  fund  financial  statements, proceeds  from debt  issued are  reported as other  financing sources and
principal  and  interest  payments  are  recognized  as  expenditures  in  the  statement  of  revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources:
The  statement  of  net  position  and  balance  sheet  include  separate  sections  for  deferred  outflows  of
resources and deferred inflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of
net position that applies to future periods that will be recognized as an expense or expenditure in future
periods.  Deferred  inflows  of  resources  represent  an  acquisition  of  net  position  or  fund  balance  that
applies to future periods and will be recognized as a revenue or contra expense in future periods.

Postemployment benefits:
For purposes of measuring the net pension and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabilities or assets,
deferred  outflows  of  resources  and  deferred  inflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions  and OPEB,  and
pension  and  OPEB  expense,  information  about  the  plan's  fiduciary  net  position  and  additions
to/deductions from the plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the plans.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.   The plan's investments are
reported at fair value.

Fund balance:
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  fund  balance  is  divided  into  five  classifications  based  primarily  on  the
extent to which the District is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources.  The
classifications are as follows:

 Nonspendable –  includes  fund balance amounts  that  cannot be  spent either because  it  is not  in

spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints.

35

DRAFT

62



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Fund balance (continued):

 Restricted –  includes  fund balance amounts  that are constrained  for  specific purposes which are

externally  imposed by providers,  such as  creditors or amounts  constrained due  to  constitutional

provisions or enabling legislation.

 Committed  –  includes  fund  balance  amounts  that  can  only  be  used  for  the  specific  purposes

imposed by formal action (resolution) of the Governing Board.   Those committed amounts cannot

be used for any other purpose unless the Governing Board removes or changes the specified use by

taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those accounts.

 Assigned –  includes fund balance amounts that are  intended to be used for specific purposes that

are neither considered restricted or committed.   Fund balance may be assigned by the Governing

Board or District officials delegated the authority by the Governing Board.

 Unassigned – includes those fund balances within the general fund, which have not been classified

within the above mentioned categories.  In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification

is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for which

amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.   

The District applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned and unassigned) amounts are available.   Similarly, within
unrestricted  fund  balance,  committed  amounts  are  reduced  first  followed  by  assigned,  and  then
unassigned  amounts  when  expenditures  are  incurred  for  purposes  for  which  amounts  in  any  of  the
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Net position:
Net  position  represents  the  difference  between  assets,  liabilities  and  deferred  outflows/inflows  of
resources.   Net  investment  in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced  by  the  outstanding  balances  of  any  borrowing  used  for  the  acquisition,  construction  or
improvement of those assets.   Net position  is reported as restricted when there are  limitations  imposed
on  their  use  either  through  enabling  legislation  or  through  external  restrictions  imposed  by  creditors,
grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

Budgetary information:
The District is required, under Arizona Revised Statutes, to adopt a budget each fiscal year and to submit it
to the County Treasurer and the County Board of Supervisors no  later than the first day of August each
year; under statute only the general fund must legally adopt an annual budget.  The adopted budget is on
the modified accrual basis of accounting, which  is a  legally allowable basis  for budgetary purposes.   All
annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year‐end.

36

DRAFT

63



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Cash and investments:

Deposits: 
Operating accounts $ 2,489,014

Investments:
Cochise County Treasurer investment pool 2,610,374
Cochise County Treasurer investment pool ‐ bond proceeds, restricted for capital
purchases 1,911,696

$ 7,011,084

The Arizona Revised Statutes authorize the District to  invest public monies  in the State or County Treasurer's
investment  pool;  interest‐bearing  savings  accounts,  certificates  of  deposit  and  repurchase  agreements  in
eligible depositories; bonds or other obligations of the United States government that are guaranteed as to
principal and  interest by the United States government; and bonds of the State of Arizona's counties, cities,
towns, school districts and special districts as specified by statute. 

Deposits:
Custodial credit risk ‐ Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the District's deposits
may not be returned.  The Arizona Revised Statutes require collateral for demand deposits, certificates of
deposit  and  repurchase  agreements  at  101  percent  of  all  deposits  not  covered  by  federal  depository
insurance.

At June 30, 2021, deposits with financial institutions have a carrying value $2,489,014 and a bank balance of
$2,486,281.  The difference represents deposits in transit, outstanding checks, and other reconciling items
at the year‐end. 

Investments:
Currently,  monies  levied  by  the  District  are  invested  with  the  Cochise  County  Treasurer's  Office  and
included in the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).  The District's investment in the County's LGIP
represents a proportionate interest in the pool's portfolio; however, the District's portion is not identified
with specific investments.  No oversight is provided for the Cochise County investment pool, nor does the
structure of  the pool provide  for  shares.   Participation  in  the pool  is  involuntary.   The  fair value of  the
investment pool is discussed in note 3.

The District's investments at June 30, 2021 were as follows: 

Rating Rating Agency Amount

Cochise County Treasurer's investment pool Unrated Not applicable $ 4,522,070

37

DRAFT

64



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Cash and investments (continued):

Investments (continued):
The  District  does  not  have  a  formal  investment  policy with  respect  to  credit  risk,  custodial  credit  risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest rate risk or foreign currency risk for investments.

Credit risk ‐ Arizona Revised Statutes have the following requirements for credit risk: 

 Commercial Paper must be of prime quality and be rated within the top two ratings by a nationally

recognized rating agency.

 Specified bonds, debentures and notes must be rated A or better at the time of purchase by at least

two nationally recognized rating agencies.

 Fixed income securities must carry one of the two highest ratings by Moody's Investors Service  and

Standard and Poor's rating service.  If only one of the above‐mentioned services rates the security,

it must carry the highest rating of that service.

Custodial  credit  risk  ‐  the District’s  investment  in  the  County  Treasurer’s  investment  pool  represents  a
proportionate interest in the pool’s portfolio; however, the District’s portion is not identified with specific
investments and is not subject to custodial credit risk.

Concentration  of  credit  risk  ‐  The  Arizona  Revised  Statutes  do  not  include  any  requirements  for
concentration of credit risk.

Interest  rate  risk  ‐  Interest  rate  risk  is  the  risk  that  changes  in  interest  rates  will  adversely  affect  an
investment's fair value.  The Arizona Revised Statutes require that public monies invested in securities and
deposits  have  a maximum maturity  of  5  years.    Investments  in  repurchase  agreements must  have  a
maximum maturity of 180 days.

The weighted average maturity of the County Treasurer’s investment pool varies by type of investment, and
averages between 1 and 2 years. 

Foreign currency risk ‐ The Arizona Revised Statutes do not allow foreign investments unless the investment
is denominated in the United States dollars.

3. Fair value:

The District measures and categorizes its investments using fair value measurement guidelines established by
GAAP.   These guidelines establish a three‐tier hierarchy of  inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value, as follows:

Level 1  ‐  Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices  for  identical assets or  liabilities  in active markets  that  the
District has the ability to access.

38

DRAFT

65



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

3. Fair value (continued):

Level 2 ‐ Inputs, other than quoted market prices included within Level 1, are observable, either directly or
indirectly.  

Level 3 ‐ Inputs are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

Other investments at fair value ‐ Investments for which fair value is measured at net asset value per share
(or its equivalent).  Due to the inherent uncertainty of these estimates, these values may differ materially
from the values that would have been used had a ready market for these investments existed. 

At June 30, 2021, the fair value of investments measured on a recurring basis is as follows:

Fair value

Other
investments
at fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

External investment pools:
Cochise County Treasurer's
Investment Pool $ 4,522,070 $ 4,522,070 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

The  fair value of a participant’s portion  in the Cochise County Treasurer's  investment pool approximates the
value  of  that  participant’s  pool  shares  and  the  participant’s  shares  are  not  identified  with  specific
investments.      The  investment pool  is not  registered with  the  Securities  and Exchange Commission  as  an
investment  company  and  there  is  no  regulatory  oversight  of  its  operations.    There  are  no  unfunded
commitments or redemption restrictions related to these investments.

The  Cochise  County  Treasurer's  investment  pool  invests  primarily  in  certificates  of  deposits,  U.S.  agency
securities and the State's local government investment pool.  

4. Interfund transfers: 

Interfund transfers during the fiscal year are to be used to fund capital purchases of the capital projects fund.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the general fund transferred $14,772 to the capital projects fund. 

39

DRAFT

66



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

5. Capital assets:

Capital asset activity for the period ended June 30, 2021 was as follows. 

Beginning
balance Increases Decreases Ending balance

Capital assets, not depreciated:
Land $ 158,423 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 158,423
Construction in progress ‐ 463,943 ‐ 463,943

Total capital assets, not depreciated 158,423 463,943 ‐ 622,366

Capital assets, depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 1,397,855 ‐ ‐ 1,397,855
Equipment 2,123,132 130,988 ‐ 2,254,120
Vehicles 2,923,899 1,636,394 (216,382) 4,343,911

Total capital assets, depreciated 6,444,886 1,767,382 (216,382) 7,995,886

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (1,057,767) (34,382) ‐ (1,092,149)
Equipment (1,599,712) (70,258) ‐ (1,669,970)
Vehicles (2,218,289) (182,247) 215,088 (2,185,448)

Total accumulated depreciation (4,875,768) (286,887) 215,088 (4,947,567)

Total capital assets, depreciated, net 1,569,118 1,480,495 (1,294) 3,048,319

Total capital assets, net $ 1,727,541 $ 1,944,438 $ (1,294) $ 3,670,685

6. General obligation bonds:

The District, pursuant  to a  special bond election  in November 2016,  received voter approval  to  issue up  to
$10,000,000 in general obligation debt to construct a new fire station and replace equipment and vehicles. 

Series 2019 (A):
In May 2019,  the Series 2019  (A) General Obligation Bonds were  issued by  the District  in  the amount of
$3,780,000. The interest rate ranges from 3% ‐ 4% and the bonds mature July 1, 2038.

The Series 2019 (A) bonds were issued with a premium of $343,554 that is being amortized over the life of
the debt. 

40

DRAFT

67



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

6. General obligation bonds (continued):

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the general obligation bonds are as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 $ 330,000 $ 129,900 $ 459,900
2023 350,000 116,300 466,300
2024 175,000 106,675 281,675
2025 135,000 102,025 237,025
2026 135,000 97,300 232,300

2027 ‐ 2031 605,000 398,400 1,003,400
2032 ‐ 2036 1,100,000 228,100 1,328,100
2037 ‐ 2041 660,000 40,400 700,400

$ 3,490,000 $ 1,219,100 $ 4,709,100

7. Changes in noncurrent liabilities:

A summary of the changes in noncurrent liabilities for the period ended June 30, 2021 was as follows:

Beginning
balance Additions Reductions

Ending
balance

Due within
one year

Compensated absences $ 514,086 $ 198,125 $ (142,623) $ 569,588 $ 198,000
General obligation bonds 3,780,000 ‐ (290,000) 3,490,000 330,000
Unamortized premium 343,554 (20,912) 322,642
Obligations under capital
leases 28,859 ‐ (16,176) 12,683 12,683

Net pension liability 15,665,155 1,870,259 ‐ 17,535,414 ‐
Net OPEB liability 95,470 1,902 ‐ 97,372 ‐

$ 20,427,124 $ 2,070,286 $ (469,711) $ 22,027,699 $ 540,683

The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for pensions and OPEB in prior years. 

41

DRAFT

68



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

8. Line of credit:

The Board of Supervisors of Cochise County, on behalf of the District, established a line of credit in the amount
of $900,000 with a bank that  is managed by the Cochise County Treasurer's Office.   In accordance with the
Arizona Revised Statutes,  the  line of credit can only be drawn on by  the County Treasurer  in order  to pay
warrants  issued  by  the District  to  fund  operations  prior  to  the  collection  of  the  property  tax  levy  in  the
current year.  Interest is payable at the bank's prime rate (3.25% at June 30, 2021) and the line renews every
July 1.  The balance on the line at the beginning and end of the period was $0.  

9. Risk management:

The District  is exposed to various risks of  loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The District carries commercial insurance
for  all  such  risks of  loss,  including workers'  compensation  and  employees' health  and  accident  insurance.
Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past
three fiscal years.

10. Concentrations:

Certain of the District's work force are members of a union, the Fry Firefighters Local 4913.  The District does
not recognize Fry Firefighters Local 4913 as a bargaining unit; however, the District's current relationship with
the Fry Firefighters Local 4913 is on a meet and confer basis.  

11. Commitments and contingencies:

Intergovernmental agreements:
The District  is party  to a variety of  intergovernmental agreements entered  into  in  the ordinary course of
business pursuant to which  it may be obligated to provide services outside of  its geographic boundaries
and/or  receive assistance  from other parties.   As part of  these agreements,  the District  is obligated  to
indemnify  other  parties  for  certain  liabilities  that  arise  out  of,  or  relate  to,  the  subject matter  of  the
agreements.  

Legal proceedings:
From  time  to  time,  the District may be party  to certain pending or  threatened  lawsuits arising out of or
incident  to  the  ordinary  course  of  business  for  which  it  carries  general  liability  and  other  insurance
coverages.  In the opinion of management and based upon consultation with legal counsel, resolution of
any  pending  or  threatened  lawsuits will  not  have  a material  adverse  effect  on  the  District's  financial
statements.

42

DRAFT

69



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits:

The  District  contributes  to  the  Arizona  State  Retirement  System  (ASRS)  and  the  Public  Safety  Personnel
Retirement System (PSPRS).  These plans are component units of the State of Arizona. 

At  June  30,  2021,  the  District  reported  on  the  Statement  of Net  Position  and  Statement  of  Activities  the
following aggregate amounts related to pensions and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) for all plans to
which it contributes:

Governmental
Activities

Net pension and OPEB assets $ 2,122
Net pension and OPEB liabilities 17,632,786
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB 4,802,484
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB 1,048,663
Pension and OPEB expense 2,387,292

The  District  reported  $1,498,562  of  pension  and OPEB  contributions  as  expenditures  in  the  governmental
funds related to all plans to which it contributes. 

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS):
Plan description ‐ District employees not covered by the other pension plan described below participate in
the  Arizona  State  Retirement  System  (ASRS).  The  ASRS  administers  a  cost‐sharing multiple‐employer
defined benefit pension plan, a cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit health insurance premium
benefit  (OPEB)  plan,  and  a  cost‐sharing multiple‐employer  defined  benefit  long‐term  disability  (OPEB)
plan. The Arizona State Retirement System Board governs the ASRS according to the provisions of A.R.S.
Title 38, Chapter 5, Articles 2 and 2.1. The ASRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes its
financial  statements and  required  supplementary  information. The  report  is available on  its website at
www.azasrs.gov.  

Although an ASRS net OPEB asset/liability has been recorded at June 30, 2021, the ASRS OPEB plans have
not been further disclosed due to the relative insignificance to the District's financial statements.  

Benefits  provided  ‐  The  ASRS  provides  retirement,  health  insurance  premium  supplement,  long‐term
disability,  and  survivor  benefits.    State  statute  establishes  benefit  terms.    Retirement  benefits  are
calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

43

DRAFT

70



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Initial membership date:

Before July 1, 2011 On or after July 1, 2011

Years of service and age
required to receive
benefit

Sum of years and age equals 80
10 years age 62
5 years age 50
any years age 65

30 years age 55
25 years age 60
10 years age 62
5 years age 50
any years age 65

Final average salary is
based on 

Highest 36 consecutive months of
last 120 months

Highest 60 consecutive months of
last 120 months

Benefit percent per year
of service

2.1% to 2.3% 2.1% to 2.3%

   
Retirement  benefits  for  members  who  joined  the  ASRS  prior  to  September  13,  2013  are  subject  to
automatic cost‐of‐living adjustments based on excess investment earnings. Members with a membership
date on or after September 13, 2013 are not eligible for cost‐of‐living adjustments. Survivor benefits are
payable upon a member’s death. For retired members, the retirement benefit option chosen determines
the survivor benefit. For all other members, the beneficiary  is entitled to the member’s account balance
that includes the member’s contributions and employer’s contributions, plus interest earned.

Contributions ‐ In accordance with State statutes, annual actuarial valuations determine active member and
employer contribution requirements. The combined active member and employer contribution rates are
expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued  liability. For  the year ended  June 30, 2021,  statute  required active ASRS
members to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 12.22% (12.04% for retirement and 0.18% for
long‐term  disability)  of  the  members’  annual  covered  payroll,  and  statute  required  the  District  to
contribute  at  the  actuarially  determined  rate  of  12.22%  (11.65%  for  retirement,  0.39%  for  health
insurance premium benefit, and 0.18%  for  long‐term disability) of  the active members’ annual covered
payroll.  

The District's contributions  to  the pension plan  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021 were $23,290.   During
fiscal year 2021, the District paid for the ASRS pension and OPEB contributions from the general fund and
VECC fund.

44

DRAFT

71



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Pension liability ‐ At June 30, 2021, the District reported a liability of $296,283 for its proportionate share of
the ASRS’  net  pension  liability.  The  net  pension  liability was measured  as  of  June  30,  2020.  The  total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined using update procedures to roll
forward  the  total pension  liability  from an actuarial valuation as of  June 30, 2019,  to  the measurement
date of  June 30, 2020.   The District’s proportion of  the net pension  liability was based on  the District's
actual contributions to the plan relative to the total of all participating employers’ contributions for the
year ended June 30, 2020. The District’s proportion measured as of June 30, 2020 was 0.00171%, which
was an increase of 0.00171 from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019.

Pension  expense  and  deferred  outflows/inflows  of  resources  ‐  For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021,  the
District recognized pension expense for ASRS of $104,839. At June 30, 2021, the District reported deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 2,680 $ ‐
Changes in assumptions or other inputs ‐ ‐
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 28,577 ‐
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 160,187 ‐
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 23,290 ‐

$ 214,734 $ ‐

The $23,290  reported as deferred outflows of  resources  related  to ASRS pensions  resulting  from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ending June 30, 2022. 

45

DRAFT

72



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Other amounts  reported as deferred outflows of  resources and deferred  inflows of  resources  related  to
ASRS pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ending
June 30,

2022 $ 87,627
2023 84,641
2024 10,337
2025 8,839

$ 191,444

Actuarial assumptions ‐ The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the total pension liability are
as follows:

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2019
Actuarial roll forward date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.5%
Projected salary increases 2.7% ‐ 7.2%
Inflation 2.3%
Permanent benefit increase Included
Mortality rates 2017 SRA Scale U‐MP

Actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2019  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial
experience study for the 5‐year period ended June 30, 2016.

The long‐term expected rate of return on ASRS pension plan investments was determined to be 7.5% using
a building‐block method  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These ranges are combined to produce the long‐term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 

46

DRAFT

73



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
The  target allocation and best estimates of geometric  real  rates of  return  for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long‐term expected

geometric real rate of return

Equity %50 %6.39
Fixed income ‐ credit %20 %5.44
Fixed income ‐ interest rate sensitive %10 %0.22
Real estate %20 %5.85

%100

Discount rate ‐ The discount rate used to measure the ASRS total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection
of  cash  flows  used  to  determine  the  discount  rate  assumed  that  contributions  from  participating
employers will be made based on  the actuarially determined  rates based on  the ASRS Board’s  funding
policy,  which  establishes  the  contractually  required  rate  under  Arizona  statute.    Based  on  those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore,  the  long‐term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.

Sensitivity of the District's proportionate share of the ASRS net pension liability to changes in the discount
rate  ‐ The  following  table presents  the District's proportionate  share of  the net pension  liability  (asset)
calculated using  the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what  the District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (6.5%) or 1% higher
(8.5%) than the current rate:

1% decrease
(6.5%)

Current
discount rate

(7.5%)
1% increase

(8.5%)

District's proportionate share of the net pension
liability $ 405,164 $ 296,283 $ 205,265

Pension plan fiduciary net position ‐ Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued ASRS financial report.

47

DRAFT

74



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS):
Plan descriptions  ‐ District employees who are regularly assigned hazardous duty participate  in the Public
Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) or employees who became members on or after July 1, 2017,
may  participate  in  the  Public  Safety  Personnel  Defined  Contribution  Retirement  Plan  (PSPDCRP).  The
PSPRS administers agent and cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit pension plans and agent and
cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit health  insurance premium benefit  (OPEB) plans. A nine‐
member  board  known  as  the  Board  of  Trustees  and  the  participating  local  boards  govern  the  PSPRS
according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 4. Employees who were PSPRS members
before July 1, 2017, participate in the agent plans, and those who became PSPRS members on or after July
1, 2017, participate  in  the  cost‐sharing plans  (PSPRS  Tier 3 Risk Pool), which  are not  further disclosed
because of their relative insignificance to the District's financial statements.  

The  PSPRS  issues  a  publicly  available  financial  report  that  include  financial  statements  and  required
supplementary information. The reports is available on the PSPRS website at www.psprs.com. 

Benefits provided  ‐ The PSPRS provides retirement, health  insurance premium supplement, disability, and
survivor benefits. State statute establishes benefit terms. Retirement, disability, and survivor benefits are
calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012

On or after January 1,
2012 and before July 1,

2017 On or after July 1, 2017

Years of service
and age required
to receive benefit

20 years of service, any
age

15 years of service, age 62

25 years of service or 15
years of credited service,

age 52.5

15 years of credited
service, age 52.5, 15 or

more years of service, age
55

Final average
salary is based on

Highest 36 consecutive
months of last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive
months of last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive
months of last 15 years

Benefit percent:

Normal
retirement

50% less 2.0% for each
year of credited service

less than 20 years OR plus
2.0% to 2.5% for each
year of credited service
over 20 years, not to

exceed 80%

1.5% to 2.5% per year of credited service, not to
exceed 80%

48

DRAFT

75



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012
On or after January 1, 2012
and before July 1, 2017 On or after July 1, 2017

Accidental
disability
retirement

50% or normal retirement, whichever is greater

Catastrophic
disability
retirement

90% for the first 60 months then reduced to either 62.5% or normal retirement,
whichever is greater

Ordinary
disability
retirement

Normal retirement calculated with actual years of credited service or 20 years of
credited service, whichever is greater, multiplied by years of credited service (not

to exceed 20 years) divided by 20
Survivor benefit:

Retired members 80% to 100% of retired member’s pension benefit

Active member 80% to 100% of accidental disability retirement benefit or 100% of average
monthly compensation if death was the result of injuries received on the job

Retirement  and  survivor benefits  are  subject  to  automatic  cost‐of‐living  adjustments based on  inflation.
PSPRS also provides temporary disability benefits of 50 percent of the member’s compensation for up to
12 months.

Health  insurance premium benefits are available to retired or disabled members with 5 years of credited
service. The benefits are payable only with respect to allowable health insurance premiums for which the
member is responsible. Benefits range from $100 per month to $260 per month depending on the age of
the member and dependents.

Employees covered by benefit terms ‐ At June 30, 2021, the following employees were covered by the agent
pension plan benefit terms:

Pension Health

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 25 25
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3 1
Active employees 32 32

60 58

49

DRAFT

76



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Contributions ‐ State statutes establish the pension contribution requirements for active PSPRS employees.
In  accordance  with  State  statutes,  annual  actuarial  valuations  determine  employer  contribution
requirements for PSPRS pension and health  insurance premium benefits.   The combined active member
and employer contribution rates are expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the
year,  with  an  additional  amount  to  finance  any  unfunded  accrued  liability.  Contribution  rates  are  a
percentage of active members’ annual covered payroll.

Active members ‐ pension 7.65% ‐ 11.65%
District:
Pension %49.51
Health insurance %0.64

In addition,  the District  is  required  to  contribute at  the actuarially determined  rate of 33.61% of annual
covered  payroll  of  retired members who worked  for  the  District  in  positions  that  an  employee who
contributes to the PSPRS would typically fill and of employees participating  in the PSPRS Tier 3 Risk Pool
and PSPDCRP members  in addition to the District’s required contributions to the PSPRS Tier 3 Risk Pool
and PSPDCRP. 

The District's  contributions  to  the pension plan  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021 were $1,435,936, and
contributions to the OPEB plan were $18,678.   During fiscal year 2021, the District paid for the pension
and OPEB contributions from the general fund.

Liability (asset) ‐ At June 30, 2021, the District reported net pension liability of $17,238,648 and a net OPEB
liability of $96,060.     The net  liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2020 and the total  liability used to
calculate the net liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial  assumptions  ‐  The  significant  actuarial  assumptions  used  to measure  the  total  pension/OPEB
liability are as follows:

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.3%
Wage inflation 3.5% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Price inflation 2.5% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Cost‐of‐living adjustment 1.75% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Mortality rates PubS‐2010 tables
Healthcare cost trend rate Not applicable

50

DRAFT

77



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2020  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial
experience study for the 5‐year period ended June 30, 2017.

The long‐term expected rate of return on PSPRS pension plan investments was determined to be 7.3% using
a building‐block method  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

The  target allocation and best estimates of geometric  real  rates of  return  for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long‐term expected

geometric real rate of return

U.S. public equity %23 %4.93
International public equity %15 %6.09
Global private equity %18 %8.42
Other assets (capital appreciation) %7 %5.61
Core bonds %2 %0.22
Private credit %22 %5.31
Diversifying strategies %12 %3.22
Cash ‐ Mellon %1 %(0.60)

%100

Discount rate  ‐   At June 30, 2020, the discount rate used to measure the total pension/OPEB  liability was
7.30%.    The projection of  cash  flows used  to determine  the discount  rate  assumed  that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made
at  rates equal  to  the difference between  the actuarially determined contribution  rate and  the member
rate. Based on those assumptions, the plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long‐term expected rate of
return on plan  investments was applied  to all periods of projected benefit payments  to determine  the
total pension/OPEB liability.

51

DRAFT

78



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Changes in the net pension liability ‐ 

Total pension
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary
net position

(b)

Net pension
liability
(a) ‐ (b)

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 27,699,543 $ 12,034,388 $ 15,665,155

Adjustment to beginning of year ‐ (75,239) 75,239

Changes for the year:
Service cost 590,218 ‐ 590,218
Interest on the total pension liability 2,016,399 ‐ 2,016,399
Differences between expected and actual
experience in the measurement of the
pension liability 464,888 ‐ 464,888

Contributions ‐ employer ‐ 1,228,795 (1,228,795)
Contributions ‐ employee ‐ 218,825 (218,825)
Net investment income ‐ 154,945 (154,945)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,335,708) ‐

Administrative expense ‐ (12,637) 12,637
Other changes ‐ (16,677) 16,677

Net changes 1,735,797 237,543 1,498,254

Balances at June 30, 2021 $ 29,435,340 $ 12,196,692 $ 17,238,648

52

DRAFT

79



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Changes in the net OPEB liability ‐ 

Total OPEB
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary
net position

(b)

Net OPEB
liability
(a) ‐ (b)

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 480,631 $ 385,161 $ 95,470

Adjustment to beginning of year ‐ ‐ ‐

Changes for the year:
Service cost 11,926 ‐ 11,926
Interest on the total OPEB liability 35,493 ‐ 35,493
Differences between expected and actual
experience in the measurement of the
OPEB liability (23,983) ‐ (23,983)

Contributions ‐ employer ‐ 18,490 (18,490)
Net investment income ‐ 4,742 (4,742)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (25,842) (25,842) ‐

Administrative expense ‐ (386) 386

Net changes (2,406) (2,996) 590

Balances at June 30, 2021 $ 478,225 $ 382,165 $ 96,060

Sensitivity of the District’s net pension/OPEB (asset) liability to changes in the discount rate ‐ The following
table presents the District’s net pension/OPEB (assets) liabilities calculated using the discount rate noted
above, as well as what the District's net pension/OPEB (asset) liability would be if it were calculated using
a  discount  rate  that  is  1  percentage  point  lower  (6.3%)  or  1  percentage  point  higher  (8.3%)  than  the
current rate:

1% decrease
(6.3%)

Current
discount rate

(7.3%)
1% increase

(8.3%)

District's net pension liability  $ 21,551,654 $ 17,238,648 $ 13,760,243

District's net OPEB liability $ 151,833 $ 96,060 $ 49,362

Plan fiduciary net position  ‐ Detailed  information about the plans' fiduciary net position  is available  in the
separately issued PSPRS financial report.

53

DRAFT

80



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Expense  ‐  For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021,  the  District  recognized  pension  expense  for  PSPRS  of
$1,435,936 and OPEB expense of $19,518.

Deferred  outflows/inflows  of  resources  ‐  At  June  30,  2021,  the  District  reported  deferred  outflows  of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB from the following sources:

Pension Health

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Differences between expected and
actual experience $ 733,660 $ 941,667 $ ‐ $ 98,509

Changes in assumptions 1,671,621 ‐ 6,390 3,979
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on plan investments 659,661 ‐ 20,485 ‐

Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,435,936 ‐ 18,678 ‐

$ 4,500,878 $ 941,667 $ 45,553 $ 102,488

The  amounts  reported  as  deferred  outflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions  and OPEB  resulting  from
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an  increase  in the net
asset  or  a  reduction of  the net  liability  in  the  year  ending  June  30,  2022. Other  amounts  reported  as
deferred outflows of  resources and deferred  inflows of  resources  related  to pensions and OPEB will be
recognized as expenses as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Pension Health

2022 $ 588,914 $ (14,933)
2023 588,915 (12,159)
2024 503,264 (12,466)
2025 335,544 (12,737)
2026 40,225 (11,659)

Thereafter 66,413 (11,659)

$ 2,123,275 $ (75,613)

54

DRAFT

81



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
PSPDCRP  plan  – District  employees who  are  regularly  assigned  hazardous  duty  and  aren’t members  of
PSPRS participate in the PSPDCRP. The PSPDCRP is a defined contribution pension plan. The PSPRS Board
of  Trustees  governs  the PSPDCRP  according  to  the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 4.1.
Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, are established by State statute. 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, active PSPDCRP members were required by statute to contribute at least
9 percent of the members’ annual covered payroll, and the District was required by statute to contribute 9
percent of  active members’  annual  covered payroll  to  an  individual employee  account. Employees  are
immediately vested in their own contributions and the earnings on those contributions. Employees vest in
a  portion  of  the District’s  contributions  each  year  as  set  forth  in  statute.  The  plan  retains  nonvested
District contributions when forfeited because of employment terminations.

13. Subsequent events:

In September 2021, the Governing Board approved a Resolution to issue Certificates of Participation (COPs) not
to exceed $18,000,000 in principal amount.  COPs are debt instruments representing a fractional share of the
District's  interest  in a  tax‐exempt  lease marketed  to  investors.   The District will use the proceeds  from the
COPs to reduce the District's unfunded pension  liability with PSPRS.    In November 2021, the District  issued
$17,360,000 of COPs.  

55

DRAFT

82



Required Supplementary Information

DRAFT

83



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE ‐
BUDGET TO ACTUAL ‐ GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Budgeted amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance with
final budget

Revenues:
Property taxes $ 3,934,985 $ 3,934,985 $ 3,911,049 $ (23,936)
Fire district assistance tax 400,000 400,000 397,163 (2,837)
Charges for services 1,637,000 1,637,000 2,572,572 935,572
Grants and contributions 132,115 132,115 79,946 (52,169)
Rental income 61,200 61,200 82,006 20,806
Investment earnings 14,000 14,000 10,758 (3,242)
Other 37,021 37,021 67,674 30,653

Total revenues 6,216,321 6,216,321 7,121,168 904,847

Expenditures:
Public safety:

Emergency operations 5,272,859 5,272,859 5,176,744 (96,115)
Administration 834,980 834,980 1,008,008 173,028

Capital outlay ‐ ‐ 604,667 604,667
Debt service ‐ ‐ 16,176 16,176

Total expenditures 6,107,839 6,107,839 6,805,595 697,756

Revenues over expenditures 108,482 108,482 315,573 207,091

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (108,482) (108,482) (14,772) 93,710
Proceeds from sale of capital assets ‐ ‐ 57,300 57,300

Total other financing uses (108,482) (108,482) 42,528 151,010

Net change in fund balance ‐ ‐ 358,101 358,101

Fund balance, beginning of year ‐ ‐ 2,529,291 2,529,291

Fund balance, end of year $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 2,887,392 $ 2,887,392

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information  57

DRAFT

84



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION/OPEB LIABILITY ‐ COST SHARING PLAN (ASRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

ASRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2021, which was the first year of participation in this plan)

Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

District's proportion of the net pension
liability %0.001710 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability $ 296,283 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 65,790 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability as a percentage of its
covered employee payroll %450 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability %69 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 58

DRAFT

85



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS ‐ AGENT RETIREMENT PLAN (PSPRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(schedule to be built prospectively from 2015;  2014 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

Total pension liability
Service cost $ 590,218 $ 612,790 $ 591,000 $ 616,597 $ 507,061 $ 509,210 $ 522,125 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Interest 2,016,399 1,967,644 1,873,329 1,678,985 1,556,320 1,497,010 1,285,538 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit changes ‐ ‐ ‐ 290,508 595,933 ‐ 448,678 ‐ ‐ ‐
Difference between expected and actual
experience 464,888 (842,004) (175,939) 686,270 (30,760) (255,469) (900,170) ‐ ‐ ‐

Assumption changes ‐ 658,689 ‐ 864,466 921,105 ‐ 2,380,341 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,349,142) (1,313,153) (1,077,321) (1,010,072) (978,195) (1,094,095) ‐ ‐ ‐

Net change in total pension liability 1,735,797 1,047,977 975,237 3,059,505 2,539,587 772,556 2,642,417 ‐ ‐ ‐
Total pension liability, beginning 27,699,543 26,651,566 25,676,329 22,616,824 20,077,237 19,304,681 16,662,264 ‐ ‐ ‐

Total pension liability, ending (a) $ 29,435,340 $ 27,699,543 $ 26,651,566 $ 25,676,329 $ 22,616,824 $ 20,077,237 $ 19,304,681 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position
Adjustment to beginning of year $ (75,239) $ (16,296) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions ‐ employer 1,228,795 1,208,155 1,495,352 1,068,196 1,072,871 835,895 717,789 ‐ ‐ ‐
Contributions ‐ employee 218,825 224,395 235,228 555,844 419,779 309,556 271,334 ‐ ‐ ‐
Pension plan net investment income 154,945 619,085 722,050 1,085,217 51,388 301,225 999,067 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,349,142) (1,313,153) (1,077,321) (1,010,072) (978,195) (1,094,095) ‐ ‐ ‐

Hall/Parker settlement ‐ ‐ (395,688) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Administrative expenses (12,637) (11,760) (11,689) (10,002) (7,794) (7,735) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Other (16,677) ‐ 13,023 (25,045) (128,692) 24,156 (320,635) ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in fiduciary net position 162,304 674,437 745,123 1,596,889 397,480 484,902 573,460 ‐ ‐ ‐
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 12,034,388 11,359,951 10,614,828 9,017,939 8,620,459 8,135,557 7,562,097 ‐ ‐ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) $ 12,196,692 $ 12,034,388 $ 11,359,951 $ 10,614,828 $ 9,017,939 $ 8,620,459 $ 8,135,557 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net pension liability, ending (a) ‐ (b) $ 17,238,648 $ 15,665,155 $ 15,291,615 $ 15,061,501 $ 13,598,885 $ 11,456,778 $ 11,169,124 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability %41.44 %43.45 %42.62 %41.34 %39.87 %43.94 %42.14 %‐ %‐ %‐

Covered valuation payroll $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ 2,617,767 $ 2,765,466 $ 2,595,862 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net pension liability as a percentage of
covered valuation payroll %723.33 %629.19 %581.91 %576.47 %519.48 %414.28 %430.27 %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 59

DRAFT

86



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS ‐ AGENT RETIREMENT PLAN (PSPRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(schedule to be built prospectively from 2018;  2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

Total OPEB liability
Service cost $ 11,926 $ 8,146 $ 8,409 $ 9,144 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Interest on total OPEB liability 35,493 38,568 38,903 39,443 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Changes of benefit changes ‐ ‐ ‐ 22 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Difference between expected and actual
experience (23,983) (74,384) (28,926) (12,200) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Assumption changes ‐ 8,518 ‐ (8,007) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments (25,842) (26,533) (27,153) (29,318) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in total OPEB liability (2,406) (45,685) (8,767) (916) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total OPEB liability, beginning 480,631 526,316 535,083 535,999 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total OPEB liability, ending (a) $ 478,225 $ 480,631 $ 526,316 $ 535,083 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position
Adjustment to beginning of year $ ‐ $ 16,296 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions ‐ employer 18,490 20,207 7,396 21,000 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Contributions ‐ employee ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net investment income 4,742 19,171 23,824 37,794 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments (25,842) (26,533) (27,153) (29,318) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Administrative expenses (386) (331) (363) (335) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Other ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in fiduciary net position (2,996) 28,810 3,704 29,141 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 385,161 356,351 352,647 323,506 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) $ 382,165 $ 385,161 $ 356,351 $ 352,647 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net OPEB liability (asset), ending (a) ‐ (b) $ 96,060 $ 95,470 $ 169,965 $ 182,436 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total OPEB liability %79.91 %80.14 %67.71 %65.91 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Covered valuation payroll $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered valuation payroll %4.03 %3.83 %6.47 %6.98 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 60

DRAFT

87



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION/OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

ASRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2021, which was the first year of participation in this plan)

Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 23,290 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 23,290 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 199,914 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %11.65 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 61

DRAFT

88



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION/OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

PSPRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2018; 2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 1,435,936 $ 1,208,155 $ 1,495,352 $ 1,068,196 $ 1,072,871 $ 835,895 $ 717,789 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 1,435,936 1,208,155 1,495,352 976,189 1,072,871 835,895 717,789 ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 92,007 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 2,900,880 $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ 2,617,767 $ 2,765,466 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %49.50 %48.53 %56.90 %37.36 %40.98 %30.23 %27.65 %‐ %‐ %‐

PSPRS Health (schedule to be built prospectively from 2018; 2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 18,678 $ 20,207 $ 7,396 $ 21,000 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 18,678 20,207 7,396 21,000 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 2,900,880 $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %0.64 %0.81 %0.28 %0.80 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 62

DRAFT

89



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Budgetary basis of accounting:

The District prepares  its annual budget on  the modified accrual basis of accounting. The  level of budgetary
control  is at the  fund  level.   A budgetary comparison schedule  for the general fund  is  included as required
supplementary information to provide meaningful comparison of actual results to budget on a budget basis.

2. Pension and OPEB plan schedules:

Actuarially determined contribution rates:
Actuarial determined contribution rates for PSPRS are calculated as of June 30 two years prior to the end of
the fiscal year in which contributions are made.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used to establish
the contribution requirements are as follows:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percent‐of‐pay, closed

Remaining amortization period as of the 2019
actuarial valuation

17 years

Asset valuation method 7‐year smoothed market; 80%/120% corridor

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return PSPRS  members  with  initial  membership  date  before
July  1,  2017:  In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  the
investment rate of return was decreased from 7.5% to
7.4%.  In  the 2016 actuarial valuation,  the  investment
rate of return was decreased from 7.85% to 7.5%.    In
the  2013  actuarial  valuation,  the  investment  rate  of
return  was  decreased  from  8.0%  to  7.85%.  PSPRS
members with  initial membership on or  after  July 1,
2017: 7%

Salary increase In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  projected  salary
increases were decreased from 4.0%  ‐ 8.0% to 3.5%  ‐
7.5%. In the 2014 actuarial valuation, projected salary
increases were decreased from 4.5% – 8.5% to 4.0% –
8.0%. In the 2013 actuarial valuation, projected salary
increases were decreased from 5.0% – 9.0% to 4.5% –
8.5%.

63

DRAFT

90



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Pension and OPEB plan schedules (continued):

Actuarially determined contribution rates (continued):

Wage growth In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  wage  growth  was
decreased  from  4%  to  3.5%.  In  the  2014  actuarial
valuation, wage growth was decreased  from 4.5%  to
4.0%.    In  the  2013  actuarial  valuation, wage  growth
was decreased from 5.0% to 4.5%.

Retirement age Experience‐based  table  of  rates  that  is  specific  to  the
type of eligibility condition.  Last updated for the 2012
valuation  pursuant  to  an  experience  study  of  the
period July 1, 2006 ‐ June 30, 2011.

Mortality In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  changed  to  RP‐2014
tables,  with  75%  of  MP‐2016  fully  generational
projection scales. RP‐2000 mortality table (adjusted by
105% for both males and females).

Factors that affect trends:
Arizona courts have ruled that provisions of a 2011 law that changed the mechanism for funding permanent
pension benefit increases and increased employee pension contribution rates were unconstitutional or a
breach  of  contract  because  those  provisions  apply  to  individuals who were members  as  of  the  law’s
effective date. As a result,  the PSPRS changed benefit  terms  to reflect  the prior mechanism  for  funding
permanent  benefit  increases  for  those members  and  revised  actuarial  assumptions  to  explicitly  value
future permanent benefit  increases. PSPRS also  reduced  those members’ employee  contribution  rates.
These changes are reflected in the plans’ pension liabilities for fiscal year 2015 (measurement date 2014)
for members who were  retired as of  the  law’s effective date and  fiscal  year 2018  (measurement date
2017) for members who retired or will retire after the law’s effective date. These changes also increased
the PSPRS‐required pension contributions beginning in fiscal year 2016 for members who were retired as
of the  law’s effective date. These changes  increased the PSPRS‐required contributions beginning  in fiscal
year 2019 for members who retired or will retire after the law’s effective date.  Also, the District refunded
excess  employee  contributions  to  PSPRS  members.  PSPRS  allowed  the  District  to  reduce  its  actual
employer contributions for the refund amounts. As a result, the District's pension contributions were less
than the actuarially or statutorily determined contributions for 2018 and 2019.

64

DRAFT

91



STATISTICAL SECTION

DRAFT

92



Statistical Section

This part of the comprehensive annual financial report of the District presents detailed information as a context for
understanding  what  the  information  in  the  financial  statements,  note  disclosures,  and  required  supplementary
information says about the government's overall financial health of the District.

This section contains the following tables and information:

Financial Trends
These schedules contain  trend  information  to help the reader understand how the  financial performance
and well‐being of the District have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the most significant local revenue source of
the District – the property tax.

Debt Capacity 
These  schedules present  information  to help  the  reader  assess  the  affordability of  the  current  levels of
outstanding debt of the District and its ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information 
These  schedules  offer  demographic  and  economic  indicators  to  help  the  reader  understand  the
environment within which the financial activities of the District take place.

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information
in  the  financial  report  of  the  District  relates  to  the  services  the District  provides  and  the  activities  it
performs.

66

DRAFT

93



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Governmental Activities
Net investments in capital assets $ 1,757,056 $ 1,170,035 $ 1,629,177 $ 1,331,151 $ 1,363,051 $ 1,549,843 $ 1,545,516 $ 1,774,859 $ 2,023,726 $ 2,275,396
Restricted 441,264 430,877 3,641,003 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Unrestricted (9,561,229) (9,160,888) (12,891,684) (8,871,169) 2,331,387 2,827,055 2,669,453 2,400,368 2,293,515 2,181,561

Total governmental activities
net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ (7,621,504) $ (7,540,018) $ 3,694,438 $ 4,376,898 $ 4,214,969 $ 4,175,227 $ 4,317,241 $ 4,456,957

Source: District financial records.

67

DRAFT

94



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Expenses
Governmental activities:
Public Safety $ 7,415,871 $ 6,613,013 $ 6,530,095 $ 6,557,014 $ 6,340,914 $ 5,918,573 $ 5,718,176 $ 5,477,159 $ 5,575,194 $ 5,516,911
Interest on long‐term debt 115,588 144,148 37,647 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total primary government
expenses 7,531,459 6,757,161 6,567,742 6,557,014 6,340,914 5,918,573 5,718,176 5,477,159 5,575,194 5,516,911

Program revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for services 2,610,508 1,680,714 1,919,321 1,825,060 1,686,666 1,849,130 1,644,211 1,293,637 1,256,441 1,411,105
Capital grants and contributions ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 66,684 15,546 ‐ ‐
Operating grants and contributions 79,946 216,413 282,787 122,303 66,885 270,288 40,016 ‐ 33,052 84,390
Rental income 82,006 69,531 64,961 76,196 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total primary government
program revenues 2,772,460 1,966,658 2,267,069 2,023,559 1,753,551 2,119,418 1,750,911 1,309,183 1,289,493 1,495,495
Total primary government net
expenses (4,758,999) (4,790,503) (4,300,673) (4,533,455) (4,587,363) (3,799,155) (3,967,265) (4,167,976) (4,285,701) (4,021,416)

General revenues and other changes in net position
Property taxes 4,397,177 4,257,433 3,700,665 3,589,758 3,439,944 3,493,819 3,536,633 3,567,332 3,662,339 3,731,391
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 400,000 405,384 395,683 398,028 386,269 400,744 396,206 390,400 296,031
Investment earnings 38,046 127,554 48,841 25,603 15,001 16,627 14,299 9,912 14,141 15,025
Other 67,674 49,134 64,297 25,562 51,931 64,369 55,331 52,513 49,105 79,813
Gain on sale of capital assets 56,006 17,910 ‐ 16,200 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377
Total primary government 4,956,066 4,852,031 4,219,187 4,052,806 3,904,904 3,961,084 4,007,007 4,025,963 4,145,985 4,131,637

Change in net position

Total primary government $ 197,067 $ 61,528 $ (81,486) $ (480,649) $ (682,459) $ 161,929 $ 39,742 $ (142,013) $ (139,716) $ 110,221

Source: District financial records.

68

DRAFT

95



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

General fund
Nonspendable $ 48,257 $ 43,304 $ 24,616 $ 51,053 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Restricted ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Committed ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Assigned 395,982 394,032 320,994 320,753 508,114 505,156 501,707 458,782 455,560 453,354
Unassigned 2,443,153 2,091,955 1,330,514 1,192,479 448,214 954,845 958,009 837,498 678,206 532,831

Total general fund $ 2,887,392 $ 2,529,291 $ 1,676,124 $ 1,564,285 $ 956,328 $ 1,460,001 $ 1,459,716 $ 1,296,280 $ 1,133,766 $ 986,185

All other governmental funds
Nonspendable $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Restricted 2,352,960 3,946,730 3,641,003 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Committed ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Assigned 1,706,110 1,705,463 1,819,794 1,333,951 1,375,059 1,367,054 1,209,737 1,104,088 1,159,749 1,195,376
Unassigned ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total all other governmental
funds $ 4,059,070 $ 5,652,193 $ 5,460,797 $ 1,333,951 $ 1,375,059 $ 1,367,054 $ 1,209,737 $ 1,104,088 $ 1,159,749 $ 1,195,376

Source: District financial records.

69

DRAFT

96



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DEBT SERVICE RATIO

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Revenues
Property taxes $ 4,401,374 $ 4,259,655 $ 3,706,483 $ 3,601,835 $ 3,439,944 $ 3,493,819 $ 3,536,633 $ 3,567,332 $ 3,662,339 $ 3,731,391
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 400,000 405,384 395,683 398,028 386,269 400,744 396,206 390,400 296,031
Grants and contributions 79,946 1,756,445 1,875,590 1,693,493 1,686,666 1,849,130 1,644,211 1,293,637 1,256,441 1,411,105
Charges for services 2,572,572 216,413 282,787 122,303 66,884 270,288 106,700 15,546 33,052 84,390
Rental income 82,006 69,531 64,961 76,196 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Investment earnings 38,046 127,554 48,841 25,603 30,725 16,627 14,299 9,912 14,141 15,025
Other 67,674 49,134 64,297 25,562 36,207 64,368 55,331 52,512 49,105 79,813

Total revenues 7,638,781 6,878,732 6,448,343 5,940,675 5,658,454 6,080,501 5,757,918 5,335,145 5,405,478 5,617,755

Expenditures
Public Safety 6,184,752 5,468,678 5,808,575 5,471,293 6,115,230 5,639,906 5,396,687 5,134,213 5,214,643 5,292,620
Capital outlay 2,231,325 315,613 140,317 562,855 38,892 282,993 92,146 94,079 108,881 372,251
Debt service:
Principal 306,176 15,988 371,522 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Interest  208,850 96,647 12,798 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total expenditures 8,931,103 5,896,926 6,333,212 6,034,148 6,154,122 5,922,899 5,488,833 5,228,292 5,323,524 5,664,871
Revenues under expenditures (1,292,322) 981,806 115,131 (93,473) (495,668) 157,602 269,085 106,853 81,954 (47,116)

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 57,300 17,910 ‐ 16,200 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377
Issuance of bonds payable ‐ ‐ 4,123,554 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Issuance of capital lease obligations ‐ 44,847 ‐ 371,522 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total other financing sources (uses) 57,300 62,757 4,123,554 387,722 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377

Net change in fund balances $ (1,235,022) $ 1,044,563 $ 4,238,685 $ 294,249 $ (495,668) $ 157,602 $ 269,085 $ 106,853 $ 111,954 $ (37,739)

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures %7.69 %2.06 %6.62 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Source: District financial records.

70

DRAFT

97



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

ASSESSED AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Total

Fiscal year

Commercial,
Industrial,
Utilities, &
Mines

Agriculture &
Vacant

Residential
(owner

occupied)
Residential
(rental) Railroad

Less: Tax
exempt real
property

Taxable
assessed value

Direct tax
rate

Estimated real
market value

Assessed
value as a %
of actual
value

2012 $ 20,582,621 $ 21,170,704 $ 102,856,540 $ 6,929,009 $ ‐ $ 6,198,878 $ 145,339,996 $ 2.6832 $1,333,084,503 %10.90

2013 16,360,731 19,346,610 82,940,206 20,526,216 ‐ 6,249,891 132,923,872 2.7500 1,237,378,282 10.74

2014 19,373,446 16,464,041 79,031,869 20,384,252 ‐ 5,724,253 129,529,355 2.7600 1,196,973,892 10.82

2015 18,800,847 16,308,417 74,532,830 20,057,071 ‐ 5,556,214 124,142,951 2.8116 1,146,827,506 10.82

2016 16,742,560 10,730,611 75,658,843 20,376,671 ‐ 5,688,992 117,819,693 2.9777 1,108,866,479 10.63

2017 16,018,265 9,945,268 75,592,953 19,392,028 ‐ 5,389,080 115,559,434 3.0164 1,096,737,047 10.54

2018 15,784,644 9,481,830 75,527,077 18,843,544 ‐ 5,451,461 114,185,634 3.1476 1,094,063,958 10.44

2019 15,842,537 9,448,058 77,376,346 19,496,477 ‐ 5,896,078 116,267,340 3.1999 1,114,676,687 10.43

2020 15,084,321 13,511,756 78,383,343 17,862,742 ‐ 5,694,313 119,147,849 3.1999 1,136,746,903 10.48

2021 15,453,294 12,944,957 81,657,989 18,219,083 ‐ 5,303,194 122,972,129 3.1999 1,171,242,438 10.50

Source: Cochise County Tax Assessor

71

DRAFT

98



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PROPERTY TAX RATES ‐ ALL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Overlapping Rates

Fiscal year
Fry Fire
District

Fry Fire
District Debt

Service Total District
Cochise
County

State School
Tax

Equalization

Palominas
School
District

Cochise
County
Junior
College

Cochise
County
Library
District

Cochise
County

Flood Plain
Division

Mobile
Home

Relocation
Fund

Total direct
and

overlapping
rates

2012 $ 2.6832 $ ‐ $ 2.6832 $ 2.6276 $ 0.4259 $ 4.3349 $ 1.6657 $ 0.1451 $ 0.2597 $ 0.5000 $ 12.6421

2013 2.7500 ‐ 2.7500 2.6276 0.4717 4.5133 1.7329 0.1451 0.2597 0.5000 13.0003

2014 2.7600 ‐ 2.7600 2.6276 0.5123 5.2765 1.8508 0.1451 0.2597 0.5000 13.9320

2015 2.8116 ‐ 2.8116 2.6276 0.5089 6.8185 2.0329 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.2043

2016 2.9777 ‐ 2.9777 2.6276 0.5054 6.8185 2.1756 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.5096

2017 3.0164 ‐ 3.0164 2.6276 0.5010 5.4687 2.2860 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 14.3045

2018 3.1476 ‐ 3.1476 2.6747 0.4875 5.9803 2.3735 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0684

2019 3.1999 ‐ 3.1999 2.6747 0.4741 5.8534 2.4023 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0092

2020 3.1999 0.3977 3.5976 2.6747 0.4566 5.6027 2.4516 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.1880

2021 3.1999 0.3907 3.5906 2.6747 0.4426 5.5340 2.4020 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0487

Source: Cochise County Tax Assessor

72

DRAFT

99



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

June 30, 2021

Taxpayer Type of business Assessed value
Percent of total

assessed valuation

Sulpher Springs Valley Electric Utility $ 1,395,219 %1.13
WAA GST Exempt Trust Real Estate 1,253,560 1.02
4029 Golden LLC. Real Estate 652,816 0.53
Southwest Gas Corporation (T&D) Utility 594,310 0.48
Pueblo Del Sol Water Company Utility 590,499 0.48
Qwest Corporation Telecommunications 465,514 0.38
Haymore Plaza Associates Real Estate 396,000 0.32
Stewart Title & Trust Real Estate 371,429 0.30
Boyd Sierra Vista GSA, LLC Real Estate 369,575 0.30
Lively Living Trust Real Estate 311,443 0.25

$ 6,400,365 %5.19

Total assessed value $ 122,972,129

June 30, 2012 

Taxpayer Type of business Assessed value
Percent of total

assessed valuation

Sulpher Springs Valley Electric Utility $ 1,395,219 %0.96
WAA GST Exempt Trust Real Estate 1,253,560 0.86
4029 Golden LLC. Real Estate 652,816 0.45
Southwest Gas Corporation (T&D) Utility 594,310 0.41
Pueblo Del Sol Water Company Utility 590,499 0.41
Qwest Corporation Telecommunications 465,514 0.32
Haymore Plaza Associates Real Estate 396,000 0.27
Stewart Title & Trust Real Estate 371,429 0.26
Boyd Sierra Vista GSA, LLC Real Estate 369,575 0.25
Lively Living Trust Real Estate 311,443 0.21

$ 6,400,365 %4.40

Total assessed value $ 145,339,996

Source: Cochise County Assessor

73

DRAFT

100



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collected within the fiscal year of
the levy Total collections to date

Fiscal year
Operating property

tax levy Tax roll corrections
Property tax levy

(adjusted) Amount % of levy
Collections in

subsequent years Amount % of levy

2012 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐

2013 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2014 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2015 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2016 3,499,659 (78) 3,499,581 3,493,819 99.8 3,161 3,496,980 99.9

2017 3,467,392 (119) 3,467,273 3,439,944 99.2 24,816 3,464,760 99.9

2018 3,591,348 245 3,591,593 3,460,354 96.4 128,055 3,588,409 99.9

2019 3,703,000 (426) 3,702,574 3,598,410 97.2 100,057 3,698,467 99.9

2020* 4,264,840 (409) 4,264,431 4,150,316 97.3 108,440 4,258,756 99.9

2021 4,390,118 ‐ 4,390,118 4,302,627 98.0 ‐ 4,302,627 98.0

Source: Cochise County Treasurer

Note: Information from fiscal year 2012 through 2015 could not be obtained.  This schedule will be completed prospectively from fiscal year 2016 forward.

*‐ First year for Debt Service Fund Levy

74

DRAFT

101



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

General obligation bonds Total outstanding debt

Fiscal year Outstanding Legal limit
Capital lease

debt Amount
Percentage of

personal income Debt per capita

2012 $ ‐ $ 8,764,244 $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐ ‐

2013 ‐ 7,996,052 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2014 ‐ 7,771,761 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2015 ‐ 7,448,577 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2016 ‐ 7,078,800 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2017 ‐ 6,933,566 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2018 ‐ 6,851,138 371,522 371,522 0.01 2.89

2019 4,123,554 6,976,046 ‐ 4,123,554 0.08 31.64

2020 4,123,554 7,132,671 28,859 4,152,413 0.06 31.74

2021 3,812,642 7,378,828 12,683 3,825,325 0.01 29.14

Source: Personal income and population information can be found in the Demographic and Economic Statistics.

75

DRAFT

102



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

Governmental Unit

Debt outstanding
at June 30, 
2020 *

Estimated
percentage
applicable

Estimated share
of overlapping

debt

Debt repaid with property taxes:

Cochise County $ 128,552,832 %23.86 $ 30,672,536

Palominas School District 153,439 23.86 36,610

Cochise County Junior College 19,690,000 23.86 4,698,008

Subtotal, overlapping debt 35,407,154

Fry Fire District direct debt 3,825,325

Total direct and overlapping debt $ 39,232,479

Note:  Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographical boundaries of the
District.   This Schedule estimates  the portion of  the outstanding debt of  those overlapping governments  that  is
borne by the residents and businesses of the District.  The process recognizes that, when considering the District's
ability to issue and repay long‐term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be
taken into account.  However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for
repaying the debt, of each overlapping government.

Source: Arizona Department of Administration

* Outstanding debt as of June 30, 2020 is the most recent information available.

76

DRAFT

103



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Net assessed value $122,972,129 $118,877,849 $116,267,430 $114,185,635 $115,559,434 $117,979,998 $124,142,951 $129,529,355 $133,267,537 $146,070,727

Debt limit rate %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6

Debt limit 7,378,328 7,132,671 6,976,046 6,851,138 6,933,566 7,078,800 7,448,577 7,771,761 7,996,052 8,764,244
Less bond and lease obligations (3,825,325) (4,152,413) (4,123,554) (371,522) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Legal debt margin $ 3,553,003 $ 2,980,258 $ 2,852,492 $ 6,479,616 $ 6,933,566 $ 7,078,800 $ 7,448,577 $ 7,771,761 $ 7,996,052 $ 8,764,244

Total net debt applicable to the
limit as a percentage of debt
limit %51.85 %58.22 %59.11 %5.42 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

77

DRAFT

104



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year
Population

(Cochise County)
Personal income

(thousands of dollars)
Per capita income
(Cochise County)

Unemployment rate
(Cochise County)

2012 130,537 4,686,920 35,905 9.5

2013 130,752 4,535,292 34,686 9.7

2014 130,906 4,465,980 34,116 8.7

2015 129,628 4,562,024 35,193 7.4

2016 129,112 4,657,515 36,073 6.1

2017 128,343 4,732,071 36,871 5.5

2018 128,383 4,895,203 38,130 5.7

2019 130,319 5,109,813 39,210 6.0

2020 130,808 6,605,150 50,495 8.8

2021 131,264 4,959,285 37,781 6.3

Sources: Office of Economic Opportunity ‐ Arizona Labor Statistics

78

DRAFT

105



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

June 30, 2021

Employer Employees Rank

Trade, Transportation, Utilities 6,600 1
State & Local Government 6,000 2
Professional & Business Services 5,200 3
Federal Government 5,000 4
Education & Health services 4,200 5
Leisure & Hospitality 3,300 6
Natural Resources and Construction 2,100 7
Financial Activities 800 8
Other Services (except Public Administration) 600 9
Manufacturing 600 10

Total 34,400

June 30, 2015

Employer Employees Rank

Fort Huachuca 7,956 1
Cochise County 816 2
Sierra Vista Unified Districts No. 68 707 3
Wal‐Mart Stores, Inc. 643 4
General Dynamics Information Technology 623 5
Canyon Vista Medical Center 623 6
Arizona State Prison Complex 615 7
Cochise College 521 8
Douglas Unified School District No. 27 492 9
Northrop Grumman Corporation 450 10

Total 13,446

Source: Cochise College Center for Economic Research

Note 1: 2020 is the most recent year available for employment statistics and there are no statistics for 2014 and prior

Note 2: Employer statistics within district boundaries were not available.  Employer statistics are based on Cochise
County

Note 3: Statistics were only available by industry for 2020 and by specific employer in 2015

79

DRAFT

106



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public safety

Fire prevention inspections ‐ 254 267 281 260 230 20 251 195 169

Emergency medical service
calls ‐ 2,368 2,229 2,428 2,582 2,837 1,115 1,354 2,380 2,786

Patient transports ‐ 1,642 1,565 1,663 1,603 1,912 1,969 1,602 1,403 1,404

Fire responses ‐ 55 61 94 99 102 31 88 30 52

Other responses ‐ including
hazardous materials, mutual
aid, public service ‐ 782 729 654 584 523 351 435 206 264

Miscellaneous ‐ including false
alarms, good intent ‐ 467 435 739 398 286 348 384 342 611

Source: Various District departments

80

DRAFT

107



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

FULL‐TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public Safety

Fire and rescue service 45 39 39 37 36 36 37 40 42 42

Fire prevention 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Administrative and support 5 4 5 4 4 6 6 6 6 6

Total 51 44 45 42 41 43 44 47 49 49

Source: District HR department

81

DRAFT

108



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public safety

Number of Stations 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Equipment:
Ambulances 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Engines 5 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Brush rigs 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Rescue units 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Tenders 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Support units 7 6 6 5 5 5 5 5 4 4
UTV/ATV 1 1 1 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Source: District capital assets records

82

DRAFT

109



Report on Internal Control and on Compliance

DRAFT

110



Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards and Report on Compliance with State

of Arizona Regulatory Requirements

Governing Board and Management
Fry Fire District
Sierra Vista, AZ

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained  in Government Auditing Standards  issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry Fire
District,  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021  and  the  related  notes  to  the  financial  statements,  which
collectively comprise  the District’s basic  financial statements and have  issued our  report  thereon dated November
23, 2021.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s  internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the District’s internal control.

A  deficiency  in  internal  control  exists when  the  design  or  operation  of  a  control  does  not  allow management  or
employees,  in  the  normal  course  of  performing  their  assigned  functions,  to  prevent,  or  detect  and  correct,
misstatements on a  timely basis.   A material weakness  is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,  in  internal
control such that there  is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will  not  be  prevented,  or  detected  and  corrected on  a  timely basis.   A  significant  deficiency  is  a deficiency, or  a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was  not  designed  to  identify  all  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that might  be material weaknesses  or  significant
deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

84

DRAFT

111



Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's  financial statements are  free  from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which  could have  a direct  and material  effect on  the determination of  financial
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit,  and  accordingly, we  do  not  express  such  an  opinion.    The  results  of  our  tests  disclosed  no  instances  of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Report on Compliance with State of Arizona Regulatory Requirements

In connection with our audit, nothing contrary came to our attention that caused us to believe that Fry Fire District
incurred  any debt or  liability  in  excess of  taxes  levied  and  to be  collected  and  the monies  actually  available  and
unencumbered at that time in the District's general fund, except for those liabilities as prescribed in Arizona Revised
Statutes  section 48‐805,  subsection B, paragraph 2  and  sections 48‐806  and 48‐807, or  that  the District  failed  to
comply with Arizona Revised Statutes section 48‐805.02, subsection F.  However, our audit was not directed primarily
toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.   This report  is supplemental reporting as required by Arizona
statutes  intended  solely  for  the  information  and  use  of  management  and  the  members  of  the  Arizona  State
Legislature and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report  is solely to describe the scope of our testing of  internal control and compliance and the
results  of  that  testing,  and  not  to  provide  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  entity’s  internal  control  or  on
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the entity’s  internal control and compliance.   Accordingly, this communication  is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Tucson, Arizona
November 23, 2021

85

DRAFT

112



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

February 1, 2022 

 
Town of Huachuca City 
Attn: Town Clerk’s Office 
500 N. Gonzales Blvd. 
Huachuca City, AZ 85616 
 
Re: Fire Protection, Emergency Medical and Fire Prevention Services Proposals 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 

As the Fire Chief for the Fry Fire District, it is my distinct privilege to offer the included proposals 

for fire protection, emergency medical and fire prevention services to the Town of Huachuca City 

for your review.  It is my sincere belief that you will find the Fry Fire District uniquely qualified and 

positioned to be able to provide responsive, professional, and efficient emergency services to the 

Town and its residents.   

The Fry Fire District is incredibly proud of our long-standing relationship with the Town of 

Huachuca City that dates back to our inception more than 50 years ago.  We look forward to 

continuing to provide you with exceptional services whether our proposals are selected or not.  All 

three proposals anticipate the Town maintaining ownership of its fire and emergency response 

apparatus and facilities, making them available to responders for their use as appropriate. 

As requested, we have included three separate and distinct proposals for your review.  Proposal 1 

is for full-time staffing with a minimum of two emergency responders 24 hours per day, 7 days per 

week, 365 days per year.  Due to the cost of personnel and employee-related expenses, this 

proposal understandably comes with the highest cost.   

 Personnel and Indirect Costs:        $574,657.00 

 Fire Prevention and Inspection Services:    No charges for labor*  

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:                                       $30,000.00 

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Proposal 2 is built around a minimum of two emergency responders employed during the peak 

hours of 7:00 am to 9:00 pm.  After-hours responses could be provided by initial response trained 



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

law enforcement officers or volunteers supported by a full-time response from our nearby fire 

station on Second Street in Sierra Vista.   

 Personnel and Indirect Costs:       $383,121.00 

 Fire Prevention and Inspection Services:    No charges for labor*  

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:                    $30,000.00  

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Proposal 3 reflects the provision of management and oversight services, with the Town of 

Huachuca City retaining all fiscal duties related to apparatus and equipment, facilities, and 

personnel with administrative duties, such as recruitment, selection, training, and operational 

direction provided by the Fry Fire District.  

 Administrative, supervisory and management costs:       $65,000.00

 Fire Prevention Services:                  No charges for labor* 

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:            $30,000.00 

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Although we have made every effort to address all of the services considered within your Request 

for Proposals, a few particular areas remain open to review and clarification, specifically, the 

Town’s apparatus and equipment inventory, as well as your needs and preferences regarding 

these emergency response apparatus and other capital resources, to include facilities. 

It is our position that we would be engaged to provide emergency response and associated 

community support services, i.e. professional emergency responder staffing and management to 

the Town of Huachuca City Fire Department rather than replacing it.  We would prefer to work 

with you, as partners, to extend the services the Town provides to your residents than replace the 

department your community has built. 

You will find Proposal 2 included with this letter as well as the following Supplemental 

Information: 

o Leadership Team and Critical Staff Bios 

o Heavy and Light Duty Apparatus Inspection Checklists 

o 2021 FFD Fee Schedule (Costs are waived unless noted in the proposal)  

o DRAFT Copy of the 2021 FFD Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (GFOA 

response and Final Letter pending) 



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

Pricing estimates included in these proposals are valid through 5:00 pm on May 9, 2022.  If I can 

provide any clarification regarding any of the supporting materials presented or our underlying 

cost assumptions, please don’t hesitate to reach out to me at the email address or contact number 

below.  

      

Respectfully, 

 

Mark H. Savage, JD, CFO 
msavage@fryfiredistrict.com  
(520) 678-6745 
 

mailto:msavage@fryfiredistrict.com


 

1 
 

 

 

Fire Protection, Emergency Medical and Fire Prevention Services for the 

Town of Huachuca City 

 

Proposal 2 

Peak Hours Coverage (7:00 am to 9:00 pm) 

 

 

Background and Project Summary 

Fry Fire District Profile and History - The Fry Fire District (FFD) was originally formed in April of 

1965 as the Fry Volunteer Fire Company. Governance for the original Volunteer Fire Company 

evolved from an elected Fire Chief to the current elected five-member Board in 1985. Volunteer 

Firefighters were originally only responsible for handling the fire suppression needs of the 

community. Emergency medical treatment and transport services were added later along with 

full-time employees to provide round-the-clock protection. Early volunteers operating out of a 

single fire station on Second Street laid the foundation for the professional services FFD 

personnel deliver today.  

Fry Fire District currently provides all hazard emergency services from three fire stations.  We 

are staffed with a total of 36 full-time firefighters augmented by several additional part-time 

Firefighters and EMS personnel. The last year saw four additional firefighters obtain their 

Paramedic certification bringing our total staff of Paramedics up to 29, which means that more 

than 75% of our staff can now provide advanced life support (ALS) level care. At a minimum, all 

full-time suppression personnel are trained in structural and wildland firefighting and are 

certified basic EMT’s. We currently have an Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating of 3 and have 

extensive experience with all of the service areas presented in your request for proposals.   

FFD operates under Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48, Chapter 5 and is recognized by the 

State of Arizona as a special taxing district. FFD is governed by a five-member Board, comprised 

of a Board Chair, Clerk and three additional members. All Members are elected at large and 

serve staggered four-year terms. The Board is responsible for adopting an annual budget, 



 

2 
 

setting District policy and ensuring the Fire Chief implements policy and manages day-to-day 

operations of FFD. We have five administrative and support staff including a full-time Fire Chief, 

Fire Marshal, Ambulance Billing Supervisor, Fleet Mechanic and Administrative Assistant. 

Financial and accounting services are provided by the James Vincent Group. 

Operationally, the Fire Chief is supported by Battalion Chiefs who directly supervise assigned 

Captains and response personnel. Operations are funded primarily through limited assessed 

value property taxes, with additional funding being generated through other avenues including 

billing for ambulance transports, federal and state wildfire responses and support from various 

grants.  

Our current organizational chart is below and shows how our personnel are organized into 

three separate shifts to provide 24/7 coverage.  Our suppression personnel are currently 

assigned to rotating shifts that see them working for a period of 48 hours before going off-duty 

for 96 hours.  

 

These personnel are augmented by a robust part-time EMS program that utilizes non-fire 

trained personnel to augment full-time staff.  Many are newly certified and use the experience 

to gain real-world exposure to the job while continuing their education. 

In 2021 the FFD responded to just over 4,400 calls for service.  Emergency medical service-

related calls make up more than 80% of our annual calls for service. We provide ambulance 

transport services under Certificate of Necessity (CON) #18 on file with the Arizona Department 



 

3 
 

of Health Services.  Our CON covers over 200 square miles of southeastern Arizona, and 

currently includes the Town of Huachuca City (Town). 

FFD exists to provide the most professional and empathetic services possible, to improve the 

quality of life for our communities.  Our personnel will respond to any emergency situation that 

threatens life, safety or property.  We work closely with partners from the Sierra Vista Fire and 

Medical Department, Ft. Huachuca Fire Department, Palominas Fire District, Whetstone Fire 

District and the Southeastern Arizona Communications Center (SEACOM) to provide emergency 

response customers with the closest available unit with the appropriate capacity to provide 

service. FFD also responds to various non-emergency situations that are not routinely handled 

by other agencies or providers. These non-emergency responses include things such as: snake 

removals, open burn permits, home safety surveys, etc. The FFD Community Risk Reduction 

programs cover topics such as fall injury prevention, fire safety, CPR, immunizations and first 

aid, and proactively work to reduce or mitigate risk either through prevention or otherwise. 

As noted above, we also have full-time personnel filling support positions for Fleet 

Maintenance and Fire Prevention.  In the past few years, we have provided high-quality 

maintenance and repair services to: the U.S. Forest Service, Palominas Fire District, and the 

Sunsites-Pearce Fire District.  These services are often provided much sooner than would 

otherwise be possible in the civilian market.  Our Mechanic currently maintains a total fleet of 4 

fire engines, 2 brush trucks, 5 ambulances, and 9 support vehicles.  In addition to conducting 

fire origin and cause investigations, our Fire Marshal regularly reviews building plans and 

conducts approximately 260 in-person business inspections annually. 

We are strong believers in community engagement and collaborative partnerships.  We have 

automatic aid agreements in place with the City of Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department 

and the Palominas Fire District and have a very strong working relationship with the Ft. 

Huachuca Fire Department.  We also provide significant support to SEACOM, the Cochise 

County All Hazards Incident Management Team, the Cochise County Local Emergency Planning 

Committee and the Ft. Huachuca Sentinel Landscape Restoration Partnership.  We participate 

with several regional teams including: Hazardous Materials Response Team, Technical Rescue 

Team, and the Cochise County Wildland Group.  We have several recognized experts in the 

areas of hazardous materials response, wildland interface firefighting, high-angle rescue and 

swift water rescue who provide training across the county.  

We have been providing emergency services and support to the Town of Huachuca City (Town) 

since our inception and are incredibly proud of that history and our collaborative working 

relationships.  Many of our tenured employees started out as young EMTs and Paramedics 

responding to emergency calls along with Fire Chief Bob Fenimore and EMT’s Lynn and Janet 

Morlock and Mark Genz.  



 

4 
 

During the past few years, we have continued to perform more than 99% of the Town’s 

emergency medical transports; providing your citizens with professional, experienced advanced 

life support (ALS) certified paramedics on every single call that we respond to.  We have also 

provided support for fires and other emergencies throughout the period, including a few large 

fires, and the coordination of a Covid-19 Vaccination Clinic recently supported by Town staff 

and the Whetstone Fire District hosted in your very own community center. 

We are currently providing your EMS responses and ambulance transports from our fire station 

at 207 N. Second Street, in Sierra Vista.  This service is reinforced by units from our other two 

fire stations south and east of Sierra Vista at 4817 S. Apache and 5019 S. Arabian respectively.   

Should either of our proposals for staffing be selected, the staff proposed would be hired in 

addition to our current staff and would work out of your fire station at 502 Gonzales Boulevard.  

These personnel would be reinforced by the entirety of the Fry Fire District as well as our 

automatic and mutual aid partners. In order to support a streamlined transition, preferences 

would be given to currently serving staff who meet the required qualifications. 

Summary of Work to Be Done: 

As an all-hazards emergency response agency, we are intimately familiar with the emergency 

response services needed in your community, and the non-emergent community support 

services that help build strong relationships and improve the quality of life for your residents.    

The Town’s annual call load was reviewed and discussed in Proposal One for 24/7 coverage.  

This proposal differs in that we have conducted an analysis with the goal of identifying when 

your greatest needs are, and allocate staff to ensure emergency responders are on duty to 

cover the vast majority of your calls.  As noted below, this staffing model would benefit greatly 

from additional training for law enforcement and other Town staff to augment the initial 

response as well as the development of a student and / or volunteer program that could 

provide additional staffing coverage after hours.   



 

5 
 

The distribution of the total annual call load for the Town by day of the week and hour of the 

day is demonstrated on the following charts.  On average, the Town experiences less than 1.2 

calls for service per day, leaving the majority of your emergency responders’ time relatively free 

for other meaningful work such as training, fire hydrant testing and inspections and community 

risk reduction efforts. 

Two trends are notable in 

the daily distribution of 

emergency calls throughout 

the week.  Slight peaks are 

noted on Monday and 

Thursday, with calls 

declining over the 

subsequent few days 

throughout the week.  The 

lowest average demand is 

noted on Wednesdays.  

Proposal 2 is limited to peak-

hours coverage and anticipates response times from dispatch to arrival under three minutes to 

initial calls for service when staffed.  Off-peak hours would experience slower response times as 

responders would be traveling from our fire station in Sierra Vista.   

Concurrent calls, where two calls are active at or near the same time, occurred on 

approximately 25 separate occasions during the past year.  These calls will continue to be 

covered with other responding units from Whetstone Fire District, Fry Fire District, and Sierra 

Vista Fire and Medical Department.  The next closest ambulance from FFD would be dispatched 

from our fire station at 207 N. Second Street in Sierra Vista, approximately 8 miles away. 

A review of the distribution of 

the Town’s calls for emergency 

services for the past year 

throughout each day shows a 

predictable increase in volume 

during the daytime hours, with 

an additional spike shortly after 

midnight.  Approximately 78% 

of your calls for service 

occurred between the hours of 

7:00 am and 9:00 pm.   

60

65

70

75

80

85

2021 Huachuca City Call Distribution
Day of the Week

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

00:00-…

03:00-…

06:00-…

09:00-…

12:00-…

15:00-…

18:00-…

21:00-…

2021 HC Call Distribution by Hour 
of the Day



 

6 
 

Your scope of work also includes providing regular business inspections and fire prevention 

services, which would easily be incorporated into our current Fire Marshal’s daily duties.   Fleet 

Maintenance would also be easily incorporated into our current Fleet Mechanic’s regular 

duties. 

Objectives:  

✓ Peak Hours Staffing and Emergency Response with ALS personnel 

 Staffing the Huachuca City Fire Station at 502 E. Gonzales Boulevard, with a minimum of 

two personnel.  One to fill the role of Lieutenant / Paramedic, and one to fill the role of 

Firefighter / EMT.  Personnel would be assigned to 14-hour shifts 4 days per week, followed by 

3 days off.  This would result in a single day, most likely Wednesday, being double-staffed 

during which personnel could perform training that requires extra hands or perform special 

projects.  Personnel would be trained in all aspects of structure and wildland fire suppression, 

prevention, and emergency medical response, patient treatment and transport.   

 In addition to public-safety centric training allowing Town staff to provide initial 

response and patient stabilization during off-peak hours.  This proposal would further benefit 

greatly from the development of a student and / or volunteer program that could provide 

additional staffing coverage after hours.   

✓ Apparatus and Equipment  

 The FFD would provide one advanced life support (ALS) ambulance at no additional cost 

to the Town of Huachuca City.  In the event that a resident requires transport to a local 

hospital, they would be billed according to the FFD ambulance rates currently approved by the 

Arizona Department of Health Services.  Currently, there would be no charges for any patient 

who is assessed or treated by paramedics on scene who refuses transport to a hospital.  

 If requested the FFD may provide one fully-equipped fire engine, if the Town’s current 

apparatus are not in serviceable condition.  This engine would be provided under an annual 

lease agreement with the FFD covering all ongoing maintenance and support costs, as well as 

any required equipment replacement or repairs.  The proposed annual lease cost of the engine 

if needed is $30,000.00 which includes the total cost of operations and equipment maintenance 

and repair.  

✓ Fleet Maintenance 

 Under this proposal, the FFD would assume responsibility for providing maintenance 

and repair services for fire apparatus owned by the Town of Huachuca City but leased to the 

FFD under this Proposal.  Labor costs for fleet maintenance provided by our mechanic would 



 

7 
 

become the responsibility of FFD with the costs for replacement parts and supplies, or any 

outside repair services paid by the Town. 

✓ Fire Prevention / Community Risk Reduction 

 Under this proposal, the FFD would begin performing annual Fire and Life Safety 

Inspections for businesses and schools in the Town, in close cooperation with the Town’s 

Building Official under the current Fire Code as adopted by the Town.  Public Education events 

would be easily incorporated to the FFD’s regular routine.  Some more intricate building plans 

may be submitted to a third-party vendor for review.  Any costs for plan reviews completed by 

an outside third-party vendor would passed to the applicant.   

✓        First Responder Training 

Under this proposal, the FFD would provide all appropriate and required training to 

emergency response personnel.  In addition, we would also like to offer any interested law 

enforcement officers, other staff or volunteers with basic first aid and CPR training at no cost in 

order to build immediate response capacity within the Town. 

Methodology –  

This proposal reflects the provision of all emergency services identified in the Scope of Work as 

if the Town of Huachuca City was part of the Fry Fire District.  Costs reflected in this proposal 

are all-inclusive unless specifically provided on an as-needed basis under the fee schedule 

adopted annually by the Fry Fire District Board and provided with our proposals.  

Staffing: This proposal reflects a minimum staffing level of two full-time, professional 

firefighting personnel at the Huachuca City Fire Station 14 hours per day from 7:00 am to 9:00 

pm, 7 days per week, 365 days per year.  These personnel will reflect the minimum listed 

certifications: at least one certified Paramedic filling a supervisory role, and at least one 

certified EMT filling a support role.  Both personnel will be trained to current National Fire 

Protection Administration standards and certified to perform basic structural firefighting and 

wildland interface firefighting.  The annual total cost of staffing and indirect costs for this 

proposal is projected to be: $383,121.00. 

Recruitment, selection, training and supervision will be provided by the Fry Fire District utilizing 

existing administrative and support resources at no additional cost.   

The anticipated hourly pay rates used in this proposal are unchanged and range from $15.48 / 

hour for a Firefighter / EMT to $20.08 / hour for a Lieutenant / Paramedic prior to the inclusion 

of employee-related expenses.  Anticipated employee annual salaries are $46,285.00 and 

$60,039.00 respectively.  Employee benefits offered will match those provided to other full-



 

8 
 

time Fry Fire District employees including: health and dental insurance, paid time off, paid 

holidays, uniform allowance, and membership in the Arizona Public Safety Personnel 

Retirement System.  Assigning staff to 14-hour shifts, keeps their hourly rates in line with our 

regular staff.  Average weekly pay would continue to be built around the same Fair Labor and 

Standards Act values for firefighters assigned to our 48/96 shift schedule with overtime 

compensated at time and a half for hours worked in excess of 53 hours per week.    

The projected cost for this proposal reflects our experience with the current fiscal year.  Annual 

contract increases are estimated to run approximately 5% based on a 2.5% annual merit step 

increase for employee pay as well as cost-of-living and other employee-related expense 

increases.   

Apparatus and Equipment Included:  

This proposal includes the provision of 

one advanced life support (ALS) 

ambulance registered with the Arizona 

Department of Health Services (ADHS), 

together with all appropriate 

equipment and medications for 

advanced medical patient assessment, 

treatment and transport.  All costs for 

ambulance operations, maintenance 

and repairs will be covered by the Fry 

Fire District.  

The Town currently owns two fire engines and one brush truck.  It is our understanding that the 

Spartan Gladiator fire engine (age and mileage unknown) is currently out of service due to 

issues with the braking system.  The serviceability of the Ferrara Intruder fire engine (age and 

mileage unknown) is similarly undetermined.  The brush truck is a 2013 Ford that is believed to 

be serviceable. 

If selected, the Fry Fire District would perform thorough inspections of all apparatus for 

compliance with National Fire Protection Administration (NFPA) standards and ensure ongoing 

annual service testing and certification of fire equipment and pumps.  Apparatus would also be 

inspected for ISO compliance.  Inspections would be provided at no cost with current apparatus 

remaining the sole and separate property of the Town of Huachuca City, with costs for fuel, 

maintenance and repairs remaining the responsibility of the Town.  If our proposal is selected, 

we would provide fleet maintenance and repair services, within our capacity, at no cost to the 

Town, other than the costs of maintenance supplies and replacement parts.  



 

9 
 

In the event the Town would be interested in deploying its apparatus on wildland fire 

assignments, the Fry Fire District would recommend a separate intergovernmental agreement 

for staffing and billing support, allowing the Town to generate non-tax revenue from the use of 

its fire apparatus under a Cooperative Fire Rate Agreement with the State of Arizona.  

If the current fire apparatus owned by the Town is not in serviceable condition, a fire engine 

could be provided by the Fry Fire District at an additional cost of $30,000 per year.  The engine 

would include all appropriate equipment for offensive firefighting operations, medical response 

and vehicle extrication.  If this option is selected, the FFD will bear all fuel, maintenance and 

repair costs for its apparatus so leased. 

Additional Apparatus and Equipment:  Routine inspections and inventories would also be 

performed on all other apparatus and equipment and reported to the Town. 

Operational Effectiveness - 

With the exceptions of the specified costs for emergency response personnel and the potential 

need to acquire serviceable apparatus identified above, this proposal will leverage existing 

capacities within the Fry Fire District.  Ancillary non-emergency services such as Fire Prevention 

and Community Risk Reduction, Fleet Management, Fire and EMS Training can easily be 

incorporated into our current operations at no additional costs to the Town.  Fleet maintenance 

and repair services falling within our capacity would be provided to the Town at cost for 

apparatus owned by the Town, except for the actual replacement cost of parts and shop 

supplies and materials.    

Fire Suppression responses will be 

incorporated to our current automatic 

aid agreement with the City of Sierra 

Vista Fire and Medical Department and 

mutual aid agreement with the 

Whetstone Fire District and Ft. Huachuca 

Fire Department.  Our current response 

plans include these partners and utilize a 

closest, most-appropriate response 

model regardless of jurisdiction.  

Although we anticipate cross-staffing the 

ambulance and fire engine at your station, additional resources from Fry Fire District, the City of 

Sierra Vista, Ft. Huachuca, and Whetstone Fire District will reflect our existing fire and EMS 

response procedures.   



 

10 
 

The Fry Fire District understands that quality training is a key component to support 

professional firefighters and to provide for citizen safety.  According to a recent NFPA study, 

“The estimate of total fires was 54 percent lower in 2020 than in 1980.” This means that there 

are fewer fires for firefighters to gain experience on, which makes training even more vital. FFD 

conducts its training on a calendar year basis. During each year FFD will hold quarterly officer 

training to included leadership development and command training. Other training held 

quarterly includes engineer or driver / operator training, wildland training, technical rescue 

training, and hazmat training. FFD also provides shift friendly EMS training 3 days every month. 

Our EMS training allows our employees the ability to renew their EMT or Paramedic 

certifications with no need to attend outside training off-duty.  

FFD also ensures all online employees meet or exceed the ISO requirements for training. The 

ISO requirements include the following: 192 hours of company or individual training, 18 hours 

of facilities training (including live burns, LPG burns, and any single or multi company training 

performed at the FFD’s designated training site), 12 hours of officer training, 12 hours of driver 

operator training, and 8 hours of Haz-mat training.  Total hours for required for Firefighters are 

216 hours and 228 hours for Engineers, Captains, and Battalions Chiefs. FFD regularly 

participates in regional training with agencies including Sierra Vista Fire and Medical, Palominas 

Fire, Ft Huachuca Fire, and Whetstone Fire. The latest regional training hosted by Fry Fire 

District and supported by a State Emergency Preparedness grant added 15 live fire instructors 

to agencies across Cochise County.  

One area of concern is your three-story apartment complex, which we believe would benefit 

from a ladder truck.  The closest operational ladder trucks currently come from the Sierra Vista 

Fire and Medical Department and the Ft. Huachuca Fire Department.  Although a ladder truck is 

recommended, we appreciate that they may be cost-prohibitive, and will take a close look at 

other more feasible options to ensure appropriate ground ladders are available to support 

rescue operations in this complex.    

Vehicle Rescue, Technical Rescue, and 

Hazardous Material response services 

are incorporated in our regular annual 

training, as are annual wildland 

refresher training and physical tests.  

We currently have several experienced 

instructors in all three areas and play a 

large role in the development and 

deployment of these highly-specialized 

teams throughout Cochise County.  



 

11 
 

Emergency medical response and transport / non-transport services account for over 90% of 

our 4,400 annual calls for service.  As noted, we currently employ 29 certified Paramedics (ALS), 

at least one of which is included on every single medical response we make.  In addition to 

emergency medical response, we are also responsible for providing emergency medical 

ambulance transportation to patients in the Town of Huachuca City under CON #18 on file with 

the Arizona Department of Health Services. 

Fire Prevention and Community Risk Reduction services would be easily addressed by our full-

time Fire Marshal with the support of our Battalion Chiefs and duty personnel.  The Fry Fire 

District has adopted the 2018 Edition of the International Fire Code, which we may request that 

the Town formally adopt in the event our proposal is selected and current staff are amenable. 

Our Fire Marshal regularly conducts plan reviews in partnership with Cochise County Building 

Department, however some large-scale construction projects are outsourced to a private 

company for additional review.  We routinely perform more than 260 business inspections per 

year.  In addition to regular business inspections, pre-fire plans are developed and updated at 

least annually by our fire crews.  On average, we respond to and investigate 5-10 actual 

structure fires per year. 

We define ‘community’ broadly and are incredibly involved in community engagement events 

across the county, regardless of jurisdictional boundaries.  The last year saw us support several 

large-scale vaccination events across 

Cochise County.  We also supported 

National Night Out in both Huachuca 

City and Sierra Vista as well as 

several community-based CPR and 

Stop the Bleed training events.  We 

are currently taking a strong role in 

the delivery of Compression-Only 

CPR training across the county so 

that citizens will have the confidence 

and competence to give help when 

and where it is needed, prior to the arrival of professional rescuers.  We would be honored to 

be invited to support additional community engagement events in the Town of Huachuca City. 

Fleet Management Services will be provided by our full-time mechanic.  Apparatus inspections 

for NFPA compliance will occur no less than quarterly.  Detailed Quarterly and annual NFPA 

apparatus inspection lists are included with our proposals.  Fire pump certification testing 

would also be performed no less than annually at no cost for serviceable apparatus owned by 

the Town of Huachuca City.  If required to maintain apparatus in a serviceable condition, 



 

12 
 

estimates for required repairs and maintenance would be prepared and forwarded to the Town 

Manager for approval and payment separate and apart from this proposal.  Our mechanic’s 

labor would be included under this proposal, with the Town bearing responsibility for 

replacement parts and supplies.  Our normal shop rates are reflected in the attached Fee 

Schedule provided with the proposals. 

Project Schedule -  

Every attempt will be made to provide initial staffing in accordance with the timeline 

established in the RFP beginning on March 21, 2022.  However, we may request some flexibility 

in the event there is a delay in the decision being made, notification to the winning bidder, or 

delays in contract negotiation and execution.  Due to the fact that we would be bringing on 

additional staff for this project, we would anticipate a timeline approaching 6-8 weeks from the 

notification to have emergency response operations up and running.  This timeline is built 

around the following rough framework: 

 Week 1-3 

Bid Award and initial contract discussions  

Apparatus / Facility Inspections conducted 

 Lieutenant / Firefighter Job Descriptions posted (Minimum of 2 weeks) 

Testing and Selection of Personnel - with a preference for currently serving 

personnel meeting minimum requirements 

Begin transition planning with existing service provider  

Deconflict responses with automatic and mutual aid partners and begin building 

updated response plans 

 

Week 3-6 

Initial onboarding and training of personnel (Minimum of 2 weeks)  

Contract discussions continued, draft developed and forwarded to Governing 

Bodies for review and approval 

Apparatus / Facility preparation 

Continue transition with existing service provider 

Finalize updated emergency response plans 

 

  



 

13 
 

Weeks 6-8 

Governing Bodies execute final contracts 

Finalize any needed Apparatus / Facility changes 

Complete transition with existing service provider 

Finalize and activate new response plans through SEACOM 

Staffing move-in and Go-Live. 

  

Miscellaneous - Specific Tasks required of Town, Roles for Town / FFD Staff 

This proposal anticipates regular and ongoing interaction and communication between Town 

and FFD Staff.  The included biographies reflect our current leadership team and the individuals 

most likely to frequently interface with Town staff from a management perspective.  We know 

that clear and transparent communication will be key if we are going to succeed in providing 

the service your citizens deserve.  We pride ourselves on our commitment to providing our 

community with unimagined excellence in service and look forward to the opportunity to 

continue working with you. 



 

Supplemental Information Packet 
 
 

TABT 
 
 

 
 
1 - Leadership Team………………………………………………………………………….. 1 

2 - Heavy Duty Apparatus……………………………………………………………………. 4  

3 - Light Duty Apparatus…………………………………………………………………….. 12AB 

4 - Fee Schedule……………………………………………………………………………… 23 

5 - Financial Report…………………………………………………………………………... 24 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 



 

FFD Leadership Team and Critical Staff 
 

 

Fire Chief Mark Savage has worked for the Fry Fire District (FFD) since 1993.  

Originally beginning as a Reserve Firefighter, he was hired full-time and promoted 

through all ranks.  He was promoted to Fire Chief in 2017.  He is a certified Paramedic 

with undergraduate degrees in Fire Prevention Administration and Business 

Management.  He received his juris doctorate from the University of Arizona, Rogers 

College of Law in 2007 and completed the National Fire Academy’s Executive Fire 

Officer Program in 2017.  He is also a Certified Public Manager and designated Chief 

Fire Officer through the Center for Public Safety Excellence.  He recently began pursuing 

the Public Leadership Credential through the Kennedy School of Government. 

 

Mark currently serves as the Fire District representative on the SEACOM Board and is 

participating in the Inter-Governmental Agreement (IGA) / Bylaws subcommittee.  He is 

a strong advocate for community risk reduction policies that drive innovative health and 

wellness programs as well as aggressive wildfire fuel reduction projects.  In addition to 

his work in emergency service, Mark is a certified peace officer and Reserve Deputy with 

the Cochise County Sheriff’s Office where he has served as a tactical medic and operator 

with their SWAT team since 2000.   

 

Mark volunteers with local health-related organizations, including current service as the 

Board Vice-Chair of the Legacy Foundation of Southeast Arizona, and as a Board 

Director for Chiricahua Community Health Centers, Inc.  

 

Battalion Chief Billy Seamans has been serving with the Fry Fire District 

since 2000.  He promoted through the ranks to Battalion Chief in 2013 and has been 

responsible for the support services of the District.  He is responsible for the oversite and 

management of the District’s radio systems, information technology and fleet 

services.  He is an active participant with SEACOM having recently completed service as 

the Chair of the Operations Committee and participates in the IGA / Bylaws 

subcommittee.  He has assisted with the recent ProQA implementation and is assisting 

with the Cochise County Fire Station Alerting project.  He is a fire investigator and has 

been called on throughout the county to investigate possible incendiary fires and assist 

with other fire investigations.  He is a member of the Cochise County Incident 

Management Support team.  

  

Billy enjoys making sure that the county systems are up to date and working properly to 

ensure that the citizens are at the forefront of every decision that is made.  He is a life 

long learner and is working towards a business management degree through Cochise 

College and the University of Arizona with a minor in computer systems.  He plans on 

assuming the duties of Fire Marshal and is training to that end.  

  

1



His training and Certifications include Fire Officer III, Blue Card Command, Inspector 

I, NFPA 921 Arson I-IV.  He is a Technical Rescue Technician, Hazmat Technician, and 

Paramedic.  

 

Battalion Chief Kaleb Mauzy has been serving in the fire service since 2001.  He 

started his career with the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) as a wildland firefighter and 

transitioned to the Fry Fire District in 2005.  

 

Kaleb promoted through the ranks and recently assumed responsibility for Fire and EMS 

Training.  He has been responsible for managing Special Operations Teams which 

include Hazardous Materials, Wildland, and SWAT Medics for the past few years.  He is 

an active participant on the regional Command Training Center Team, the regional Live 

Fire 1403 Instructor Team, and regional Standard Operating Procedure committee. He is 

a member of the Cochise County Incident Management Support team and participates 

with many other county-wide support groups.  

 

He enjoys training and working to continually better himself and those around him. He is 

a lifelong learner and is working towards earning his bachelor’s degree in Fire 

Management through Columbia Southern University.  After graduating, he plans to 

pursue a master’s degree in Emergency Management.  

 

His training and certifications include National Wildland Coordinating Group (NWCG) 

Strike Team Leader (STL) and is currently qualified as a Task Force Leader Trainee 

(TFLT). He is a Technical Rescue Technician, SWAT Medic, and Hazmat Technician.  

 

Finance Director – James Vincent Group’s Certified Public Accountants have been 

serving the FFD since 2017.  Founded in 2010, JVG is a full-service accounting, tax, and 

consulting firm with extensive experience with municipal fire departments and Arizona 

fire districts.  Their public finance and accounting expertise has allowed us to develop 

precise operating and capital budgets and reverse trends that would have seen us in the 

red for the past few years.     

 

Local 4913 Acting President Jared Haros has served the Fry Fire District since 2013 

and was promoted to Engineer / Paramedic in 2018. He began his career in ground 

ambulance and fixed wing air medical service and has been in EMS for 15 years, 13 of 

which has held NREMT paramedic certification.  
 

Jared has been involved in medical training for the last eight years as an instructor of the 

EMT and Paramedic programs at Cochise College. He has also implemented in-house 

training programs for Fry Fire District that include Advanced Cardiovascular Life 

Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support Classes for paramedics. He also developed 

a Paramedic Field Training Orientation (FTO) program that provides an environment for 

new paramedics to integrate into operations under the mentorship of a senior paramedic 

to enhance each experience into one in which new paramedics learn to operate 

independently. He recently assumed the role of EMS Training Coordinator with the goal 

of ensuring continuing education training is focused on top of the certification advanced 

2



medical and trauma treatments.  
 

Jared has been the Vice President of IAFF Local 4913 for the last four years.  He was 

recently appointed Acting President by majority vote of the membership. As the Acting 

President of L4913 he participates in regular Meet and Confer meetings with 

management to discuss labor issues as representative of the membership. 

 

Fire Marshal Ed Shiver has been with the Fry Fire District since 2007.  He has served 

as the Fire Marshal since 2016.  Ed has as Associates of Applied Science in Fire Science, 

and more than 60 fire training certificates including: Fire Inspector I / II and Fire 

Investigation I – IV.  He has a total of over 350 tested training hours in fire investigations 

and regularly attends annual Advanced Fire Investigation Seminars through the 

International Association of Arson Investigators. 

 

Ed conducts an average of 260 regular business and life safety fire inspections each year.  

He also conducts plan reviews and fire origin and cause investigations in close 

collaboration with Cochise County Planning and Zoning Department and the Cochise 

County Sheriff’s Office.  He also works closely with the Arizona State Fire Marshal’s 

Office and the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. 

 

Ed is also responsible for managing and coordinating public education and community 

risk reduction events and manages our open-burning permit program, which oversees 

approximately 425 open burning permits per year.  He recently received a Fire Prevention 

and Safety Grant that has allowed us to provide and install fire and smoke detectors in 

homes for residents without them.  Ed also responds to many 911 service calls, typically 

still fire alarms, smoke detector checks, smoke investigation and outside fire and snake 

calls, keeping emergency responders in service.   

 

Fleet Mechanic Jimmy Ayers has been with the Fry Fire District since 2017.  He began 

his mechanic career with Sierra Toyota in 1982. In his 25 years prior to joining the 

District, he owned and operated Jim’s Mobile Auto Repair, a small business providing 

mobile maintenance and repair services for local contractors and private individuals.  He 

holds an Emergency Vehicle Technician (EVT) certification in Ambulance Inspection 

and operations and has numerous American Society of Automotive Excellence (ASE) 

certifications as well.  He is currently preparing to test for ASE certifications in Light and 

Heavy Class diesel engines.  

 

 

 

 

 

3



Daily Weekly Monthly Quarterly Annual

Visual and Operational 

Checks to be 

performed by 

Operations Personnel 

on site at house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician on site at 

house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician on site at 

house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician at fleet 

garage. Unit will be out 

of service.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician at fleet 

garage. Unit will be out 

of service.

Air 

Conditioning
CHECK A/C AND HEATER OPERATION X X X

8.11 All electrical accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Heater and 

defroster (2) Air-conditioning system (3) Windshield wipers and washers (4) Instrumentation (5) Traffic preemption (6) Other 

electrical accessories on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.11(1) through (5).

Air Intake INSPECT AIR INTAKE SYSTEM X X

7.7.1 The engine air intake system shall include, but not be limited to the following: (1) Air cleaner element (2) Piping (3) 

Turbocharger (4) Air after-cooler (5) Intercooler (6) Air-to-air cooler (7) Blower (8) Ember separator 7.7.2 The engine air 

intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service recommendation. If no severe 

service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or 

mileage, shall be followed. 7.7.3 Where engines are equipped with a charged air after-cooler, it shall be inspected visually 

for outward signs of damage or deformation. 7.7.4 All hoses, tubes, and fittings shall be inspected for deformation and 

leakage. 7.7.5 The airflow shall be monitored for restriction greater than that recommended by the engine manufacturer.

Air Intake CHANGE AIR FILTERS  X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake
CHECK AND CLEAN AIR INTAKE SPARK 

ARRESTER
X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT CRANK CASE BREATHER TUBES X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT ENGINE DRIVE BELT(S) X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT TURBO CHARGER CONNECTION X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air-Powered

Accessories

Alternator

Test

Apparatus

Lighting

Apparatus

Lighting

Apparatus

Lighting

Automatic 

Electrical Load 

Mgmt System

TEST AUTOMATIC  ELECTRICAL  LOAD 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
X X

8.7.1 If so equipped, all components of the automatic electrical load management  system including, but not limited to, the 

following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation:  (1) Electronic hardware (2) Associated wiring and 

cables (3) Relays, controls, and indicators (4) Low v oltage warning devices. 8.7.2* The system shall be checked for 

activation and operation of low v oltage warning devices in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations. See 

A.8.7.2 for test.

Axle
CHECK AND LUBRICATE  KING PINS OR 

BALL JOINTS
X X

7.3.1 All axle components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural 

integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, and leakage, shall be functionally  operated, and shall be lubricated: (1) Ball joints 

(2) King pins (3) Spindles and bushings (4) Attaching hardware (5) Axle beams and housings (6) Axle shafts (7) Axle power 

div iders (8) Differentials and controls (9) Two-speed axle shift units (10) Upper and lower control arms.

Axle
CHECK TANDEM AXLE SPACING  AND 

ALIGNMENT
X Check axles for tightness and leaks

Axle
CHECK DIFFERENTIAL FLUID LEVEL, 

CLEAN VENTS
X X Check differential  fluid level and fill or replace following manufacturer's  recommendations.

Axle TWO SPEED AXLES AND CONTROLS X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Axle UPPER AND LOWER CONTROL ARMS X X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Battery 

Charger/Cond 

itioner Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

CHARGER/CONDITIONER TEST
X

17.7 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, 

it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

17.3 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs

CHECK HEADLIGHT  ADJUSTMENT X X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

7.13 All chassis air-powered accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Air

horn (2) W indshield wiper and washer (3) Air-ride seats (4) Air-powered steps and cab tilting systems (5) Fire pup shift and

valves.

ANNUAL ALTERNATOR TEST  X

17.5 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications  to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system hav e been made. Follow alternator test 17.5. This test verifies the output of the 

alternator and the alternator wiring.

CHECK WINDSHIELD  W ASHER, W IPER 

OPERATION
X

CHECK OEM LIGHT OPERATION X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

CHECK INSTRUMENT  PANEL LIGHTS, 

GAUGES
X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

Battery Test
ANNUAL BATTERY LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST
X

Fry Fire District NFPA 1901 Heavy Line Maintenance Schedule

Inspection ItemSystem Special Instruction

4



or modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. 17.3.2 Each battery 

shall be individually tested using either the procedure specified in 17.3.2.1 or 17.3.2.2. A.17.3.2.1 Conductivity testing is 

preferred to load testing because it does not stress the battery, it is a more accurate indication of the state of health of the 

battery, and it provides values that can be recorded and tracked for trend analysis. Follow Chapter 17 for test.

Body SERVICE ROLL UP DOORS/TRACKS X X

7.15.1 All compartments and storage areas shall be inspected for structural integrity, deformation, and leaks. 7.15.1.1 

Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.  7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically 

checked for correct operation and position.

Body PERFORM BODY LUBRICATION SERVICE X X 7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically checked for correct operation and position. 7.15.1.3

The hazard warning light and interlocks associated with, but not limited to, the following conditions shall be diagnostically 

checked: (1) Open passenger or equipment compartment doors (2) Ladder or equipment rack not in the stowed position (3) 

Deployed

stabilizer system (4) Extended powered light tower.

INSPECT MOUNTED STEPS,

7.15.2 All steps, platforms, handrails, and access ladders shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and

deformation. 7.15.2.1 All slip resistant surfaces shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition. 7.15.2.2 All

mechanical steps shall be

PLATFORMS,  HANDRAILS AND LADDERS. diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Body
INSPECT FINISHES, STRIPING, SIGNS AND 

LABELS
X X

7.15.4* All finishes and reflective striping shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.15.5* Where required, all 

signs and labels shall be inspected for their presence and any defects, corrosion, and damage. If apparatus does not have 

reflective striping, or warning labels, consider adding in accordance with applicable sections of current NFPA 1901

7.16.1 All locks used to hold equipment racks in the road travel position and all interlocks to prevent operation of equipment 

racks when the fire apparatus is in motion shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation. 7.16.2 Racks and 

interlocks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.3 All warning lights and visual signals for the equipment

racks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.4 Reflective striping or reflective paint shall be

inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.16.5 Equipment-holding  devices shall be inspected for security of mounting 

and deformation, shall be diagnostically checked, and

shall be lubricated.

Body INSPECT FOR SHIELDS AND GUARDS X Inspect that all shields and guards are installed and tighened properly.

Body WAX COMPLETE EXTERIOR OF UNIT X X Wax body.

INSPECT ACCESSORIES CONNECTED TO 7.12.10.1 If air accessories are connected to the chassis air brake system, then perform

AIR BRAKE SYSTEM

the next 2 items. 7.12.10.1.1 The air brake system pressure protection valve's) shall be diagnostically checked to the shutoff 

point. 7.12.10.1.2 The pressure protection v alve shall prevent the air accessories from drawing air from the air brake system 

when the air pressure drops below 80 psi (552 kPa) to ensure adequate air pressure for the braking system.

Brake SERVICE AIR DRYER X
7.12.10.2 Air reservoir tanks, air dryers, and drains shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and leakage and 

shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Brake INSPECT BRAKE LINES X X
7.12.10.3 All valves, lines, cylinders, and chambers shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and leakage 

and shall be diagnostically checked.

Brake CHECK AIR BRAKE COMPRESSOR X
7.12.10.4 The compressor and inlet filter system shall be inspected for security of mounting and shall be maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations'.

7.12.10.5 All chassis air system belts shall be inspected for wear and deformation and

shall be maintained at the manufacturer's recommended adjustment.

Brake PERFORM COMPLETE BRAKE INSPECTION X X
7.12.10.6 The cut-in and cut-out pressure settings of the air compressor gov ernor shall be tested and maintained at the 

manufacturer's recommended settings.

Brake
CHECK LOW AIR PRESSURE W ARNING 

SYSTEM
X X

7.12.10.7 The low-air warning systems shall be tested to ensure that activation occurs at the manufacturer's recommended 

setting.

Brake CHECK AIR PRESSURE INDICATORS X X 7.12.10.8 Air pressure indicators shall be diagnostically checked.

Brake PERFORM NFPA AIR BRAKE SYSTEM TEST X X X

7.12.10.9 Leak-down rate (time) of the applied side of the air brake system shall be tested with the engine stopped and the 

service brakes applied, and the air pressure shall not drop more than 3 psi (20.7 kPa) in 1 minute for a straight v ehicle or 

more than 4 psi (27.6 kPa) in 1 minute for a combination vehicle. 7.12.10.10 Leak-down rate (time) of the supply-side of the 

chassis air system shall be tested with the engine stopped and the service brakes released, and the air pressure shall not 

drop more than 2 psi (13.8 kPa) in 1 minute for a straight vehicle or more than 3 psi (20.7 kPa) in 1 minute for a combination 

v ehicle.

7.12.2 The parking brake shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, missing or broken parts, and wear 

and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.3 The parking brake controls and activating mechanism shall be inspected for 

structural integrity,

security of mounting, and missing or broken parts, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

7.12.4 The brake linings shall be replaced in accordance with the brake manufacturer's severe service recommendation 

when they are contaminated, when the lining is worn to the minimum thickness for safe operation as defined by the brake 

manufacturer, or when the brake drum or rotor is replaced. 7.12.5 The drums or rotors shall be inspected during scheduled 

maintenance, when there is a suspected problem or at the time of brake lining replacement, and the inspection shall consist 

of, but not be limited to the following: (1) Evidence of extensive heat or heat cracking (2) Out of round (3) Wear beyond 

manufacturer's specifications (4) Rust (5) Taper (6) Rotor parallelism (7) Metal fatigue.

7.12.6 Machining of brake drums or rotors shall be done only in accordance with

Body INSPECT DOOR LATCHES, HINGES, LOCKS X X

Battery Test
ANNUAL BATTERY LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST
X

Body X X

Brake X X

Brake CHECK CHASSIS AIR SYSTEM BELTS X

Body INSPECT POWERED EQUIPMENT RACKS X X

Brake
INSPECT BRAKE LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS
X

X

Brake CHECK PARKING BRAKE OPERATION X X X

5



manufacturer's recommendations. 7.12.7 All components of the braking system shall be inspected for damage and wear 

when performing a brake overhaul.

Brake TEST ABS SYSTEM X

7.12.8.1 Antilock braking systems (ABS) including the electronic control unit, cables, switches, relays, sensors, and v alv es 

shall be inspected for any deficiencies and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.8.2 The ABS electronic control unit (ECU) 

diagnostic codes shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes that have been logged.

7.12.9 If the fire apparatus has a hydraulic brake system, the components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: (1) Pedal and linkage (2) Brake switches (3) Master cylinder (4) Brake booster (5) Hydraulic 

lines (6) Valves (7) Wheel cylinders or calipers (8) Brake shoes or pads (9) Brake drums or rotors (10) Warning devices (11) 

Mounting hardware (12) Fluid level and contamination. 7.12.10 If

the fire apparatus has an air brake system, the components to be inspected and

maintained shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  (1) Air compressor (2) Pedal assembly (3) All valves (4) Hoses 

and lines (5) Brake switches (6) Brake air chambers (7) Slack adjusters (8) Cams and wedges (9) Brake shoes or pads (10) 

Brake drums or rotor (11) Calipers (12) Air dryers (13) Drain valves (14) Air tanks (15) Warning devices (16) Mounting 

hardware.

Brake
CHECK DISC BRAKE TORQUE PLATE 

BOLTS
X Check for security of mounting and deformation.

Brake
INSPECT CALIPER RETAINING RING AND 

BOLTS
X Check for security of mounting and deformation.

Brake CHECK SLACK ADJUSTERS X X
Inspect on a severe duty schedule for freedom of movement, security of mounting, and deformation and should be tested for 

proper operation. Lubricate on severe duty schedule.

Brake
LUBRICATE SLACK ADJUSTERS AND S- 

CAMS
X X Lubricate on severe duty schedule.

Brake System

Test

Braking 7.12.1 The braking system shall be inspected and maintained

System in accordance with the manufacturer’s severe serv ice recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the

shortest interval recommended by the braking system manufacturer,

based on time or mileage, shall be followed. If the vehicle is equipped with backing plates on the brakes the bolts should be 

checked on every B maintenance.

Breathing Air 

Compressor 

System Test

ANNUAL TEST OF BREATHING AIR 

COMPRESSOR SYSTEMS
X

23.1 If the apparatus is supplied with a breathing air compressor system, the compressor system shall be tested annually by 

the manufacturer or the manufacturer's authorized representative to verify that the system still meets the manufacturer's 

requirements for the system when it was new. Follow Chapter 23 for test.

CHECK GLASS/MIRRORS FOR 7.14.1 All glass, windows, and mirrors shall be inspected for condition and shall be

DELAMINATION, CHIPS, AND CRACKS diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK AIR RIDE SEAT SYSTEM X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK SEAT FOR CUTS AND TEARS X X X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK SEAT FRAME FOR CRACKS X X X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

7.14.3 All seat belts shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be

diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK COMPARTMENT DOORS X X X X
7.14.4 Doors, door hinges, latches, and door stops shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition, shall be 

diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Cab CHECK CAB MOUNTING SYSTEMS X X X

All components of the cab mounting system including but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation: (1) Mounting brackets (2) Cab base structure (3) Resilient cushions (4) Securing fasteners. 

7.14.6* All equipment mounting systems including, but not limited to, mounting systems for the following shall be inspected 

for security of mounting and deformation and shall be maintained free of corrosion: (1) Radios, computers, and siren 

controls (2) Self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) (3) Portable lights (4) Hand tools (5) Emergency medical service 

(EMS) equipment (6) Books, street directories, and maps. For the safety of personnel, equipment should be mounted in 

accordance with the requirements of NFPA 1901.

Cab INSPECT CAB INTERIOR CONDITION X X X X X
Inspection to include, but not limited to, pedals, knobs, handles, headliner, interior door cov ers, and lights, for security of 

mounting, deformation and proper operation.

Cab Tilting 

System
CHECK CAB JACK FLUID AND OPERATION X X

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system shall be inspected for security of mounting, leaks, and shall be 

diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended by 

the manufacturer.

Charging CHECK CHARGING SYSTEM X

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.

Charging CHECK VOLTAGE REGULATOR X X

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.

7.5.1 The engine coolant shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level

Brake
INSPECT BRAKE LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS
X

ANNUAL BRAKE SYSTEM TEST X

16.3 Braking System test. Testing of the braking system, including antilock brake systems and auxiliary brake system, shall 

be conducted at least annually and whenever adjustments, repairs, or modifications have been performed on any 

component that can affect the proper operation of the braking system or systems. Follow instructions in Chapter 16.

Brake PERFORM COMPLETE BRAKE INSPECTION X

Cab CHECK SEAT BELTS X X X X

CHECK BACKING PLATE BOLTS X X

Cab X X X XX

X

XCooling CHECK COOLANT LEVEL X X XX

6



specified by the manufacturer.

Cooling INSPECT AUXILIARY HEAT EXCHANGERS X X
7.5.10 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the engine cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.

Cooling INSPECT AND CLEAN RADIATOR FINS X X 7.5.2 The radiator assembly shall be inspected and cleaned of dirt, debris, and obstructions to airflow.

Cooling
CHECK COOLING SYSTEM HOSES AND 

BELTS
X X X

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage. 7.5.6 All belts shall be inspected for wear, 

deformation, and proper adjustment.

Cooling CHECK WATER PUMP  X 7.5.4 The water pump's) shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

Cooling PRESSURE TEST COOLING SYSTEM X X 7.5.5 The cooling system shall be pressure tested for leakage.

7.5.7 The chemical components of the coolant shall be tested and maintained at the

proper balance.

Cooling INSPECT GAUGES X X X 7.5.8 Cooling system temperature indicators and gauges shall be diagnostically checked.

Cooling CHECK FAN CLUTCH X
7.5.9 Temperature control devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) 

Thermostats (2) Clutch fans (3) Radiator shutters (4) Electric cooling fans.

Cooling CHECK RADIATOR CAP(S) X X Check to see if missing or not sealing properly.

Cooling INSPECT RADIATOR AND MOUNTS X X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Cooling CHANGE COOLANT FILTER X Replace coolant filter as recommended by the manufacturer.

Crew

Compartment

Dielectric 5 YEAR DIELECTRIC VOLTAGE 22.8 At least every 5 years, and after a vehicle accident or body repair, a dielectric test

Voltage Test WITHSTAND TEST
shall be performed on the line voltage electrical system. Follow Chapter 22 for test. Also see Annex A for additional 

information.

Driveline
CHECK DRIVELINE CENTER SUPPORT 

BEARING
X X

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.

Driveline CHECK DRIVE SHAFTS AND U JOINTS X
7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.

Driveline
CHECK AND LUBRICATE U-JOINTS, 

FLANGES
X X

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for 

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated. 7.10.2 Driveline retarding systems shall be cleaned, shall 

be inspected for security of mounting, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Electrical ELECTRICAL SYSTEM X
13.1 If the apparatus has a line voltage electrical system, it shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter, and with the manufacturers recommendations.

Engine CHECK ENGINE COVER BOLTS X 7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

Engine INSPECT ENGINE MOUNTS X 7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

7.4.3 Engine oil and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the engine manufacturer's severe service. If no sev ere serv 

ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall 

be followed.

7.4.1 The engine oil shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the engine manufacturer.

7.4.4 The diagnostic codes for electronically controlled engines shall be reviewed for types

and frequency of error codes that have been logged.

7.4.5* The engine performance shall be maintained in accordance with the engine

manufacturer's recommendations.

Engine TEST ENGINE BRAKE X X 7.4.6 Engine braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Engine CHECK ENGINE IDLE SPEED X X Inspect for proper operation and adjust as recommended by the manufacturer.

Engine PRESSURE WASH ENGINE X X Pressure wash as needed to inspect engine.

Engine TEST ENGINE SHUT DOWN MECHANISM X Test as recommended by manufacturer.

Engine 

Coolant 

System

INSPECT FREEZE PLUGS AND OIL COOLER 

AND LINES
X 7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

Exhaust
CHECK EMISSION CONTROL LINES, 

FITTINGS, BRACKETS
X

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and exhaust 

leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

Exhaust INSPECT EXHAUST SYSTEM X

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and exhaust 

leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

Frame INSPECT FRAME AND SUPPORTS X X X X X
7.2.1 All frame rails and members shall be inspected for defects, structural integrity, corrosion, perforations, cracks, and 

missing or loose parts.

Fuel CHANGE FUEL FILTER(S) X X 7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Fuel CHANGE FUEL/WATER SEPARATOR X X 7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting,

deformation, and leakage.

CHECK FUEL TANK MOUNTING  AND TIE 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting,

DOWNS deformation,  and leakage.

X

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system including,shall be inspected for security of mounting and leaks and shall 

be diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended 

by the manufacturer.

X

Cooling LITMUS TEST COOLANT X X

Cooling CHECK COOLANT LEVEL X X XX

INSPECT CAB AND BODY MOUNTS

X

Engine CHANGE ENGINE OIL AND FILTERS X X

Engine CHECK ENGINE PERFORMANCE X X

Engine CHECK ALL DIAGNOSTIC CODES X X

Fuel X

Fuel CHECK FUEL TANK DRAIN PLUG X

7



Fuel INSPECT FUEL LINES X 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

Fuel INSPECT FUEL PUMP(S) X 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

7.6.3 The carburetor or the injection pump and injectors shall be maintained in accordance

with the engine manufacturer's  recommendations.

Fuel
INSPECT GAUGES, INDICATORS,  AND 

SENDING UNITS
X X 7.6.4 Gauges, indicators, and sending units shall be diagnostically  checked.

Fuel CHECK ENGINE THROTTLE X X

7.6.5* All mechanical  throttle linkage and stops shall be inspected for proper adjustment and diagnostically  checked. 

A.7.6.5 All linkage should be inspected for freedom of movement,  adjustment,  full throttle position, idle position, and 

smooth operation. 7.6.6 All electronic throttle components  and throttle position sensors (TPS) shall be inspected for counts 

and diagnostically  checked.

22.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a line voltage electrical system, the system and components  shall be tested as 

required by this chapter. 22.2 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually, unless otherwise noted, and whenever 

major repairs or modifications  to the line voltage electrical system or any component of the system have

been made.

8.8 Miscellaneous  electrical components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:

(1) Battery conditioners and chargers (2) Shoreline receptacles (3) Radios and intercoms (4) Converters and inverters (5) 

Fast idle system (6) Interlock system(s) (7) Operator alert devices (8) Other electrical components  on the apparatus not 

otherwise specified above.

Parking Brake 16.4 The parking brake system shall be tested at least annually. Follow instructions in

Test Chapter 16. See A.16.4.1 and A.16.4.2.

Pump CHECK PUMP X

9.2.1 All fire pumps, auxiliary pumps, industrial pumps, and transfer pumps shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

structural integrity, and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked. 9.2.2 All pump shaft packing or mechanical  seals 

shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations.

Pump CLEAN PUMP TRANSMISSION STRAINER X
9.2.3 Renewable anodes, intake strainers, or any other means to prevent galvanic corrosion shall be inspected for condition 

and replaced if necessary.

Pump TEST PUMP SHIFT UNIT X

9.2.4.1 The pump drive system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage, shall be diagnostically  checked, 

and shall be lubricated as required by the component manufacturer.  9.2.4.2 All pump shift controls, pump shift indicators 

located in the driving compartment  and on the operator's panel, engine speed advancement  interlocks, and any other 

interlocks of the pump drive system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage, shall be diagnostically  

checked, and shall be lubricated as required. See A.9.2.4.1 and A.9.2.4.2

Pump CHECK COMPONENTS OF DRIVE SYSTEM X

A.9.2.41 Components  of the pump drive system could include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) Split-shaft power 

takeoff (PTO) (2) Pump transmission (3) Pump transfer case (4) PTO (5) Pump clutch (6) Pump drive shafts (7) Hydraulic 

drive systems (8) Auxiliary drive engine.

A.9.2.4.2 Pump shift controls can include electrical, pneumatic, or mechanical

components  working individually or in combination  to shift the pump drive system into and out of pump mode. Some pumps 

have manual backup shift controls. Pump shift indicators in-cab and on the operator's panel on split-shaft PTO pump drive 

systems typically reuire an electromechanical device, such as a switch mounted on the pump transmission,  to sense pump 

shift status. The controls need to be inspected, diagnostically  checked, and lubricated as part of a preventive maintenance  

program.

CHECK PUMP TRANSMISSION CASE 9.2.4.3 All fluids in the pump drive system shall be inspected for contamination and

FLUID LEVEL AND CONTAMINATION maintained at the level and condition specified by the component manufacturer.

Pump CHECK ALL PIPING AND VALVES X X

9.2.5 All pump piping, valves and valve controls, fire hose connections, caps, chains, and gaskets shall be inspected for 

security of mounting, structural integrity, proper valve operation, deformation, corrosion, and leakage and shall be lubricated 

as required by the component manufacturer.

Pump CHECK INSTRUMENTATION AND GAUGES X X X X
9.2.6 All instrumentation, gauges, and lighting shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be 

diagnostically checked.

9.2.7 All pump control systems including, but not limited to, the following shall be

diagnostically checked: (1) Engine speed control and interlock (2) Pressure control devices (3) Transfer valve (4) 

Transmission lockup system.

Pump CHECK PRIMING SYSTEM X X X X

9.2.8.1 The pump priming system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically 

checked. 9.2.8.2 The priming fluid, if required, shall be inspected for contamination and proper type and shall be maintained 

at the level recommended by the component manufacturer.

9.2.9 If the pump has a separate drive engine, that engine shall be inspected and

maintained in accordance with Sections 7.4 through 7.8, as applicable, and in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations.

9.3 If the apparatus is equipped with a water tank, the tank shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, 

deformation, and leakage and shall be maintained in accordance with 9.3.1 and 9.3.2 and the component manufacturer's 

recommendations.

9.3.1 The tank sumps, if equipped with a sump cleanout, shall be cleaned. 9.3.2 Where so equipped, anodes and other 

means to prevent galvanic corrosion shall be inspected and maintained as recommended by the manufacturer.

18.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a fire pump or an industrial supply pump, the

Fuel

Miscellaneou s 

Electrical 

Components

X
CHECK MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL 

COMPONENTS

X

Line Voltage 

Electrical 

System Test

X

Pump X X

X

Pump X X

ANNUAL LINE VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL 

SYSTEM TEST

ANNUAL PARKING BRAKE TEST

X

Pump X X X

Pump TEST PUMP PRIMER MOTOR X X X

Pump CHECK FOR WATER LEAKS X X X

X

X

Pump Test ANNUAL PUMP TEST X

INSPECT INJECTORS

CHECK PUMP SHIFT CONTROLS  A

XTEST PUMP PANEL THROTTLE OPERATION

8



pump shall be inspected and tested as required by this chapter. 18.2 Service test shall be conducted at least annually and 

whenever major repairs or modifications to the pump or any component of the apparatus that is used in pump operations 

have been made. Follow Chapter 18 for the test. See Annex A and Annex B for additional information.

Regulator 17.6 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or

Test
modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. Follow regulator test 

17.6

Road Test ANNUAL ROAD TEST X

16.5 A road test of the fire apparatus shall be conducted at least annually, after each scheduled maintenance interval, and 

after repair, adjustment, or modification of the engine, transmission, drivetrain, suspension, brakes, or steering. Follow 

instructions in Chapter 16.

Solenoid and 17.9 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or

Relay Test
modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.9 for the 

solenoid and relay test.

Starter Wiring

Test

Starting INSPECT STARTER X
17.4.1 The wiring from the battery to the starter shall be inspected for corrosion, loose connections, worn insulation, or 

potential chafing points.

17.7.1 If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, it shall be tested

as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

Starting INSPECT AND CLEAN BATTERY CABLES X X

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems.

Starting INSPECT STARTING SYSTEM X X

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 8.3 All wiring and wire looms shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, tight connections, proper routing, presence of grommets, condition, and cleanliness.

8.4 The battery(ies) shall be tested for storage and performance capabilities in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 17.3.1.1 Batteries shall be cleaned of any accumulated dirt or corrosion, and the connections shall be 

checked to ensure that they

are clean and tight,.17.3.1.2 Batteries shall be inspected for cracks, swelling, deformation, or other physical defects. 17.3.1.3 

Batteries that are not sealed shall be checked to verify that the cells have the proper electrolyte level, and distilled water 

shall be added if necessary. 17.3.1.4 Batteries that are sealed shall be inspected to verify that any electrolyte level indicator 

indicates sufficient electrolyte.

Steering CHECK STEERING SYSTEM X X

7.11.2 All steering system components shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, leakage, and 

condition, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated. 7.11.2.1 The surrounding vehicle components shall be 

inspected for indications that the wheels or tires have been rubbing during steering.

Steering CHECK AXLE STOPS X
7.11.2.2 Both the left and right steering axle stops shall be diagnostically checked to ensure the steering gear hydraulics 

relieve before contacting the steering stops.

7.11.2.3.1 The steering gear mounting bracket shall be cleaned and inspected for cracks.

7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear mounting bracket fasteners shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 

The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are 

in place and properly secured. Lubricate as recommended by the manufacturer.

Steering LUBRICATE STEERING COLUMN LINKAGE X X
7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining 

hardware are in place, properly secured and lubricated.

Steering CHECK STEERING WHEEL X X X X X 7.11.2.5 The steering wheel shall be rotated to check for steering backlash.

Steering CHANGE GEAR BOX FLUID LEVEL X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHANGE POWER STEERING FLUID X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHECK GEAR BOX FLUID LEVEL X X X X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHECK POWER STEERING FLUID X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering
CHECK TIE RODS, DRAG LINK, PITMAN 

ARM
X X

7.11.4 The steering valve(s), steering arms, drag links, pitman arms, tie rod ends, and steering column assembly shall be 

lubricated.

Steering
INSPECT POWER STEERING LINES, BELTS 

AND HOSES
X X X X 7.11.5 All steering pump belts, hoses, and lines shall be inspected for wear, adjustment, and deformation.

Steering CONTROLS AND INDICATORS X
7.11.6 Electronic steering controls and indicators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations.

Steering CHANGE POWER STEERING FILTER X Follow manufacturer's recommendation.

Suspension

CHECK AIR SUSPENSION BAGS, 

MOUNTING BRACKETS, ATTACHED 

HARDWARE AND CONTROLS

X X X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

Pump Test ANNUAL PUMP TEST X

Starting SERVICE BATTERY X

Starting TEST ON BOARD BATTERY CHARGER X X

Steering
CHECK STEERING GEAR BOX, MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, AND LINKAGE
X X

ANNUAL STARTER WIRING TEST X
17.4 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.4 for test.

ANNUAL REGULATOR TEST X

ANNUAL SOLENOID AND RELAY TEST X

9



Suspension
CHECK EQUALIZER BEAMS AND TORQUE 

ARMS
X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be

inspected for defects, missing or loose parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring 

hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock 

absorbers

Suspension
LUBRICATE SUSPENSION PINS AND 

BUSHINGS
X X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

Suspension
CHECK FRAME AND SUSPENSION FOR 

PROPER ALIGNMENT
X X 7.2.3 The frame and suspension shall be inspected for proper alignment.

Tires/Wheels INSPECT WHEEL BEARINGS AND SEALS X X
7.3.2 Wheel bearings and seals shall be cleaned, inspected for deformation, wear, cracks, and leakage, and shall be 

lubricated.

Tires/Wheels
INSPECT TIRES FOR WEAR, DAMAGE, 

INFLATION
X X X X

7.3.3* Tires shall be inspected for damage and shall be inflated to the tire manufacturer's recommended pressure. 7.3.4* 

Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal standards as 

determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. [See 6.3.1(4)] A.7.3.3 It is important that the cold tire inflation be 

maintained to the fire apparatus manufacturer's recommended tire pressure, which is based on the weight of the completed 

apparatus, and not to the maximum pressure shown on the sidewall of the tire. If the information from the fire apparatus 

manufacturer is not available for the tires on the v ehice, each axle should be weighed with the vehicle fully loaded and the 

tires inflated to the tire manufacturer's inflation specification for the tire model, size, and axle load. A.7.3.4 Tire age can be 

determined by checking the DOT code on the sidewall of each tire.

Tires/Wheels CHECK TREAD DEPTH X
7.3.4* Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal 

standards as determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge.

Tires/Wheels CHECK WHEEL STUDS AND LUG NUTS X X X X X

7.3.5* Wheel-attaching nuts shall be torqued to the wheel manufacturer's recommendation. A.7.3.5 Wheel-attaching 

hardware should be torqued to the manufacturer's recommendation at the time of wheel installation. The wheel- or rim- 

attaching hardware should be re-torqued at 50 mi to 100 mi (80 km to 160 km) after installation and periodically thereafter. 

Wheel cov ers or nut cov ers might have to be removed for proper inspection.

Tires/Wheels
CHECK FOR WHEEL CRACKS 

DEFORMATION AND CORROSION
X X 7.3.6 Wheels and rims shall be inspected for cracks, deformation, structural integrity, and corrosion.

Tires/Wheels CLEAN AND POLISH OR PAINT WHEELS X Clean and polish or paint wheels as needed.

Tires/Wheels INSPECT WHEEL CHOCKS X Inspect that wheel chocks are not missing and are easily accessible.

Total 

Continuous 

Electrical Load 

Test

ANNUAL TOTAL CONTINUOUS ELECTRICAL 

LOAD TEST
X

17.8 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  17.8.1 The total continuous electrical load test shall be permitted 

to be conducted simultaneously with other electrical or pumping tests. A.17.8 This test is designed to verify that the charging 

system, with the load management system, if supplied, is sufficient to supply the total connected load.

Trans CHECK TRANSMISSION X
7.9.1 The transmission shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and leakage and shall be 

diagnostically checked.

Trans
CHECKS TRANSMISSION BRAKING 

SYSTEMS
X 7.9.10 Transmission braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Trans CHECK AUXILIARY HEAT EXCHANGERS X
7.9.11 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the transmission cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.

Trans CHECK TRANSMISSION  FLUID X
7.9.3 Transmission lubricants and filters shall be inspected for contamination,  and lubricants shall be maintained at the lev 

el specified by the manufacturer.

Trans CHANGE TRANSMISSION  OIL AND FILTERS X

7.9.4 The lubricant and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the transmission manufacturer's sev ere service 

recommendation.  If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended  by the transmission 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be f ollowed.

Trans CHECK INDICATORS AND GAUGES X 7.9.6 All transmission indicators and gauges shall be tested for proper operation and accuracy.

Trans CHECK DIAGNOSTIC CODES X
7.9.7 The diagnostic codes for all electronically controlled transmissions shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error 

codes that have been logged.

Trans
CHECK POWER TAKE OFF(S) MOUNTING 

AND LEAKS
X 7.9.8 PTO's shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked.

Trans CHECK LOCKUP SYSTEM X
7.9.9 The lockup system for pumps and other accessories shall be inspected for leakage and shall be diagnostically  

checked.

Transfer

Case

Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Suspension X X
CHECK TORQUE ON SUSPENSION U-

BOLTS

TEST HORNS, SIRENS, ALARMS X

Inspect transfer case, check fluid level and change fluid as recommended  by manufacturer.

CHECK WARNING LIGHT OPERATION X

CHANGE TRANSFER CASE FLUID X

10



Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Wear Points
CHECK AND LUBRICATE ALL WEAR 

POINTS
X

7.1 General. All components and systems commonly found on or in the chassis, driving compartment, crew compartment, 

and body shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and this chapter. Special 

attention should be paid to steering stops, stricker plates, and hinges.

16.2 Fire apparatus Axle Weight Test. The fully loaded fire apparatus shall be weighed following the procedure specified in 

16.2.2 through 16.2.5 to ensure that the weight on the front and rear axles and the gross vehicle weight do not exceed the 

gross axle weight ratings (GAWRs) and the gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination

weight rating (GCWR) as shown on the rating plate on the fire apparatus. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. Also see 

A.16.2.3, A16.2.4(3), A.16.2.4(4).

Winch

Systems

Windshield

Washer

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

8.10(1) through (5).

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

8.10(1) through (5).

 

Weight 

Verification 

Test

ANNUAL WEIGHT TEST X

TEST INSTRUMENT  PANEL WARNING 

DEVICES AND GAUGES
X

FILL WINDSHIELD WASHER RESERVOIR X 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected f or contamination and maintained to the levels recommended  by the manufacturer.

INSPECT WINCH SYSTEM X
15.1 Any winch or winch attachment point on a fire apparatus shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter and with the manufacturers recommendations.

Work Lighting CHECK WORK LIGHT OPERATION X

Work Lighting CHECK EMERGENCY  LIGHT OPERATION X

11



System Description NFPA 1901 Standard Reference FRH

Air Conditioning
CHECK A/C AND 

HEATER OPERATION

8.11 All electrical accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Heater and 

defroster (2) Air-conditioning system (3) Windshield wipers and washers (4) Instrumentation (5) Traffic preemption (6) Other 

electrical accessories on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.11(1) through (5).
0.2

Air Intake
INSPECT AIR INTAKE 

SYSTEM

7.7.1 The engine air intake system shall include, but not be limited to the following: (1) Air cleaner element (2) Piping (3) 

Turbocharger (4) Air after-cooler (5) Intercooler (6) Air-to-air cooler (7) Blower (8) Ember separator 7.7.2 The engine air 

intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service recommendation. If no severe 

service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or 

mileage, shall be followed. 7.7.3 Where engines are equipped with a charged air after-cooler, it shall be inspected visually 

for outward signs of damage or deformation. 7.7.4 All hoses, tubes, and fittings shall be inspected for deformation and 

leakage. 7.7.5 The airflow shall be monitored for restriction greater than that recommended by the engine manufacturer.
0.3

Air Intake CHANGE AIR FILTERS

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

CHECK AND CLEAN 

AIR INTAKE SPARK 

ARRESTER

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe service 

recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

INSPECT CRANK 

CASE BREATHER 

TUBES

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake
INSPECT ENGINE 

DRIVE BELT(S)

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

INSPECT TURBO 

CHARGER 

CONNECTION

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air-Powered 

Accessories

CHECK WINDSHIELD  

WASHER, WIPER 

OPERATION

7.13 All chassis air-powered accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Air

horn (2) W indshield wiper and washer (3) Air-ride seats (4) Air-powered  steps and cab tilting systems (5) Fire pup shift and 

valves.
0

Alternator Test
ANNUAL 

ALTERNATOR TEST

17.5 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications  to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system hav e been made. Follow alternator test 17.5. This test verifies the output of the 

alternator and the alternator wiring. 0.2

Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK HEADLIGHT  

ADJUSTMENT

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0.1

Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK INSTRUMENT  

PANEL LIGHTS, 

GAUGES

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0

Annual Service for Light Class Emergency Response Vehicles (Ambulance, Light Class Rescue, Type VI Engines)

12



Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK OEM LIGHT 

OPERATION

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0

Automatic 

Electrical Load 

Mgmt System

TEST AUTOMATIC  

ELECTRICAL  LOAD 

MANAGEMENT 

SYSTEM

8.7.1 If so equipped, all components of the automatic electrical load management  system including, but not limited to, the 

following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation:  (1) Electronic hardware (2) Associated wiring and 

cables (3) Relays, controls, and indicators (4) Low v oltage warning devices. 8.7.2* The system shall be checked for 

activation and operation of low v oltage warning devices in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations. See 

A.8.7.2 for test. 0.1

Axle

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE  KING 

PINS OR BALL JOINTS

7.3.1 All axle components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural 

integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, and leakage, shall be functionally  operated, and shall be lubricated: (1) Ball joints 

(2) King pins (3) Spindles and bushings (4) Attaching hardware (5) Axle beams and housings (6) Axle shafts (7) Axle power 

div iders (8) Differentials and controls (9) Two-speed axle shift units (10) Upper and lower control arms.
0.2

Axle

CHECK 

DIFFERENTIAL FLUID 

LEVEL, CLEAN VENTS

Check differential  fluid level and fill or replace following manufacturer's  recommendations.

0

Axle
UPPER AND LOWER 

CONTROL ARMS
Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

0.1

Battery 

Charger/Cond 

itioner Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

CHARGER/CONDITIO

NER TEST

17.7 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or 

conditioner, it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3. 0.3

Battery Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST

17.3 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage 

electrical system or any component of the system have been made. 17.3.2 Each battery shall be individually tested using 

either the procedure specified in 17.3.2.1 or 17.3.2.2. A.17.3.2.1 Conductivity testing is preferred to load testing because it 

does not stress the battery, it is a more accurate indication of the state of health of the battery, and it provides values that 

can be recorded and tracked for trend analysis. Follow Chapter 17 for test.
0

Body
SERVICE ROLL UP 

DOORS/TRACKS

7.15.1 All compartments and storage areas shall be inspected for structural integrity, deformation, and leaks. 7.15.1.1 

Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.  7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically 

checked for correct operation and position. 0.3

Body

PERFORM BODY 

LUBRICATION 

SERVICE

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

0

Body

INSPECT DOOR 

LATCHES, HINGES, 

LOCKS

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated. 7.15.1.2 Doors shall be 

diagnostically checked for correct operation and position. 7.15.1.3 The hazard warning light and interlocks associated with, 

but not limited to, the following conditions shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Open passenger or equipment compartment 

doors (2) Ladder or equipment rack not in the stowed position (3) Deployed stabilizer system (4) Extended powered light 

tower. 0

Body
INSPECT MOUNTED 

STEPS,

7.15.2 All steps, platforms, handrails, and access ladders shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity,

and deformation. 7.15.2.1 All slip resistant surfaces shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition. 7.15.2.2 All

mechanical steps shall be 0

13



Body

INSPECT FINISHES, 

STRIPING, SIGNS 

AND LABELS

7.15.4* All finishes and reflective striping shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.15.5* Where required, all 

signs and labels shall be inspected for their presence and any defects, corrosion, and damage. If apparatus does not have 

reflective striping, or warning labels, consider adding in accordance with applicable sections of current NFPA 1901
0

Body

INSPECT POWERED 

EQUIPMENT RACKS 

INSPECT FOR 

SHIELDS AND 

GUARDS

7.16.1 All locks used to hold equipment racks in the road travel position and all interlocks to prevent operation of equipment 

racks when the fire apparatus is in motion shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation. 7.16.2 Racks and 

interlocks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.3 All warning lights and visual signals for the equipment racks shall be 

diagnostically checked. 7.16.4 Reflective striping or reflective paint shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 

7.16.5 Equipment-holding  devices shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation, shall be diagnostically 

checked, and shall be lubricated.  Inspect that all shields and guards are installed and tighened properly.
0

Brake
CHECK PARKING 

BRAKE OPERATION

7.12.2 The parking brake shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, missing or broken parts, and wear 

and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.3 The parking brake controls and activating mechanism shall be inspected for 

structural integrity, security of mounting, and missing or broken parts, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be 

lubricated. 0.6

Brake

INSPECT BRAKE 

LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS

7.12.4 The brake linings shall be replaced in accordance with the brake manufacturer's severe service recommendation 

when they are contaminated, when the lining is worn to the minimum thickness for safe operation as defined by the brake 

manufacturer, or when the brake drum or rotor is replaced. 7.12.5 The drums or rotors shall be inspected during scheduled 

maintenance, when there is a suspected problem or at the time of brake lining replacement, and the inspection shall consist 

of, but not be limited to the following: (1) Evidence of extensive heat or heat cracking (2) Out of round (3) Wear beyond 

manufacturer's specifications (4) Rust (5) Taper (6) Rotor parallelism (7) Metal fatigue.  7.12.6 Machining of brake drums or 

rotors shall be done only in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. 7.12.7 All components of the braking system 

shall be inspected for damage and wear when performing a brake overhaul.
1

Brake TEST ABS SYSTEM

7.12.8.1 Antilock braking systems (ABS) including the electronic control unit, cables, switches, relays, sensors, and v alv es 

shall be inspected for any deficiencies and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.8.2 The ABS electronic control unit (ECU) 

diagnostic codes shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes that have been logged.
0

Brake
PERFORM COMPLETE 

BRAKE INSPECTION

7.12.9 If the fire apparatus has a hydraulic brake system, the components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: (1) Pedal and linkage (2) Brake switches (3) Master cylinder (4) Brake booster (5) Hydraulic 

lines (6) Valves (7) Wheel cylinders or calipers (8) Brake shoes or pads (9) Brake drums or rotors (10) Warning devices 

(11) Mounting hardware (12) Fluid level and contamination. 7.12.10 If the fire apparatus has an air brake system, the 

components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  (1) Air compressor (2) Pedal 

assembly (3) All valves (4) Hoses and lines (5) Brake switches (6) Brake air chambers (7) Slack adjusters (8) Cams and 

wedges (9) Brake shoes or pads (10) Brake drums or rotor (11) Calipers (12) Air dryers (13) Drain valves (14) Air tanks (15) 

Warning devices (16) Mounting hardware.
0

Brake

CHECK DISC BRAKE 

TORQUE PLATE 

BOLTS

Check for security of mounting and deformation.

0

Brake

INSPECT CALIPER 

RETAINING RING AND 

BOLTS

Check for security of mounting and deformation.

0

Brake System 

Test

ANNUAL BRAKE 

SYSTEM TEST

16.3 Braking System test. Testing of the braking system, including antilock brake systems and auxiliary brake system, shall 

be conducted at least annually and whenever adjustments, repairs, or modifications have been performed on any 

component that can affect the proper operation of the braking system or systems. Follow instructions in Chapter 16.
0.2

14



Braking System
CHECK BACKING 

PLATE BOLTS

7.12.1 The braking system shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the braking system 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed. If the vehicle is equipped with backing plates on the brakes the 

bolts should be checked on every B maintenance. 0

Cab

CHECK 

GLASS/MIRRORS FOR 

DELAMINATION, 

CHIPS, AND CRACKS

7.14.1 All glass, windows, and mirrors shall be inspected for condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK AIR RIDE 

SEAT SYSTEM
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK SEAT FOR 

CUTS AND TEARS
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK SEAT FRAME 

FOR CRACKS
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab CHECK SEAT BELTS 7.14.3 All seat belts shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.
0

Cab

CHECK 

COMPARTMENT 

DOORS

7.14.4 Doors, door hinges, latches, and door stops shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition, shall be 

diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.
0

Cab
CHECK CAB 

MOUNTING SYSTEMS

All components of the cab mounting system including but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation: (1) Mounting brackets (2) Cab base structure (3) Resilient cushions (4) Securing fasteners. 

7.14.6* All equipment mounting systems including, but not limited to, mounting systems for the following shall be inspected 

for security of mounting and deformation and shall be maintained free of corrosion: (1) Radios, computers, and siren 

controls (2) Self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) (3) Portable lights (4) Hand tools (5) Emergency medical service 

(EMS) equipment (6) Books, street directories, and maps. For the safety of personnel, equipment should be mounted in 

accordance with the requirements of NFPA 1901. 0.1

Cab
INSPECT CAB 

INTERIOR CONDITION

Inspection to include, but not limited to, pedals, knobs, handles, headliner, interior door covers, and lights, for security of 

mounting, deformation and proper operation.
0.1

Charging
CHECK CHARGING 

SYSTEM

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.
0

Charging
CHECK VOLTAGE 

REGULATOR

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.
0

Cooling
CHECK COOLANT 

LEVEL
7.5.1 The engine coolant shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the manufacturer.

0.3

Cooling
INSPECT AUXILIARY 

HEAT EXCHANGERS

7.5.10 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the engine cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.
0.1

15



Cooling
INSPECT AND CLEAN 

RADIATOR FINS
7.5.2 The radiator assembly shall be inspected and cleaned of dirt, debris, and obstructions to airflow.

0

Cooling

CHECK COOLING 

SYSTEM HOSES AND 

BELTS

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage. 7.5.6 All belts shall be inspected for wear, 

deformation, and proper adjustment.
0

Cooling CHECK WATER PUMP 7.5.4 The water pump's) shall be inspected for condition and leakage.
0

Cooling
PRESSURE TEST 

COOLING SYSTEM
7.5.5 The cooling system shall be pressure tested for leakage.

0

Cooling
LITMUS TEST 

COOLANT
7.5.7 The chemical components of the coolant shall be tested and maintained at the proper balance.

0

Cooling INSPECT GAUGES 7.5.8 Cooling system temperature indicators and gauges shall be diagnostically checked. 0

Cooling CHECK FAN CLUTCH
7.5.9 Temperature control devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) 

Thermostats (2) Clutch fans (3) Radiator shutters (4) Electric cooling fans. 0.1

Cooling
CHECK RADIATOR 

CAP(S)
Check to see if missing or not sealing properly.

0

Cooling
INSPECT RADIATOR 

AND MOUNTS
Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

0

Cooling
CHANGE COOLANT 

FILTER
Replace coolant filter as recommended by the manufacturer.

0.1

Crew 

Compartment

INSPECT CAB AND 

BODY MOUNTS

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system including,shall be inspected for security of mounting and leaks and shall 

be diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended 

by the manufacturer. 0.1

Dielectric 

Voltage Test

5 YEAR DIELECTRIC 

VOLTAGE WITH 

STAND TEST

22.8 At least every 5 years, and after a vehicle accident or body repair, a dielectric test shall be performed on the line 

voltage electrical system. Follow Chapter 22 for test. Also see Annex A for additional information.
0.2

Driveline

CHECK DRIVELINE 

CENTER SUPPORT 

BEARING

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.
0.3

Driveline

CHECK DRIVE 

SHAFTS AND U 

JOINTS

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.
0

Driveline

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE U-

JOINTS, FLANGES

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for 

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated. 7.10.2 Driveline retarding systems shall be cleaned, shall 

be inspected for security of mounting, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.
0

Electrical ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
13.1 If the apparatus has a line voltage electrical system, it shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter, and with the manufacturers recommendations. 0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE 

COVER BOLTS
7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

0

Engine
INSPECT ENGINE 

MOUNTS
7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

0

Engine
CHANGE ENGINE OIL 

AND FILTERS

7.4.3 Engine oil and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the engine manufacturer's severe service. If no sev ere serv 

ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall 

be followed.  7.4.1 The engine oil shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the engine 

manufacturer. 0.3

16



Engine
CHECK ALL 

DIAGNOSTIC CODES

7.4.4 The diagnostic codes for electronically controlled engines shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes 

that have been logged.
0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE 

PERFORMANCE
7.4.5* The engine performance shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE IDLE 

SPEED
Inspect for proper operation and adjust as recommended by the manufacturer.

0.1

Engine
PRESSURE WASH 

ENGINE
Pressure wash as needed to inspect engine.

0.2

Engine Coolant 

System

INSPECT FREEZE 

PLUGS AND OIL 

COOLER AND LINES

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

0

Exhaust

CHECK EMISSION 

CONTROL LINES, 

FITTINGS, BRACKETS

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and 

exhaust leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.
0.2

Exhaust
INSPECT EXHAUST 

SYSTEM

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and 

exhaust leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.
0

Frame
INSPECT FRAME AND 

SUPPORTS

7.2.1 All frame rails and members shall be inspected for defects, structural integrity, corrosion, perforations, cracks, and 

missing or loose parts. 0

Fuel
CHANGE FUEL 

FILTER(S)
7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0.3

Fuel

CHANGE 

FUEL/WATER 

SEPARATOR

7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0.3

Fuel

CHECK FUEL TANK 

DRAIN PLUG CHECK 

FUEL TANK 

MOUNTING  AND TIE 

DOWNS

7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

0

Fuel INSPECT FUEL LINES 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage. 0

Fuel
INSPECT FUEL 

PUMP(S)
7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage. 0

Fuel INSPECT INJECTORS
7.6.3 The carburetor or the injection pump and injectors shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's  

recommendations.
0

Fuel

INSPECT GAUGES, 

INDICATORS,  AND 

SENDING UNITS

7.6.4 Gauges, indicators, and sending units shall be diagnostically  checked. 0

Fuel
CHECK ENGINE 

THROTTLE

7.6.5* All mechanical  throttle linkage and stops shall be inspected for proper adjustment and diagnostically  checked. 

A.7.6.5 All linkage should be inspected for freedom of movement,  adjustment,  full throttle position, idle position, and 

smooth operation. 7.6.6 All electronic throttle components  and throttle position sensors (TPS) shall be inspected for counts 

and diagnostically  checked.

0.1

17



Line Voltage 

Electrical 

System Test

ANNUAL LINE 

VOLTAGE 

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM 

TEST

22.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a line voltage electrical system, the system and components  shall be tested as 

required by this chapter. 22.2 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually, unless otherwise noted, and 

whenever major repairs or modifications  to the line voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been 

made.

0.2

Miscellaneou s 

Electrical 

Components

CHECK 

MISCELLANEOUS 

ELECTRICAL 

COMPONENTS

8.8 Miscellaneous  electrical components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Battery conditioners and chargers (2) Shoreline 

receptacles (3) Radios and intercoms (4) Converters and inverters (5) Fast idle system (6) Interlock system(s) (7) Operator 

alert devices (8) Other electrical components  on the apparatus not otherwise specified above.

0

Parking Brake 

Test

ANNUAL PARKING 

BRAKE TEST

16.4 The parking brake system shall be tested at least annually. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. See A.16.4.1 and 

A.16.4.2.
0

Regulator Test
ANNUAL REGULATOR 

TEST

17.6 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow regulator test 17.6 0

Road Test ANNUAL ROAD TEST

16.5 A road test of the fire apparatus shall be conducted at least annually, after each scheduled maintenance interval, and 

after repair, adjustment, or modification of the engine, transmission, drivetrain, suspension, brakes, or steering. Follow 

instructions in Chapter 16. 0.2

Solenoid and 

Relay Test

ANNUAL SOLENOID 

AND RELAY TEST

17.9 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.9 for the solenoid and relay test. 0.2

Starter Wiring 

Test

ANNUAL STARTER 

WIRING TEST

17.4 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.4 for test. 0.3

Starting INSPECT STARTER
17.4.1 The wiring from the battery to the starter shall be inspected for corrosion, loose connections, worn insulation, or 

potential chafing points. 0

Starting
TEST ON BOARD 

BATTERY CHARGER
17.7.1 If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

0

Starting
INSPECT AND CLEAN 

BATTERY CABLES

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 0

Starting
INSPECT STARTING 

SYSTEM

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 8.3 All wiring and wire looms shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, tight connections, proper routing, presence of grommets, condition, and cleanliness.
0.2

Starting SERVICE BATTERY

8.4 The battery(ies) shall be tested for storage and performance capabilities in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 17.3.1.1 Batteries shall be cleaned of any accumulated dirt or corrosion, and the connections shall be 

checked to ensure that they are clean and tight,.17.3.1.2 Batteries shall be inspected for cracks, swelling, deformation, or 

other physical defects. 17.3.1.3 Batteries that are not sealed shall be checked to verify that the cells have the proper 

electrolyte level, and distilled water shall be added if necessary. 17.3.1.4 Batteries that are sealed shall be inspected to 

verify that any electrolyte level indicator indicates sufficient electrolyte.
0

Steering
CHECK STEERING 

SYSTEM

7.11.2 All steering system components shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, leakage, and 

condition, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated. 7.11.2.1 The surrounding vehicle components shall be 

inspected for indications that the wheels or tires have been rubbing during steering. 0.4

Steering CHECK AXLE STOPS
7.11.2.2 Both the left and right steering axle stops shall be diagnostically checked to ensure the steering gear hydraulics 

relieve before contacting the steering stops. 0

18



Steering

CHECK STEERING 

GEAR BOX, 

MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, AND 

LINKAGE

7.11.2.3.1 The steering gear mounting bracket shall be cleaned and inspected for cracks.7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear 

mounting bracket fasteners shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 The steering linkage 

assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are in place and 

properly secured. Lubricate as recommended by the manufacturer. 7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear mounting bracket fasteners 

shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to 

ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are in place and properly secured. Lubricate as 

recommended by the manufacturer. 0

Steering

LUBRICATE 

STEERING COLUMN 

LINKAGE

7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining 

hardware are in place, properly secured and lubricated.
0

Steering
CHECK STEERING 

WHEEL
7.11.2.5 The steering wheel shall be rotated to check for steering backlash.

0

Steering
CHANGE GEAR BOX 

FLUID LEVEL

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0.2

Steering
CHANGE POWER 

STEERING FLUID

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0.3

Steering
CHECK GEAR BOX 

FLUID LEVEL

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0

Steering
CHECK POWER 

STEERING FLUID

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0

Steering

CHECK TIE RODS, 

DRAG LINK, PITMAN 

ARM

7.11.4 The steering valve(s), steering arms, drag links, pitman arms, tie rod ends, and steering column assembly shall be 

lubricated.
0

Steering

INSPECT POWER 

STEERING LINES, 

BELTS AND HOSES

7.11.5 All steering pump belts, hoses, and lines shall be inspected for wear, adjustment, and deformation.

0

Steering
CONTROLS AND 

INDICATORS

7.11.6 Electronic steering controls and indicators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 0

Steering
CHANGE POWER 

STEERING FILTER
Follow manufacturer's recommendation.

0.1

Suspension

CHECK AIR 

SUSPENSION BAGS, 

MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, 

ATTACHED 

HARDWARE AND 

CONTROLS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

0.3

Suspension

CHECK EQUALIZER 

BEAMS AND TORQUE 

ARMS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers 0

Suspension

CHECK TORQUE ON 

SUSPENSION U-

BOLTS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets 0

Suspension

LUBRICATE 

SUSPENSION PINS 

AND BUSHINGS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers 0

19



Suspension

CHECK FRAME AND 

SUSPENSION FOR 

PROPER ALIGNMENT

7.2.3 The frame and suspension shall be inspected for proper alignment.

0

Tires/Wheels

INSPECT WHEEL 

BEARINGS AND 

SEALS

7.3.2 Wheel bearings and seals shall be cleaned, inspected for deformation, wear, cracks, and leakage, and shall be 

lubricated.
1

Tires/Wheels

INSPECT TIRES FOR 

WEAR, DAMAGE, 

INFLATION

7.3.3* Tires shall be inspected for damage and shall be inflated to the tire manufacturer's recommended pressure. 7.3.4* 

Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal standards as 

determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. [See 6.3.1(4)] A.7.3.3 It is important that the cold tire inflation be 

maintained to the fire apparatus manufacturer's recommended tire pressure, which is based on the weight of the completed 

apparatus, and not to the maximum pressure shown on the sidewall of the tire. If the information from the fire apparatus 

manufacturer is not available for the tires on the v ehice, each axle should be weighed with the vehicle fully loaded and the 

tires inflated to the tire manufacturer's inflation specification for the tire model, size, and axle load. A.7.3.4 Tire age can be 

determined by checking the DOT code on the sidewall of each tire.
0

Tires/Wheels
CHECK TREAD 

DEPTH

7.3.4* Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal 

standards as determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. 0

Tires/Wheels

CHECK WHEEL 

STUDS AND LUG 

NUTS

7.3.5* Wheel-attaching nuts shall be torqued to the wheel manufacturer's recommendation. A.7.3.5 Wheel-attaching 

hardware should be torqued to the manufacturer's recommendation at the time of wheel installation. The wheel- or rim- 

attaching hardware should be re-torqued at 50 mi to 100 mi (80 km to 160 km) after installation and periodically thereafter. 

Wheel cov ers or nut cov ers might have to be removed for proper inspection. 0

Tires/Wheels

CHECK FOR WHEEL 

CRACKS 

DEFORMATION AND 

CORROSION

7.3.6 Wheels and rims shall be inspected for cracks, deformation, structural integrity, and corrosion.

0

Tires/Wheels
INSPECT WHEEL 

CHOCKS
Inspect that wheel chocks are not missing and are easily accessible.

0

Total Continuous 

Electrical Load 

Test

ANNUAL TOTAL 

CONTINUOUS 

ELECTRICAL LOAD 

TEST

17.8 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  17.8.1 The total continuous electrical load test shall be permitted 

to be conducted simultaneously with other electrical or pumping tests. A.17.8 This test is designed to verify that the 

charging system, with the load management system, if supplied, is sufficient to supply the total connected load.
0

Trans
CHECK 

TRANSMISSION

7.9.1 The transmission shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and leakage and shall be 

diagnostically checked. 0.5

Trans

CHECKS 

TRANSMISSION 

BRAKING SYSTEMS

7.9.10 Transmission braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0

Trans
CHECK AUXILIARY 

HEAT EXCHANGERS

7.9.11 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the transmission cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.
0

Trans

CHECK 

TRANSMISSION  

FLUID

7.9.3 Transmission lubricants and filters shall be inspected for contamination,  and lubricants shall be maintained at the lev 

el specified by the manufacturer.
0

Trans

CHANGE 

TRANSMISSION  OIL 

AND FILTERS

7.9.4 The lubricant and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the transmission manufacturer's sev ere service 

recommendation.  If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended  by the transmission 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be f ollowed. 0

20



Trans
CHECK INDICATORS 

AND GAUGES
7.9.6 All transmission indicators and gauges shall be tested for proper operation and accuracy.

0

Trans
CHECK DIAGNOSTIC 

CODES

7.9.7 The diagnostic codes for all electronically controlled transmissions shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error 

codes that have been logged.
0

Trans

CHECK POWER TAKE 

OFF(S) MOUNTING 

AND LEAKS

7.9.8 PTO's shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked.

0

Trans
CHECK LOCKUP 

SYSTEM

7.9.9 The lockup system for pumps and other accessories shall be inspected for leakage and shall be diagnostically  

checked. 0

Transfer Case
CHANGE TRANSFER 

CASE FLUID
Inspect transfer case, check fluid level and change fluid as recommended  by manufacturer.

0.3

Warning 

Devices

CHECK WARNING 

LIGHT OPERATION

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Warning 

Devices

TEST HORNS, 

SIRENS, ALARMS

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Warning 

Devices

TEST INSTRUMENT  

PANEL WARNING 

DEVICES AND 

GAUGES

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Wear Points

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE ALL 

WEAR POINTS

7.1 General. All components and systems commonly found on or in the chassis, driving compartment, crew compartment, 

and body shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and this chapter. Special 

attention should be paid to steering stops, stricker plates, and hinges. 0

Weight 

Verification Test

ANNUAL WEIGHT 

TEST

16.2 Fire apparatus Axle Weight Test. The fully loaded fire apparatus shall be weighed following the procedure specified in 

16.2.2 through 16.2.5 to ensure that the weight on the front and rear axles and the gross vehicle weight do not exceed the 

gross axle weight ratings (GAWRs) and the gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination weight rating 

(GCWR) as shown on the rating plate on the fire apparatus. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. Also see A.16.2.3, 

A16.2.4(3), A.16.2.4(4). 0

Winch Systems
INSPECT WINCH 

SYSTEM

15.1 Any winch or winch attachment point on a fire apparatus shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter and with the manufacturers recommendations. 0

Windshield 

Washer

FILL WINDSHIELD 

WASHER RESERVOIR
7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected f or contamination and maintained to the levels recommended  by the manufacturer.

0

Work Lighting
CHECK EMERGENCY  

LIGHT OPERATION

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.10(1) through (5).
0

21



Work Lighting
CHECK WORK LIGHT 

OPERATION

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.10(1) through (5).
0

10.7

22



         Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227  www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

2020-2021 Fee Schedule 

• Classroom clean-up     $25.00 fee 

• CPR Class       $50.00 per student 

• Employment Application (Processing fee)   $10.00 

• Fire Reports (copying charge)    $1.00 per page (non-residents/insurance) 

• Public Information Request (copying charge)  $0.50 per page 

• Haz-Mat response out of district + personnel costs  $225.00 an hour (Trailer/Tow Vehicle) 

        $50.00 an hour (Command Vehicle) 

        $75.00 an hour (Air unit) 

• Pile burning / standby (in district only)   $200.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

• MSA SCBA Maintenance and testing   $70.00 per pack, $20.00 per mask + parts 

• Vehicle Maintenance Light Duty (up to F550)  $90.00 an hour + shop fees + parts 

    Heavy Duty    $125.00 an hour + shop fees + parts 

    Travel    $40.00 an hour (plus government mileage) 

• Out of District Fire Responses    2020 CFRA Contracted Rates + personnel costs 

• Plans Review      $0.25 per sq. ft. 

o Subdivision Plan Review    $500.00 

o Transmittal letters    $30.00 

• Engine/Rescue Response to an MVA   $139.00 + personnel costs 

• Smoke Detector (new home construction)   $25.00 per visit 

• Sporting Events   Ambulance   $150.00 a day donation 

    Brush Truck   $200.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

    Tender     $225.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

    CEP   $315.00 a day / $35.00 an hour (paid to individual) 

    EMT   $225.00 a day / $25.00 an hour (paid to individual) 

• Training   Drafting Pit   $40.00 a day + Technicians hourly rate 

    Burn Building   $150.00 an hour (includes 1 operator) 

    LPG Props   $100.00 an hour (includes 1 operator) 

        Renter will pay for LPG / Class A fuels 

• TRT missions      $100.00 an hour + employee rates 

FEES MAY BE WAIVED BY THE FIRE CHIEF 

23



FRY FIRE DISTRICT
A R I Z O N A

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE  
FINANCIAL REPORT
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021

24



Fry Fire District    

4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

FRY FIRE 
DISTRICT 

COCHISE COUNTY, ARIZONA 

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

DRAFT

25



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CONTENTS

Page

Introductory Section

Letter of transmittal 1 ‐ 8

List of elected and appointed officials  9

GFOA Certificate of Achievement 10

Financial Section

Independent auditors' report 12 ‐ 13

Management's discussion and analysis 15 ‐ 23

Basic financial statements:
Government‐wide financial statements:
Statement of net position 25
Statement of activities  26

Fund financial statements ‐ governmental funds:
Balance sheet 27
Reconciliation of the balance sheet to the statement of net position 28
Statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances 29
Reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures and
  changes in fund balances to the statement of activities 30

Fund financial statements ‐ fiduciary funds:
Statement of fiduciary net position
Statement of changes in fiduciary net position

Notes to financial statements 31 ‐ 55

Required supplementary information:
Schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance ‐
budget to actual ‐ general fund 57

Schedule of the District's proportionate share of the net pension/OPEB liability ‐ 
cost‐sharing plan (ASRS) 58

Schedule of changes in the net pension liability and related ratios ‐ agent 
retirement plan (PSPRS) 59

Schedule of changes in the net OPEB liability and related ratios ‐ agent 
retirement plan (PSPRS) 60

Schedule of pension/OPEB contributions 61 ‐ 62
Notes to required supplementary information 63 ‐ 64

DRAFT

26



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CONTENTS (continued)

Page

Statistical Section

Financial trends:
Net position by component 67
Changes in net position 68
Fund balances of governmental funds 69
Changes in fund balances ‐ governmental funds and debt service ratio 70

Revenue capacity:
Assessed and estimated actual value of taxable property 71
Property tax rates ‐ all direct and overlapping governments 72
Principal property taxpayers 73
Property tax levies and collections 74

Debt capacity:
Ratios of general bonded debt outstanding  75
Direct and overlapping governmental activities debt 76
Legal debt margin information 77

Demographic and economic information:
Demographic and economic statistics 78
Principal employers 79

Operating information:
Operating indicators by function 80
Full‐time equivalent employees by function 81
Capital asset statistics by function 82

Report on internal control and on compliance:
Independent auditors' report on internal control over financial reporting and on 84 ‐ 85
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and report on 
compliance with State of Arizona regulatory requirements 

DRAFT

27



INTRODUCTORY SECTION

DRAFT

28



 

 
Fry Fire District    1  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Wednesday, November 17, 2021 

 

To the Honorable Members of the Board and Citizens of Fry Fire District:  

 

The following is the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of Fry Fire District (FFD) for 

the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. This ACFR report is intended to meet and exceed all legal 

reporting requirements that are borne by this jurisdiction. Management assumes full responsibility for 

the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this report, based upon a 

comprehensive framework of internal control established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal 

control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than 

absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatements. As management, 

we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in 

all material respects.  

 

Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) 48-253 and 48-805(9) require an annual audit to be performed in 

accordance with the statutory requirements and in conformance to generally accepted government 

auditing standards. As such, the fiscal year audit has been performed by an independent certified public 

accounting firm, BeachFleischman PC. The auditors have issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on 

the Fry Fire District’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021.  

 

The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial section of this report. 

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report 

and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A 

complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it. 

 

District Profile 

The Fry Fire District was originally formed in April of 1965 as the Fry Volunteer Fire Company.  

Governance for the original Volunteer Fire Company evolved from an elected Fire Chief to the 

current elected Board in 1985.  Volunteer Firefighters were originally only responsible for handling 

the fire suppression needs of the community.  Emergency medical treatment and transport services 

were added later along with full-time employees to provide round-the-clock protection. Early 

volunteers operating out of a single fire station on Second Street laid the foundation for the 

professional services FFD personnel deliver across the region today.  

 

Fry Fire District currently provides all hazard emergency services from three fire stations staffed by a 

total of thirty-six full-time firefighters augmented by several additional part-time Firefighters and EMS  

personnel. All full-time suppression personnel are trained in structural and wildland firefighting and 

are certified EMT’s as a minimum.  The last year saw four additional Paramedics obtain their 

DRAFT

29



 

 
Fry Fire District    2  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

certification bringing more than 75% of our staff to the advanced life support level. Operations are 

supported by five administrative and support staff.  

 

 

FFD operates under Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48, Chapter 5 and is recognized by the State 

of Arizona as a special taxing district. The District is governed by a five-member Board, comprised of 

a Board Chair, Clerk and three additional members. All Members are elected at large and serve 

staggered four-year terms.  

 

The Board is responsible for adopting an annual budget, setting District policy and ensuring the Fire 

Chief implements policy and manages day-to-day operations of the District. The Fire Chief is 

supported by three Battalion Chiefs who directly supervise assigned Captains and operations 

personnel. Operations are funded primarily through limited assessed value property taxes, with 

additional funding being generated through other avenues including billing for ambulance transports, 

federal and state wildfire responses and support from various grants.   

 

A current organization chart follows:  

 

 
Current Intergovernmental agreements, state requirements and national standards suggest a minimum 

staffing level of 3 firefighters for engine companies and 2 personnel for ambulances providing medical 

transport.  Recently hired personnel should help FFD better meet these minimums and to provide 

safe and effective fire suppression and advanced medical care for FFD customers and members. FFD 

          

      

         
        

    

          

             

           
                   

             
                              

                       

         
        

     

          

             

           
                     

             
                        

                            

         
        

       

          

                

           
                     

             
                             
                           

          
       

     

          
             

    

      
         

     

      
        

     

            

      

DRAFT

30



 

 
Fry Fire District    3  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

employs a total of thirty paramedics and provides Advanced Life Support medical treatment with 

every staffed unit.  Emergency medical service-related calls make up more than 85% of annual calls 

for service.    

 

FFD personnel respond to any emergency situation that threatens life, safety or property and work 

closely with partners from the Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department, Ft. Huachuca Fire 

Department, Palominas Fire District, Whetstone Fire District and the Southeastern Arizona 

Communications Center (SEACOM) to provide the closest available unit with the appropriate 

capabilities to provide service.  FFD is happy to report the addition of ProQA software to SEACOM 

which allows dispatchers to provide emergency callers with immediate instructions about life-saving 

measures they may be able to implement while we’re responding. 

 

FFD also responds to various non-emergency situations that are not routinely handled by other 

agencies or providers.  These non-emergency responses include things such as: snake removals, open 

burn permits, home safety surveys, etc.  The FFD community risk reduction programs cover topics 

such as fall injury prevention, fire safety, CPR, immunizations and first aid and proactively work to 

reduce or mitigate risk either through prevention or otherwise. 

 

About the Area 

FFD serves residents and visitors to several unincorporated neighborhoods in and around the 

community of Sierra Vista. At an elevation of 4600’ the area has an average high temperature of 77 

and an average low temp of 49, with average annual rain fall of 14 inches and less than 2 inches of 

snow. The area boasts the southern end of the Arizona Trail and the Huachuca Mountains which are 

a must-see for outdoor enthusiasts and birdwatchers. 

 

FFD has a fire coverage footprint of approximately 60 square miles and provides ambulance transport 

service for approximately 200 square miles. The district has grown to serve an estimated 17,089 full 

time residents. We provide fire protection and emergency medical services, ambulance transport, 

technical rescue, public education and fire prevention. FFD deploys 12 Fire/EMS personnel daily and 

responded to approximately 3,743 calls during this reporting period. 

 

 

 

DRAFT

31



 

 
Fry Fire District    4  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

 

 

A snapshot of FFD-Demographics and service levels includes:    

District Size 60 square miles 

Ambulance Transport Service Area 200 square miles 

Full-time Resident Population 17,089 

Part-time, Seasonal Population 1,000 

Stations 3 

Fire and Rescue Service Staffing 36 

Administrative and Support  4 

Fire Prevention 1 

 

 

DRAFT

32



 

 
Fry Fire District    5  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Budget Overview 

The District budgets all funds in accordance with the requirements of state law. All funds are budgeted 

on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

 

The Board adopts the general fund budget prior to the beginning of the fiscal year of the District. 

Throughout the budget process the Board reviews the budgeted expenses at the fund, function and 

object level. This is done to allow the Board, and participating community members, to gain a more 

detailed understanding of the budget and to be in compliance with Arizona Revised Statute 48-

805.02(A) which requires a detailed estimate of expenditures. Although the Board reviews the budget 

at the fund, function and object level, the budget is approved at the fund level and sets the level by 

which actual expenditures should not exceed budgeted expenditures. The Board is not required to 

adopt a formal budget for the Capital fund however transfers between funds require Board 

authorization, as do any transfers from Contingency. 

 

Budgeted expenditures lapse at year-end and may not be carried over to subsequent years. 

 

Local Economy and Outlook 

As with many communities, Covid-19 has created significant economic challenges. The uncertainty 

around Covid-19 and its overall impact on the local economy will take time to understand.   

 

The presence of Ft. Huachuca and the U.S. Border Patrol are major contributors to the local economy 

and will continue to be so in the future.  

 

Economists predict that the district will see an average increase in net assessed valuation of 

approximately 2% for the next years and we are happy to see some increases in both residential and 

commercial construction in recent years, as well as rises in median home prices and median household 

incomes.   

 

The District’s population is expected to continue to grow in the next 20 years, although prior growth 

estimates have been significantly curtailed.  District management and staff are working proactively and 

cooperatively with other governments, surrounding fire districts, and regional planning groups to 

ensure continued ability to serve this future population.   

 

Long-term financial planning and major initiatives  

Using focused and detailed financial management, FFD has increased both its unrestricted fund 

balance and ability to fund capital needs. Given both the GFOA minimum recommendation of 

maintaining of no less than two months of regular fund operating revenues, and the volatility 

DRAFT

33



 

 
Fry Fire District    6  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

associated with FFD revenues and expenses, this increased fund balance is an important piece in 

providing long term financial sustainability for the organization and its ability to provide the highest 

level of service to the community it serves. As an organization, FFD is extremely proud of the fund 

balance growth it has achieved over recent years. 

 

The district has developed a comprehensive ten-year capital improvement plan.  This plan is primarily 

funded by a $7 million bond election that passed by more than 72% of the voters in the 2018 general 

election. The capital improvement plan has already begun to improve and enhance emergency 

responses.  It will also add life to existing infrastructure by upgrading aging facilities and replacing 

aging capital assets.  The FFD capital improvement plan forecasts the life expectancy and replacement 

and or maintenance costs for each of the District’s long-term assets and matches those costs to defined 

funding levels that will need to be met over the next decade. Over recent years FFD has continued to 

excel at managing both revenues and expenses which has enabled further funding of the capital 

improvement plan. This has allowed FFD to fully fund its ten-year capital improvement plan. This 

capital improvement plan is reviewed every year to ensure it captures the needs of the organization 

and is receiving adequate funding.  

 

Major initiatives include: improving firefighter safety, replacing aging apparatus and equipment, and 

expanding community risk reduction services to include large-scale vaccination support. This year, 

FFD members proactively supported local Covid-19 vaccination delivery in collaboration with the 

Cochise County Health Department and Cochise College Allied Health Programs, helping to vaccinate 

more than 8,400 community members. 

 

Firefighters are exposed to an ever-increasing risk of occupational exposure to carcinogens.  Station 

renovations will bring FFD into compliance with accepted industrial hygiene standards and reduce 

exposures to carcinogens by removing vehicle exhaust gases and improving individual 

decontamination after a fire.  FFD are also actively working to improve the quality of the personal 

protective equipment provided to firefighters and to provide additional sets of gear to keep them 

protected while exposed gear is being decontaminated. 

 

Upgrades to FFD aging fleet are underway.  A new 2020 Ford F350 rescue truck was recently 

purchased with bond funds and placed into service.  This vehicle replaced a 2006 Ford F550 that had 

seen extensive service.  In addition to improving local coverage during our almost year-round fire 

season, the new truck also helps protect other communities across the west during catastrophic fires 

and generates non-tax revenue during out-of-district fire and rescue assignments.   

 

Two 2020 Ford Type 1 Ambulances were currently placed in service with power-load gurneys and are 

currently serving local patients.  A 2021 Rosenbauer Type 6 Engine has been put into service as well 

as two 2022 F-250 support trucks.  

DRAFT

34



 

 
Fry Fire District    7  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

 

FFD firefighters have also seen the purchase and deployment of new handheld radios.  Over the past 

few years, FFD have placed approximately fifteen new radios in service.  The new Motorola radios 

are intrinsically safe, fire-rated and interface with our self-contained breathing apparatus via Bluetooth 

technology to dramatically improve the clarity of communications when working in an environment 

that is immediately dangerous to life and health (IDLH).  This year also saw additional Firefighter 

radios upgraded to include multi-band capability to enhance communication with local partners, as 

well as the deployment of tough tablet devices to enhance connectivity and streamline data sharing 

with SEACOM.  The next steps in the FFD communication improvement project include upgrading 

the repeater and microwave links on one of our existing VHF channels. 

   

Community Risk Reduction efforts have been augmented by new employee engagement and state and 

local grant funds.  These programs include a continuation of a large-scale hazardous fuel reduction 

project on high-risk wildland interface areas east of the Huachuca Mountains with a focus on Ramsey 

Canyon and other canyons west of Hwy 92 and the exploration of part-time seasonal employees as an 

alternative to the use of fire crews for work.  Pending treatment projections should push the project 

close to the 400-acre mark and will have an impact on fire activity in our highest-risk neighborhoods 

for years to come.  These efforts also include public education about fall injury prevention, CPR, and 

emergency first aid.  Supported by a grant from the Legacy Foundation, the Matter of Balance program 

has been ongoing for the past several years and has produced a reduction in the number of fall-related 

calls we’re seeing.  CPR and Stop the Bleed are also providing tangible improvements in community 

readiness.  FFD have recently completed vaccination training for more than 20 FFD Paramedics, 

which has enabled FFD to support large-scale community-wide vaccination programs. Together with 

Pulsepoint and ProQA from SEACOM, FFD are engaging a community with immediate responders 

that are trained and ready to assist when and where emergencies happen. 

 

During the last year, FFD also completed the long-term strategic planning process and are seeing 

movement towards the necessary objectives to meet identified plan goals that will align the future 

budget cycles needs. 

 

Relevant Financial Policies 

FFD has adopted a comprehensive set of financial policies. The policies are constantly evaluated for 

their effectiveness and how they keep the Governing Board and staff focused on increased internal 

controls, reporting and long-term sustainability.  The policies implemented have been effective in 

protecting the District and its focus on maintaining service levels while also providing long term 

sustainability and success.  

 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

DRAFT

35



 

 
Fry Fire District    8  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

We believe that our current ACFR meets the requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to 

determine its eligibility for this award. 

 

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the personnel of the finance department who assisted 

and contributed to the preparation of this report. Appreciation is also extended to Board Chair Joe 

Huish, members of the Board, the managers, employees and citizens of the District whose continued 

support is vital to the financial health of Fry Fire District. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Mark Savage    The James Vincent Group 

Fire Chief    Finance Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DRAFT

36



 

 
Fry Fire District    9  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Fry Fire District 

List of Elected and Appointed 

June 30, 2019 

 
 

 
 

Elected Board Members 
 

Term Expires 

Board Chair Joseph Huish      November 30, 2022 

Board Clerk Eric Andersen      November 30, 2024 

Board Member Robert McMurtrie     November 30, 2024 

Board Member Norman Sturm     November 30, 2024 

Board Member Thomas Tucker     November 30, 2022 

 

 

 

Administrative Offices 

4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650 

Fire Chief/Administrator 

Chief Mark Savage 

Finance Director 

The James Vincent Group 

Legal Counsel 

Barret & Matura, P.C. 

 

DRAFT

37



FINANCIAL SECTION

DRAFT

38



Independent Auditors' Report

Governing Board and Management
Fry Fire District
Sierra Vista, AZ

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry
Fire District as of and  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021, and  the  related notes  to  the  financial  statements, which
collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management  is  responsible  for  the preparation and  fair presentation of  these  financial  statements  in accordance
with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America;  this  includes  the  design,
implementation and maintenance of  internal control  relevant  to  the preparation and  fair presentation of  financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable
to  financial  audits  contained  in Government Auditing  Standards,  issued by  the Comptroller General of  the United
States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.   The procedures  selected depend on  the auditors'  judgment,  including  the assessment of  the  risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments,
the  auditor  considers  internal  control  relevant  to  the  entity’s  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An  audit  also  includes  evaluating  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

12

DRAFT

39



Opinions

In  our  opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all material  respects,  the  respective
financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry Fire District as of June 30, 2021, and the
respective changes  in financial position for the year then ended,  in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted  in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and  analysis,  budgetary  comparison  information,  and  the  pension  plan  and  other  postemployment  benefit  plan
(OPEB)  information, as  listed  in  the  table of contents, be presented  to  supplement  the basic  financial  statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards  Board,  who  considers  it  to  be  an  essential  part  of  financial  reporting  for  placing  the  basic  financial
statements  in  an  appropriate  operational,  economic  or  historical  context.    We  have  applied  certain  limited
procedures to the required supplementary  information  in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United  States  of  America, which  consisted  of  inquiries  of management  about  the methods  of  preparing  the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the  information because the  limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
Fry  Fire  District's  basic  financial  statements.  The  introductory  section  and  statistical  section  are  presented  for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.   The  introductory and
statistical  sections have not been  subjected  to  the  auditing procedures  applied  in  the  audit of  the basic  financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also  issued our report dated November 23, 2021, on
our consideration of Fry Fire District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of  laws,  regulations,  contracts,  and  grant  agreements  and other matters.    The purpose of  that
report  is solely to describe the scope of our testing of  internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the  results of  that  testing, and not  to provide an opinion on  the effectiveness of Fry Fire District's  internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance.   That report  is an  integral part of an audit performed  in accordance with
Government  Auditing  Standards  in  considering  Fry  Fire  District's  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and
compliance.

Tucson, Arizona
November 23, 2021

13

DRAFT

40



Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

(Required Supplementary Information)

DRAFT

41



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

INTRODUCTION

The management of Fry Fire District (the District) presents these financial statements with a narrative overview and
analysis of  financial activities  for  the  twelve months ended  June 30, 2021.   We encourage  readers  to consider  the
information presented here in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and the accompanying
notes to those statements in their understanding of the District’s financial position.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR

 In the government‐wide financial statements, the total assets and deferred outflows of the Fry Fire District

were $16,289,295 at the close of the fiscal year.  The total liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded assets

and  deferred  outflows  by  $7,362,909.    Of  this  amount  $(9,561,229)  represents  the  balance  of  the

unrestricted net position.

 The  District  realized  an  increase  in  its  net  position  of  $197,067  equal  to  the  excess  of  revenues  over

expenses, which was primarily due to an increase in revenue.  Property tax revenue increased $139,744

due  to an  increase  in assessed value.   Non‐tax  levy  revenues  increased due  to a more active wildland

season in 2020 compared to 2021.

 Cash and  investments decreased by $903,242 primarily due to spending capital funds on the purchase of

apparatuses and remodel of fire stations. 

 As of the end of the current fiscal year, the District’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund

balances of $6,946,462, a decrease of $1,235,022 in comparison with the prior year. The decrease in fund

balance was due to capital outlay for the purchase of apparatuses and remodeling fire stations.

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balances for the general fund was $2,443,153.  The

change in fund balance for the general fund was an increase of $358,101 for the fiscal year.  The District

Board  and Administration  are working diligently  to  enhance  the  financial position of  the organization

while still providing a high level of service to the community it serves.

 The  total  long‐term  liabilities of  the District  increased by a net amount of $1,600,575.    Increases  in  the

District’s  actuarially determined net pension/OPEB  liability of $1,872,161  contributed  to  this  increase.

There was no new debt issued in the current year.  

15

DRAFT

42



OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis  is  intended to serve as an  introduction to the basic financial statements of the District.
These  basic  financial  statements  comprise  three  components:    1)  government‐wide  financial  statements,  2)  fund
financial  statements,  and  3)  notes  to  the  financial  statements.    This  report  also  contains  other  supplementary
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government‐Wide Financial Statements

The  Government‐wide  financial  statements  present  the  financial  picture  of  the  District  from  the  economic
measurement  resources  focus  using  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    These  statements  include  all  assets  of  the
District  (including capital assets) as well as all  liabilities  (including  long‐term debt).   They are  intended to provide a
broad overview in a manner similar to a private sector business.  Additionally, certain eliminations have occurred as
prescribed by Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund activity, payables and receivables.

Statement of Net Position ‐ The Statement of Net Position (page 25) presents information of all District's assets plus
deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net
position.   Over time,  increases or decreases  in net position may serve as a useful  indicator of whether the financial
position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

Statement of Activities ‐ The Statement of Activities (page 26) presents information showing how the net position of
the District  changed during  the most  recent  fiscal  year.   All  changes  in net position  are  reported  as  soon  as  the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Fund Financial Statements

The Fund Financial Statements provide detailed  information about  the most  significant  funds not  the District as a
whole.   Some  funds are  required  to be established by State  law and by bond covenants.   However, management
establishes other funds to help it control and manage resources for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting
legal  responsibilities  for using certain  taxes, grants, and other money.   All  the  funds of  the District are considered
governmental funds.

16

DRAFT

43



Governmental Funds Governmental Funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as

governmental activities in the Government–wide financial statements.  All of the basic services of the District
are reported  in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows  into and out of those funds and the
balances  left  at  year  end  that  are  available  for  spending.    These  funds  are  reported  using  an  accounting
method  called modified  accrual  accounting, which measures  cash  and  all  other  financial  assets  that  can
readily be converted to cash.   The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short‐term view of the
operations  and  basic  services  provided  to  residents.    Governmental  fund  information  helps  determine
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance programs
of  the District.   Because  the  focus of governmental  funds  is narrower  than  that of  the Government–wide
financial statements,  it  is useful to compare the  information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented  for governmental activities  in the Government–wide  financial statements.   By doing
so, readers may better understand the long‐term impact of the near‐term financing decisions of the District.
The reconciliation of differences between the governmental fund financial statements and the government‐
wide financial statements is explained in a section following each governmental fund financial statement.

The District maintains three individual government funds: the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund, and the
Debt  Service  Fund.  Information  is  presented  separately  in  the  governmental  fund  balance  sheet  and
governmental  fund  statement of  revenues, expenditures,  and  changes  in  fund balances  for each of  these
funds, all of which are considered to be major funds of the District; the concept and determination of major
funds has been  established by  the Governmental Accounting  Standards Board  (GASB).  There  are no non‐
major governmental funds.

The District adopts an annual appropriated budget to levy taxes and provide for its general fund. A budgetary
comparison  statement has been provided  for  the  fund  to demonstrate compliance with  the budget and  is
presented on page 57.

Notes to the Financial Statements.  The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that
is essential  to a  full understanding of  the data provided  in  the Government‐wide and Governmental  fund
financial statements.  

GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may  serve over  time as a useful  indicator of  the  financial position of a government
entity.    In  the case of  the Fry Fire District,  liabilities and deferred  inflows exceed assets and deferred outflows by
$7,362,909 at the close of the 2021 fiscal year.

By  far,  the  largest portion of net position of  the District, $1,757,056,  reflects  the District's  investment  in  capital
assets (land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, equipment and vehicles), less any related debt
still outstanding that was issued to acquire those items. The District uses these capital assets to provide services to
citizens;  consequently,  these  assets  are not  available  for  future  spending.   Although  the District’s  investment  in
capital assets  is  reported net of  the outstanding  related debt,  the  resources needed  to  repay  that debt must be
provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be liquidated to service these liabilities.  

The restricted portion of net position of $441,264 reflects amounts restricted for debt service obligations. 

17

DRAFT

44



The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $(9,561,229), reflects its cash and current account receivable less
any current  liabilities  (e.g. accounts payable, accrued payroll, and compensated absences) and  long‐term  liabilities
not  associated  with  capital  assets.    The  District  uses  the  cash  balances  to  pay  current  and  ongoing  financial
obligations in order to provide services to residents.

At the end of fiscal year 2021, the District has a negative balance in unrestricted net position.  In fiscal year 2015, the
District adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Pensions, which requires the District to report a net liability for pensions of $17,535,414. In fiscal year 2018, the
District adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefits Other  than Pensions, which  requires  the District  to  report a net  liability  for OPEB of
$97,372.  The District pays for pensions and OPEB on a pay‐as‐you go basis with current financial resources each year.
However, the net pension/OPEB  liability required to be reported  is an actuarially determined amount for resources
that are required sometime in the future.

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position:

Fry Fire District
Condensed Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities Increase

2021 2020 (decrease)

Cash and investments $ 7,011,084 $ 7,914,326 $ (903,242)
Other assets 805,042 766,590 38,452
Capital assets 3,670,685 1,727,541 1,943,144
Total assets 11,486,811 10,408,457 1,078,354

Total deferred outflows 4,802,484 4,099,402 703,082

Other liabilities 575,842 313,821 262,021
Long‐term liabilities 22,027,699 20,427,124 1,600,575
Total liabilities 22,603,541 20,740,945 1,862,596

Total deferred inflows 1,048,663 1,326,890 (278,227)

Net investment in capital assets 1,757,056 1,170,035 587,021
Restricted 441,264 430,877 10,387
Unrestricted (9,561,229) (9,160,888) (400,341)

Total net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ 197,067

Statement of Activities – The net position of  the District  from governmental activities  increased $197,067.   Key
elements of this increase are as follows:

 Net  investment  in  capital assets  increased by $587,021 primarily due  to  spending of bond proceeds on

capital assets.

 Property taxes increased by $139,744 as a result of an increase in assessed valuation.

18

DRAFT

45



 Operating  grants  and  contributions  decreased  by  $136,467.    The  district  receives  fuel  reduction  grants

from  the State of Arizona where  the district  focuses on hazardous  fuel  reduction  in high‐risk wildland

interface areas. The activity in 2021 decreased from 2020 due to COVID‐19.

 Charges  for  services  revenue,  which  includes  both  ambulance  revenue  and  wildland  fire  revenue,

increased $929,794, due to an increase in wildland deployments during the year.

 Expenses  for  the District  increased about $774,298  from  the prior year, primarily due  to an  increase  in

personnel expenses for wildland and pension expenses.

 Pension expense for the year ending June 30, 2021 was $2,387,292, compared with $2,102,691 in the year

ending June 30, 2020.  

The  following  table presents a  comparative  summary of  the District's  revenues and expenses  for  the  current and
preceding fiscal years.

Fry Fire District
Condensed Statement of Activities

For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities Increase

2021 2020 (decrease)

Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 2,610,508 $ 1,680,714 $ 929,794
Operating grants and contributions 79,946 216,413 (136,467)
Rental income 82,006 69,531 12,475

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,397,177 4,257,433 139,744
Fire District Assistance Tax 397,163 400,000 (2,837)
Investment earnings 38,046 ‐ 38,046
Miscellaneous 123,680 194,598 (70,918)

Total revenues 7,728,526 6,818,689 909,837

Expenses:
Public safety 7,415,871 6,613,013 802,858
Interest on long‐term debt 115,588 144,148 (28,560)

Total expenses 7,531,459 6,757,161 774,298

Change in net position 197,067 61,528 135,539

Beginning net position, restated (7,559,976) (7,621,504) 61,528

Ending net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ 197,067

19

DRAFT

46



DISTRICT FUNDS FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance‐related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds ‐ The focus of the District’s governmental funds is to provide information on near‐term inflows,
outflows,  and  balances  of  spendable  resources.  Such  information  is  useful  in  assessing  the  District’s  financing
requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balances may serve as a useful measure of the District’s net resources
available for discretionary use as they represent the portion of fund balance which has not yet been limited to use for
a particular purpose by either an external party, the District  itself, or a group or  individual that has been delegated
authority to assign resources for use for particular purposes by the District’s Governing Board.

At June 30, 2021, the governmental funds of the District reported a combined fund balance of $6,946,462, which is a
decrease of $1,235,022 in comparison with the prior year. 

General Fund ‐ The general fund accounts for all the financial resources retained by the District not accounted for in
any other fund.  As of June 30, 2021, total fund balance was $2,887,392, of which $48,257 was nonspendable because
of prepaid  items, $395,982 was assigned  for paying employee  leave  liabilities, and $2,443,153 was unassigned  for
financial reporting purposes.  Total General Fund balance increased by $358,101.

Capital Projects Fund ‐ The capital projects fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for future construction
costs for new and existing facilities and for the purchase of large fire apparatus. As of June 30, 2021, the ending fund
balance in the Capital Projects fund was $3,617,806.  The decrease in the fund balance of $1,603,510 is primarily due
to purchases of capital assets. 

Debt Service Fund  ‐ The debt service fund accounts for the property tax  levy dedicated to the payment of principal
and interest on general obligation bonds.  The increase in the fund balance was $10,387.

The following statement provides the detail of the District fund balances:

Fry Fire District
Governmental Funds – Fund Balances

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Major funds Amount % Amount %

General  $ 2,887,392 %41.6 $ 2,529,291 %30.9

Capital 3,617,806 52.1 5,221,316 63.8

Debt services 441,264 %6.4 430,877 %5.3

Total fund balance $ 6,946,462 %100.0 $ 8,181,484 %100.0

20

DRAFT

47



BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

There were some variances of note for the fiscal year.

 Revenues  were  over  budget  by  $904,847.    An  increase  in  property  tax  revenues  contributed  to  this

increase. 

 Expenses were over budget by $697,756 primarily due to increases in personnel costs related to wildland

deployments and grant expenses. 

For more detailed information, see budget to actual comparison at page 57.

Fry Fire District
Condensed Budget to Actual ‐ General Fund

As of June 30, 2021

Budget Actual
Variance with

budget

Total revenues $ 6,216,321 $ 7,121,168 $ 904,847

Total expenditures 6,107,839 6,805,595 697,756

Revenue over expenditures 108,482 315,573 207,091

Total other financing sources (uses) (108,482) 42,528 151,010

Net change in fund balance  $ ‐ $ 358,101 $ 358,101

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The District’s investment in capital assets for its governmental type activities as of June 30, 2021 totaled $3,670,685
(net  of  accumulated  depreciation).  This  investment  in  capital  assets  includes  land,  construction  in  progress,
buildings and improvements, equipment, and vehicles.  

During the year, the District purchased or placed in service capital assets of $2,231,325.  This included purchases of
a light rescue truck, two ambulances, two engines, equipment and commencement of fire station remodels. 

The  District  depreciates  capital  assets,  except  for  land  and  construction  in  progress,  consistent  with  generally
accepted accounting principles, utilizing the straight‐line depreciation method. The cost of the asset is divided by its
expected useful life in years and the result is charged to expense each year until the asset is fully depreciated. Major
outlays  for  capital  assets  and  improvements  are  capitalized  as  projects  are  completed  and  placed  into  service.
Additional information on the District's capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial statements at page
40 of this report.

21

DRAFT

48



Fry Fire District
Capital Assets (net of depreciation)

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities

2021 2020
Increase
(decrease)

Land $ 158,423 $ 158,423 $ ‐
Construction in progress 463,943 ‐ 463,943
Buildings and improvements 1,397,855 1,397,855 ‐
Fire equipment 2,254,120 2,123,132 130,988
Vehicles 4,343,911 2,923,899 1,420,012
Accumulated depreciation (4,947,567) (4,875,768) (71,799)

$ 3,670,685 $ 1,727,541 $ 1,943,144

Long Term Liabilities

At the end of the current fiscal year, the District had approximately $22 million in long‐term liabilities outstanding.

The District continues to retire and manage debt to fund various capital projects which support program services. As
of June 30, 2021, the District had bonds payable outstanding of $3,490,000.  This debt currently requires annual debt
service payments that consist of principal and interest of approximately $460,000. All debt is backed by the full faith
and credit of the District. The District has been issued an "AA" rating from Standard and Poor's.  

In accordance with GASB Statements No. 68 and 75, the District is required to include the net pension/OPEB liability
(asset) on  the  financial statements. The net pension/OPEB  liability  is measured as  the  total pension/OPEB  liability,
less the plan’s fiduciary net position.  Relating to the District’s participation in the Public Safety Personnel Retirement
System  (PSPRS),  a  net  pension  liability  is  recorded  at  June  30,  2021  of  $17,238,648  and  a  net OPEB  liability  of
$96,060.  Relating to the District’s participation in the Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS), a net pension liability
is recorded at June 30, 2021 of $296,283.

22

DRAFT

49



The following table shows the District’s Long‐term Liabilities:

Fry Fire District
Long‐term Liabilities

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities

2021 2020
Increase
(decrease)

Compensated absences $ 569,588 $ 514,086 $ 55,502
Bonds payable 3,490,000 3,780,000 (290,000)
Unamortized premium 322,642 343,554 (20,912)
Capital leases 12,683 28,859 (16,176)
Net pension/OPEB liability 17,632,786 15,760,625 1,872,161

Total noncurrent liabilities $ 22,027,699 $ 20,427,124 $ 1,600,575

Additional  information  regarding  the  long‐term debt  and noncurrent  liabilities of  the District  can be  found  in  the
notes to the financial statements at pages 40 ‐ 41 of this report.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FY 2022 BUDGET/TAX RATE

The District has continued to pursue every feasible method of reducing operational costs while providing the highest
level of service to the community.  The increase in funding from nontax revenues, such as grants and contributions,
wildland  revenue,  and  ambulance  revenue  have  helped  mitigate  the  impact  of  rising  costs,  such  as  employee
benefits,  to  the budget.    In  current  and  recent  years  the district has  focused on operational efficiency  to  reduce
expenses.  The increase nontax revenues and operational efficiency has allowed the District to maintain the level of
service provided.  Assessed value for fiscal year 2022 did not increase at the rate of previous years with only a 0.54%
increase.  As a result, the district raised its tax rate to $3.2200 for fiscal year 2022. This will allow the District to build
its unrestricted reserve balance to meet future financial needs and ensure long‐term financial stability.

FINANCIAL CONTACT

The financial statements of the District are designed to present users (citizens, taxpayers, customers,  investors and
creditors) with a general overview of  the  finances of  the District and  to demonstrate accountability.    If you have
questions regarding  the report or need additional  financial  information, please contact the Finance Director of the
District at 4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, Arizona 85650 or at 520‐378‐3276.

23

DRAFT

50



Basic Financial Statements

DRAFT

51



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

 JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental
activities

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 5,099,388
Receivables:

Property taxes 96,092
Ambulance, net 434,973
Other 223,598

Prepaid items 48,257
Cash and investments, restricted 1,911,696
Capital assets, not depreciated 622,366
Capital assets, depreciated, net 3,048,319
Net pension/OPEB asset 2,122

Total assets 11,486,811

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred outflows related to pensions/OPEB 4,802,484

4,802,484

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 353,526
Accrued expenses 127,024
Accrued interest 68,250
Unearned revenue 27,042
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 540,683
Due in more than one year 21,487,016

Total liabilities 22,603,541

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to pensions/OPEB 1,048,663

1,048,663

Commitments and contingencies

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,757,056
Restricted:

Debt service 441,264
Unrestricted (9,561,229)

Total net position $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 25

DRAFT

52



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental
activities

Expenses:
Public safety:

Communications and IT $ 114,831
Depreciation 286,887
Grants 36,545
Managerial  198,641
Other 13,974
Payroll taxes and employee benefits 2,988,990
Salaries and wages 3,393,367
Training and related 73,862
Utilities and station 82,648
Vehicles and equipment 226,126

Interest 115,588

Total program expenses 7,531,459

Program revenues:
Charges for services 2,610,508
Operating grants and contributions 79,946
Rental income 82,006

Total program revenues 2,772,460

Net program expense 4,758,999

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,397,177
Fire district assistance tax 397,163
Investment earnings 38,046
Other 67,674
Gain on disposal of capital assets 56,006

Total general revenues 4,956,066

Change in net position 197,067

Net position, beginning of year (7,559,976)

Net position, end $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 26

DRAFT

53



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

BALANCE SHEET ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2021

General fund Capital projects Debt service

Total
governmental

funds

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 2,893,930 $ 1,706,110 $ 499,348 $ 5,099,388
Receivables:

Property taxes 85,926 ‐ 10,166 96,092
Ambulance, net 434,973 ‐ ‐ 434,973
Other 223,598 ‐ ‐ 223,598

Prepaid items 48,257 ‐ ‐ 48,257
Cash and investments, restricted ‐ 1,911,696 ‐ 1,911,696

Total assets $ 3,686,684 $ 3,617,806 $ 509,514 $ 7,814,004

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 353,526 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 353,526
Accrued expenses 127,024 ‐ ‐ 127,024
Accrued interest ‐ ‐ 68,250 68,250
Unearned revenue 27,042 ‐ ‐ 27,042

Total liabilities 507,592 ‐ 68,250 575,842

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenue ‐ property taxes 67,753 ‐ ‐ 67,753
Unavailable revenue ‐ charges for
services 223,947 ‐ ‐ 223,947

Total deferred inflows of
resources 291,700 ‐ ‐ 291,700

Fund balance:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 48,257 ‐ ‐ 48,257
Restricted:

Debt service ‐ ‐ 441,264 441,264
Capital projects ‐ 1,911,696 ‐ 1,911,696

Assigned to:
Capital projects ‐ 1,706,110 ‐ 1,706,110
Employee leave 395,982 ‐ ‐ 395,982

Unassigned 2,443,153 ‐ ‐ 2,443,153

Total fund balance 2,887,392 3,617,806 441,264 6,946,462

Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources
and fund balance $ 3,686,684 $ 3,617,806 $ 509,514 $ 7,814,004

See notes to financial statements. 27

DRAFT

54



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2021

Total fund balances ‐ governmental funds  $ 6,946,462

Amounts  reported  for  governmental  activities  in  the  statement  of  net
position are different because: 

Capital  assets  used  in  governmental  activities  are  not  financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 3,670,685

Some  receivables  are  not  available  to  pay  for  current  period
expenditures and, therefore, are reported as deferred inflows in the
funds. 291,700

Net  pension/OPEB  assets  held  in  trust  for  future  benefits  are  not
available  for District operations and,  therefore, are not  reported  in
the funds. 2,122

Certain  liabilities  are not due  and payable  in  the  current period  and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Accrued compensated absences (569,588)
Capital leases payable (12,683)
Bond payable (3,490,000)
Unamortized premium (322,642)
Net pension/OPEB liability (17,632,786)

Deferred outflows and  inflows of  resources  related  to pensions/OPEB
are  applicable  to  future  reporting  periods  and,  therefore,  are  not
reported in the funds:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB 4,802,484
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB (1,048,663)

Net position of governmental activities $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 28

DRAFT

55



 FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

General fund Capital projects Debt service

Total
governmental

funds

Revenues:
Property taxes $ 3,911,049 $ ‐ $ 490,325 $ 4,401,374
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 ‐ ‐ 397,163
Charges for services 2,572,572 ‐ ‐ 2,572,572
Grants and contributions 79,946 ‐ ‐ 79,946
Rental income 82,006 ‐ ‐ 82,006
Investment earnings 10,758 8,376 18,912 38,046
Other 67,674 ‐ ‐ 67,674

Total revenues 7,121,168 8,376 509,237 7,638,781

Expenditures:
Public safety:

Emergency operations 5,176,744 ‐ ‐ 5,176,744
Administration 1,008,008 ‐ ‐ 1,008,008

Capital outlay:
Buildings and improvements ‐ 463,943 ‐ 463,943
Fire equipment 130,988 ‐ ‐ 130,988
Vehicles 473,679 1,162,715 ‐ 1,636,394

Debt service:
Principal 16,176 ‐ 290,000 306,176
Interest ‐ ‐ 208,850 208,850

Total expenditures 6,805,595 1,626,658 498,850 8,931,103

Revenues over (under) expenditures 315,573 (1,618,282) 10,387 (1,292,322)

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in (out) (14,772) 14,772 ‐ ‐
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 57,300 ‐ ‐ 57,300

Total other financing sources 42,528 14,772 57,300

Net change in fund balances 358,101 (1,603,510) 10,387 (1,235,022)

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,529,291 5,221,316 430,877 8,181,484

Fund balances, end of year $ 2,887,392 $ 3,617,806 $ 441,264 $ 6,946,462

See notes to financial statements. 29

DRAFT

56



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Net change in fund balances ‐ governmental funds $ (1,235,022)

Amounts  reported  for  governmental  activities  in  the  statement  of  activities  are
different because:

Capital  outlays  are  reported  in  governmental  funds  as  expenditures.
However,  in  the statement of activities,  the cost of  those capital assets  is
allocated over their estimated useful  lives as depreciation expense.   In the
current year, these amounts are:

Capital outlay 2,231,325
Depreciation expense (286,887)
Gain on disposal of capital assets 56,006
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (57,300)

Certain  revenues  relating  to  property  taxes  and  charges  for  services  in  the
statement of activities  that do not provide current  financial  resources are
not reported as revenues in the funds. 33,739

District  pension/OPEB  contributions  are  reported  as  expenditures  in  the
governmental  funds when made. However,  they are  reported as deferred
outflows  of  resources  in  the  statement  of  net  position  because  the
reported net pension/OPEB liability is measured a year before the District's
report  date.  Pension/OPEB  expense,  which  is  the  change  in  the  net
pension/OPEB  liability  adjusted  for  changes  in  deferred  outflows  and
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, is reported in the statement
of activities.

Pension/OPEB contributions 1,498,562
Pension/OPEB expense (2,387,292)

In the statement of activities,  interest  is accrued on  long‐term debt, whereas
in  the governmental  funds  it  is  recorded as an  interest expenditure when
paid. 72,350

Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use
of  current  financial  resources  and,  therefore,  are  not  reported  as
expenditures in governmental funds:

Change in compensated absences (55,502)

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long‐term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Repayment of debt principal  is an expenditure  in the governmental funds,
but  the  repayment  reduces noncurrent  liabilities  in  the  statement of net
position. In the current period, the amount consists of:

Principal paid 306,176
Amortization of premium 20,912

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 197,067

See notes to financial statements. 30

DRAFT

57



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies:

The accounting policies of Fry Fire District (the District) conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) applicable to governmental units as promulgated by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  

Reporting entity:
The District,  established  in  1965 pursuant  to Arizona Revised  Statute  Title 48,  is  a  special‐purpose  local
government organized  to provide  fire protection and other emergency  services  to  residents within  the
District boundaries and the unincorporated areas in and around the City of Sierra Vista.  

The District  is  a  primary  government  because  it  is  a  special‐purpose  government  that  has  a  separately
elected  governing  body,  is  legally  separate,  and  is  fiscally  independent  of  other  state  or  local
governments.    Furthermore,  there  are  no  component  units  combined  with  the  District  for  financial
statement presentation purposes and it is not included in any other governmental reporting entity.

Government‐wide and fund financial statements:
The  basic  financial  statements  include  both  government‐wide  financial  statements  and  fund  financial
statements.   The government‐wide financial statements focus on the District as a whole, while the fund
financial statements focus on major funds.   Each presentation provides valuable information that can be
analyzed  and  compared  between  years  and  between  entities  to  enhance  the  usefulness  of  the
information.

The government‐wide financial statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities.
These statements report the financial activities of the overall government.

A statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function  of  the  District's  governmental  activities.    Direct  expenses  are  those  that  are  specifically
associated with  a  program  or  function  and,  therefore,  are  clearly  identifiable  to  a  particular  function.
Program revenues include:

 charges to customers for services provided

 grants and contributions

Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes and internally dedicated resources,
are reported as general revenues.

Fund  financial statements provide  information about  the District's  funds.   The emphasis of  fund  financial
statements is on major governmental funds, each displayed in a separate column. 

31

DRAFT

58



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation:
The  government‐wide  financial  statements  are  presented  using  the  economic  resources measurement
focus  and  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Revenues  are  recorded  when  earned  and  expenses  are
recorded  at  the  time  liabilities  are  incurred,  regardless  of  when  the  related  cash  flows  take  place.
Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied.  Grants are recognized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements the provider imposed have been met.

Governmental  funds  in  the  fund  financial  statements  are  reported using  the  current  financial  resources
measurement  focus  and  the modified  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Under  this method,  revenues  are
recognized  when  measurable  and  available.    The  District  considers  all  revenues  reported  in  the
governmental  funds  to  be  available  if  the  revenues  are  collected  within  60  days  after  year‐end.
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on
general  long‐term  debt,  claims  and  judgments,  and  compensated  absences,  which  are  recognized  as
expenditures to the extent they are due and payable.   General capital asset acquisitions are reported as
expenditures  in governmental funds.   Proceeds of general  long‐term debt and acquisitions under capital
lease agreements are reported as other financing sources.

Real and personal property taxes are levied on or before the third Monday in August that become due and
payable  in two equal  installments.   The first  installment  is due on the first day of October and becomes
delinquent after  the  first business day of November.   The  second  installment  is due on  the  first day of
March  of  the  next  year  and becomes delinquent  after  the  first business day of May.   A  lien  assessed
against real and personal property attaches on the first day of January preceding assessment and levy.  All
property  taxes  are  billed  and  collected  by  Cochise  County  and  remitted  to  the  District.    In  the
governmental fund financial statements, property taxes are reflected as revenues  in the fiscal period for
which they were levied, provided they are due, or past due and receivable within the current period, and
collected within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay
liabilities of the current period (60 days).  Otherwise, they are reported as deferred inflows of resources. 

Investment earnings associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual
and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered
to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

The District reports the following major governmental funds:

The general fund is the primary operating fund of the District.  The principal revenue source is property
taxes.  Primary expenditures are for public safety. 

The capital projects  fund  is used  to account  for  financial  resources  that are  restricted, committed, or
assigned for the acquisition or construction of major capital assets.

32

DRAFT

59



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation (continued):
The  debt  service  fund  is  used  to  account  for  financial  resources  that  are  restricted,  committed,  or
assigned to expenditure for principal and interest.  

Estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the basic financial statements  in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions  that affect  the  reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of  resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of  the  basic  financial  statements  and  the  reported  amounts  of  revenues  and  expenses  during  the
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Cash and investments:
The District’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, investments
in the County Treasurer's local government investment pool and highly liquid investments with a maturity
of three months or less when purchased. Investments are stated at fair value.  

Investment earnings are comprised primarily of interest earnings. 

Cash and investments, restricted:
Certain proceeds of  the District's  long‐term debt are  classified as  restricted assets on  the balance  sheet
because  they  are maintained  in  separate  bank  accounts  and  their  use  is  limited  by  applicable  debt
covenants. 

Fair value measurements:
Fair value is defined as the price to sell an asset between market participants in an orderly exchange in the
principal or most advantageous market for that asset.  Mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices.
The  fair value  for  the commingled  funds and qualifying alternative  investments  is determined based on
the  investment’s  net  asset  value  as  a  practical  expedient.  Considerable  judgment  is  required  in
interpreting  market  data  used  to  develop  the  estimates  of  fair  value.    Accordingly,  the  estimates
presented in the financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized
in a current market exchange.   The use of different market assumptions and estimation methodologies
may have a material effect on the estimated fair value.

Receivables, unearned revenue and deferred inflows of resources:
All  accounts  and  property  tax  receivables  are  shown  net  of  an  allowance  for  doubtful  accounts,  if  any.
Property  taxes  receivable  for  the  governmental  fund  types, which  have  been  remitted within  60  days
subsequent to period end, are considered measurable and available and recognized as revenues.  All other
property taxes are offset by unavailable revenue and, accordingly, have not been recorded as revenue in
the fund financial statements.  

33

DRAFT

60



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Receivables, unearned revenue and deferred inflows of resources (continued):
Revenue from emergency medical and transportation services are recognized as charges for services.  These
charges  for  services  are  reported  at  their  estimated  net  realizable  amounts  from  patients,  third‐party
payers,  and  other  for  services  rendered,  including  estimated  retroactive  adjustments  under
reimbursement allowances with third‐party payers, provisions for bad debt and uncompensated care.  The
allowance for doubtful accounts, including contractual adjustments, as of June 30, 2021 is approximately
$570,000.   Amounts not collected by the District within 60 days subsequent to year‐end are recorded as
deferred inflows of resources in the fund financial statements. 

Federal  and  state  grants  and  contracts  are  recorded  as  receivables  and  revenues  when  the  related
expenditures  are  incurred.    The  portion  of  reimbursement  in  excess  of  expenditures  are  recorded  as
unearned revenues and amounts not remitted within 60 days subsequent to period end are recorded as
deferred inflows of resources.

Prepaid items:
Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit future accounting periods are recorded as prepaid
items using the consumption method.  A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the time of
purchase and an expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which services are consumed.  

Capital assets:
Capital assets, which  include  land, construction  in progress, buildings and  improvements, equipment, and
vehicles, are reported  in the government‐wide financial statements.   Capital assets are defined as assets
with an initial, individual cost of $1,500 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Such
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost  if actual cost  is not available. Donated
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend
assets  lives  are  not  capitalized.   Major  outlays  for  capital  assets  and  improvements  are  capitalized  as
projects are constructed.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight‐line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Land Not depreciated
Construction in progress Not depreciated
Buildings and improvements 15  to 40 years
Equipment 5 to 20 years
Vehicles  5 to 15 years

34

DRAFT

61



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Compensated absences:
It is the District's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused paid time off.  A liability is
reported for paid time off that the District will pay upon termination or retirement.  None of the liability
for  compensated  absences  is  expected  to  be  liquidated with  expendable  available  financial  resources.
Accordingly,  compensated  absences  are  accrued  as  a  liability  only  in  the  government‐wide  financial
statements.  The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for compensated absences
in prior years. 

Long‐term obligations:
In the government‐wide financial statements, long‐term debt and other long‐term obligations are reported
as noncurrent liabilities in the statement of net position.

In  the  fund  financial  statements, proceeds  from debt  issued are  reported as other  financing sources and
principal  and  interest  payments  are  recognized  as  expenditures  in  the  statement  of  revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources:
The  statement  of  net  position  and  balance  sheet  include  separate  sections  for  deferred  outflows  of
resources and deferred inflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of
net position that applies to future periods that will be recognized as an expense or expenditure in future
periods.  Deferred  inflows  of  resources  represent  an  acquisition  of  net  position  or  fund  balance  that
applies to future periods and will be recognized as a revenue or contra expense in future periods.

Postemployment benefits:
For purposes of measuring the net pension and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabilities or assets,
deferred  outflows  of  resources  and  deferred  inflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions  and OPEB,  and
pension  and  OPEB  expense,  information  about  the  plan's  fiduciary  net  position  and  additions
to/deductions from the plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the plans.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.   The plan's investments are
reported at fair value.

Fund balance:
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  fund  balance  is  divided  into  five  classifications  based  primarily  on  the
extent to which the District is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources.  The
classifications are as follows:

 Nonspendable –  includes  fund balance amounts  that  cannot be  spent either because  it  is not  in

spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints.

35

DRAFT

62



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Fund balance (continued):

 Restricted –  includes  fund balance amounts  that are constrained  for  specific purposes which are

externally  imposed by providers,  such as  creditors or amounts  constrained due  to  constitutional

provisions or enabling legislation.

 Committed  –  includes  fund  balance  amounts  that  can  only  be  used  for  the  specific  purposes

imposed by formal action (resolution) of the Governing Board.   Those committed amounts cannot

be used for any other purpose unless the Governing Board removes or changes the specified use by

taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those accounts.

 Assigned –  includes fund balance amounts that are  intended to be used for specific purposes that

are neither considered restricted or committed.   Fund balance may be assigned by the Governing

Board or District officials delegated the authority by the Governing Board.

 Unassigned – includes those fund balances within the general fund, which have not been classified

within the above mentioned categories.  In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification

is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for which

amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.   

The District applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned and unassigned) amounts are available.   Similarly, within
unrestricted  fund  balance,  committed  amounts  are  reduced  first  followed  by  assigned,  and  then
unassigned  amounts  when  expenditures  are  incurred  for  purposes  for  which  amounts  in  any  of  the
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Net position:
Net  position  represents  the  difference  between  assets,  liabilities  and  deferred  outflows/inflows  of
resources.   Net  investment  in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced  by  the  outstanding  balances  of  any  borrowing  used  for  the  acquisition,  construction  or
improvement of those assets.   Net position  is reported as restricted when there are  limitations  imposed
on  their  use  either  through  enabling  legislation  or  through  external  restrictions  imposed  by  creditors,
grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

Budgetary information:
The District is required, under Arizona Revised Statutes, to adopt a budget each fiscal year and to submit it
to the County Treasurer and the County Board of Supervisors no  later than the first day of August each
year; under statute only the general fund must legally adopt an annual budget.  The adopted budget is on
the modified accrual basis of accounting, which  is a  legally allowable basis  for budgetary purposes.   All
annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year‐end.

36

DRAFT

63



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Cash and investments:

Deposits: 
Operating accounts $ 2,489,014

Investments:
Cochise County Treasurer investment pool 2,610,374
Cochise County Treasurer investment pool ‐ bond proceeds, restricted for capital
purchases 1,911,696

$ 7,011,084

The Arizona Revised Statutes authorize the District to  invest public monies  in the State or County Treasurer's
investment  pool;  interest‐bearing  savings  accounts,  certificates  of  deposit  and  repurchase  agreements  in
eligible depositories; bonds or other obligations of the United States government that are guaranteed as to
principal and  interest by the United States government; and bonds of the State of Arizona's counties, cities,
towns, school districts and special districts as specified by statute. 

Deposits:
Custodial credit risk ‐ Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the District's deposits
may not be returned.  The Arizona Revised Statutes require collateral for demand deposits, certificates of
deposit  and  repurchase  agreements  at  101  percent  of  all  deposits  not  covered  by  federal  depository
insurance.

At June 30, 2021, deposits with financial institutions have a carrying value $2,489,014 and a bank balance of
$2,486,281.  The difference represents deposits in transit, outstanding checks, and other reconciling items
at the year‐end. 

Investments:
Currently,  monies  levied  by  the  District  are  invested  with  the  Cochise  County  Treasurer's  Office  and
included in the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).  The District's investment in the County's LGIP
represents a proportionate interest in the pool's portfolio; however, the District's portion is not identified
with specific investments.  No oversight is provided for the Cochise County investment pool, nor does the
structure of  the pool provide  for  shares.   Participation  in  the pool  is  involuntary.   The  fair value of  the
investment pool is discussed in note 3.

The District's investments at June 30, 2021 were as follows: 

Rating Rating Agency Amount

Cochise County Treasurer's investment pool Unrated Not applicable $ 4,522,070

37

DRAFT

64



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Cash and investments (continued):

Investments (continued):
The  District  does  not  have  a  formal  investment  policy with  respect  to  credit  risk,  custodial  credit  risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest rate risk or foreign currency risk for investments.

Credit risk ‐ Arizona Revised Statutes have the following requirements for credit risk: 

 Commercial Paper must be of prime quality and be rated within the top two ratings by a nationally

recognized rating agency.

 Specified bonds, debentures and notes must be rated A or better at the time of purchase by at least

two nationally recognized rating agencies.

 Fixed income securities must carry one of the two highest ratings by Moody's Investors Service  and

Standard and Poor's rating service.  If only one of the above‐mentioned services rates the security,

it must carry the highest rating of that service.

Custodial  credit  risk  ‐  the District’s  investment  in  the  County  Treasurer’s  investment  pool  represents  a
proportionate interest in the pool’s portfolio; however, the District’s portion is not identified with specific
investments and is not subject to custodial credit risk.

Concentration  of  credit  risk  ‐  The  Arizona  Revised  Statutes  do  not  include  any  requirements  for
concentration of credit risk.

Interest  rate  risk  ‐  Interest  rate  risk  is  the  risk  that  changes  in  interest  rates  will  adversely  affect  an
investment's fair value.  The Arizona Revised Statutes require that public monies invested in securities and
deposits  have  a maximum maturity  of  5  years.    Investments  in  repurchase  agreements must  have  a
maximum maturity of 180 days.

The weighted average maturity of the County Treasurer’s investment pool varies by type of investment, and
averages between 1 and 2 years. 

Foreign currency risk ‐ The Arizona Revised Statutes do not allow foreign investments unless the investment
is denominated in the United States dollars.

3. Fair value:

The District measures and categorizes its investments using fair value measurement guidelines established by
GAAP.   These guidelines establish a three‐tier hierarchy of  inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value, as follows:

Level 1  ‐  Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices  for  identical assets or  liabilities  in active markets  that  the
District has the ability to access.

38

DRAFT

65



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

3. Fair value (continued):

Level 2 ‐ Inputs, other than quoted market prices included within Level 1, are observable, either directly or
indirectly.  

Level 3 ‐ Inputs are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

Other investments at fair value ‐ Investments for which fair value is measured at net asset value per share
(or its equivalent).  Due to the inherent uncertainty of these estimates, these values may differ materially
from the values that would have been used had a ready market for these investments existed. 

At June 30, 2021, the fair value of investments measured on a recurring basis is as follows:

Fair value

Other
investments
at fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

External investment pools:
Cochise County Treasurer's
Investment Pool $ 4,522,070 $ 4,522,070 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

The  fair value of a participant’s portion  in the Cochise County Treasurer's  investment pool approximates the
value  of  that  participant’s  pool  shares  and  the  participant’s  shares  are  not  identified  with  specific
investments.      The  investment pool  is not  registered with  the  Securities  and Exchange Commission  as  an
investment  company  and  there  is  no  regulatory  oversight  of  its  operations.    There  are  no  unfunded
commitments or redemption restrictions related to these investments.

The  Cochise  County  Treasurer's  investment  pool  invests  primarily  in  certificates  of  deposits,  U.S.  agency
securities and the State's local government investment pool.  

4. Interfund transfers: 

Interfund transfers during the fiscal year are to be used to fund capital purchases of the capital projects fund.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the general fund transferred $14,772 to the capital projects fund. 

39

DRAFT

66



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

5. Capital assets:

Capital asset activity for the period ended June 30, 2021 was as follows. 

Beginning
balance Increases Decreases Ending balance

Capital assets, not depreciated:
Land $ 158,423 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 158,423
Construction in progress ‐ 463,943 ‐ 463,943

Total capital assets, not depreciated 158,423 463,943 ‐ 622,366

Capital assets, depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 1,397,855 ‐ ‐ 1,397,855
Equipment 2,123,132 130,988 ‐ 2,254,120
Vehicles 2,923,899 1,636,394 (216,382) 4,343,911

Total capital assets, depreciated 6,444,886 1,767,382 (216,382) 7,995,886

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (1,057,767) (34,382) ‐ (1,092,149)
Equipment (1,599,712) (70,258) ‐ (1,669,970)
Vehicles (2,218,289) (182,247) 215,088 (2,185,448)

Total accumulated depreciation (4,875,768) (286,887) 215,088 (4,947,567)

Total capital assets, depreciated, net 1,569,118 1,480,495 (1,294) 3,048,319

Total capital assets, net $ 1,727,541 $ 1,944,438 $ (1,294) $ 3,670,685

6. General obligation bonds:

The District, pursuant  to a  special bond election  in November 2016,  received voter approval  to  issue up  to
$10,000,000 in general obligation debt to construct a new fire station and replace equipment and vehicles. 

Series 2019 (A):
In May 2019,  the Series 2019  (A) General Obligation Bonds were  issued by  the District  in  the amount of
$3,780,000. The interest rate ranges from 3% ‐ 4% and the bonds mature July 1, 2038.

The Series 2019 (A) bonds were issued with a premium of $343,554 that is being amortized over the life of
the debt. 

40

DRAFT

67



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

6. General obligation bonds (continued):

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the general obligation bonds are as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 $ 330,000 $ 129,900 $ 459,900
2023 350,000 116,300 466,300
2024 175,000 106,675 281,675
2025 135,000 102,025 237,025
2026 135,000 97,300 232,300

2027 ‐ 2031 605,000 398,400 1,003,400
2032 ‐ 2036 1,100,000 228,100 1,328,100
2037 ‐ 2041 660,000 40,400 700,400

$ 3,490,000 $ 1,219,100 $ 4,709,100

7. Changes in noncurrent liabilities:

A summary of the changes in noncurrent liabilities for the period ended June 30, 2021 was as follows:

Beginning
balance Additions Reductions

Ending
balance

Due within
one year

Compensated absences $ 514,086 $ 198,125 $ (142,623) $ 569,588 $ 198,000
General obligation bonds 3,780,000 ‐ (290,000) 3,490,000 330,000
Unamortized premium 343,554 (20,912) 322,642
Obligations under capital
leases 28,859 ‐ (16,176) 12,683 12,683

Net pension liability 15,665,155 1,870,259 ‐ 17,535,414 ‐
Net OPEB liability 95,470 1,902 ‐ 97,372 ‐

$ 20,427,124 $ 2,070,286 $ (469,711) $ 22,027,699 $ 540,683

The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for pensions and OPEB in prior years. 

41

DRAFT

68



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

8. Line of credit:

The Board of Supervisors of Cochise County, on behalf of the District, established a line of credit in the amount
of $900,000 with a bank that  is managed by the Cochise County Treasurer's Office.   In accordance with the
Arizona Revised Statutes,  the  line of credit can only be drawn on by  the County Treasurer  in order  to pay
warrants  issued  by  the District  to  fund  operations  prior  to  the  collection  of  the  property  tax  levy  in  the
current year.  Interest is payable at the bank's prime rate (3.25% at June 30, 2021) and the line renews every
July 1.  The balance on the line at the beginning and end of the period was $0.  

9. Risk management:

The District  is exposed to various risks of  loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The District carries commercial insurance
for  all  such  risks of  loss,  including workers'  compensation  and  employees' health  and  accident  insurance.
Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past
three fiscal years.

10. Concentrations:

Certain of the District's work force are members of a union, the Fry Firefighters Local 4913.  The District does
not recognize Fry Firefighters Local 4913 as a bargaining unit; however, the District's current relationship with
the Fry Firefighters Local 4913 is on a meet and confer basis.  

11. Commitments and contingencies:

Intergovernmental agreements:
The District  is party  to a variety of  intergovernmental agreements entered  into  in  the ordinary course of
business pursuant to which  it may be obligated to provide services outside of  its geographic boundaries
and/or  receive assistance  from other parties.   As part of  these agreements,  the District  is obligated  to
indemnify  other  parties  for  certain  liabilities  that  arise  out  of,  or  relate  to,  the  subject matter  of  the
agreements.  

Legal proceedings:
From  time  to  time,  the District may be party  to certain pending or  threatened  lawsuits arising out of or
incident  to  the  ordinary  course  of  business  for  which  it  carries  general  liability  and  other  insurance
coverages.  In the opinion of management and based upon consultation with legal counsel, resolution of
any  pending  or  threatened  lawsuits will  not  have  a material  adverse  effect  on  the  District's  financial
statements.

42

DRAFT

69



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits:

The  District  contributes  to  the  Arizona  State  Retirement  System  (ASRS)  and  the  Public  Safety  Personnel
Retirement System (PSPRS).  These plans are component units of the State of Arizona. 

At  June  30,  2021,  the  District  reported  on  the  Statement  of Net  Position  and  Statement  of  Activities  the
following aggregate amounts related to pensions and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) for all plans to
which it contributes:

Governmental
Activities

Net pension and OPEB assets $ 2,122
Net pension and OPEB liabilities 17,632,786
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB 4,802,484
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB 1,048,663
Pension and OPEB expense 2,387,292

The  District  reported  $1,498,562  of  pension  and OPEB  contributions  as  expenditures  in  the  governmental
funds related to all plans to which it contributes. 

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS):
Plan description ‐ District employees not covered by the other pension plan described below participate in
the  Arizona  State  Retirement  System  (ASRS).  The  ASRS  administers  a  cost‐sharing multiple‐employer
defined benefit pension plan, a cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit health insurance premium
benefit  (OPEB)  plan,  and  a  cost‐sharing multiple‐employer  defined  benefit  long‐term  disability  (OPEB)
plan. The Arizona State Retirement System Board governs the ASRS according to the provisions of A.R.S.
Title 38, Chapter 5, Articles 2 and 2.1. The ASRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes its
financial  statements and  required  supplementary  information. The  report  is available on  its website at
www.azasrs.gov.  

Although an ASRS net OPEB asset/liability has been recorded at June 30, 2021, the ASRS OPEB plans have
not been further disclosed due to the relative insignificance to the District's financial statements.  

Benefits  provided  ‐  The  ASRS  provides  retirement,  health  insurance  premium  supplement,  long‐term
disability,  and  survivor  benefits.    State  statute  establishes  benefit  terms.    Retirement  benefits  are
calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

43

DRAFT

70



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Initial membership date:

Before July 1, 2011 On or after July 1, 2011

Years of service and age
required to receive
benefit

Sum of years and age equals 80
10 years age 62
5 years age 50
any years age 65

30 years age 55
25 years age 60
10 years age 62
5 years age 50
any years age 65

Final average salary is
based on 

Highest 36 consecutive months of
last 120 months

Highest 60 consecutive months of
last 120 months

Benefit percent per year
of service

2.1% to 2.3% 2.1% to 2.3%

   
Retirement  benefits  for  members  who  joined  the  ASRS  prior  to  September  13,  2013  are  subject  to
automatic cost‐of‐living adjustments based on excess investment earnings. Members with a membership
date on or after September 13, 2013 are not eligible for cost‐of‐living adjustments. Survivor benefits are
payable upon a member’s death. For retired members, the retirement benefit option chosen determines
the survivor benefit. For all other members, the beneficiary  is entitled to the member’s account balance
that includes the member’s contributions and employer’s contributions, plus interest earned.

Contributions ‐ In accordance with State statutes, annual actuarial valuations determine active member and
employer contribution requirements. The combined active member and employer contribution rates are
expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued  liability. For  the year ended  June 30, 2021,  statute  required active ASRS
members to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 12.22% (12.04% for retirement and 0.18% for
long‐term  disability)  of  the  members’  annual  covered  payroll,  and  statute  required  the  District  to
contribute  at  the  actuarially  determined  rate  of  12.22%  (11.65%  for  retirement,  0.39%  for  health
insurance premium benefit, and 0.18%  for  long‐term disability) of  the active members’ annual covered
payroll.  

The District's contributions  to  the pension plan  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021 were $23,290.   During
fiscal year 2021, the District paid for the ASRS pension and OPEB contributions from the general fund and
VECC fund.

44

DRAFT

71



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Pension liability ‐ At June 30, 2021, the District reported a liability of $296,283 for its proportionate share of
the ASRS’  net  pension  liability.  The  net  pension  liability was measured  as  of  June  30,  2020.  The  total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined using update procedures to roll
forward  the  total pension  liability  from an actuarial valuation as of  June 30, 2019,  to  the measurement
date of  June 30, 2020.   The District’s proportion of  the net pension  liability was based on  the District's
actual contributions to the plan relative to the total of all participating employers’ contributions for the
year ended June 30, 2020. The District’s proportion measured as of June 30, 2020 was 0.00171%, which
was an increase of 0.00171 from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019.

Pension  expense  and  deferred  outflows/inflows  of  resources  ‐  For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021,  the
District recognized pension expense for ASRS of $104,839. At June 30, 2021, the District reported deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 2,680 $ ‐
Changes in assumptions or other inputs ‐ ‐
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 28,577 ‐
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 160,187 ‐
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 23,290 ‐

$ 214,734 $ ‐

The $23,290  reported as deferred outflows of  resources  related  to ASRS pensions  resulting  from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ending June 30, 2022. 

45

DRAFT

72



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Other amounts  reported as deferred outflows of  resources and deferred  inflows of  resources  related  to
ASRS pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ending
June 30,

2022 $ 87,627
2023 84,641
2024 10,337
2025 8,839

$ 191,444

Actuarial assumptions ‐ The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the total pension liability are
as follows:

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2019
Actuarial roll forward date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.5%
Projected salary increases 2.7% ‐ 7.2%
Inflation 2.3%
Permanent benefit increase Included
Mortality rates 2017 SRA Scale U‐MP

Actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2019  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial
experience study for the 5‐year period ended June 30, 2016.

The long‐term expected rate of return on ASRS pension plan investments was determined to be 7.5% using
a building‐block method  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These ranges are combined to produce the long‐term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 

46

DRAFT

73



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
The  target allocation and best estimates of geometric  real  rates of  return  for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long‐term expected

geometric real rate of return

Equity %50 %6.39
Fixed income ‐ credit %20 %5.44
Fixed income ‐ interest rate sensitive %10 %0.22
Real estate %20 %5.85

%100

Discount rate ‐ The discount rate used to measure the ASRS total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection
of  cash  flows  used  to  determine  the  discount  rate  assumed  that  contributions  from  participating
employers will be made based on  the actuarially determined  rates based on  the ASRS Board’s  funding
policy,  which  establishes  the  contractually  required  rate  under  Arizona  statute.    Based  on  those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore,  the  long‐term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.

Sensitivity of the District's proportionate share of the ASRS net pension liability to changes in the discount
rate  ‐ The  following  table presents  the District's proportionate  share of  the net pension  liability  (asset)
calculated using  the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what  the District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (6.5%) or 1% higher
(8.5%) than the current rate:

1% decrease
(6.5%)

Current
discount rate

(7.5%)
1% increase

(8.5%)

District's proportionate share of the net pension
liability $ 405,164 $ 296,283 $ 205,265

Pension plan fiduciary net position ‐ Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued ASRS financial report.

47

DRAFT

74



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS):
Plan descriptions  ‐ District employees who are regularly assigned hazardous duty participate  in the Public
Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) or employees who became members on or after July 1, 2017,
may  participate  in  the  Public  Safety  Personnel  Defined  Contribution  Retirement  Plan  (PSPDCRP).  The
PSPRS administers agent and cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit pension plans and agent and
cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit health  insurance premium benefit  (OPEB) plans. A nine‐
member  board  known  as  the  Board  of  Trustees  and  the  participating  local  boards  govern  the  PSPRS
according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 4. Employees who were PSPRS members
before July 1, 2017, participate in the agent plans, and those who became PSPRS members on or after July
1, 2017, participate  in  the  cost‐sharing plans  (PSPRS  Tier 3 Risk Pool), which  are not  further disclosed
because of their relative insignificance to the District's financial statements.  

The  PSPRS  issues  a  publicly  available  financial  report  that  include  financial  statements  and  required
supplementary information. The reports is available on the PSPRS website at www.psprs.com. 

Benefits provided  ‐ The PSPRS provides retirement, health  insurance premium supplement, disability, and
survivor benefits. State statute establishes benefit terms. Retirement, disability, and survivor benefits are
calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012

On or after January 1,
2012 and before July 1,

2017 On or after July 1, 2017

Years of service
and age required
to receive benefit

20 years of service, any
age

15 years of service, age 62

25 years of service or 15
years of credited service,

age 52.5

15 years of credited
service, age 52.5, 15 or

more years of service, age
55

Final average
salary is based on

Highest 36 consecutive
months of last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive
months of last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive
months of last 15 years

Benefit percent:

Normal
retirement

50% less 2.0% for each
year of credited service

less than 20 years OR plus
2.0% to 2.5% for each
year of credited service
over 20 years, not to

exceed 80%

1.5% to 2.5% per year of credited service, not to
exceed 80%

48

DRAFT

75



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012
On or after January 1, 2012
and before July 1, 2017 On or after July 1, 2017

Accidental
disability
retirement

50% or normal retirement, whichever is greater

Catastrophic
disability
retirement

90% for the first 60 months then reduced to either 62.5% or normal retirement,
whichever is greater

Ordinary
disability
retirement

Normal retirement calculated with actual years of credited service or 20 years of
credited service, whichever is greater, multiplied by years of credited service (not

to exceed 20 years) divided by 20
Survivor benefit:

Retired members 80% to 100% of retired member’s pension benefit

Active member 80% to 100% of accidental disability retirement benefit or 100% of average
monthly compensation if death was the result of injuries received on the job

Retirement  and  survivor benefits  are  subject  to  automatic  cost‐of‐living  adjustments based on  inflation.
PSPRS also provides temporary disability benefits of 50 percent of the member’s compensation for up to
12 months.

Health  insurance premium benefits are available to retired or disabled members with 5 years of credited
service. The benefits are payable only with respect to allowable health insurance premiums for which the
member is responsible. Benefits range from $100 per month to $260 per month depending on the age of
the member and dependents.

Employees covered by benefit terms ‐ At June 30, 2021, the following employees were covered by the agent
pension plan benefit terms:

Pension Health

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 25 25
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3 1
Active employees 32 32

60 58

49

DRAFT

76



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Contributions ‐ State statutes establish the pension contribution requirements for active PSPRS employees.
In  accordance  with  State  statutes,  annual  actuarial  valuations  determine  employer  contribution
requirements for PSPRS pension and health  insurance premium benefits.   The combined active member
and employer contribution rates are expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the
year,  with  an  additional  amount  to  finance  any  unfunded  accrued  liability.  Contribution  rates  are  a
percentage of active members’ annual covered payroll.

Active members ‐ pension 7.65% ‐ 11.65%
District:
Pension %49.51
Health insurance %0.64

In addition,  the District  is  required  to  contribute at  the actuarially determined  rate of 33.61% of annual
covered  payroll  of  retired members who worked  for  the  District  in  positions  that  an  employee who
contributes to the PSPRS would typically fill and of employees participating  in the PSPRS Tier 3 Risk Pool
and PSPDCRP members  in addition to the District’s required contributions to the PSPRS Tier 3 Risk Pool
and PSPDCRP. 

The District's  contributions  to  the pension plan  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021 were $1,435,936, and
contributions to the OPEB plan were $18,678.   During fiscal year 2021, the District paid for the pension
and OPEB contributions from the general fund.

Liability (asset) ‐ At June 30, 2021, the District reported net pension liability of $17,238,648 and a net OPEB
liability of $96,060.     The net  liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2020 and the total  liability used to
calculate the net liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial  assumptions  ‐  The  significant  actuarial  assumptions  used  to measure  the  total  pension/OPEB
liability are as follows:

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.3%
Wage inflation 3.5% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Price inflation 2.5% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Cost‐of‐living adjustment 1.75% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Mortality rates PubS‐2010 tables
Healthcare cost trend rate Not applicable

50

DRAFT

77



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2020  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial
experience study for the 5‐year period ended June 30, 2017.

The long‐term expected rate of return on PSPRS pension plan investments was determined to be 7.3% using
a building‐block method  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

The  target allocation and best estimates of geometric  real  rates of  return  for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long‐term expected

geometric real rate of return

U.S. public equity %23 %4.93
International public equity %15 %6.09
Global private equity %18 %8.42
Other assets (capital appreciation) %7 %5.61
Core bonds %2 %0.22
Private credit %22 %5.31
Diversifying strategies %12 %3.22
Cash ‐ Mellon %1 %(0.60)

%100

Discount rate  ‐   At June 30, 2020, the discount rate used to measure the total pension/OPEB  liability was
7.30%.    The projection of  cash  flows used  to determine  the discount  rate  assumed  that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made
at  rates equal  to  the difference between  the actuarially determined contribution  rate and  the member
rate. Based on those assumptions, the plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long‐term expected rate of
return on plan  investments was applied  to all periods of projected benefit payments  to determine  the
total pension/OPEB liability.

51

DRAFT

78



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Changes in the net pension liability ‐ 

Total pension
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary
net position

(b)

Net pension
liability
(a) ‐ (b)

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 27,699,543 $ 12,034,388 $ 15,665,155

Adjustment to beginning of year ‐ (75,239) 75,239

Changes for the year:
Service cost 590,218 ‐ 590,218
Interest on the total pension liability 2,016,399 ‐ 2,016,399
Differences between expected and actual
experience in the measurement of the
pension liability 464,888 ‐ 464,888

Contributions ‐ employer ‐ 1,228,795 (1,228,795)
Contributions ‐ employee ‐ 218,825 (218,825)
Net investment income ‐ 154,945 (154,945)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,335,708) ‐

Administrative expense ‐ (12,637) 12,637
Other changes ‐ (16,677) 16,677

Net changes 1,735,797 237,543 1,498,254

Balances at June 30, 2021 $ 29,435,340 $ 12,196,692 $ 17,238,648

52

DRAFT

79



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Changes in the net OPEB liability ‐ 

Total OPEB
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary
net position

(b)

Net OPEB
liability
(a) ‐ (b)

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 480,631 $ 385,161 $ 95,470

Adjustment to beginning of year ‐ ‐ ‐

Changes for the year:
Service cost 11,926 ‐ 11,926
Interest on the total OPEB liability 35,493 ‐ 35,493
Differences between expected and actual
experience in the measurement of the
OPEB liability (23,983) ‐ (23,983)

Contributions ‐ employer ‐ 18,490 (18,490)
Net investment income ‐ 4,742 (4,742)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (25,842) (25,842) ‐

Administrative expense ‐ (386) 386

Net changes (2,406) (2,996) 590

Balances at June 30, 2021 $ 478,225 $ 382,165 $ 96,060

Sensitivity of the District’s net pension/OPEB (asset) liability to changes in the discount rate ‐ The following
table presents the District’s net pension/OPEB (assets) liabilities calculated using the discount rate noted
above, as well as what the District's net pension/OPEB (asset) liability would be if it were calculated using
a  discount  rate  that  is  1  percentage  point  lower  (6.3%)  or  1  percentage  point  higher  (8.3%)  than  the
current rate:

1% decrease
(6.3%)

Current
discount rate

(7.3%)
1% increase

(8.3%)

District's net pension liability  $ 21,551,654 $ 17,238,648 $ 13,760,243

District's net OPEB liability $ 151,833 $ 96,060 $ 49,362

Plan fiduciary net position  ‐ Detailed  information about the plans' fiduciary net position  is available  in the
separately issued PSPRS financial report.

53

DRAFT

80



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Expense  ‐  For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021,  the  District  recognized  pension  expense  for  PSPRS  of
$1,435,936 and OPEB expense of $19,518.

Deferred  outflows/inflows  of  resources  ‐  At  June  30,  2021,  the  District  reported  deferred  outflows  of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB from the following sources:

Pension Health

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Differences between expected and
actual experience $ 733,660 $ 941,667 $ ‐ $ 98,509

Changes in assumptions 1,671,621 ‐ 6,390 3,979
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on plan investments 659,661 ‐ 20,485 ‐

Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,435,936 ‐ 18,678 ‐

$ 4,500,878 $ 941,667 $ 45,553 $ 102,488

The  amounts  reported  as  deferred  outflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions  and OPEB  resulting  from
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an  increase  in the net
asset  or  a  reduction of  the net  liability  in  the  year  ending  June  30,  2022. Other  amounts  reported  as
deferred outflows of  resources and deferred  inflows of  resources  related  to pensions and OPEB will be
recognized as expenses as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Pension Health

2022 $ 588,914 $ (14,933)
2023 588,915 (12,159)
2024 503,264 (12,466)
2025 335,544 (12,737)
2026 40,225 (11,659)

Thereafter 66,413 (11,659)

$ 2,123,275 $ (75,613)

54

DRAFT

81



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
PSPDCRP  plan  – District  employees who  are  regularly  assigned  hazardous  duty  and  aren’t members  of
PSPRS participate in the PSPDCRP. The PSPDCRP is a defined contribution pension plan. The PSPRS Board
of  Trustees  governs  the PSPDCRP  according  to  the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 4.1.
Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, are established by State statute. 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, active PSPDCRP members were required by statute to contribute at least
9 percent of the members’ annual covered payroll, and the District was required by statute to contribute 9
percent of  active members’  annual  covered payroll  to  an  individual employee  account. Employees  are
immediately vested in their own contributions and the earnings on those contributions. Employees vest in
a  portion  of  the District’s  contributions  each  year  as  set  forth  in  statute.  The  plan  retains  nonvested
District contributions when forfeited because of employment terminations.

13. Subsequent events:

In September 2021, the Governing Board approved a Resolution to issue Certificates of Participation (COPs) not
to exceed $18,000,000 in principal amount.  COPs are debt instruments representing a fractional share of the
District's  interest  in a  tax‐exempt  lease marketed  to  investors.   The District will use the proceeds  from the
COPs to reduce the District's unfunded pension  liability with PSPRS.    In November 2021, the District  issued
$17,360,000 of COPs.  

55

DRAFT

82



Required Supplementary Information

DRAFT

83



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE ‐
BUDGET TO ACTUAL ‐ GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Budgeted amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance with
final budget

Revenues:
Property taxes $ 3,934,985 $ 3,934,985 $ 3,911,049 $ (23,936)
Fire district assistance tax 400,000 400,000 397,163 (2,837)
Charges for services 1,637,000 1,637,000 2,572,572 935,572
Grants and contributions 132,115 132,115 79,946 (52,169)
Rental income 61,200 61,200 82,006 20,806
Investment earnings 14,000 14,000 10,758 (3,242)
Other 37,021 37,021 67,674 30,653

Total revenues 6,216,321 6,216,321 7,121,168 904,847

Expenditures:
Public safety:

Emergency operations 5,272,859 5,272,859 5,176,744 (96,115)
Administration 834,980 834,980 1,008,008 173,028

Capital outlay ‐ ‐ 604,667 604,667
Debt service ‐ ‐ 16,176 16,176

Total expenditures 6,107,839 6,107,839 6,805,595 697,756

Revenues over expenditures 108,482 108,482 315,573 207,091

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (108,482) (108,482) (14,772) 93,710
Proceeds from sale of capital assets ‐ ‐ 57,300 57,300

Total other financing uses (108,482) (108,482) 42,528 151,010

Net change in fund balance ‐ ‐ 358,101 358,101

Fund balance, beginning of year ‐ ‐ 2,529,291 2,529,291

Fund balance, end of year $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 2,887,392 $ 2,887,392

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information  57

DRAFT

84



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION/OPEB LIABILITY ‐ COST SHARING PLAN (ASRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

ASRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2021, which was the first year of participation in this plan)

Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

District's proportion of the net pension
liability %0.001710 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability $ 296,283 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 65,790 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability as a percentage of its
covered employee payroll %450 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability %69 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 58

DRAFT

85



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS ‐ AGENT RETIREMENT PLAN (PSPRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(schedule to be built prospectively from 2015;  2014 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

Total pension liability
Service cost $ 590,218 $ 612,790 $ 591,000 $ 616,597 $ 507,061 $ 509,210 $ 522,125 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Interest 2,016,399 1,967,644 1,873,329 1,678,985 1,556,320 1,497,010 1,285,538 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit changes ‐ ‐ ‐ 290,508 595,933 ‐ 448,678 ‐ ‐ ‐
Difference between expected and actual
experience 464,888 (842,004) (175,939) 686,270 (30,760) (255,469) (900,170) ‐ ‐ ‐

Assumption changes ‐ 658,689 ‐ 864,466 921,105 ‐ 2,380,341 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,349,142) (1,313,153) (1,077,321) (1,010,072) (978,195) (1,094,095) ‐ ‐ ‐

Net change in total pension liability 1,735,797 1,047,977 975,237 3,059,505 2,539,587 772,556 2,642,417 ‐ ‐ ‐
Total pension liability, beginning 27,699,543 26,651,566 25,676,329 22,616,824 20,077,237 19,304,681 16,662,264 ‐ ‐ ‐

Total pension liability, ending (a) $ 29,435,340 $ 27,699,543 $ 26,651,566 $ 25,676,329 $ 22,616,824 $ 20,077,237 $ 19,304,681 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position
Adjustment to beginning of year $ (75,239) $ (16,296) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions ‐ employer 1,228,795 1,208,155 1,495,352 1,068,196 1,072,871 835,895 717,789 ‐ ‐ ‐
Contributions ‐ employee 218,825 224,395 235,228 555,844 419,779 309,556 271,334 ‐ ‐ ‐
Pension plan net investment income 154,945 619,085 722,050 1,085,217 51,388 301,225 999,067 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,349,142) (1,313,153) (1,077,321) (1,010,072) (978,195) (1,094,095) ‐ ‐ ‐

Hall/Parker settlement ‐ ‐ (395,688) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Administrative expenses (12,637) (11,760) (11,689) (10,002) (7,794) (7,735) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Other (16,677) ‐ 13,023 (25,045) (128,692) 24,156 (320,635) ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in fiduciary net position 162,304 674,437 745,123 1,596,889 397,480 484,902 573,460 ‐ ‐ ‐
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 12,034,388 11,359,951 10,614,828 9,017,939 8,620,459 8,135,557 7,562,097 ‐ ‐ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) $ 12,196,692 $ 12,034,388 $ 11,359,951 $ 10,614,828 $ 9,017,939 $ 8,620,459 $ 8,135,557 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net pension liability, ending (a) ‐ (b) $ 17,238,648 $ 15,665,155 $ 15,291,615 $ 15,061,501 $ 13,598,885 $ 11,456,778 $ 11,169,124 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability %41.44 %43.45 %42.62 %41.34 %39.87 %43.94 %42.14 %‐ %‐ %‐

Covered valuation payroll $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ 2,617,767 $ 2,765,466 $ 2,595,862 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net pension liability as a percentage of
covered valuation payroll %723.33 %629.19 %581.91 %576.47 %519.48 %414.28 %430.27 %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 59

DRAFT

86



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS ‐ AGENT RETIREMENT PLAN (PSPRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(schedule to be built prospectively from 2018;  2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

Total OPEB liability
Service cost $ 11,926 $ 8,146 $ 8,409 $ 9,144 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Interest on total OPEB liability 35,493 38,568 38,903 39,443 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Changes of benefit changes ‐ ‐ ‐ 22 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Difference between expected and actual
experience (23,983) (74,384) (28,926) (12,200) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Assumption changes ‐ 8,518 ‐ (8,007) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments (25,842) (26,533) (27,153) (29,318) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in total OPEB liability (2,406) (45,685) (8,767) (916) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total OPEB liability, beginning 480,631 526,316 535,083 535,999 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total OPEB liability, ending (a) $ 478,225 $ 480,631 $ 526,316 $ 535,083 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position
Adjustment to beginning of year $ ‐ $ 16,296 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions ‐ employer 18,490 20,207 7,396 21,000 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Contributions ‐ employee ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net investment income 4,742 19,171 23,824 37,794 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments (25,842) (26,533) (27,153) (29,318) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Administrative expenses (386) (331) (363) (335) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Other ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in fiduciary net position (2,996) 28,810 3,704 29,141 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 385,161 356,351 352,647 323,506 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) $ 382,165 $ 385,161 $ 356,351 $ 352,647 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net OPEB liability (asset), ending (a) ‐ (b) $ 96,060 $ 95,470 $ 169,965 $ 182,436 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total OPEB liability %79.91 %80.14 %67.71 %65.91 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Covered valuation payroll $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered valuation payroll %4.03 %3.83 %6.47 %6.98 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 60

DRAFT

87



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION/OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

ASRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2021, which was the first year of participation in this plan)

Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 23,290 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 23,290 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 199,914 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %11.65 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 61

DRAFT

88



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION/OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

PSPRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2018; 2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 1,435,936 $ 1,208,155 $ 1,495,352 $ 1,068,196 $ 1,072,871 $ 835,895 $ 717,789 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 1,435,936 1,208,155 1,495,352 976,189 1,072,871 835,895 717,789 ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 92,007 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 2,900,880 $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ 2,617,767 $ 2,765,466 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %49.50 %48.53 %56.90 %37.36 %40.98 %30.23 %27.65 %‐ %‐ %‐

PSPRS Health (schedule to be built prospectively from 2018; 2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 18,678 $ 20,207 $ 7,396 $ 21,000 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 18,678 20,207 7,396 21,000 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 2,900,880 $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %0.64 %0.81 %0.28 %0.80 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 62

DRAFT

89



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Budgetary basis of accounting:

The District prepares  its annual budget on  the modified accrual basis of accounting. The  level of budgetary
control  is at the  fund  level.   A budgetary comparison schedule  for the general fund  is  included as required
supplementary information to provide meaningful comparison of actual results to budget on a budget basis.

2. Pension and OPEB plan schedules:

Actuarially determined contribution rates:
Actuarial determined contribution rates for PSPRS are calculated as of June 30 two years prior to the end of
the fiscal year in which contributions are made.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used to establish
the contribution requirements are as follows:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percent‐of‐pay, closed

Remaining amortization period as of the 2019
actuarial valuation

17 years

Asset valuation method 7‐year smoothed market; 80%/120% corridor

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return PSPRS  members  with  initial  membership  date  before
July  1,  2017:  In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  the
investment rate of return was decreased from 7.5% to
7.4%.  In  the 2016 actuarial valuation,  the  investment
rate of return was decreased from 7.85% to 7.5%.    In
the  2013  actuarial  valuation,  the  investment  rate  of
return  was  decreased  from  8.0%  to  7.85%.  PSPRS
members with  initial membership on or  after  July 1,
2017: 7%

Salary increase In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  projected  salary
increases were decreased from 4.0%  ‐ 8.0% to 3.5%  ‐
7.5%. In the 2014 actuarial valuation, projected salary
increases were decreased from 4.5% – 8.5% to 4.0% –
8.0%. In the 2013 actuarial valuation, projected salary
increases were decreased from 5.0% – 9.0% to 4.5% –
8.5%.

63

DRAFT

90



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Pension and OPEB plan schedules (continued):

Actuarially determined contribution rates (continued):

Wage growth In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  wage  growth  was
decreased  from  4%  to  3.5%.  In  the  2014  actuarial
valuation, wage growth was decreased  from 4.5%  to
4.0%.    In  the  2013  actuarial  valuation, wage  growth
was decreased from 5.0% to 4.5%.

Retirement age Experience‐based  table  of  rates  that  is  specific  to  the
type of eligibility condition.  Last updated for the 2012
valuation  pursuant  to  an  experience  study  of  the
period July 1, 2006 ‐ June 30, 2011.

Mortality In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  changed  to  RP‐2014
tables,  with  75%  of  MP‐2016  fully  generational
projection scales. RP‐2000 mortality table (adjusted by
105% for both males and females).

Factors that affect trends:
Arizona courts have ruled that provisions of a 2011 law that changed the mechanism for funding permanent
pension benefit increases and increased employee pension contribution rates were unconstitutional or a
breach  of  contract  because  those  provisions  apply  to  individuals who were members  as  of  the  law’s
effective date. As a result,  the PSPRS changed benefit  terms  to reflect  the prior mechanism  for  funding
permanent  benefit  increases  for  those members  and  revised  actuarial  assumptions  to  explicitly  value
future permanent benefit  increases. PSPRS also  reduced  those members’ employee  contribution  rates.
These changes are reflected in the plans’ pension liabilities for fiscal year 2015 (measurement date 2014)
for members who were  retired as of  the  law’s effective date and  fiscal  year 2018  (measurement date
2017) for members who retired or will retire after the law’s effective date. These changes also increased
the PSPRS‐required pension contributions beginning in fiscal year 2016 for members who were retired as
of the  law’s effective date. These changes  increased the PSPRS‐required contributions beginning  in fiscal
year 2019 for members who retired or will retire after the law’s effective date.  Also, the District refunded
excess  employee  contributions  to  PSPRS  members.  PSPRS  allowed  the  District  to  reduce  its  actual
employer contributions for the refund amounts. As a result, the District's pension contributions were less
than the actuarially or statutorily determined contributions for 2018 and 2019.

64

DRAFT

91



STATISTICAL SECTION

DRAFT

92



Statistical Section

This part of the comprehensive annual financial report of the District presents detailed information as a context for
understanding  what  the  information  in  the  financial  statements,  note  disclosures,  and  required  supplementary
information says about the government's overall financial health of the District.

This section contains the following tables and information:

Financial Trends
These schedules contain  trend  information  to help the reader understand how the  financial performance
and well‐being of the District have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the most significant local revenue source of
the District – the property tax.

Debt Capacity 
These  schedules present  information  to help  the  reader  assess  the  affordability of  the  current  levels of
outstanding debt of the District and its ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information 
These  schedules  offer  demographic  and  economic  indicators  to  help  the  reader  understand  the
environment within which the financial activities of the District take place.

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information
in  the  financial  report  of  the  District  relates  to  the  services  the District  provides  and  the  activities  it
performs.

66

DRAFT

93



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Governmental Activities
Net investments in capital assets $ 1,757,056 $ 1,170,035 $ 1,629,177 $ 1,331,151 $ 1,363,051 $ 1,549,843 $ 1,545,516 $ 1,774,859 $ 2,023,726 $ 2,275,396
Restricted 441,264 430,877 3,641,003 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Unrestricted (9,561,229) (9,160,888) (12,891,684) (8,871,169) 2,331,387 2,827,055 2,669,453 2,400,368 2,293,515 2,181,561

Total governmental activities
net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ (7,621,504) $ (7,540,018) $ 3,694,438 $ 4,376,898 $ 4,214,969 $ 4,175,227 $ 4,317,241 $ 4,456,957

Source: District financial records.

67

DRAFT

94



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Expenses
Governmental activities:
Public Safety $ 7,415,871 $ 6,613,013 $ 6,530,095 $ 6,557,014 $ 6,340,914 $ 5,918,573 $ 5,718,176 $ 5,477,159 $ 5,575,194 $ 5,516,911
Interest on long‐term debt 115,588 144,148 37,647 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total primary government
expenses 7,531,459 6,757,161 6,567,742 6,557,014 6,340,914 5,918,573 5,718,176 5,477,159 5,575,194 5,516,911

Program revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for services 2,610,508 1,680,714 1,919,321 1,825,060 1,686,666 1,849,130 1,644,211 1,293,637 1,256,441 1,411,105
Capital grants and contributions ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 66,684 15,546 ‐ ‐
Operating grants and contributions 79,946 216,413 282,787 122,303 66,885 270,288 40,016 ‐ 33,052 84,390
Rental income 82,006 69,531 64,961 76,196 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total primary government
program revenues 2,772,460 1,966,658 2,267,069 2,023,559 1,753,551 2,119,418 1,750,911 1,309,183 1,289,493 1,495,495
Total primary government net
expenses (4,758,999) (4,790,503) (4,300,673) (4,533,455) (4,587,363) (3,799,155) (3,967,265) (4,167,976) (4,285,701) (4,021,416)

General revenues and other changes in net position
Property taxes 4,397,177 4,257,433 3,700,665 3,589,758 3,439,944 3,493,819 3,536,633 3,567,332 3,662,339 3,731,391
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 400,000 405,384 395,683 398,028 386,269 400,744 396,206 390,400 296,031
Investment earnings 38,046 127,554 48,841 25,603 15,001 16,627 14,299 9,912 14,141 15,025
Other 67,674 49,134 64,297 25,562 51,931 64,369 55,331 52,513 49,105 79,813
Gain on sale of capital assets 56,006 17,910 ‐ 16,200 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377
Total primary government 4,956,066 4,852,031 4,219,187 4,052,806 3,904,904 3,961,084 4,007,007 4,025,963 4,145,985 4,131,637

Change in net position

Total primary government $ 197,067 $ 61,528 $ (81,486) $ (480,649) $ (682,459) $ 161,929 $ 39,742 $ (142,013) $ (139,716) $ 110,221

Source: District financial records.

68

DRAFT

95



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

General fund
Nonspendable $ 48,257 $ 43,304 $ 24,616 $ 51,053 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Restricted ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Committed ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Assigned 395,982 394,032 320,994 320,753 508,114 505,156 501,707 458,782 455,560 453,354
Unassigned 2,443,153 2,091,955 1,330,514 1,192,479 448,214 954,845 958,009 837,498 678,206 532,831

Total general fund $ 2,887,392 $ 2,529,291 $ 1,676,124 $ 1,564,285 $ 956,328 $ 1,460,001 $ 1,459,716 $ 1,296,280 $ 1,133,766 $ 986,185

All other governmental funds
Nonspendable $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Restricted 2,352,960 3,946,730 3,641,003 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Committed ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Assigned 1,706,110 1,705,463 1,819,794 1,333,951 1,375,059 1,367,054 1,209,737 1,104,088 1,159,749 1,195,376
Unassigned ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total all other governmental
funds $ 4,059,070 $ 5,652,193 $ 5,460,797 $ 1,333,951 $ 1,375,059 $ 1,367,054 $ 1,209,737 $ 1,104,088 $ 1,159,749 $ 1,195,376

Source: District financial records.

69

DRAFT

96



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DEBT SERVICE RATIO

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Revenues
Property taxes $ 4,401,374 $ 4,259,655 $ 3,706,483 $ 3,601,835 $ 3,439,944 $ 3,493,819 $ 3,536,633 $ 3,567,332 $ 3,662,339 $ 3,731,391
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 400,000 405,384 395,683 398,028 386,269 400,744 396,206 390,400 296,031
Grants and contributions 79,946 1,756,445 1,875,590 1,693,493 1,686,666 1,849,130 1,644,211 1,293,637 1,256,441 1,411,105
Charges for services 2,572,572 216,413 282,787 122,303 66,884 270,288 106,700 15,546 33,052 84,390
Rental income 82,006 69,531 64,961 76,196 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Investment earnings 38,046 127,554 48,841 25,603 30,725 16,627 14,299 9,912 14,141 15,025
Other 67,674 49,134 64,297 25,562 36,207 64,368 55,331 52,512 49,105 79,813

Total revenues 7,638,781 6,878,732 6,448,343 5,940,675 5,658,454 6,080,501 5,757,918 5,335,145 5,405,478 5,617,755

Expenditures
Public Safety 6,184,752 5,468,678 5,808,575 5,471,293 6,115,230 5,639,906 5,396,687 5,134,213 5,214,643 5,292,620
Capital outlay 2,231,325 315,613 140,317 562,855 38,892 282,993 92,146 94,079 108,881 372,251
Debt service:
Principal 306,176 15,988 371,522 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Interest  208,850 96,647 12,798 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total expenditures 8,931,103 5,896,926 6,333,212 6,034,148 6,154,122 5,922,899 5,488,833 5,228,292 5,323,524 5,664,871
Revenues under expenditures (1,292,322) 981,806 115,131 (93,473) (495,668) 157,602 269,085 106,853 81,954 (47,116)

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 57,300 17,910 ‐ 16,200 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377
Issuance of bonds payable ‐ ‐ 4,123,554 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Issuance of capital lease obligations ‐ 44,847 ‐ 371,522 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total other financing sources (uses) 57,300 62,757 4,123,554 387,722 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377

Net change in fund balances $ (1,235,022) $ 1,044,563 $ 4,238,685 $ 294,249 $ (495,668) $ 157,602 $ 269,085 $ 106,853 $ 111,954 $ (37,739)

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures %7.69 %2.06 %6.62 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Source: District financial records.

70

DRAFT

97



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

ASSESSED AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Total

Fiscal year

Commercial,
Industrial,
Utilities, &
Mines

Agriculture &
Vacant

Residential
(owner

occupied)
Residential
(rental) Railroad

Less: Tax
exempt real
property

Taxable
assessed value

Direct tax
rate

Estimated real
market value

Assessed
value as a %
of actual
value

2012 $ 20,582,621 $ 21,170,704 $ 102,856,540 $ 6,929,009 $ ‐ $ 6,198,878 $ 145,339,996 $ 2.6832 $1,333,084,503 %10.90

2013 16,360,731 19,346,610 82,940,206 20,526,216 ‐ 6,249,891 132,923,872 2.7500 1,237,378,282 10.74

2014 19,373,446 16,464,041 79,031,869 20,384,252 ‐ 5,724,253 129,529,355 2.7600 1,196,973,892 10.82

2015 18,800,847 16,308,417 74,532,830 20,057,071 ‐ 5,556,214 124,142,951 2.8116 1,146,827,506 10.82

2016 16,742,560 10,730,611 75,658,843 20,376,671 ‐ 5,688,992 117,819,693 2.9777 1,108,866,479 10.63

2017 16,018,265 9,945,268 75,592,953 19,392,028 ‐ 5,389,080 115,559,434 3.0164 1,096,737,047 10.54

2018 15,784,644 9,481,830 75,527,077 18,843,544 ‐ 5,451,461 114,185,634 3.1476 1,094,063,958 10.44

2019 15,842,537 9,448,058 77,376,346 19,496,477 ‐ 5,896,078 116,267,340 3.1999 1,114,676,687 10.43

2020 15,084,321 13,511,756 78,383,343 17,862,742 ‐ 5,694,313 119,147,849 3.1999 1,136,746,903 10.48

2021 15,453,294 12,944,957 81,657,989 18,219,083 ‐ 5,303,194 122,972,129 3.1999 1,171,242,438 10.50

Source: Cochise County Tax Assessor

71

DRAFT

98



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PROPERTY TAX RATES ‐ ALL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Overlapping Rates

Fiscal year
Fry Fire
District

Fry Fire
District Debt

Service Total District
Cochise
County

State School
Tax

Equalization

Palominas
School
District

Cochise
County
Junior
College

Cochise
County
Library
District

Cochise
County

Flood Plain
Division

Mobile
Home

Relocation
Fund

Total direct
and

overlapping
rates

2012 $ 2.6832 $ ‐ $ 2.6832 $ 2.6276 $ 0.4259 $ 4.3349 $ 1.6657 $ 0.1451 $ 0.2597 $ 0.5000 $ 12.6421

2013 2.7500 ‐ 2.7500 2.6276 0.4717 4.5133 1.7329 0.1451 0.2597 0.5000 13.0003

2014 2.7600 ‐ 2.7600 2.6276 0.5123 5.2765 1.8508 0.1451 0.2597 0.5000 13.9320

2015 2.8116 ‐ 2.8116 2.6276 0.5089 6.8185 2.0329 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.2043

2016 2.9777 ‐ 2.9777 2.6276 0.5054 6.8185 2.1756 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.5096

2017 3.0164 ‐ 3.0164 2.6276 0.5010 5.4687 2.2860 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 14.3045

2018 3.1476 ‐ 3.1476 2.6747 0.4875 5.9803 2.3735 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0684

2019 3.1999 ‐ 3.1999 2.6747 0.4741 5.8534 2.4023 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0092

2020 3.1999 0.3977 3.5976 2.6747 0.4566 5.6027 2.4516 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.1880

2021 3.1999 0.3907 3.5906 2.6747 0.4426 5.5340 2.4020 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0487

Source: Cochise County Tax Assessor

72

DRAFT

99



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

June 30, 2021

Taxpayer Type of business Assessed value
Percent of total

assessed valuation

Sulpher Springs Valley Electric Utility $ 1,395,219 %1.13
WAA GST Exempt Trust Real Estate 1,253,560 1.02
4029 Golden LLC. Real Estate 652,816 0.53
Southwest Gas Corporation (T&D) Utility 594,310 0.48
Pueblo Del Sol Water Company Utility 590,499 0.48
Qwest Corporation Telecommunications 465,514 0.38
Haymore Plaza Associates Real Estate 396,000 0.32
Stewart Title & Trust Real Estate 371,429 0.30
Boyd Sierra Vista GSA, LLC Real Estate 369,575 0.30
Lively Living Trust Real Estate 311,443 0.25

$ 6,400,365 %5.19

Total assessed value $ 122,972,129

June 30, 2012 

Taxpayer Type of business Assessed value
Percent of total

assessed valuation

Sulpher Springs Valley Electric Utility $ 1,395,219 %0.96
WAA GST Exempt Trust Real Estate 1,253,560 0.86
4029 Golden LLC. Real Estate 652,816 0.45
Southwest Gas Corporation (T&D) Utility 594,310 0.41
Pueblo Del Sol Water Company Utility 590,499 0.41
Qwest Corporation Telecommunications 465,514 0.32
Haymore Plaza Associates Real Estate 396,000 0.27
Stewart Title & Trust Real Estate 371,429 0.26
Boyd Sierra Vista GSA, LLC Real Estate 369,575 0.25
Lively Living Trust Real Estate 311,443 0.21

$ 6,400,365 %4.40

Total assessed value $ 145,339,996

Source: Cochise County Assessor

73

DRAFT

100



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collected within the fiscal year of
the levy Total collections to date

Fiscal year
Operating property

tax levy Tax roll corrections
Property tax levy

(adjusted) Amount % of levy
Collections in

subsequent years Amount % of levy

2012 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐

2013 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2014 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2015 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2016 3,499,659 (78) 3,499,581 3,493,819 99.8 3,161 3,496,980 99.9

2017 3,467,392 (119) 3,467,273 3,439,944 99.2 24,816 3,464,760 99.9

2018 3,591,348 245 3,591,593 3,460,354 96.4 128,055 3,588,409 99.9

2019 3,703,000 (426) 3,702,574 3,598,410 97.2 100,057 3,698,467 99.9

2020* 4,264,840 (409) 4,264,431 4,150,316 97.3 108,440 4,258,756 99.9

2021 4,390,118 ‐ 4,390,118 4,302,627 98.0 ‐ 4,302,627 98.0

Source: Cochise County Treasurer

Note: Information from fiscal year 2012 through 2015 could not be obtained.  This schedule will be completed prospectively from fiscal year 2016 forward.

*‐ First year for Debt Service Fund Levy

74

DRAFT

101



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

General obligation bonds Total outstanding debt

Fiscal year Outstanding Legal limit
Capital lease

debt Amount
Percentage of

personal income Debt per capita

2012 $ ‐ $ 8,764,244 $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐ ‐

2013 ‐ 7,996,052 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2014 ‐ 7,771,761 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2015 ‐ 7,448,577 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2016 ‐ 7,078,800 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2017 ‐ 6,933,566 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2018 ‐ 6,851,138 371,522 371,522 0.01 2.89

2019 4,123,554 6,976,046 ‐ 4,123,554 0.08 31.64

2020 4,123,554 7,132,671 28,859 4,152,413 0.06 31.74

2021 3,812,642 7,378,828 12,683 3,825,325 0.01 29.14

Source: Personal income and population information can be found in the Demographic and Economic Statistics.

75

DRAFT

102



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

Governmental Unit

Debt outstanding
at June 30, 
2020 *

Estimated
percentage
applicable

Estimated share
of overlapping

debt

Debt repaid with property taxes:

Cochise County $ 128,552,832 %23.86 $ 30,672,536

Palominas School District 153,439 23.86 36,610

Cochise County Junior College 19,690,000 23.86 4,698,008

Subtotal, overlapping debt 35,407,154

Fry Fire District direct debt 3,825,325

Total direct and overlapping debt $ 39,232,479

Note:  Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographical boundaries of the
District.   This Schedule estimates  the portion of  the outstanding debt of  those overlapping governments  that  is
borne by the residents and businesses of the District.  The process recognizes that, when considering the District's
ability to issue and repay long‐term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be
taken into account.  However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for
repaying the debt, of each overlapping government.

Source: Arizona Department of Administration

* Outstanding debt as of June 30, 2020 is the most recent information available.

76

DRAFT

103



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Net assessed value $122,972,129 $118,877,849 $116,267,430 $114,185,635 $115,559,434 $117,979,998 $124,142,951 $129,529,355 $133,267,537 $146,070,727

Debt limit rate %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6

Debt limit 7,378,328 7,132,671 6,976,046 6,851,138 6,933,566 7,078,800 7,448,577 7,771,761 7,996,052 8,764,244
Less bond and lease obligations (3,825,325) (4,152,413) (4,123,554) (371,522) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Legal debt margin $ 3,553,003 $ 2,980,258 $ 2,852,492 $ 6,479,616 $ 6,933,566 $ 7,078,800 $ 7,448,577 $ 7,771,761 $ 7,996,052 $ 8,764,244

Total net debt applicable to the
limit as a percentage of debt
limit %51.85 %58.22 %59.11 %5.42 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

77

DRAFT

104



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year
Population

(Cochise County)
Personal income

(thousands of dollars)
Per capita income
(Cochise County)

Unemployment rate
(Cochise County)

2012 130,537 4,686,920 35,905 9.5

2013 130,752 4,535,292 34,686 9.7

2014 130,906 4,465,980 34,116 8.7

2015 129,628 4,562,024 35,193 7.4

2016 129,112 4,657,515 36,073 6.1

2017 128,343 4,732,071 36,871 5.5

2018 128,383 4,895,203 38,130 5.7

2019 130,319 5,109,813 39,210 6.0

2020 130,808 6,605,150 50,495 8.8

2021 131,264 4,959,285 37,781 6.3

Sources: Office of Economic Opportunity ‐ Arizona Labor Statistics

78

DRAFT

105



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

June 30, 2021

Employer Employees Rank

Trade, Transportation, Utilities 6,600 1
State & Local Government 6,000 2
Professional & Business Services 5,200 3
Federal Government 5,000 4
Education & Health services 4,200 5
Leisure & Hospitality 3,300 6
Natural Resources and Construction 2,100 7
Financial Activities 800 8
Other Services (except Public Administration) 600 9
Manufacturing 600 10

Total 34,400

June 30, 2015

Employer Employees Rank

Fort Huachuca 7,956 1
Cochise County 816 2
Sierra Vista Unified Districts No. 68 707 3
Wal‐Mart Stores, Inc. 643 4
General Dynamics Information Technology 623 5
Canyon Vista Medical Center 623 6
Arizona State Prison Complex 615 7
Cochise College 521 8
Douglas Unified School District No. 27 492 9
Northrop Grumman Corporation 450 10

Total 13,446

Source: Cochise College Center for Economic Research

Note 1: 2020 is the most recent year available for employment statistics and there are no statistics for 2014 and prior

Note 2: Employer statistics within district boundaries were not available.  Employer statistics are based on Cochise
County

Note 3: Statistics were only available by industry for 2020 and by specific employer in 2015

79

DRAFT

106



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public safety

Fire prevention inspections ‐ 254 267 281 260 230 20 251 195 169

Emergency medical service
calls ‐ 2,368 2,229 2,428 2,582 2,837 1,115 1,354 2,380 2,786

Patient transports ‐ 1,642 1,565 1,663 1,603 1,912 1,969 1,602 1,403 1,404

Fire responses ‐ 55 61 94 99 102 31 88 30 52

Other responses ‐ including
hazardous materials, mutual
aid, public service ‐ 782 729 654 584 523 351 435 206 264

Miscellaneous ‐ including false
alarms, good intent ‐ 467 435 739 398 286 348 384 342 611

Source: Various District departments

80

DRAFT

107



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

FULL‐TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public Safety

Fire and rescue service 45 39 39 37 36 36 37 40 42 42

Fire prevention 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Administrative and support 5 4 5 4 4 6 6 6 6 6

Total 51 44 45 42 41 43 44 47 49 49

Source: District HR department

81

DRAFT

108



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public safety

Number of Stations 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Equipment:
Ambulances 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Engines 5 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Brush rigs 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Rescue units 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Tenders 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Support units 7 6 6 5 5 5 5 5 4 4
UTV/ATV 1 1 1 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Source: District capital assets records

82

DRAFT

109



Report on Internal Control and on Compliance

DRAFT

110



Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards and Report on Compliance with State

of Arizona Regulatory Requirements

Governing Board and Management
Fry Fire District
Sierra Vista, AZ

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained  in Government Auditing Standards  issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry Fire
District,  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021  and  the  related  notes  to  the  financial  statements,  which
collectively comprise  the District’s basic  financial statements and have  issued our  report  thereon dated November
23, 2021.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s  internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the District’s internal control.

A  deficiency  in  internal  control  exists when  the  design  or  operation  of  a  control  does  not  allow management  or
employees,  in  the  normal  course  of  performing  their  assigned  functions,  to  prevent,  or  detect  and  correct,
misstatements on a  timely basis.   A material weakness  is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,  in  internal
control such that there  is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will  not  be  prevented,  or  detected  and  corrected on  a  timely basis.   A  significant  deficiency  is  a deficiency, or  a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was  not  designed  to  identify  all  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that might  be material weaknesses  or  significant
deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

84

DRAFT

111



Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's  financial statements are  free  from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which  could have  a direct  and material  effect on  the determination of  financial
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit,  and  accordingly, we  do  not  express  such  an  opinion.    The  results  of  our  tests  disclosed  no  instances  of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Report on Compliance with State of Arizona Regulatory Requirements

In connection with our audit, nothing contrary came to our attention that caused us to believe that Fry Fire District
incurred  any debt or  liability  in  excess of  taxes  levied  and  to be  collected  and  the monies  actually  available  and
unencumbered at that time in the District's general fund, except for those liabilities as prescribed in Arizona Revised
Statutes  section 48‐805,  subsection B, paragraph 2  and  sections 48‐806  and 48‐807, or  that  the District  failed  to
comply with Arizona Revised Statutes section 48‐805.02, subsection F.  However, our audit was not directed primarily
toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.   This report  is supplemental reporting as required by Arizona
statutes  intended  solely  for  the  information  and  use  of  management  and  the  members  of  the  Arizona  State
Legislature and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report  is solely to describe the scope of our testing of  internal control and compliance and the
results  of  that  testing,  and  not  to  provide  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  entity’s  internal  control  or  on
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the entity’s  internal control and compliance.   Accordingly, this communication  is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Tucson, Arizona
November 23, 2021

85

DRAFT

112



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

February 1, 2022 

 
Town of Huachuca City 
Attn: Town Clerk’s Office 
500 N. Gonzales Blvd. 
Huachuca City, AZ 85616 
 
Re: Fire Protection, Emergency Medical and Fire Prevention Services Proposals 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 

As the Fire Chief for the Fry Fire District, it is my distinct privilege to offer the included proposals 

for fire protection, emergency medical and fire prevention services to the Town of Huachuca City 

for your review.  It is my sincere belief that you will find the Fry Fire District uniquely qualified and 

positioned to be able to provide responsive, professional, and efficient emergency services to the 

Town and its residents.   

The Fry Fire District is incredibly proud of our long-standing relationship with the Town of 

Huachuca City that dates back to our inception more than 50 years ago.  We look forward to 

continuing to provide you with exceptional services whether our proposals are selected or not.  All 

three proposals anticipate the Town maintaining ownership of its fire and emergency response 

apparatus and facilities, making them available to responders for their use as appropriate. 

As requested, we have included three separate and distinct proposals for your review.  Proposal 1 

is for full-time staffing with a minimum of two emergency responders 24 hours per day, 7 days per 

week, 365 days per year.  Due to the cost of personnel and employee-related expenses, this 

proposal understandably comes with the highest cost.   

 Personnel and Indirect Costs:        $574,657.00 

 Fire Prevention and Inspection Services:    No charges for labor*  

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:                                       $30,000.00 

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Proposal 2 is built around a minimum of two emergency responders employed during the peak 

hours of 7:00 am to 9:00 pm.  After-hours responses could be provided by initial response trained 



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

law enforcement officers or volunteers supported by a full-time response from our nearby fire 

station on Second Street in Sierra Vista.   

 Personnel and Indirect Costs:       $383,121.00 

 Fire Prevention and Inspection Services:    No charges for labor*  

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:                    $30,000.00  

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Proposal 3 reflects the provision of management and oversight services, with the Town of 

Huachuca City retaining all fiscal duties related to apparatus and equipment, facilities, and 

personnel with administrative duties, such as recruitment, selection, training, and operational 

direction provided by the Fry Fire District.  

 Administrative, supervisory and management costs:       $65,000.00

 Fire Prevention Services:                  No charges for labor* 

 Fleet Maintenance Services:      No charges for labor* 

 Fire Apparatus:            $30,000.00 

  *Does not reflect actual costs of supplies and parts or third-party charges. 

 

Although we have made every effort to address all of the services considered within your Request 

for Proposals, a few particular areas remain open to review and clarification, specifically, the 

Town’s apparatus and equipment inventory, as well as your needs and preferences regarding 

these emergency response apparatus and other capital resources, to include facilities. 

It is our position that we would be engaged to provide emergency response and associated 

community support services, i.e. professional emergency responder staffing and management to 

the Town of Huachuca City Fire Department rather than replacing it.  We would prefer to work 

with you, as partners, to extend the services the Town provides to your residents than replace the 

department your community has built. 

You will find Proposal 3 included with this letter as well as the following Supplemental 

Information: 

o Leadership Team and Critical Staff Bios 

o Heavy and Light Duty Apparatus Inspection Checklists 

o 2021 FFD Fee Schedule (Costs are waived unless noted in the proposal)  

o DRAFT Copy of the 2021 FFD Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (GFOA 

response and Final Letter pending) 



Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227    Website: www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

Pricing estimates included in these proposals are valid through 5:00 pm on May 9, 2022.  If I can 

provide any clarification regarding any of the supporting materials presented or our underlying 

cost assumptions, please don’t hesitate to reach out to me at the email address or contact number 

below.  

      

Respectfully, 

 

Mark H. Savage, JD, CFO 
msavage@fryfiredistrict.com  
(520) 678-6745 
 

mailto:msavage@fryfiredistrict.com


 

1 
 

 

 

Fire Protection, Emergency Medical and Fire Prevention Services for the 

Town of Huachuca City 

 

Proposal 3 

Management Services / Per Diem Staffing 

 

 

Background and Project Summary 

Fry Fire District Profile and History - The Fry Fire District (FFD) was originally formed in April of 

1965 as the Fry Volunteer Fire Company. Governance for the original Volunteer Fire Company 

evolved from an elected Fire Chief to the current elected five-member Board in 1985. Volunteer 

Firefighters were originally only responsible for handling the fire suppression needs of the 

community. Emergency medical treatment and transport services were added later along with 

full-time employees to provide round-the-clock protection. Early volunteers operating out of a 

single fire station on Second Street laid the foundation for the professional services FFD 

personnel deliver today.  

Fry Fire District currently provides all hazard emergency services from three fire stations.  We 

are staffed with a total of 36 full-time firefighters augmented by several additional part-time 

Firefighters and EMS personnel. The last year saw four additional firefighters obtain their 

Paramedic certification bringing our total staff of Paramedics up to 29, which means that more 

than 75% of our staff can now provide advanced life support (ALS) level care. At a minimum, all 

full-time suppression personnel are trained in structural and wildland firefighting and are 

certified basic EMT’s. We currently have an Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating of 3 and have 

extensive experience with all the service areas presented in your request for proposals.   

FFD operates under Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48, Chapter 5 and is recognized by the 

State of Arizona as a special taxing district. FFD is governed by a five-member Board, comprised 

of a Board Chair, Clerk and three additional members. All Members are elected at large and 

serve staggered four-year terms. The Board is responsible for adopting an annual budget, 



 

2 
 

setting District policy, and ensuring the Fire Chief implements policy and manages day-to-day 

operations of FFD. We have five administrative and support staff including a full-time Fire Chief, 

Fire Marshal, Ambulance Billing Supervisor, Fleet Mechanic and Administrative Assistant. 

Financial and accounting services are provided by the James Vincent Group. 

Operationally, the Fire Chief is supported by Battalion Chiefs who directly supervise assigned 

Captains and response personnel. Operations are funded primarily through limited assessed 

value property taxes, with additional funding being generated through other avenues including 

billing for ambulance transports, federal and state wildfire responses, and support from various 

grants.  

Our current organizational chart is below and shows how our personnel are organized into 

three separate shifts to provide 24/7 coverage.  Our suppression personnel are currently 

assigned to rotating shifts that see them working for a period of 48 hours before going off-duty 

for 96 hours.  

 

These personnel are augmented by a robust part-time EMS program that utilizes non-fire 

trained personnel to augment full-time staff.  Many are newly certified and use the experience 

to gain real-world exposure to the job while continuing their education. 

In 2021 the FFD responded to just over 4,400 calls for service.  Emergency medical service-

related calls make up more than 80% of our annual calls for service. We provide ambulance 

transport services under Certificate of Necessity (CON) #18 on file with the Arizona Department 



 

3 
 

of Health Services.  Our CON covers over 200 square miles of southeastern Arizona, and 

currently includes the Town of Huachuca City. 

FFD exists to provide the most professional and empathetic services possible, to improve the 

quality of life for our communities.  Our personnel will respond to any emergency that 

threatens life, safety, or property.  We work closely with partners from the Sierra Vista Fire and 

Medical Department, Ft. Huachuca Fire Department, Palominas Fire District, Whetstone Fire 

District, and the Southeastern Arizona Communications Center (SEACOM) to provide 

emergency response customers with the closest available unit with the appropriate capacity to 

provide service. FFD also responds to various non-emergency situations that are not routinely 

handled by other agencies or providers. These non-emergency responses include things such 

as: snake removals, open burn permits, home safety surveys, etc. The FFD Community Risk 

Reduction programs cover topics such as fall injury prevention, fire safety, CPR, immunizations 

and first aid, and proactively work to reduce or mitigate risk either through prevention or 

otherwise. 

As noted above, we also have full-time personnel filling support positions for Fleet 

Maintenance and Fire Prevention.  In the past few years, we have provided high-quality 

maintenance and repair services to the U.S. Forest Service, Palominas Fire District, and the 

Sunsites-Pearce Fire District.  These services are often provided much sooner than would 

otherwise be possible in the civilian market.  Our Mechanic currently maintains a total fleet of 4 

fire engines, 2 brush trucks, 5 ambulances, and 9 support vehicles.  In addition to conducting 

fire origin and cause investigations, our Fire Marshal regularly reviews building plans and 

conducts approximately 260 in-person business inspections annually. 

We are strong believers in community engagement and collaborative partnerships.  We have 

automatic aid agreements in place with the City of Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department 

and the Palominas Fire District and have a very strong working relationship with the Ft. 

Huachuca Fire Department.  We also provide significant support to SEACOM, the Cochise 

County All Hazards Incident Management Team, the Cochise County Local Emergency Planning 

Committee, and the Ft. Huachuca Sentinel Landscape Restoration Partnership.  We participate 

with several regional teams including Hazardous Materials Response Team, Technical Rescue 

Team, and the Cochise County Wildland Group.  We have several recognized experts in the 

areas of hazardous materials response, wildland interface firefighting, high-angle rescue and 

swift water rescue who provide training across the county.  

We have been providing emergency services and support to the Town of Huachuca City (Town) 

since our inception and are incredibly proud of that history and our collaborative working 

relationships.  Many of our tenured employees started out as young EMTs and Paramedics 



 

4 
 

responding to emergency calls along with Fire Chief Bob Fenimore and EMT’s Lynn and Janet 

Morlock and Mark Genz.  

During the past few years, we have continued to perform more than 99% of the Town’s 

emergency medical transports; providing your citizens with professional, experienced advanced 

life support (ALS) certified paramedics on every single call that we respond to.  We have also 

provided support for fires and other emergencies throughout the period, including a few large 

fires, and the coordination of a Covid-19 Vaccination Clinic recently supported by Town staff 

and the Whetstone Fire District hosted in your very own community center. 

We are currently providing your EMS responses and ambulance transports from our fire station 

at 207 N. Second Street, in Sierra Vista.  This service is reinforced by units from our other two 

fire stations south and east of Sierra Vista at 4817 S. Apache and 5019 S. Arabian respectively.   

Should either of our proposals for staffing be selected, the staff proposed would be hired in 

addition to our current staff and would work out of your fire station at 502 Gonzales Boulevard.  

These personnel would be reinforced by the entirety of the Fry Fire District as well as our 

automatic and mutual aid partners. To support a streamlined transition, preferences would be 

given to currently serving staff who meet the required qualifications. 

Summary of Work to Be Done: 

As an all-hazards emergency response agency, we are intimately familiar with the emergency 

response services needed in your community, and the non-emergent community support 

services that help build strong relationships and improve the quality of life for your residents.    

The Town’s annual call load and dispersal was reviewed and discussed in the previous 

Proposals.  This hybrid proposal differs in that it presents the Town with the opportunity to 

serve as the employer and fiscal agent for its own personnel and fire department.  As noted 

below, this staffing model could potentially offer greater coverage than the other proposals, 

however there are concerns with the transition period.  This proposal would also benefit greatly 

from additional training for law enforcement and other Town staff to augment the initial 

response as well as the development of a student and / or volunteer program that could 

provide additional staffing coverage at all hours.   

Under this proposal, the Fry Fire District Leadership Team and Critical Staff would provide 

administrative and management duties, filling the role of the Town’s Fire Chief.  These services 

would include recruitment, selection, training, and supervision of per diem firefighters hired by 

the Town.   

Utilizing per diem personnel to provide professional services would allow the Town access to a 

deeper pool of certified and experienced firefighters by offering predictable per diem 



 

5 
 

employment at an agreeable rate, while avoiding many of the employee-related expenses of 

full-time staff, such as healthcare coverage, paid-time off, retirement plans, and overtime 

compensation. 

This proposal would continue the trend presented in our prior proposals with a minimum of 

two staff including a Lieutenant / Paramedic and Firefighter / EMT.  This hybrid model could be 

built to support either full-time 24/7 coverage or limited to peak-hours coverage.  To provide 

24/7 coverage, ensuring adequate depth of coverage, while also avoiding mandatory 

retirement and benefit triggers, we would recommend limiting staff to a single 24-hour (or two 

12-hour) shifts per week.  This assumes that per diem staff are employed full-time elsewhere 

with regular benefits.  Based on a single 24-hour shift per week, we would need a minimum of 7 

employees per position with a target of at least 10 slots per position to ensure adequate 

coverage.     

In addition, your scope of work also includes providing regular business inspections and fire 

prevention services, which would easily be incorporated into our current Fire Marshal’s daily 

duties.  Fleet maintenance would also be easily incorporated into our current Fleet Mechanic’s 

regular duties. 

Objectives:  

✓ Full-time or Peak Hours Staffing and Emergency Response with ALS personnel 

 Staffing the Huachuca City Fire Station at 502 E. Gonzales Boulevard, with a minimum of 

two personnel.  One to fill the role of Lieutenant / Paramedic, and one to fill the role of 

Firefighter / EMT.  Personnel could be assigned to either 24-hour shifts or during peak hours.  

Personnel would be trained in all aspects of structure and wildland fire suppression, prevention, 

and emergency medical response, patient treatment and transport.   

 In addition to public-safety centric training allowing Town staff to provide initial 

response and patient stabilization during off-peak hours.  This proposal would also benefit 

greatly from the development of a student and / or volunteer program that could be used to 

reinforce staffing.   

✓ Apparatus and Equipment  

 The FFD would provide one advanced life support (ALS) ambulance at no additional cost 

to the Town of Huachuca City.  If a resident requires transport to a local hospital, they would be 

billed according to the FFD ambulance rates currently approved by the Arizona Department of 

Health Services.  Currently, there would be no charges for any patient who is assessed or 

treated by paramedics on scene who refuses transport to a hospital.  



 

6 
 

 If requested the FFD may also provide one fully equipped fire engine if the Town’s 

current apparatus are not in serviceable condition.  This engine would be provided under an 

annual lease agreement with the FFD covering all ongoing maintenance and support costs, as 

well as any required equipment replacement or repairs.  The proposed annual lease cost of the 

engine if needed is $30,000.00 which includes the total cost of operations and equipment 

maintenance and repair.  

✓ Fleet Maintenance 

 Under this managed services proposal, the FFD would assume responsibility for 

providing maintenance and repair services for fire apparatus owned by the Town of Huachuca 

City but leased to the FFD under this Proposal.  Labor costs for fleet maintenance provided by 

our mechanic would become the responsibility of FFD with the costs for replacement parts and 

supplies, or any outside repair services paid by the Town. 

✓ Fire Prevention / Community Risk Reduction 

 Under this managed services proposal, the FFD would begin performing annual Fire and 

Life Safety Inspections for businesses and schools in the Town, in close cooperation with the 

Town’s Building Official under the current Fire Code as adopted by the Town.  Some more 

intricate building plans may be submitted to a third-party vendor for review.  Any costs for 

subdivision development or building plan reviews completed by an outside third-party vendor 

would pass to the applicant.  Public Education events would be incorporated to the FFD’s 

regular routine.   

✓        First Responder Training 

Under this proposal, the FFD would provide all appropriate and required training to 

emergency response personnel.  In addition, we would also like to offer any interested law 

enforcement officers, other staff, or volunteers with basic first aid and CPR training at no cost 

to build immediate response capacity within the Town. 

Methodology:  

This proposal reflects the provision of all emergency services identified in the Scope of Work as 

if the Town of Huachuca City was part of the Fry Fire District.  Costs reflected in this proposal 

are all-inclusive unless specifically provided on an as-needed basis under the fee schedule 

adopted annually by the Fry Fire District Board and provided with our proposals.  

Staffing: This proposal is flexible and would allow the Town to adjust the staffing model to best 

impact.  Regardless of coverage levels chosen, it recommends a minimum staffing level of two 

per-diem professional firefighting personnel at the Huachuca City Fire Station.  These personnel 



 

7 
 

will reflect the minimum listed certifications: at least one certified Paramedic filling a 

supervisory role, and at least one certified EMT filling a support role.  Both personnel will be 

trained to current National Fire Protection Administration standards and certified to perform 

basic structural firefighting and wildland interface firefighting.  The annual total cost of the 

management services covered under this proposal is projected to be: $65,000.00. 

Recruitment, selection, training, and supervision will be provided by the Fry Fire District utilizing 

existing administrative and support resources at no additional cost.  However, under this 

model, the Town would become the employer of record and remain the fiscal agent for all 

Town resources.   

The anticipated per diem pay rates used in this proposal range from $19.00 / hour for a 

Firefighter / EMT to $25.00 / hour for a Lieutenant / Paramedic.  These rates do not include any 

additional employee-related expenses or shift differentials and represent an approximate cost 

savings of $5.00 / hour for the Firefighter / EMT and $6.90 per hour for the Lieutenant / 

Paramedic.  Using these hourly rates results in projected annual personnel costs for full time 

coverage to be approximately $385,440.00 annually.  Staffing coverage during peak hours only 

would be projected to cost approximately $224,840.00 annually.   

As noted above, the cost savings are related to the elimination of employee benefits and 

reduction in other employee-related expenses.    

The projected cost for this management proposal reflects our experience with the current fiscal 

year and a limited survey of local part-time and per diem firefighter rates.  Annual contract 

increases are estimated to run approximately 5%.   

Apparatus and Equipment Included:  

This proposal includes the provision of 

one advanced life support (ALS) 

ambulance registered with the Arizona 

Department of Health Services (ADHS), 

together with all appropriate 

equipment and medications for 

advanced medical patient assessment, 

treatment, and transport.  All costs for 

ambulance operations, maintenance 

and repairs will be covered by the Fry 

Fire District.  

The Town currently owns two fire engines and one brush truck.  It is our understanding that the 

Spartan Gladiator fire engine (age and mileage unknown) is currently out of service due to 



 

8 
 

issues with the braking system.  The serviceability of the Ferrara Intruder fire engine (age and 

mileage unknown) is similarly undetermined.  The brush truck is a 2013 Ford that is believed to 

be serviceable. 

If selected, the Fry Fire District would perform thorough inspections of all apparatus for 

compliance with National Fire Protection Administration (NFPA) standards and ensure ongoing 

annual service testing and certification of fire equipment and pumps.  Apparatus would also be 

inspected for ISO compliance.  Inspections would be provided at no cost with current apparatus 

remaining the sole and separate property of the Town of Huachuca City, with costs for fuel, 

maintenance and repairs remaining the responsibility of the Town.  If our proposal is selected, 

we would provide fleet maintenance and repair services, within our capacity, at no cost to the 

Town, other than the costs of maintenance supplies and replacement parts.  

In the event the Town would be interested in deploying its apparatus on wildland fire 

assignments, the Fry Fire District would recommend a separate intergovernmental agreement 

for staffing and billing support, allowing the Town to generate non-tax revenue from the use of 

its fire apparatus under a Cooperative Fire Rate Agreement with the State of Arizona.  

If the current fire apparatus owned by the Town is not in serviceable condition, a fire engine 

could be provided by the Fry Fire District at an additional cost of $30,000 per year.  This engine 

would include all appropriate equipment for offensive firefighting operations, medical 

response, and vehicle extrication.  If this option is selected, the Fry Fire District will bear all fuel, 

maintenance and repair costs for its apparatus so leased. 

Additional Apparatus and Equipment:  Routine inspections and inventories would also be 

performed on all other apparatus and equipment and reported to the Town. 

Operational Effectiveness: 

With the exceptions of the specified costs for emergency response personnel and the potential 

need to acquire serviceable apparatus identified above, this proposal will leverage existing 

capacities within the Fry Fire District.  Ancillary non-emergency services such as Fire Prevention 

and Community Risk Reduction, Fleet Management, Fire and EMS Training can easily be 

incorporated into our current operations at no additional costs to the Town.  Fleet maintenance 

and repair services falling within our capacity would be provided to the Town at cost for 

apparatus owned by the Town, except for the actual replacement cost of parts and shop 

supplies and materials.    

Fire Suppression responses will be incorporated to our current automatic aid agreement with 

the City of Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department and mutual aid agreement with the 

Whetstone Fire District and Ft. Huachuca Fire Department.  Our current response plans include 



 

9 
 

these partners and utilize a closest, most-appropriate response model regardless of jurisdiction.  

Although we anticipate cross staffing the ambulance and fire engine at your station, additional 

resources from Fry Fire District, the City of Sierra Vista, and Ft. Huachuca, and Whetstone Fire 

District will reflect our existing fire and EMS response procedures.   

The Fry Fire District understands that quality 

training is a key component to support 

professional firefighters and to provide for 

citizen safety.  Utilizing a per diem staffing 

model would present some additional 

training needs since employees may come 

from departments outside of the local 

response area or work limited hours.  We 

are confident that we could leverage the 

significant down-time during their shifts and 

our online training platform to ensure 

adequate initial and ongoing training.  

Individual training would be reviewed with specific training plans developed to address any 

identified gaps. 

Vehicle Rescue, Technical Rescue, and Hazardous Material response services are incorporated 

in our regular annual training, as are annual wildland refresher training and physical tests.  We 

currently have several experienced instructors in all three areas and play a large role in the 

development and deployment of 

these highly specialized teams 

throughout Cochise County.  

Emergency medical response and 

transport / non-transport services 

account for over 90% of our 4,400 

annual calls for service.  As noted, we 

currently employ 29 certified 

Paramedics (ALS), at least one of 

which is included on every single 

medical response we make.  In 

addition to emergency medical 

response, we are also responsible for providing emergency medical ambulance transportation 

to patients in the Town of Huachuca City under CON #18 on file with the Arizona Department of 

Health Services. 



 

10 
 

Fire Prevention and Community Risk Reduction services would be addressed by our full-time 

Fire Marshal with the support of our Battalion Chiefs and duty personnel.  The Fry Fire District 

has adopted the 2018 Edition of the International Fire Code, which we may request that the 

Town formally adopt in the event our proposal is selected and current staff are amenable. 

Our Fire Marshal regularly conducts plan reviews in partnership with Cochise County Building 

Department, however some large-scale construction projects are outsourced to a private 

company for additional review.  We routinely perform more than 260 business inspections per 

year.  In addition to regular business inspections, pre-fire plans are developed and updated at 

least annually by our fire crews.  On average, we respond to and investigate 5-10 actual 

structure fires per year. 

We define ‘community’ broadly and are 

incredibly involved in community 

engagement events across the county, 

regardless of jurisdictional boundaries.  

The last year saw us support several 

large-scale vaccination events across 

Cochise County.  We also supported 

National Night Out in both Huachuca 

City and Sierra Vista as well as several 

community-based CPR and Stop the 

Bleed training events.  We are currently taking a strong role in the delivery of Compression-Only 

CPR training across the county so that citizens will have the confidence and competence to give 

help when and where it is needed, prior to the arrival of professional rescuers.  We would be 

honored to be invited to support additional community engagement events in the Town of 

Huachuca City. 

Fleet Management Services will be provided by our full-time mechanic.  Apparatus inspections 

for NFPA compliance will occur no less than quarterly.  Detailed Quarterly and annual NFPA 

apparatus inspection lists are included with our proposals.  Fire pump certification testing 

would also be performed no less than annually at no cost for serviceable apparatus owned by 

the Town of Huachuca City.  If required to maintain apparatus in a serviceable condition, 

estimates for required repairs and maintenance would be prepared and forwarded to the Town 

Manager for approval and payment separate and apart from this proposal.  Our mechanic’s 

labor would be included under this proposal, with the Town bearing responsibility for 

replacement parts and supplies.  Our normal shop rates are reflected in the attached Fee 

Schedule provided with these proposals. 

 



 

11 
 

Project Schedule:  

Every attempt will be made to provide initial staffing in accordance with the timeline 

established in the RFP beginning on March 21, 2022.  However, we may request some flexibility 

in the event there is a delay in the decision being made, notification to the winning bidder, or 

delays in contract negotiation and execution.  Since we would be bringing on a significant 

number of additional per diem staff for this project, we would anticipate a timeline 

approaching 6-8 weeks from the notification to have emergency response operations up and 

running.  This timeline would require the input and approval of Town staff, particularly as it 

relates to the onboarding of per diem employees, who would be employed by the Town. 

This timeline is built around the following rough framework which mirrors our prior proposals 

with some additional time built out for on-boarding and training since this schedule would likely 

be competing with many employees’ full-time jobs: 

 Week 1-3 

Bid Award and initial contract discussions  

Apparatus / Facility Inspections conducted 

 Per Diem Lieutenant / Firefighter Job Descriptions posted (Minimum of 2 weeks) 

Testing and Selection of Personnel - with a preference for currently serving 

personnel meeting minimum requirements 

Begin transition planning with existing service provider  

Deconflict responses with automatic and mutual aid partners and begin building 

updated response plans 

Week 3-6 

Initial onboarding and training of personnel (Minimum of 3 weeks)  

Contract discussions continued, draft developed and forwarded to Governing 

Bodies for review and approval 

Apparatus / Facility preparation 

Continue transition with existing service provider 

Finalize updated emergency response plans 

Weeks 6-9 

Governing Bodies execute final contracts 

Finalize any needed Apparatus / Facility changes 

Complete transition with existing service provider 

Finalize and activate new response plans through SEACOM 

Per Diem Shifts Scheduled and Go-Live. 



 

12 
 

  

Miscellaneous: 

This proposal anticipates regular and ongoing interaction and communication between Town 

and FFD Staff.  The included biographies reflect our current leadership team and the individuals 

most likely to frequently interface with Town staff from a management perspective.  We know 

that clear and transparent communication will be key if we are going to succeed in providing 

the service your citizens deserve.  We pride ourselves on our commitment to providing our 

community with unimagined excellence in service and look forward to the opportunity to 

continue working with you. 

As noted above, this proposal is limited to Administrative and Other Fire Department 

Management Services, and specifically excludes duties related to employee pay and other fiscal 

responsibilities.  Although we anticipate providing all the employee training, supervision, and 

scheduling services, as well as providing accurate time reports when required for payroll.  We 

appreciate that this will still present a significant amount of additional work for Town staff and 

will work to provide whatever support is necessary to ease the transition if this proposal is 

selected. 



 

Supplemental Information Packet 
 
 

TABT 
 
 

 
 
1 - Leadership Team………………………………………………………………………….. 1 

2 - Heavy Duty Apparatus……………………………………………………………………. 4  

3 - Light Duty Apparatus…………………………………………………………………….. 12AB 

4 - Fee Schedule……………………………………………………………………………… 23 

5 - Financial Report…………………………………………………………………………... 24 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 



 

FFD Leadership Team and Critical Staff 
 

 

Fire Chief Mark Savage has worked for the Fry Fire District (FFD) since 1993.  

Originally beginning as a Reserve Firefighter, he was hired full-time and promoted 

through all ranks.  He was promoted to Fire Chief in 2017.  He is a certified Paramedic 

with undergraduate degrees in Fire Prevention Administration and Business 

Management.  He received his juris doctorate from the University of Arizona, Rogers 

College of Law in 2007 and completed the National Fire Academy’s Executive Fire 

Officer Program in 2017.  He is also a Certified Public Manager and designated Chief 

Fire Officer through the Center for Public Safety Excellence.  He recently began pursuing 

the Public Leadership Credential through the Kennedy School of Government. 

 

Mark currently serves as the Fire District representative on the SEACOM Board and is 

participating in the Inter-Governmental Agreement (IGA) / Bylaws subcommittee.  He is 

a strong advocate for community risk reduction policies that drive innovative health and 

wellness programs as well as aggressive wildfire fuel reduction projects.  In addition to 

his work in emergency service, Mark is a certified peace officer and Reserve Deputy with 

the Cochise County Sheriff’s Office where he has served as a tactical medic and operator 

with their SWAT team since 2000.   

 

Mark volunteers with local health-related organizations, including current service as the 

Board Vice-Chair of the Legacy Foundation of Southeast Arizona, and as a Board 

Director for Chiricahua Community Health Centers, Inc.  

 

Battalion Chief Billy Seamans has been serving with the Fry Fire District 

since 2000.  He promoted through the ranks to Battalion Chief in 2013 and has been 

responsible for the support services of the District.  He is responsible for the oversite and 

management of the District’s radio systems, information technology and fleet 

services.  He is an active participant with SEACOM having recently completed service as 

the Chair of the Operations Committee and participates in the IGA / Bylaws 

subcommittee.  He has assisted with the recent ProQA implementation and is assisting 

with the Cochise County Fire Station Alerting project.  He is a fire investigator and has 

been called on throughout the county to investigate possible incendiary fires and assist 

with other fire investigations.  He is a member of the Cochise County Incident 

Management Support team.  

  

Billy enjoys making sure that the county systems are up to date and working properly to 

ensure that the citizens are at the forefront of every decision that is made.  He is a life 

long learner and is working towards a business management degree through Cochise 

College and the University of Arizona with a minor in computer systems.  He plans on 

assuming the duties of Fire Marshal and is training to that end.  

  

1



His training and Certifications include Fire Officer III, Blue Card Command, Inspector 

I, NFPA 921 Arson I-IV.  He is a Technical Rescue Technician, Hazmat Technician, and 

Paramedic.  

 

Battalion Chief Kaleb Mauzy has been serving in the fire service since 2001.  He 

started his career with the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) as a wildland firefighter and 

transitioned to the Fry Fire District in 2005.  

 

Kaleb promoted through the ranks and recently assumed responsibility for Fire and EMS 

Training.  He has been responsible for managing Special Operations Teams which 

include Hazardous Materials, Wildland, and SWAT Medics for the past few years.  He is 

an active participant on the regional Command Training Center Team, the regional Live 

Fire 1403 Instructor Team, and regional Standard Operating Procedure committee. He is 

a member of the Cochise County Incident Management Support team and participates 

with many other county-wide support groups.  

 

He enjoys training and working to continually better himself and those around him. He is 

a lifelong learner and is working towards earning his bachelor’s degree in Fire 

Management through Columbia Southern University.  After graduating, he plans to 

pursue a master’s degree in Emergency Management.  

 

His training and certifications include National Wildland Coordinating Group (NWCG) 

Strike Team Leader (STL) and is currently qualified as a Task Force Leader Trainee 

(TFLT). He is a Technical Rescue Technician, SWAT Medic, and Hazmat Technician.  

 

Finance Director – James Vincent Group’s Certified Public Accountants have been 

serving the FFD since 2017.  Founded in 2010, JVG is a full-service accounting, tax, and 

consulting firm with extensive experience with municipal fire departments and Arizona 

fire districts.  Their public finance and accounting expertise has allowed us to develop 

precise operating and capital budgets and reverse trends that would have seen us in the 

red for the past few years.     

 

Local 4913 Acting President Jared Haros has served the Fry Fire District since 2013 

and was promoted to Engineer / Paramedic in 2018. He began his career in ground 

ambulance and fixed wing air medical service and has been in EMS for 15 years, 13 of 

which has held NREMT paramedic certification.  
 

Jared has been involved in medical training for the last eight years as an instructor of the 

EMT and Paramedic programs at Cochise College. He has also implemented in-house 

training programs for Fry Fire District that include Advanced Cardiovascular Life 

Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support Classes for paramedics. He also developed 

a Paramedic Field Training Orientation (FTO) program that provides an environment for 

new paramedics to integrate into operations under the mentorship of a senior paramedic 

to enhance each experience into one in which new paramedics learn to operate 

independently. He recently assumed the role of EMS Training Coordinator with the goal 

of ensuring continuing education training is focused on top of the certification advanced 

2



medical and trauma treatments.  
 

Jared has been the Vice President of IAFF Local 4913 for the last four years.  He was 

recently appointed Acting President by majority vote of the membership. As the Acting 

President of L4913 he participates in regular Meet and Confer meetings with 

management to discuss labor issues as representative of the membership. 

 

Fire Marshal Ed Shiver has been with the Fry Fire District since 2007.  He has served 

as the Fire Marshal since 2016.  Ed has as Associates of Applied Science in Fire Science, 

and more than 60 fire training certificates including: Fire Inspector I / II and Fire 

Investigation I – IV.  He has a total of over 350 tested training hours in fire investigations 

and regularly attends annual Advanced Fire Investigation Seminars through the 

International Association of Arson Investigators. 

 

Ed conducts an average of 260 regular business and life safety fire inspections each year.  

He also conducts plan reviews and fire origin and cause investigations in close 

collaboration with Cochise County Planning and Zoning Department and the Cochise 

County Sheriff’s Office.  He also works closely with the Arizona State Fire Marshal’s 

Office and the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. 

 

Ed is also responsible for managing and coordinating public education and community 

risk reduction events and manages our open-burning permit program, which oversees 

approximately 425 open burning permits per year.  He recently received a Fire Prevention 

and Safety Grant that has allowed us to provide and install fire and smoke detectors in 

homes for residents without them.  Ed also responds to many 911 service calls, typically 

still fire alarms, smoke detector checks, smoke investigation and outside fire and snake 

calls, keeping emergency responders in service.   

 

Fleet Mechanic Jimmy Ayers has been with the Fry Fire District since 2017.  He began 

his mechanic career with Sierra Toyota in 1982. In his 25 years prior to joining the 

District, he owned and operated Jim’s Mobile Auto Repair, a small business providing 

mobile maintenance and repair services for local contractors and private individuals.  He 

holds an Emergency Vehicle Technician (EVT) certification in Ambulance Inspection 

and operations and has numerous American Society of Automotive Excellence (ASE) 

certifications as well.  He is currently preparing to test for ASE certifications in Light and 

Heavy Class diesel engines.  

 

 

 

 

 

3



Daily Weekly Monthly Quarterly Annual

Visual and Operational 

Checks to be 

performed by 

Operations Personnel 

on site at house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician on site at 

house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician on site at 

house.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician at fleet 

garage. Unit will be out 

of service.

Inspection to be 

performed by Fleet 

Technician at fleet 

garage. Unit will be out 

of service.

Air 

Conditioning
CHECK A/C AND HEATER OPERATION X X X

8.11 All electrical accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Heater and 

defroster (2) Air-conditioning system (3) Windshield wipers and washers (4) Instrumentation (5) Traffic preemption (6) Other 

electrical accessories on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.11(1) through (5).

Air Intake INSPECT AIR INTAKE SYSTEM X X

7.7.1 The engine air intake system shall include, but not be limited to the following: (1) Air cleaner element (2) Piping (3) 

Turbocharger (4) Air after-cooler (5) Intercooler (6) Air-to-air cooler (7) Blower (8) Ember separator 7.7.2 The engine air 

intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service recommendation. If no severe 

service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or 

mileage, shall be followed. 7.7.3 Where engines are equipped with a charged air after-cooler, it shall be inspected visually 

for outward signs of damage or deformation. 7.7.4 All hoses, tubes, and fittings shall be inspected for deformation and 

leakage. 7.7.5 The airflow shall be monitored for restriction greater than that recommended by the engine manufacturer.

Air Intake CHANGE AIR FILTERS  X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake
CHECK AND CLEAN AIR INTAKE SPARK 

ARRESTER
X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT CRANK CASE BREATHER TUBES X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT ENGINE DRIVE BELT(S) X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air Intake INSPECT TURBO CHARGER CONNECTION X X

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed.

Air-Powered

Accessories

Alternator

Test

Apparatus

Lighting

Apparatus

Lighting

Apparatus

Lighting

Automatic 

Electrical Load 

Mgmt System

TEST AUTOMATIC  ELECTRICAL  LOAD 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
X X

8.7.1 If so equipped, all components of the automatic electrical load management  system including, but not limited to, the 

following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation:  (1) Electronic hardware (2) Associated wiring and 

cables (3) Relays, controls, and indicators (4) Low v oltage warning devices. 8.7.2* The system shall be checked for 

activation and operation of low v oltage warning devices in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations. See 

A.8.7.2 for test.

Axle
CHECK AND LUBRICATE  KING PINS OR 

BALL JOINTS
X X

7.3.1 All axle components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural 

integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, and leakage, shall be functionally  operated, and shall be lubricated: (1) Ball joints 

(2) King pins (3) Spindles and bushings (4) Attaching hardware (5) Axle beams and housings (6) Axle shafts (7) Axle power 

div iders (8) Differentials and controls (9) Two-speed axle shift units (10) Upper and lower control arms.

Axle
CHECK TANDEM AXLE SPACING  AND 

ALIGNMENT
X Check axles for tightness and leaks

Axle
CHECK DIFFERENTIAL FLUID LEVEL, 

CLEAN VENTS
X X Check differential  fluid level and fill or replace following manufacturer's  recommendations.

Axle TWO SPEED AXLES AND CONTROLS X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Axle UPPER AND LOWER CONTROL ARMS X X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Battery 

Charger/Cond 

itioner Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

CHARGER/CONDITIONER TEST
X

17.7 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, 

it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

17.3 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs

CHECK HEADLIGHT  ADJUSTMENT X X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

7.13 All chassis air-powered accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Air

horn (2) W indshield wiper and washer (3) Air-ride seats (4) Air-powered steps and cab tilting systems (5) Fire pup shift and

valves.

ANNUAL ALTERNATOR TEST  X

17.5 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications  to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system hav e been made. Follow alternator test 17.5. This test verifies the output of the 

alternator and the alternator wiring.

CHECK WINDSHIELD  W ASHER, W IPER 

OPERATION
X

CHECK OEM LIGHT OPERATION X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

CHECK INSTRUMENT  PANEL LIGHTS, 

GAUGES
X

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

Battery Test
ANNUAL BATTERY LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST
X

Fry Fire District NFPA 1901 Heavy Line Maintenance Schedule

Inspection ItemSystem Special Instruction

4



or modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. 17.3.2 Each battery 

shall be individually tested using either the procedure specified in 17.3.2.1 or 17.3.2.2. A.17.3.2.1 Conductivity testing is 

preferred to load testing because it does not stress the battery, it is a more accurate indication of the state of health of the 

battery, and it provides values that can be recorded and tracked for trend analysis. Follow Chapter 17 for test.

Body SERVICE ROLL UP DOORS/TRACKS X X

7.15.1 All compartments and storage areas shall be inspected for structural integrity, deformation, and leaks. 7.15.1.1 

Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.  7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically 

checked for correct operation and position.

Body PERFORM BODY LUBRICATION SERVICE X X 7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically checked for correct operation and position. 7.15.1.3

The hazard warning light and interlocks associated with, but not limited to, the following conditions shall be diagnostically 

checked: (1) Open passenger or equipment compartment doors (2) Ladder or equipment rack not in the stowed position (3) 

Deployed

stabilizer system (4) Extended powered light tower.

INSPECT MOUNTED STEPS,

7.15.2 All steps, platforms, handrails, and access ladders shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and

deformation. 7.15.2.1 All slip resistant surfaces shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition. 7.15.2.2 All

mechanical steps shall be

PLATFORMS,  HANDRAILS AND LADDERS. diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Body
INSPECT FINISHES, STRIPING, SIGNS AND 

LABELS
X X

7.15.4* All finishes and reflective striping shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.15.5* Where required, all 

signs and labels shall be inspected for their presence and any defects, corrosion, and damage. If apparatus does not have 

reflective striping, or warning labels, consider adding in accordance with applicable sections of current NFPA 1901

7.16.1 All locks used to hold equipment racks in the road travel position and all interlocks to prevent operation of equipment 

racks when the fire apparatus is in motion shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation. 7.16.2 Racks and 

interlocks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.3 All warning lights and visual signals for the equipment

racks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.4 Reflective striping or reflective paint shall be

inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.16.5 Equipment-holding  devices shall be inspected for security of mounting 

and deformation, shall be diagnostically checked, and

shall be lubricated.

Body INSPECT FOR SHIELDS AND GUARDS X Inspect that all shields and guards are installed and tighened properly.

Body WAX COMPLETE EXTERIOR OF UNIT X X Wax body.

INSPECT ACCESSORIES CONNECTED TO 7.12.10.1 If air accessories are connected to the chassis air brake system, then perform

AIR BRAKE SYSTEM

the next 2 items. 7.12.10.1.1 The air brake system pressure protection valve's) shall be diagnostically checked to the shutoff 

point. 7.12.10.1.2 The pressure protection v alve shall prevent the air accessories from drawing air from the air brake system 

when the air pressure drops below 80 psi (552 kPa) to ensure adequate air pressure for the braking system.

Brake SERVICE AIR DRYER X
7.12.10.2 Air reservoir tanks, air dryers, and drains shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and leakage and 

shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Brake INSPECT BRAKE LINES X X
7.12.10.3 All valves, lines, cylinders, and chambers shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and leakage 

and shall be diagnostically checked.

Brake CHECK AIR BRAKE COMPRESSOR X
7.12.10.4 The compressor and inlet filter system shall be inspected for security of mounting and shall be maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations'.

7.12.10.5 All chassis air system belts shall be inspected for wear and deformation and

shall be maintained at the manufacturer's recommended adjustment.

Brake PERFORM COMPLETE BRAKE INSPECTION X X
7.12.10.6 The cut-in and cut-out pressure settings of the air compressor gov ernor shall be tested and maintained at the 

manufacturer's recommended settings.

Brake
CHECK LOW AIR PRESSURE W ARNING 

SYSTEM
X X

7.12.10.7 The low-air warning systems shall be tested to ensure that activation occurs at the manufacturer's recommended 

setting.

Brake CHECK AIR PRESSURE INDICATORS X X 7.12.10.8 Air pressure indicators shall be diagnostically checked.

Brake PERFORM NFPA AIR BRAKE SYSTEM TEST X X X

7.12.10.9 Leak-down rate (time) of the applied side of the air brake system shall be tested with the engine stopped and the 

service brakes applied, and the air pressure shall not drop more than 3 psi (20.7 kPa) in 1 minute for a straight v ehicle or 

more than 4 psi (27.6 kPa) in 1 minute for a combination vehicle. 7.12.10.10 Leak-down rate (time) of the supply-side of the 

chassis air system shall be tested with the engine stopped and the service brakes released, and the air pressure shall not 

drop more than 2 psi (13.8 kPa) in 1 minute for a straight vehicle or more than 3 psi (20.7 kPa) in 1 minute for a combination 

v ehicle.

7.12.2 The parking brake shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, missing or broken parts, and wear 

and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.3 The parking brake controls and activating mechanism shall be inspected for 

structural integrity,

security of mounting, and missing or broken parts, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

7.12.4 The brake linings shall be replaced in accordance with the brake manufacturer's severe service recommendation 

when they are contaminated, when the lining is worn to the minimum thickness for safe operation as defined by the brake 

manufacturer, or when the brake drum or rotor is replaced. 7.12.5 The drums or rotors shall be inspected during scheduled 

maintenance, when there is a suspected problem or at the time of brake lining replacement, and the inspection shall consist 

of, but not be limited to the following: (1) Evidence of extensive heat or heat cracking (2) Out of round (3) Wear beyond 

manufacturer's specifications (4) Rust (5) Taper (6) Rotor parallelism (7) Metal fatigue.

7.12.6 Machining of brake drums or rotors shall be done only in accordance with

Body INSPECT DOOR LATCHES, HINGES, LOCKS X X

Battery Test
ANNUAL BATTERY LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST
X

Body X X

Brake X X

Brake CHECK CHASSIS AIR SYSTEM BELTS X

Body INSPECT POWERED EQUIPMENT RACKS X X

Brake
INSPECT BRAKE LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS
X

X

Brake CHECK PARKING BRAKE OPERATION X X X

5



manufacturer's recommendations. 7.12.7 All components of the braking system shall be inspected for damage and wear 

when performing a brake overhaul.

Brake TEST ABS SYSTEM X

7.12.8.1 Antilock braking systems (ABS) including the electronic control unit, cables, switches, relays, sensors, and v alv es 

shall be inspected for any deficiencies and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.8.2 The ABS electronic control unit (ECU) 

diagnostic codes shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes that have been logged.

7.12.9 If the fire apparatus has a hydraulic brake system, the components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: (1) Pedal and linkage (2) Brake switches (3) Master cylinder (4) Brake booster (5) Hydraulic 

lines (6) Valves (7) Wheel cylinders or calipers (8) Brake shoes or pads (9) Brake drums or rotors (10) Warning devices (11) 

Mounting hardware (12) Fluid level and contamination. 7.12.10 If

the fire apparatus has an air brake system, the components to be inspected and

maintained shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  (1) Air compressor (2) Pedal assembly (3) All valves (4) Hoses 

and lines (5) Brake switches (6) Brake air chambers (7) Slack adjusters (8) Cams and wedges (9) Brake shoes or pads (10) 

Brake drums or rotor (11) Calipers (12) Air dryers (13) Drain valves (14) Air tanks (15) Warning devices (16) Mounting 

hardware.

Brake
CHECK DISC BRAKE TORQUE PLATE 

BOLTS
X Check for security of mounting and deformation.

Brake
INSPECT CALIPER RETAINING RING AND 

BOLTS
X Check for security of mounting and deformation.

Brake CHECK SLACK ADJUSTERS X X
Inspect on a severe duty schedule for freedom of movement, security of mounting, and deformation and should be tested for 

proper operation. Lubricate on severe duty schedule.

Brake
LUBRICATE SLACK ADJUSTERS AND S- 

CAMS
X X Lubricate on severe duty schedule.

Brake System

Test

Braking 7.12.1 The braking system shall be inspected and maintained

System in accordance with the manufacturer’s severe serv ice recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the

shortest interval recommended by the braking system manufacturer,

based on time or mileage, shall be followed. If the vehicle is equipped with backing plates on the brakes the bolts should be 

checked on every B maintenance.

Breathing Air 

Compressor 

System Test

ANNUAL TEST OF BREATHING AIR 

COMPRESSOR SYSTEMS
X

23.1 If the apparatus is supplied with a breathing air compressor system, the compressor system shall be tested annually by 

the manufacturer or the manufacturer's authorized representative to verify that the system still meets the manufacturer's 

requirements for the system when it was new. Follow Chapter 23 for test.

CHECK GLASS/MIRRORS FOR 7.14.1 All glass, windows, and mirrors shall be inspected for condition and shall be

DELAMINATION, CHIPS, AND CRACKS diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK AIR RIDE SEAT SYSTEM X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK SEAT FOR CUTS AND TEARS X X X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK SEAT FRAME FOR CRACKS X X X X X 7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

7.14.3 All seat belts shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be

diagnostically checked.

Cab CHECK COMPARTMENT DOORS X X X X
7.14.4 Doors, door hinges, latches, and door stops shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition, shall be 

diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Cab CHECK CAB MOUNTING SYSTEMS X X X

All components of the cab mounting system including but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation: (1) Mounting brackets (2) Cab base structure (3) Resilient cushions (4) Securing fasteners. 

7.14.6* All equipment mounting systems including, but not limited to, mounting systems for the following shall be inspected 

for security of mounting and deformation and shall be maintained free of corrosion: (1) Radios, computers, and siren 

controls (2) Self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) (3) Portable lights (4) Hand tools (5) Emergency medical service 

(EMS) equipment (6) Books, street directories, and maps. For the safety of personnel, equipment should be mounted in 

accordance with the requirements of NFPA 1901.

Cab INSPECT CAB INTERIOR CONDITION X X X X X
Inspection to include, but not limited to, pedals, knobs, handles, headliner, interior door cov ers, and lights, for security of 

mounting, deformation and proper operation.

Cab Tilting 

System
CHECK CAB JACK FLUID AND OPERATION X X

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system shall be inspected for security of mounting, leaks, and shall be 

diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended by 

the manufacturer.

Charging CHECK CHARGING SYSTEM X

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.

Charging CHECK VOLTAGE REGULATOR X X

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.

7.5.1 The engine coolant shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level

Brake
INSPECT BRAKE LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS
X

ANNUAL BRAKE SYSTEM TEST X

16.3 Braking System test. Testing of the braking system, including antilock brake systems and auxiliary brake system, shall 

be conducted at least annually and whenever adjustments, repairs, or modifications have been performed on any 

component that can affect the proper operation of the braking system or systems. Follow instructions in Chapter 16.

Brake PERFORM COMPLETE BRAKE INSPECTION X

Cab CHECK SEAT BELTS X X X X

CHECK BACKING PLATE BOLTS X X

Cab X X X XX

X

XCooling CHECK COOLANT LEVEL X X XX

6



specified by the manufacturer.

Cooling INSPECT AUXILIARY HEAT EXCHANGERS X X
7.5.10 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the engine cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.

Cooling INSPECT AND CLEAN RADIATOR FINS X X 7.5.2 The radiator assembly shall be inspected and cleaned of dirt, debris, and obstructions to airflow.

Cooling
CHECK COOLING SYSTEM HOSES AND 

BELTS
X X X

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage. 7.5.6 All belts shall be inspected for wear, 

deformation, and proper adjustment.

Cooling CHECK WATER PUMP  X 7.5.4 The water pump's) shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

Cooling PRESSURE TEST COOLING SYSTEM X X 7.5.5 The cooling system shall be pressure tested for leakage.

7.5.7 The chemical components of the coolant shall be tested and maintained at the

proper balance.

Cooling INSPECT GAUGES X X X 7.5.8 Cooling system temperature indicators and gauges shall be diagnostically checked.

Cooling CHECK FAN CLUTCH X
7.5.9 Temperature control devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) 

Thermostats (2) Clutch fans (3) Radiator shutters (4) Electric cooling fans.

Cooling CHECK RADIATOR CAP(S) X X Check to see if missing or not sealing properly.

Cooling INSPECT RADIATOR AND MOUNTS X X Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

Cooling CHANGE COOLANT FILTER X Replace coolant filter as recommended by the manufacturer.

Crew

Compartment

Dielectric 5 YEAR DIELECTRIC VOLTAGE 22.8 At least every 5 years, and after a vehicle accident or body repair, a dielectric test

Voltage Test WITHSTAND TEST
shall be performed on the line voltage electrical system. Follow Chapter 22 for test. Also see Annex A for additional 

information.

Driveline
CHECK DRIVELINE CENTER SUPPORT 

BEARING
X X

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.

Driveline CHECK DRIVE SHAFTS AND U JOINTS X
7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.

Driveline
CHECK AND LUBRICATE U-JOINTS, 

FLANGES
X X

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for 

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated. 7.10.2 Driveline retarding systems shall be cleaned, shall 

be inspected for security of mounting, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.

Electrical ELECTRICAL SYSTEM X
13.1 If the apparatus has a line voltage electrical system, it shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter, and with the manufacturers recommendations.

Engine CHECK ENGINE COVER BOLTS X 7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

Engine INSPECT ENGINE MOUNTS X 7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

7.4.3 Engine oil and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the engine manufacturer's severe service. If no sev ere serv 

ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall 

be followed.

7.4.1 The engine oil shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the engine manufacturer.

7.4.4 The diagnostic codes for electronically controlled engines shall be reviewed for types

and frequency of error codes that have been logged.

7.4.5* The engine performance shall be maintained in accordance with the engine

manufacturer's recommendations.

Engine TEST ENGINE BRAKE X X 7.4.6 Engine braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Engine CHECK ENGINE IDLE SPEED X X Inspect for proper operation and adjust as recommended by the manufacturer.

Engine PRESSURE WASH ENGINE X X Pressure wash as needed to inspect engine.

Engine TEST ENGINE SHUT DOWN MECHANISM X Test as recommended by manufacturer.

Engine 

Coolant 

System

INSPECT FREEZE PLUGS AND OIL COOLER 

AND LINES
X 7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

Exhaust
CHECK EMISSION CONTROL LINES, 

FITTINGS, BRACKETS
X

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and exhaust 

leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

Exhaust INSPECT EXHAUST SYSTEM X

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and exhaust 

leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

Frame INSPECT FRAME AND SUPPORTS X X X X X
7.2.1 All frame rails and members shall be inspected for defects, structural integrity, corrosion, perforations, cracks, and 

missing or loose parts.

Fuel CHANGE FUEL FILTER(S) X X 7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Fuel CHANGE FUEL/WATER SEPARATOR X X 7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting,

deformation, and leakage.

CHECK FUEL TANK MOUNTING  AND TIE 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting,

DOWNS deformation,  and leakage.

X

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system including,shall be inspected for security of mounting and leaks and shall 

be diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended 

by the manufacturer.

X

Cooling LITMUS TEST COOLANT X X

Cooling CHECK COOLANT LEVEL X X XX

INSPECT CAB AND BODY MOUNTS

X

Engine CHANGE ENGINE OIL AND FILTERS X X

Engine CHECK ENGINE PERFORMANCE X X

Engine CHECK ALL DIAGNOSTIC CODES X X

Fuel X

Fuel CHECK FUEL TANK DRAIN PLUG X

7



Fuel INSPECT FUEL LINES X 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

Fuel INSPECT FUEL PUMP(S) X 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

7.6.3 The carburetor or the injection pump and injectors shall be maintained in accordance

with the engine manufacturer's  recommendations.

Fuel
INSPECT GAUGES, INDICATORS,  AND 

SENDING UNITS
X X 7.6.4 Gauges, indicators, and sending units shall be diagnostically  checked.

Fuel CHECK ENGINE THROTTLE X X

7.6.5* All mechanical  throttle linkage and stops shall be inspected for proper adjustment and diagnostically  checked. 

A.7.6.5 All linkage should be inspected for freedom of movement,  adjustment,  full throttle position, idle position, and 

smooth operation. 7.6.6 All electronic throttle components  and throttle position sensors (TPS) shall be inspected for counts 

and diagnostically  checked.

22.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a line voltage electrical system, the system and components  shall be tested as 

required by this chapter. 22.2 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually, unless otherwise noted, and whenever 

major repairs or modifications  to the line voltage electrical system or any component of the system have

been made.

8.8 Miscellaneous  electrical components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:

(1) Battery conditioners and chargers (2) Shoreline receptacles (3) Radios and intercoms (4) Converters and inverters (5) 

Fast idle system (6) Interlock system(s) (7) Operator alert devices (8) Other electrical components  on the apparatus not 

otherwise specified above.

Parking Brake 16.4 The parking brake system shall be tested at least annually. Follow instructions in

Test Chapter 16. See A.16.4.1 and A.16.4.2.

Pump CHECK PUMP X

9.2.1 All fire pumps, auxiliary pumps, industrial pumps, and transfer pumps shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

structural integrity, and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked. 9.2.2 All pump shaft packing or mechanical  seals 

shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations.

Pump CLEAN PUMP TRANSMISSION STRAINER X
9.2.3 Renewable anodes, intake strainers, or any other means to prevent galvanic corrosion shall be inspected for condition 

and replaced if necessary.

Pump TEST PUMP SHIFT UNIT X

9.2.4.1 The pump drive system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage, shall be diagnostically  checked, 

and shall be lubricated as required by the component manufacturer.  9.2.4.2 All pump shift controls, pump shift indicators 

located in the driving compartment  and on the operator's panel, engine speed advancement  interlocks, and any other 

interlocks of the pump drive system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage, shall be diagnostically  

checked, and shall be lubricated as required. See A.9.2.4.1 and A.9.2.4.2

Pump CHECK COMPONENTS OF DRIVE SYSTEM X

A.9.2.41 Components  of the pump drive system could include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) Split-shaft power 

takeoff (PTO) (2) Pump transmission (3) Pump transfer case (4) PTO (5) Pump clutch (6) Pump drive shafts (7) Hydraulic 

drive systems (8) Auxiliary drive engine.

A.9.2.4.2 Pump shift controls can include electrical, pneumatic, or mechanical

components  working individually or in combination  to shift the pump drive system into and out of pump mode. Some pumps 

have manual backup shift controls. Pump shift indicators in-cab and on the operator's panel on split-shaft PTO pump drive 

systems typically reuire an electromechanical device, such as a switch mounted on the pump transmission,  to sense pump 

shift status. The controls need to be inspected, diagnostically  checked, and lubricated as part of a preventive maintenance  

program.

CHECK PUMP TRANSMISSION CASE 9.2.4.3 All fluids in the pump drive system shall be inspected for contamination and

FLUID LEVEL AND CONTAMINATION maintained at the level and condition specified by the component manufacturer.

Pump CHECK ALL PIPING AND VALVES X X

9.2.5 All pump piping, valves and valve controls, fire hose connections, caps, chains, and gaskets shall be inspected for 

security of mounting, structural integrity, proper valve operation, deformation, corrosion, and leakage and shall be lubricated 

as required by the component manufacturer.

Pump CHECK INSTRUMENTATION AND GAUGES X X X X
9.2.6 All instrumentation, gauges, and lighting shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be 

diagnostically checked.

9.2.7 All pump control systems including, but not limited to, the following shall be

diagnostically checked: (1) Engine speed control and interlock (2) Pressure control devices (3) Transfer valve (4) 

Transmission lockup system.

Pump CHECK PRIMING SYSTEM X X X X

9.2.8.1 The pump priming system shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically 

checked. 9.2.8.2 The priming fluid, if required, shall be inspected for contamination and proper type and shall be maintained 

at the level recommended by the component manufacturer.

9.2.9 If the pump has a separate drive engine, that engine shall be inspected and

maintained in accordance with Sections 7.4 through 7.8, as applicable, and in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations.

9.3 If the apparatus is equipped with a water tank, the tank shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, 

deformation, and leakage and shall be maintained in accordance with 9.3.1 and 9.3.2 and the component manufacturer's 

recommendations.

9.3.1 The tank sumps, if equipped with a sump cleanout, shall be cleaned. 9.3.2 Where so equipped, anodes and other 

means to prevent galvanic corrosion shall be inspected and maintained as recommended by the manufacturer.

18.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a fire pump or an industrial supply pump, the

Fuel

Miscellaneou s 

Electrical 

Components

X
CHECK MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL 

COMPONENTS

X

Line Voltage 

Electrical 

System Test

X

Pump X X

X

Pump X X

ANNUAL LINE VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL 

SYSTEM TEST

ANNUAL PARKING BRAKE TEST

X

Pump X X X

Pump TEST PUMP PRIMER MOTOR X X X

Pump CHECK FOR WATER LEAKS X X X

X

X

Pump Test ANNUAL PUMP TEST X

INSPECT INJECTORS

CHECK PUMP SHIFT CONTROLS  A

XTEST PUMP PANEL THROTTLE OPERATION

8



pump shall be inspected and tested as required by this chapter. 18.2 Service test shall be conducted at least annually and 

whenever major repairs or modifications to the pump or any component of the apparatus that is used in pump operations 

have been made. Follow Chapter 18 for the test. See Annex A and Annex B for additional information.

Regulator 17.6 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or

Test
modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. Follow regulator test 

17.6

Road Test ANNUAL ROAD TEST X

16.5 A road test of the fire apparatus shall be conducted at least annually, after each scheduled maintenance interval, and 

after repair, adjustment, or modification of the engine, transmission, drivetrain, suspension, brakes, or steering. Follow 

instructions in Chapter 16.

Solenoid and 17.9 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or

Relay Test
modifications to the low voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.9 for the 

solenoid and relay test.

Starter Wiring

Test

Starting INSPECT STARTER X
17.4.1 The wiring from the battery to the starter shall be inspected for corrosion, loose connections, worn insulation, or 

potential chafing points.

17.7.1 If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, it shall be tested

as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

Starting INSPECT AND CLEAN BATTERY CABLES X X

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems.

Starting INSPECT STARTING SYSTEM X X

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 8.3 All wiring and wire looms shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, tight connections, proper routing, presence of grommets, condition, and cleanliness.

8.4 The battery(ies) shall be tested for storage and performance capabilities in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 17.3.1.1 Batteries shall be cleaned of any accumulated dirt or corrosion, and the connections shall be 

checked to ensure that they

are clean and tight,.17.3.1.2 Batteries shall be inspected for cracks, swelling, deformation, or other physical defects. 17.3.1.3 

Batteries that are not sealed shall be checked to verify that the cells have the proper electrolyte level, and distilled water 

shall be added if necessary. 17.3.1.4 Batteries that are sealed shall be inspected to verify that any electrolyte level indicator 

indicates sufficient electrolyte.

Steering CHECK STEERING SYSTEM X X

7.11.2 All steering system components shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, leakage, and 

condition, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated. 7.11.2.1 The surrounding vehicle components shall be 

inspected for indications that the wheels or tires have been rubbing during steering.

Steering CHECK AXLE STOPS X
7.11.2.2 Both the left and right steering axle stops shall be diagnostically checked to ensure the steering gear hydraulics 

relieve before contacting the steering stops.

7.11.2.3.1 The steering gear mounting bracket shall be cleaned and inspected for cracks.

7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear mounting bracket fasteners shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 

The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are 

in place and properly secured. Lubricate as recommended by the manufacturer.

Steering LUBRICATE STEERING COLUMN LINKAGE X X
7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining 

hardware are in place, properly secured and lubricated.

Steering CHECK STEERING WHEEL X X X X X 7.11.2.5 The steering wheel shall be rotated to check for steering backlash.

Steering CHANGE GEAR BOX FLUID LEVEL X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHANGE POWER STEERING FLUID X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHECK GEAR BOX FLUID LEVEL X X X X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering CHECK POWER STEERING FLUID X
7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations.

Steering
CHECK TIE RODS, DRAG LINK, PITMAN 

ARM
X X

7.11.4 The steering valve(s), steering arms, drag links, pitman arms, tie rod ends, and steering column assembly shall be 

lubricated.

Steering
INSPECT POWER STEERING LINES, BELTS 

AND HOSES
X X X X 7.11.5 All steering pump belts, hoses, and lines shall be inspected for wear, adjustment, and deformation.

Steering CONTROLS AND INDICATORS X
7.11.6 Electronic steering controls and indicators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations.

Steering CHANGE POWER STEERING FILTER X Follow manufacturer's recommendation.

Suspension

CHECK AIR SUSPENSION BAGS, 

MOUNTING BRACKETS, ATTACHED 

HARDWARE AND CONTROLS

X X X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

Pump Test ANNUAL PUMP TEST X

Starting SERVICE BATTERY X

Starting TEST ON BOARD BATTERY CHARGER X X

Steering
CHECK STEERING GEAR BOX, MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, AND LINKAGE
X X

ANNUAL STARTER WIRING TEST X
17.4 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.4 for test.

ANNUAL REGULATOR TEST X

ANNUAL SOLENOID AND RELAY TEST X

9



Suspension
CHECK EQUALIZER BEAMS AND TORQUE 

ARMS
X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be

inspected for defects, missing or loose parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring 

hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock 

absorbers

Suspension
LUBRICATE SUSPENSION PINS AND 

BUSHINGS
X X

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

Suspension
CHECK FRAME AND SUSPENSION FOR 

PROPER ALIGNMENT
X X 7.2.3 The frame and suspension shall be inspected for proper alignment.

Tires/Wheels INSPECT WHEEL BEARINGS AND SEALS X X
7.3.2 Wheel bearings and seals shall be cleaned, inspected for deformation, wear, cracks, and leakage, and shall be 

lubricated.

Tires/Wheels
INSPECT TIRES FOR WEAR, DAMAGE, 

INFLATION
X X X X

7.3.3* Tires shall be inspected for damage and shall be inflated to the tire manufacturer's recommended pressure. 7.3.4* 

Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal standards as 

determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. [See 6.3.1(4)] A.7.3.3 It is important that the cold tire inflation be 

maintained to the fire apparatus manufacturer's recommended tire pressure, which is based on the weight of the completed 

apparatus, and not to the maximum pressure shown on the sidewall of the tire. If the information from the fire apparatus 

manufacturer is not available for the tires on the v ehice, each axle should be weighed with the vehicle fully loaded and the 

tires inflated to the tire manufacturer's inflation specification for the tire model, size, and axle load. A.7.3.4 Tire age can be 

determined by checking the DOT code on the sidewall of each tire.

Tires/Wheels CHECK TREAD DEPTH X
7.3.4* Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal 

standards as determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge.

Tires/Wheels CHECK WHEEL STUDS AND LUG NUTS X X X X X

7.3.5* Wheel-attaching nuts shall be torqued to the wheel manufacturer's recommendation. A.7.3.5 Wheel-attaching 

hardware should be torqued to the manufacturer's recommendation at the time of wheel installation. The wheel- or rim- 

attaching hardware should be re-torqued at 50 mi to 100 mi (80 km to 160 km) after installation and periodically thereafter. 

Wheel cov ers or nut cov ers might have to be removed for proper inspection.

Tires/Wheels
CHECK FOR WHEEL CRACKS 

DEFORMATION AND CORROSION
X X 7.3.6 Wheels and rims shall be inspected for cracks, deformation, structural integrity, and corrosion.

Tires/Wheels CLEAN AND POLISH OR PAINT WHEELS X Clean and polish or paint wheels as needed.

Tires/Wheels INSPECT WHEEL CHOCKS X Inspect that wheel chocks are not missing and are easily accessible.

Total 

Continuous 

Electrical Load 

Test

ANNUAL TOTAL CONTINUOUS ELECTRICAL 

LOAD TEST
X

17.8 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  17.8.1 The total continuous electrical load test shall be permitted 

to be conducted simultaneously with other electrical or pumping tests. A.17.8 This test is designed to verify that the charging 

system, with the load management system, if supplied, is sufficient to supply the total connected load.

Trans CHECK TRANSMISSION X
7.9.1 The transmission shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and leakage and shall be 

diagnostically checked.

Trans
CHECKS TRANSMISSION BRAKING 

SYSTEMS
X 7.9.10 Transmission braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

Trans CHECK AUXILIARY HEAT EXCHANGERS X
7.9.11 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the transmission cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.

Trans CHECK TRANSMISSION  FLUID X
7.9.3 Transmission lubricants and filters shall be inspected for contamination,  and lubricants shall be maintained at the lev 

el specified by the manufacturer.

Trans CHANGE TRANSMISSION  OIL AND FILTERS X

7.9.4 The lubricant and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the transmission manufacturer's sev ere service 

recommendation.  If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended  by the transmission 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be f ollowed.

Trans CHECK INDICATORS AND GAUGES X 7.9.6 All transmission indicators and gauges shall be tested for proper operation and accuracy.

Trans CHECK DIAGNOSTIC CODES X
7.9.7 The diagnostic codes for all electronically controlled transmissions shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error 

codes that have been logged.

Trans
CHECK POWER TAKE OFF(S) MOUNTING 

AND LEAKS
X 7.9.8 PTO's shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked.

Trans CHECK LOCKUP SYSTEM X
7.9.9 The lockup system for pumps and other accessories shall be inspected for leakage and shall be diagnostically  

checked.

Transfer

Case

Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Suspension X X
CHECK TORQUE ON SUSPENSION U-

BOLTS

TEST HORNS, SIRENS, ALARMS X

Inspect transfer case, check fluid level and change fluid as recommended  by manufacturer.

CHECK WARNING LIGHT OPERATION X

CHANGE TRANSFER CASE FLUID X

10



Warning

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

Devices 8.12(1) through (5).

Wear Points
CHECK AND LUBRICATE ALL WEAR 

POINTS
X

7.1 General. All components and systems commonly found on or in the chassis, driving compartment, crew compartment, 

and body shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and this chapter. Special 

attention should be paid to steering stops, stricker plates, and hinges.

16.2 Fire apparatus Axle Weight Test. The fully loaded fire apparatus shall be weighed following the procedure specified in 

16.2.2 through 16.2.5 to ensure that the weight on the front and rear axles and the gross vehicle weight do not exceed the 

gross axle weight ratings (GAWRs) and the gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination

weight rating (GCWR) as shown on the rating plate on the fire apparatus. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. Also see 

A.16.2.3, A16.2.4(3), A.16.2.4(4).

Winch

Systems

Windshield

Washer

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

8.10(1) through (5).

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in

8.10(1) through (5).

 

Weight 

Verification 

Test

ANNUAL WEIGHT TEST X

TEST INSTRUMENT  PANEL WARNING 

DEVICES AND GAUGES
X

FILL WINDSHIELD WASHER RESERVOIR X 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected f or contamination and maintained to the levels recommended  by the manufacturer.

INSPECT WINCH SYSTEM X
15.1 Any winch or winch attachment point on a fire apparatus shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter and with the manufacturers recommendations.

Work Lighting CHECK WORK LIGHT OPERATION X

Work Lighting CHECK EMERGENCY  LIGHT OPERATION X

11



System Description NFPA 1901 Standard Reference FRH

Air Conditioning
CHECK A/C AND 

HEATER OPERATION

8.11 All electrical accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Heater and 

defroster (2) Air-conditioning system (3) Windshield wipers and washers (4) Instrumentation (5) Traffic preemption (6) Other 

electrical accessories on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.11(1) through (5).
0.2

Air Intake
INSPECT AIR INTAKE 

SYSTEM

7.7.1 The engine air intake system shall include, but not be limited to the following: (1) Air cleaner element (2) Piping (3) 

Turbocharger (4) Air after-cooler (5) Intercooler (6) Air-to-air cooler (7) Blower (8) Ember separator 7.7.2 The engine air 

intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service recommendation. If no severe 

service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or 

mileage, shall be followed. 7.7.3 Where engines are equipped with a charged air after-cooler, it shall be inspected visually 

for outward signs of damage or deformation. 7.7.4 All hoses, tubes, and fittings shall be inspected for deformation and 

leakage. 7.7.5 The airflow shall be monitored for restriction greater than that recommended by the engine manufacturer.
0.3

Air Intake CHANGE AIR FILTERS

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's severe service 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended by the engine 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

CHECK AND CLEAN 

AIR INTAKE SPARK 

ARRESTER

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe service 

recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

INSPECT CRANK 

CASE BREATHER 

TUBES

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake
INSPECT ENGINE 

DRIVE BELT(S)

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air Intake

INSPECT TURBO 

CHARGER 

CONNECTION

7.7.2 The engine air intake system shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's  severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest service interval recommended  by the engine 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be followed. 0

Air-Powered 

Accessories

CHECK WINDSHIELD  

WASHER, WIPER 

OPERATION

7.13 All chassis air-powered accessories including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Air

horn (2) W indshield wiper and washer (3) Air-ride seats (4) Air-powered  steps and cab tilting systems (5) Fire pup shift and 

valves.
0

Alternator Test
ANNUAL 

ALTERNATOR TEST

17.5 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications  to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system hav e been made. Follow alternator test 17.5. This test verifies the output of the 

alternator and the alternator wiring. 0.2

Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK HEADLIGHT  

ADJUSTMENT

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0.1

Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK INSTRUMENT  

PANEL LIGHTS, 

GAUGES

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0

Annual Service for Light Class Emergency Response Vehicles (Ambulance, Light Class Rescue, Type VI Engines)

12



Apparatus 

Lighting

CHECK OEM LIGHT 

OPERATION

8.9 All fire apparatus lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Headlights (2) Marker lights (3) Clearance lights (4) Turn signals and 

hazard lights (5) Brake lights (6) Backup lights (7) Dash lights (8) Other fire apparatus lighting equipment on the apparatus 

not otherwise specified in 8.9(1) through (7). 0

Automatic 

Electrical Load 

Mgmt System

TEST AUTOMATIC  

ELECTRICAL  LOAD 

MANAGEMENT 

SYSTEM

8.7.1 If so equipped, all components of the automatic electrical load management  system including, but not limited to, the 

following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation:  (1) Electronic hardware (2) Associated wiring and 

cables (3) Relays, controls, and indicators (4) Low v oltage warning devices. 8.7.2* The system shall be checked for 

activation and operation of low v oltage warning devices in accordance with the manufacturer's  recommendations. See 

A.8.7.2 for test. 0.1

Axle

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE  KING 

PINS OR BALL JOINTS

7.3.1 All axle components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural 

integrity, deformation,  abnormal wear, and leakage, shall be functionally  operated, and shall be lubricated: (1) Ball joints 

(2) King pins (3) Spindles and bushings (4) Attaching hardware (5) Axle beams and housings (6) Axle shafts (7) Axle power 

div iders (8) Differentials and controls (9) Two-speed axle shift units (10) Upper and lower control arms.
0.2

Axle

CHECK 

DIFFERENTIAL FLUID 

LEVEL, CLEAN VENTS

Check differential  fluid level and fill or replace following manufacturer's  recommendations.

0

Axle
UPPER AND LOWER 

CONTROL ARMS
Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

0.1

Battery 

Charger/Cond 

itioner Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

CHARGER/CONDITIO

NER TEST

17.7 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or 

conditioner, it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3. 0.3

Battery Test

ANNUAL BATTERY 

LOAD OR 

CONDUCTIVITY  TEST

17.3 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage 

electrical system or any component of the system have been made. 17.3.2 Each battery shall be individually tested using 

either the procedure specified in 17.3.2.1 or 17.3.2.2. A.17.3.2.1 Conductivity testing is preferred to load testing because it 

does not stress the battery, it is a more accurate indication of the state of health of the battery, and it provides values that 

can be recorded and tracked for trend analysis. Follow Chapter 17 for test.
0

Body
SERVICE ROLL UP 

DOORS/TRACKS

7.15.1 All compartments and storage areas shall be inspected for structural integrity, deformation, and leaks. 7.15.1.1 

Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.  7.15.1.2 Doors shall be diagnostically 

checked for correct operation and position. 0.3

Body

PERFORM BODY 

LUBRICATION 

SERVICE

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated.

0

Body

INSPECT DOOR 

LATCHES, HINGES, 

LOCKS

7.15.1.1 Hinges, latches, and seals shall be diagnostically checked and shall be lubricated. 7.15.1.2 Doors shall be 

diagnostically checked for correct operation and position. 7.15.1.3 The hazard warning light and interlocks associated with, 

but not limited to, the following conditions shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Open passenger or equipment compartment 

doors (2) Ladder or equipment rack not in the stowed position (3) Deployed stabilizer system (4) Extended powered light 

tower. 0

Body
INSPECT MOUNTED 

STEPS,

7.15.2 All steps, platforms, handrails, and access ladders shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity,

and deformation. 7.15.2.1 All slip resistant surfaces shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition. 7.15.2.2 All

mechanical steps shall be 0

13



Body

INSPECT FINISHES, 

STRIPING, SIGNS 

AND LABELS

7.15.4* All finishes and reflective striping shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 7.15.5* Where required, all 

signs and labels shall be inspected for their presence and any defects, corrosion, and damage. If apparatus does not have 

reflective striping, or warning labels, consider adding in accordance with applicable sections of current NFPA 1901
0

Body

INSPECT POWERED 

EQUIPMENT RACKS 

INSPECT FOR 

SHIELDS AND 

GUARDS

7.16.1 All locks used to hold equipment racks in the road travel position and all interlocks to prevent operation of equipment 

racks when the fire apparatus is in motion shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation. 7.16.2 Racks and 

interlocks shall be diagnostically checked. 7.16.3 All warning lights and visual signals for the equipment racks shall be 

diagnostically checked. 7.16.4 Reflective striping or reflective paint shall be inspected for defects, corrosion, and damage. 

7.16.5 Equipment-holding  devices shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation, shall be diagnostically 

checked, and shall be lubricated.  Inspect that all shields and guards are installed and tighened properly.
0

Brake
CHECK PARKING 

BRAKE OPERATION

7.12.2 The parking brake shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, missing or broken parts, and wear 

and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.3 The parking brake controls and activating mechanism shall be inspected for 

structural integrity, security of mounting, and missing or broken parts, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be 

lubricated. 0.6

Brake

INSPECT BRAKE 

LINING, DRUMS OR 

ROTORS

7.12.4 The brake linings shall be replaced in accordance with the brake manufacturer's severe service recommendation 

when they are contaminated, when the lining is worn to the minimum thickness for safe operation as defined by the brake 

manufacturer, or when the brake drum or rotor is replaced. 7.12.5 The drums or rotors shall be inspected during scheduled 

maintenance, when there is a suspected problem or at the time of brake lining replacement, and the inspection shall consist 

of, but not be limited to the following: (1) Evidence of extensive heat or heat cracking (2) Out of round (3) Wear beyond 

manufacturer's specifications (4) Rust (5) Taper (6) Rotor parallelism (7) Metal fatigue.  7.12.6 Machining of brake drums or 

rotors shall be done only in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. 7.12.7 All components of the braking system 

shall be inspected for damage and wear when performing a brake overhaul.
1

Brake TEST ABS SYSTEM

7.12.8.1 Antilock braking systems (ABS) including the electronic control unit, cables, switches, relays, sensors, and v alv es 

shall be inspected for any deficiencies and shall be diagnostically checked. 7.12.8.2 The ABS electronic control unit (ECU) 

diagnostic codes shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes that have been logged.
0

Brake
PERFORM COMPLETE 

BRAKE INSPECTION

7.12.9 If the fire apparatus has a hydraulic brake system, the components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: (1) Pedal and linkage (2) Brake switches (3) Master cylinder (4) Brake booster (5) Hydraulic 

lines (6) Valves (7) Wheel cylinders or calipers (8) Brake shoes or pads (9) Brake drums or rotors (10) Warning devices 

(11) Mounting hardware (12) Fluid level and contamination. 7.12.10 If the fire apparatus has an air brake system, the 

components to be inspected and maintained shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  (1) Air compressor (2) Pedal 

assembly (3) All valves (4) Hoses and lines (5) Brake switches (6) Brake air chambers (7) Slack adjusters (8) Cams and 

wedges (9) Brake shoes or pads (10) Brake drums or rotor (11) Calipers (12) Air dryers (13) Drain valves (14) Air tanks (15) 

Warning devices (16) Mounting hardware.
0

Brake

CHECK DISC BRAKE 

TORQUE PLATE 

BOLTS

Check for security of mounting and deformation.

0

Brake

INSPECT CALIPER 

RETAINING RING AND 

BOLTS

Check for security of mounting and deformation.

0

Brake System 

Test

ANNUAL BRAKE 

SYSTEM TEST

16.3 Braking System test. Testing of the braking system, including antilock brake systems and auxiliary brake system, shall 

be conducted at least annually and whenever adjustments, repairs, or modifications have been performed on any 

component that can affect the proper operation of the braking system or systems. Follow instructions in Chapter 16.
0.2

14



Braking System
CHECK BACKING 

PLATE BOLTS

7.12.1 The braking system shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s severe serv ice 

recommendation. If no severe service recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the braking system 

manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall be followed. If the vehicle is equipped with backing plates on the brakes the 

bolts should be checked on every B maintenance. 0

Cab

CHECK 

GLASS/MIRRORS FOR 

DELAMINATION, 

CHIPS, AND CRACKS

7.14.1 All glass, windows, and mirrors shall be inspected for condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK AIR RIDE 

SEAT SYSTEM
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK SEAT FOR 

CUTS AND TEARS
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab
CHECK SEAT FRAME 

FOR CRACKS
7.14.2 All seats shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.

0

Cab CHECK SEAT BELTS 7.14.3 All seat belts shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition and shall be diagnostically checked.
0

Cab

CHECK 

COMPARTMENT 

DOORS

7.14.4 Doors, door hinges, latches, and door stops shall be inspected for security of mounting and condition, shall be 

diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.
0

Cab
CHECK CAB 

MOUNTING SYSTEMS

All components of the cab mounting system including but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation: (1) Mounting brackets (2) Cab base structure (3) Resilient cushions (4) Securing fasteners. 

7.14.6* All equipment mounting systems including, but not limited to, mounting systems for the following shall be inspected 

for security of mounting and deformation and shall be maintained free of corrosion: (1) Radios, computers, and siren 

controls (2) Self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) (3) Portable lights (4) Hand tools (5) Emergency medical service 

(EMS) equipment (6) Books, street directories, and maps. For the safety of personnel, equipment should be mounted in 

accordance with the requirements of NFPA 1901. 0.1

Cab
INSPECT CAB 

INTERIOR CONDITION

Inspection to include, but not limited to, pedals, knobs, handles, headliner, interior door covers, and lights, for security of 

mounting, deformation and proper operation.
0.1

Charging
CHECK CHARGING 

SYSTEM

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.
0

Charging
CHECK VOLTAGE 

REGULATOR

8.5.1 All components of the charging system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, deformation, and alignment and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Alternator, regulator, and associated wiring 

and cables (2) Isolators (3) Alternator drive belts (4) Solenoids, relays, switches, and instrumentation (5) Interlock systems.
0

Cooling
CHECK COOLANT 

LEVEL
7.5.1 The engine coolant shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the manufacturer.

0.3

Cooling
INSPECT AUXILIARY 

HEAT EXCHANGERS

7.5.10 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the engine cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.
0.1

15



Cooling
INSPECT AND CLEAN 

RADIATOR FINS
7.5.2 The radiator assembly shall be inspected and cleaned of dirt, debris, and obstructions to airflow.

0

Cooling

CHECK COOLING 

SYSTEM HOSES AND 

BELTS

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage. 7.5.6 All belts shall be inspected for wear, 

deformation, and proper adjustment.
0

Cooling CHECK WATER PUMP 7.5.4 The water pump's) shall be inspected for condition and leakage.
0

Cooling
PRESSURE TEST 

COOLING SYSTEM
7.5.5 The cooling system shall be pressure tested for leakage.

0

Cooling
LITMUS TEST 

COOLANT
7.5.7 The chemical components of the coolant shall be tested and maintained at the proper balance.

0

Cooling INSPECT GAUGES 7.5.8 Cooling system temperature indicators and gauges shall be diagnostically checked. 0

Cooling CHECK FAN CLUTCH
7.5.9 Temperature control devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be diagnostically checked: (1) 

Thermostats (2) Clutch fans (3) Radiator shutters (4) Electric cooling fans. 0.1

Cooling
CHECK RADIATOR 

CAP(S)
Check to see if missing or not sealing properly.

0

Cooling
INSPECT RADIATOR 

AND MOUNTS
Inspect for security of mounting, structural integrity, deformation, abnormal wear, leakage, and functional operation.

0

Cooling
CHANGE COOLANT 

FILTER
Replace coolant filter as recommended by the manufacturer.

0.1

Crew 

Compartment

INSPECT CAB AND 

BODY MOUNTS

7.14.7.1* All components of the cab tilting system including,shall be inspected for security of mounting and leaks and shall 

be diagnostically checked. 7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected for contamination and maintained to the levels recommended 

by the manufacturer. 0.1

Dielectric 

Voltage Test

5 YEAR DIELECTRIC 

VOLTAGE WITH 

STAND TEST

22.8 At least every 5 years, and after a vehicle accident or body repair, a dielectric test shall be performed on the line 

voltage electrical system. Follow Chapter 22 for test. Also see Annex A for additional information.
0.2

Driveline

CHECK DRIVELINE 

CENTER SUPPORT 

BEARING

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.
0.3

Driveline

CHECK DRIVE 

SHAFTS AND U 

JOINTS

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated.
0

Driveline

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE U-

JOINTS, FLANGES

7.10.1 All drive shafts, universal joints, carrier bearings, flanges, bearing cap bolts, and slip yokes shall be inspected for 

alignment, security of mounting, and wear and shall be lubricated. 7.10.2 Driveline retarding systems shall be cleaned, shall 

be inspected for security of mounting, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated.
0

Electrical ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
13.1 If the apparatus has a line voltage electrical system, it shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter, and with the manufacturers recommendations. 0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE 

COVER BOLTS
7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

0

Engine
INSPECT ENGINE 

MOUNTS
7.4.2 The engine shall be inspected for security of mounting and fluid leaks.

0

Engine
CHANGE ENGINE OIL 

AND FILTERS

7.4.3 Engine oil and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the engine manufacturer's severe service. If no sev ere serv 

ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended by the engine manufacturer, based on time or mileage, shall 

be followed.  7.4.1 The engine oil shall be inspected for contamination and maintained at the level specified by the engine 

manufacturer. 0.3

16



Engine
CHECK ALL 

DIAGNOSTIC CODES

7.4.4 The diagnostic codes for electronically controlled engines shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error codes 

that have been logged.
0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE 

PERFORMANCE
7.4.5* The engine performance shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.

0

Engine
CHECK ENGINE IDLE 

SPEED
Inspect for proper operation and adjust as recommended by the manufacturer.

0.1

Engine
PRESSURE WASH 

ENGINE
Pressure wash as needed to inspect engine.

0.2

Engine Coolant 

System

INSPECT FREEZE 

PLUGS AND OIL 

COOLER AND LINES

7.5.3 All hoses and fittings shall be inspected for condition and leakage.

0

Exhaust

CHECK EMISSION 

CONTROL LINES, 

FITTINGS, BRACKETS

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and 

exhaust leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.
0.2

Exhaust
INSPECT EXHAUST 

SYSTEM

7.8.1 The engine exhaust system shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) Exhaust manifolds) (2) Exhaust pipes 

(3) Mufflers) (4) Tailpipes) (5) Exhaust clamps, brackets, and mounting hardware (6) Turbocharger (7) Catalytic converters) 

(8) Exhaust filtration system  7.8.2 The exhaust system shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation, and 

exhaust leaks and shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's recommendations.
0

Frame
INSPECT FRAME AND 

SUPPORTS

7.2.1 All frame rails and members shall be inspected for defects, structural integrity, corrosion, perforations, cracks, and 

missing or loose parts. 0

Fuel
CHANGE FUEL 

FILTER(S)
7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0.3

Fuel

CHANGE 

FUEL/WATER 

SEPARATOR

7.6.1 Fuel filters and fuel-water separators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0.3

Fuel

CHECK FUEL TANK 

DRAIN PLUG CHECK 

FUEL TANK 

MOUNTING  AND TIE 

DOWNS

7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage.

0

Fuel INSPECT FUEL LINES 7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage. 0

Fuel
INSPECT FUEL 

PUMP(S)
7.6.2 The fuel tank, lines, and all connections shall be inspected for security of mounting, deformation,  and leakage. 0

Fuel INSPECT INJECTORS
7.6.3 The carburetor or the injection pump and injectors shall be maintained in accordance with the engine manufacturer's  

recommendations.
0

Fuel

INSPECT GAUGES, 

INDICATORS,  AND 

SENDING UNITS

7.6.4 Gauges, indicators, and sending units shall be diagnostically  checked. 0

Fuel
CHECK ENGINE 

THROTTLE

7.6.5* All mechanical  throttle linkage and stops shall be inspected for proper adjustment and diagnostically  checked. 

A.7.6.5 All linkage should be inspected for freedom of movement,  adjustment,  full throttle position, idle position, and 

smooth operation. 7.6.6 All electronic throttle components  and throttle position sensors (TPS) shall be inspected for counts 

and diagnostically  checked.

0.1

17



Line Voltage 

Electrical 

System Test

ANNUAL LINE 

VOLTAGE 

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM 

TEST

22.1 If the fire apparatus is equipped with a line voltage electrical system, the system and components  shall be tested as 

required by this chapter. 22.2 Performance tests shall be conducted at least annually, unless otherwise noted, and 

whenever major repairs or modifications  to the line voltage electrical system or any component of the system have been 

made.

0.2

Miscellaneou s 

Electrical 

Components

CHECK 

MISCELLANEOUS 

ELECTRICAL 

COMPONENTS

8.8 Miscellaneous  electrical components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation  and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Battery conditioners and chargers (2) Shoreline 

receptacles (3) Radios and intercoms (4) Converters and inverters (5) Fast idle system (6) Interlock system(s) (7) Operator 

alert devices (8) Other electrical components  on the apparatus not otherwise specified above.

0

Parking Brake 

Test

ANNUAL PARKING 

BRAKE TEST

16.4 The parking brake system shall be tested at least annually. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. See A.16.4.1 and 

A.16.4.2.
0

Regulator Test
ANNUAL REGULATOR 

TEST

17.6 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow regulator test 17.6 0

Road Test ANNUAL ROAD TEST

16.5 A road test of the fire apparatus shall be conducted at least annually, after each scheduled maintenance interval, and 

after repair, adjustment, or modification of the engine, transmission, drivetrain, suspension, brakes, or steering. Follow 

instructions in Chapter 16. 0.2

Solenoid and 

Relay Test

ANNUAL SOLENOID 

AND RELAY TEST

17.9 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.9 for the solenoid and relay test. 0.2

Starter Wiring 

Test

ANNUAL STARTER 

WIRING TEST

17.4 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made. Follow 17.4 for test. 0.3

Starting INSPECT STARTER
17.4.1 The wiring from the battery to the starter shall be inspected for corrosion, loose connections, worn insulation, or 

potential chafing points. 0

Starting
TEST ON BOARD 

BATTERY CHARGER
17.7.1 If the apparatus is equipped with a battery charger or conditioner, it shall be tested as described in 17.7.2 and 17.7.3.

0

Starting
INSPECT AND CLEAN 

BATTERY CABLES

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 0

Starting
INSPECT STARTING 

SYSTEM

8.2 All components of the starting system including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of 

mounting and deformation and shall be diagnostically checked: (1) Batteries, cabling, and connections (2) Cranking motor 

(3) Solenoid, relays, and switches (4) Interlock systems. 8.3 All wiring and wire looms shall be inspected for security of 

mounting, tight connections, proper routing, presence of grommets, condition, and cleanliness.
0.2

Starting SERVICE BATTERY

8.4 The battery(ies) shall be tested for storage and performance capabilities in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 17.3.1.1 Batteries shall be cleaned of any accumulated dirt or corrosion, and the connections shall be 

checked to ensure that they are clean and tight,.17.3.1.2 Batteries shall be inspected for cracks, swelling, deformation, or 

other physical defects. 17.3.1.3 Batteries that are not sealed shall be checked to verify that the cells have the proper 

electrolyte level, and distilled water shall be added if necessary. 17.3.1.4 Batteries that are sealed shall be inspected to 

verify that any electrolyte level indicator indicates sufficient electrolyte.
0

Steering
CHECK STEERING 

SYSTEM

7.11.2 All steering system components shall be inspected for structural integrity, security of mounting, leakage, and 

condition, shall be diagnostically checked, and shall be lubricated. 7.11.2.1 The surrounding vehicle components shall be 

inspected for indications that the wheels or tires have been rubbing during steering. 0.4

Steering CHECK AXLE STOPS
7.11.2.2 Both the left and right steering axle stops shall be diagnostically checked to ensure the steering gear hydraulics 

relieve before contacting the steering stops. 0

18



Steering

CHECK STEERING 

GEAR BOX, 

MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, AND 

LINKAGE

7.11.2.3.1 The steering gear mounting bracket shall be cleaned and inspected for cracks.7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear 

mounting bracket fasteners shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 The steering linkage 

assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are in place and 

properly secured. Lubricate as recommended by the manufacturer. 7.11.2.3.2 All steering gear mounting bracket fasteners 

shall be inspected for proper installation, grade, and torque. 7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to 

ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining hardware are in place and properly secured. Lubricate as 

recommended by the manufacturer. 0

Steering

LUBRICATE 

STEERING COLUMN 

LINKAGE

7.11.2.4 The steering linkage assembly shall be inspected to ensure that the pinch bolts, cotter pins, and other retaining 

hardware are in place, properly secured and lubricated.
0

Steering
CHECK STEERING 

WHEEL
7.11.2.5 The steering wheel shall be rotated to check for steering backlash.

0

Steering
CHANGE GEAR BOX 

FLUID LEVEL

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0.2

Steering
CHANGE POWER 

STEERING FLUID

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0.3

Steering
CHECK GEAR BOX 

FLUID LEVEL

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0

Steering
CHECK POWER 

STEERING FLUID

7.11.3 The steer gear box (es) and power steering reservoir lubricant levels shall be maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations. 0

Steering

CHECK TIE RODS, 

DRAG LINK, PITMAN 

ARM

7.11.4 The steering valve(s), steering arms, drag links, pitman arms, tie rod ends, and steering column assembly shall be 

lubricated.
0

Steering

INSPECT POWER 

STEERING LINES, 

BELTS AND HOSES

7.11.5 All steering pump belts, hoses, and lines shall be inspected for wear, adjustment, and deformation.

0

Steering
CONTROLS AND 

INDICATORS

7.11.6 Electronic steering controls and indicators shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's 

recommendations. 0

Steering
CHANGE POWER 

STEERING FILTER
Follow manufacturer's recommendation.

0.1

Suspension

CHECK AIR 

SUSPENSION BAGS, 

MOUNTING 

BRACKETS, 

ATTACHED 

HARDWARE AND 

CONTROLS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers

0.3

Suspension

CHECK EQUALIZER 

BEAMS AND TORQUE 

ARMS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers 0

Suspension

CHECK TORQUE ON 

SUSPENSION U-

BOLTS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets 0

Suspension

LUBRICATE 

SUSPENSION PINS 

AND BUSHINGS

7.2.2 All suspension components including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for defects, missing or loose 

parts, and functional operation and shall be lubricated: (1) Springs and spring hangers (2) Air springs (bags), mounting 

brackets, and attaching hardware (3) Equalizer beams and torque arms (4) Shock absorbers 0

19



Suspension

CHECK FRAME AND 

SUSPENSION FOR 

PROPER ALIGNMENT

7.2.3 The frame and suspension shall be inspected for proper alignment.

0

Tires/Wheels

INSPECT WHEEL 

BEARINGS AND 

SEALS

7.3.2 Wheel bearings and seals shall be cleaned, inspected for deformation, wear, cracks, and leakage, and shall be 

lubricated.
1

Tires/Wheels

INSPECT TIRES FOR 

WEAR, DAMAGE, 

INFLATION

7.3.3* Tires shall be inspected for damage and shall be inflated to the tire manufacturer's recommended pressure. 7.3.4* 

Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal standards as 

determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. [See 6.3.1(4)] A.7.3.3 It is important that the cold tire inflation be 

maintained to the fire apparatus manufacturer's recommended tire pressure, which is based on the weight of the completed 

apparatus, and not to the maximum pressure shown on the sidewall of the tire. If the information from the fire apparatus 

manufacturer is not available for the tires on the v ehice, each axle should be weighed with the vehicle fully loaded and the 

tires inflated to the tire manufacturer's inflation specification for the tire model, size, and axle load. A.7.3.4 Tire age can be 

determined by checking the DOT code on the sidewall of each tire.
0

Tires/Wheels
CHECK TREAD 

DEPTH

7.3.4* Tires shall be replaced at least every 7 years or more frequently when the tread wear exceeds state or federal 

standards as determined by measureing with a tread depth gauge. 0

Tires/Wheels

CHECK WHEEL 

STUDS AND LUG 

NUTS

7.3.5* Wheel-attaching nuts shall be torqued to the wheel manufacturer's recommendation. A.7.3.5 Wheel-attaching 

hardware should be torqued to the manufacturer's recommendation at the time of wheel installation. The wheel- or rim- 

attaching hardware should be re-torqued at 50 mi to 100 mi (80 km to 160 km) after installation and periodically thereafter. 

Wheel cov ers or nut cov ers might have to be removed for proper inspection. 0

Tires/Wheels

CHECK FOR WHEEL 

CRACKS 

DEFORMATION AND 

CORROSION

7.3.6 Wheels and rims shall be inspected for cracks, deformation, structural integrity, and corrosion.

0

Tires/Wheels
INSPECT WHEEL 

CHOCKS
Inspect that wheel chocks are not missing and are easily accessible.

0

Total Continuous 

Electrical Load 

Test

ANNUAL TOTAL 

CONTINUOUS 

ELECTRICAL LOAD 

TEST

17.8 Tests shall be conducted at least annually and whenever major repairs or modifications to the low voltage electrical 

system or any component of the system have been made.  17.8.1 The total continuous electrical load test shall be permitted 

to be conducted simultaneously with other electrical or pumping tests. A.17.8 This test is designed to verify that the 

charging system, with the load management system, if supplied, is sufficient to supply the total connected load.
0

Trans
CHECK 

TRANSMISSION

7.9.1 The transmission shall be inspected for security of mounting, structural integrity, and leakage and shall be 

diagnostically checked. 0.5

Trans

CHECKS 

TRANSMISSION 

BRAKING SYSTEMS

7.9.10 Transmission braking systems shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

0

Trans
CHECK AUXILIARY 

HEAT EXCHANGERS

7.9.11 Auxiliary heat exchangers installed in the transmission cooling system shall be inspected for security of mounting, 

deformation, and leaks.
0

Trans

CHECK 

TRANSMISSION  

FLUID

7.9.3 Transmission lubricants and filters shall be inspected for contamination,  and lubricants shall be maintained at the lev 

el specified by the manufacturer.
0

Trans

CHANGE 

TRANSMISSION  OIL 

AND FILTERS

7.9.4 The lubricant and filters shall be serviced in accordance with the transmission manufacturer's sev ere service 

recommendation.  If no severe serv ice recommendation exists, the shortest interval recommended  by the transmission 

manufacturer,  based on time or mileage, shall be f ollowed. 0

20



Trans
CHECK INDICATORS 

AND GAUGES
7.9.6 All transmission indicators and gauges shall be tested for proper operation and accuracy.

0

Trans
CHECK DIAGNOSTIC 

CODES

7.9.7 The diagnostic codes for all electronically controlled transmissions shall be reviewed for types and frequency of error 

codes that have been logged.
0

Trans

CHECK POWER TAKE 

OFF(S) MOUNTING 

AND LEAKS

7.9.8 PTO's shall be inspected for security of mounting and leakage and shall be diagnostically  checked.

0

Trans
CHECK LOCKUP 

SYSTEM

7.9.9 The lockup system for pumps and other accessories shall be inspected for leakage and shall be diagnostically  

checked. 0

Transfer Case
CHANGE TRANSFER 

CASE FLUID
Inspect transfer case, check fluid level and change fluid as recommended  by manufacturer.

0.3

Warning 

Devices

CHECK WARNING 

LIGHT OPERATION

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Warning 

Devices

TEST HORNS, 

SIRENS, ALARMS

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Warning 

Devices

TEST INSTRUMENT  

PANEL WARNING 

DEVICES AND 

GAUGES

8.12 All warning devices including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and 

deformation and shall be diagnostically  checked:  (1) Emergency warning lights (2) Electric and electronic sirens (3) 

Automotive traffic horn (4) Air horns (5) Backup alarm (6) Other warning dev ices on the apparatus not otherwise specified 

in 8.12(1) through (5). 0

Wear Points

CHECK AND 

LUBRICATE ALL 

WEAR POINTS

7.1 General. All components and systems commonly found on or in the chassis, driving compartment, crew compartment, 

and body shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and this chapter. Special 

attention should be paid to steering stops, stricker plates, and hinges. 0

Weight 

Verification Test

ANNUAL WEIGHT 

TEST

16.2 Fire apparatus Axle Weight Test. The fully loaded fire apparatus shall be weighed following the procedure specified in 

16.2.2 through 16.2.5 to ensure that the weight on the front and rear axles and the gross vehicle weight do not exceed the 

gross axle weight ratings (GAWRs) and the gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination weight rating 

(GCWR) as shown on the rating plate on the fire apparatus. Follow instructions in Chapter 16. Also see A.16.2.3, 

A16.2.4(3), A.16.2.4(4). 0

Winch Systems
INSPECT WINCH 

SYSTEM

15.1 Any winch or winch attachment point on a fire apparatus shall be inspected and maintained in accordance with this 

chapter and with the manufacturers recommendations. 0

Windshield 

Washer

FILL WINDSHIELD 

WASHER RESERVOIR
7.14.7.2 Fluids shall be inspected f or contamination and maintained to the levels recommended  by the manufacturer.

0

Work Lighting
CHECK EMERGENCY  

LIGHT OPERATION

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.10(1) through (5).
0

21



Work Lighting
CHECK WORK LIGHT 

OPERATION

8.10 All work lighting including, but not limited to, the following shall be inspected for security of mounting and deformation 

and shall be diagnostically  checked: (1) Ground lights (2) Step lights (3) Flood, spot, and scene lights (4) Cab interior lights 

(5) Compartment lights (6) Other work lighting on the apparatus not otherwise specified in 8.10(1) through (5).
0

10.7

22



         Address: 4817 S. Apache Ave. Sierra Vista, AZ 85650   Phone: (520) 378-3276   Fax: (520) 378-0227  www.fryfiredistrict.com 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

2020-2021 Fee Schedule 

• Classroom clean-up     $25.00 fee 

• CPR Class       $50.00 per student 

• Employment Application (Processing fee)   $10.00 

• Fire Reports (copying charge)    $1.00 per page (non-residents/insurance) 

• Public Information Request (copying charge)  $0.50 per page 

• Haz-Mat response out of district + personnel costs  $225.00 an hour (Trailer/Tow Vehicle) 

        $50.00 an hour (Command Vehicle) 

        $75.00 an hour (Air unit) 

• Pile burning / standby (in district only)   $200.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

• MSA SCBA Maintenance and testing   $70.00 per pack, $20.00 per mask + parts 

• Vehicle Maintenance Light Duty (up to F550)  $90.00 an hour + shop fees + parts 

    Heavy Duty    $125.00 an hour + shop fees + parts 

    Travel    $40.00 an hour (plus government mileage) 

• Out of District Fire Responses    2020 CFRA Contracted Rates + personnel costs 

• Plans Review      $0.25 per sq. ft. 

o Subdivision Plan Review    $500.00 

o Transmittal letters    $30.00 

• Engine/Rescue Response to an MVA   $139.00 + personnel costs 

• Smoke Detector (new home construction)   $25.00 per visit 

• Sporting Events   Ambulance   $150.00 a day donation 

    Brush Truck   $200.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

    Tender     $225.00 an hour (Truck + 2 People) 

    CEP   $315.00 a day / $35.00 an hour (paid to individual) 

    EMT   $225.00 a day / $25.00 an hour (paid to individual) 

• Training   Drafting Pit   $40.00 a day + Technicians hourly rate 

    Burn Building   $150.00 an hour (includes 1 operator) 

    LPG Props   $100.00 an hour (includes 1 operator) 

        Renter will pay for LPG / Class A fuels 

• TRT missions      $100.00 an hour + employee rates 

FEES MAY BE WAIVED BY THE FIRE CHIEF 

23



FRY FIRE DISTRICT
A R I Z O N A

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE  
FINANCIAL REPORT
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021

24



Fry Fire District    

4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

FRY FIRE 
DISTRICT 

COCHISE COUNTY, ARIZONA 

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

DRAFT

25



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CONTENTS

Page

Introductory Section

Letter of transmittal 1 ‐ 8

List of elected and appointed officials  9

GFOA Certificate of Achievement 10

Financial Section

Independent auditors' report 12 ‐ 13

Management's discussion and analysis 15 ‐ 23

Basic financial statements:
Government‐wide financial statements:
Statement of net position 25
Statement of activities  26

Fund financial statements ‐ governmental funds:
Balance sheet 27
Reconciliation of the balance sheet to the statement of net position 28
Statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances 29
Reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures and
  changes in fund balances to the statement of activities 30

Fund financial statements ‐ fiduciary funds:
Statement of fiduciary net position
Statement of changes in fiduciary net position

Notes to financial statements 31 ‐ 55

Required supplementary information:
Schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance ‐
budget to actual ‐ general fund 57

Schedule of the District's proportionate share of the net pension/OPEB liability ‐ 
cost‐sharing plan (ASRS) 58

Schedule of changes in the net pension liability and related ratios ‐ agent 
retirement plan (PSPRS) 59

Schedule of changes in the net OPEB liability and related ratios ‐ agent 
retirement plan (PSPRS) 60

Schedule of pension/OPEB contributions 61 ‐ 62
Notes to required supplementary information 63 ‐ 64

DRAFT

26



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CONTENTS (continued)

Page

Statistical Section

Financial trends:
Net position by component 67
Changes in net position 68
Fund balances of governmental funds 69
Changes in fund balances ‐ governmental funds and debt service ratio 70

Revenue capacity:
Assessed and estimated actual value of taxable property 71
Property tax rates ‐ all direct and overlapping governments 72
Principal property taxpayers 73
Property tax levies and collections 74

Debt capacity:
Ratios of general bonded debt outstanding  75
Direct and overlapping governmental activities debt 76
Legal debt margin information 77

Demographic and economic information:
Demographic and economic statistics 78
Principal employers 79

Operating information:
Operating indicators by function 80
Full‐time equivalent employees by function 81
Capital asset statistics by function 82

Report on internal control and on compliance:
Independent auditors' report on internal control over financial reporting and on 84 ‐ 85
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and report on 
compliance with State of Arizona regulatory requirements 

DRAFT

27



INTRODUCTORY SECTION

DRAFT

28



 

 
Fry Fire District    1  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Wednesday, November 17, 2021 

 

To the Honorable Members of the Board and Citizens of Fry Fire District:  

 

The following is the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of Fry Fire District (FFD) for 

the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. This ACFR report is intended to meet and exceed all legal 

reporting requirements that are borne by this jurisdiction. Management assumes full responsibility for 

the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this report, based upon a 

comprehensive framework of internal control established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal 

control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than 

absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatements. As management, 

we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in 

all material respects.  

 

Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) 48-253 and 48-805(9) require an annual audit to be performed in 

accordance with the statutory requirements and in conformance to generally accepted government 

auditing standards. As such, the fiscal year audit has been performed by an independent certified public 

accounting firm, BeachFleischman PC. The auditors have issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on 

the Fry Fire District’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021.  

 

The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial section of this report. 

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report 

and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A 

complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it. 

 

District Profile 

The Fry Fire District was originally formed in April of 1965 as the Fry Volunteer Fire Company.  

Governance for the original Volunteer Fire Company evolved from an elected Fire Chief to the 

current elected Board in 1985.  Volunteer Firefighters were originally only responsible for handling 

the fire suppression needs of the community.  Emergency medical treatment and transport services 

were added later along with full-time employees to provide round-the-clock protection. Early 

volunteers operating out of a single fire station on Second Street laid the foundation for the 

professional services FFD personnel deliver across the region today.  

 

Fry Fire District currently provides all hazard emergency services from three fire stations staffed by a 

total of thirty-six full-time firefighters augmented by several additional part-time Firefighters and EMS  

personnel. All full-time suppression personnel are trained in structural and wildland firefighting and 

are certified EMT’s as a minimum.  The last year saw four additional Paramedics obtain their 

DRAFT

29



 

 
Fry Fire District    2  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

certification bringing more than 75% of our staff to the advanced life support level. Operations are 

supported by five administrative and support staff.  

 

 

FFD operates under Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48, Chapter 5 and is recognized by the State 

of Arizona as a special taxing district. The District is governed by a five-member Board, comprised of 

a Board Chair, Clerk and three additional members. All Members are elected at large and serve 

staggered four-year terms.  

 

The Board is responsible for adopting an annual budget, setting District policy and ensuring the Fire 

Chief implements policy and manages day-to-day operations of the District. The Fire Chief is 

supported by three Battalion Chiefs who directly supervise assigned Captains and operations 

personnel. Operations are funded primarily through limited assessed value property taxes, with 

additional funding being generated through other avenues including billing for ambulance transports, 

federal and state wildfire responses and support from various grants.   

 

A current organization chart follows:  

 

 
Current Intergovernmental agreements, state requirements and national standards suggest a minimum 

staffing level of 3 firefighters for engine companies and 2 personnel for ambulances providing medical 

transport.  Recently hired personnel should help FFD better meet these minimums and to provide 

safe and effective fire suppression and advanced medical care for FFD customers and members. FFD 

          

      

         
        

    

          

             

           
                   

             
                              

                       

         
        

     

          

             

           
                     

             
                        

                            

         
        

       

          

                

           
                     

             
                             
                           

          
       

     

          
             

    

      
         

     

      
        

     

            

      

DRAFT

30



 

 
Fry Fire District    3  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

employs a total of thirty paramedics and provides Advanced Life Support medical treatment with 

every staffed unit.  Emergency medical service-related calls make up more than 85% of annual calls 

for service.    

 

FFD personnel respond to any emergency situation that threatens life, safety or property and work 

closely with partners from the Sierra Vista Fire and Medical Department, Ft. Huachuca Fire 

Department, Palominas Fire District, Whetstone Fire District and the Southeastern Arizona 

Communications Center (SEACOM) to provide the closest available unit with the appropriate 

capabilities to provide service.  FFD is happy to report the addition of ProQA software to SEACOM 

which allows dispatchers to provide emergency callers with immediate instructions about life-saving 

measures they may be able to implement while we’re responding. 

 

FFD also responds to various non-emergency situations that are not routinely handled by other 

agencies or providers.  These non-emergency responses include things such as: snake removals, open 

burn permits, home safety surveys, etc.  The FFD community risk reduction programs cover topics 

such as fall injury prevention, fire safety, CPR, immunizations and first aid and proactively work to 

reduce or mitigate risk either through prevention or otherwise. 

 

About the Area 

FFD serves residents and visitors to several unincorporated neighborhoods in and around the 

community of Sierra Vista. At an elevation of 4600’ the area has an average high temperature of 77 

and an average low temp of 49, with average annual rain fall of 14 inches and less than 2 inches of 

snow. The area boasts the southern end of the Arizona Trail and the Huachuca Mountains which are 

a must-see for outdoor enthusiasts and birdwatchers. 

 

FFD has a fire coverage footprint of approximately 60 square miles and provides ambulance transport 

service for approximately 200 square miles. The district has grown to serve an estimated 17,089 full 

time residents. We provide fire protection and emergency medical services, ambulance transport, 

technical rescue, public education and fire prevention. FFD deploys 12 Fire/EMS personnel daily and 

responded to approximately 3,743 calls during this reporting period. 

 

 

 

DRAFT

31



 

 
Fry Fire District    4  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

 

 

A snapshot of FFD-Demographics and service levels includes:    

District Size 60 square miles 

Ambulance Transport Service Area 200 square miles 

Full-time Resident Population 17,089 

Part-time, Seasonal Population 1,000 

Stations 3 

Fire and Rescue Service Staffing 36 

Administrative and Support  4 

Fire Prevention 1 

 

 

DRAFT

32



 

 
Fry Fire District    5  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Budget Overview 

The District budgets all funds in accordance with the requirements of state law. All funds are budgeted 

on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

 

The Board adopts the general fund budget prior to the beginning of the fiscal year of the District. 

Throughout the budget process the Board reviews the budgeted expenses at the fund, function and 

object level. This is done to allow the Board, and participating community members, to gain a more 

detailed understanding of the budget and to be in compliance with Arizona Revised Statute 48-

805.02(A) which requires a detailed estimate of expenditures. Although the Board reviews the budget 

at the fund, function and object level, the budget is approved at the fund level and sets the level by 

which actual expenditures should not exceed budgeted expenditures. The Board is not required to 

adopt a formal budget for the Capital fund however transfers between funds require Board 

authorization, as do any transfers from Contingency. 

 

Budgeted expenditures lapse at year-end and may not be carried over to subsequent years. 

 

Local Economy and Outlook 

As with many communities, Covid-19 has created significant economic challenges. The uncertainty 

around Covid-19 and its overall impact on the local economy will take time to understand.   

 

The presence of Ft. Huachuca and the U.S. Border Patrol are major contributors to the local economy 

and will continue to be so in the future.  

 

Economists predict that the district will see an average increase in net assessed valuation of 

approximately 2% for the next years and we are happy to see some increases in both residential and 

commercial construction in recent years, as well as rises in median home prices and median household 

incomes.   

 

The District’s population is expected to continue to grow in the next 20 years, although prior growth 

estimates have been significantly curtailed.  District management and staff are working proactively and 

cooperatively with other governments, surrounding fire districts, and regional planning groups to 

ensure continued ability to serve this future population.   

 

Long-term financial planning and major initiatives  

Using focused and detailed financial management, FFD has increased both its unrestricted fund 

balance and ability to fund capital needs. Given both the GFOA minimum recommendation of 

maintaining of no less than two months of regular fund operating revenues, and the volatility 

DRAFT

33



 

 
Fry Fire District    6  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

associated with FFD revenues and expenses, this increased fund balance is an important piece in 

providing long term financial sustainability for the organization and its ability to provide the highest 

level of service to the community it serves. As an organization, FFD is extremely proud of the fund 

balance growth it has achieved over recent years. 

 

The district has developed a comprehensive ten-year capital improvement plan.  This plan is primarily 

funded by a $7 million bond election that passed by more than 72% of the voters in the 2018 general 

election. The capital improvement plan has already begun to improve and enhance emergency 

responses.  It will also add life to existing infrastructure by upgrading aging facilities and replacing 

aging capital assets.  The FFD capital improvement plan forecasts the life expectancy and replacement 

and or maintenance costs for each of the District’s long-term assets and matches those costs to defined 

funding levels that will need to be met over the next decade. Over recent years FFD has continued to 

excel at managing both revenues and expenses which has enabled further funding of the capital 

improvement plan. This has allowed FFD to fully fund its ten-year capital improvement plan. This 

capital improvement plan is reviewed every year to ensure it captures the needs of the organization 

and is receiving adequate funding.  

 

Major initiatives include: improving firefighter safety, replacing aging apparatus and equipment, and 

expanding community risk reduction services to include large-scale vaccination support. This year, 

FFD members proactively supported local Covid-19 vaccination delivery in collaboration with the 

Cochise County Health Department and Cochise College Allied Health Programs, helping to vaccinate 

more than 8,400 community members. 

 

Firefighters are exposed to an ever-increasing risk of occupational exposure to carcinogens.  Station 

renovations will bring FFD into compliance with accepted industrial hygiene standards and reduce 

exposures to carcinogens by removing vehicle exhaust gases and improving individual 

decontamination after a fire.  FFD are also actively working to improve the quality of the personal 

protective equipment provided to firefighters and to provide additional sets of gear to keep them 

protected while exposed gear is being decontaminated. 

 

Upgrades to FFD aging fleet are underway.  A new 2020 Ford F350 rescue truck was recently 

purchased with bond funds and placed into service.  This vehicle replaced a 2006 Ford F550 that had 

seen extensive service.  In addition to improving local coverage during our almost year-round fire 

season, the new truck also helps protect other communities across the west during catastrophic fires 

and generates non-tax revenue during out-of-district fire and rescue assignments.   

 

Two 2020 Ford Type 1 Ambulances were currently placed in service with power-load gurneys and are 

currently serving local patients.  A 2021 Rosenbauer Type 6 Engine has been put into service as well 

as two 2022 F-250 support trucks.  

DRAFT

34



 

 
Fry Fire District    7  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

 

FFD firefighters have also seen the purchase and deployment of new handheld radios.  Over the past 

few years, FFD have placed approximately fifteen new radios in service.  The new Motorola radios 

are intrinsically safe, fire-rated and interface with our self-contained breathing apparatus via Bluetooth 

technology to dramatically improve the clarity of communications when working in an environment 

that is immediately dangerous to life and health (IDLH).  This year also saw additional Firefighter 

radios upgraded to include multi-band capability to enhance communication with local partners, as 

well as the deployment of tough tablet devices to enhance connectivity and streamline data sharing 

with SEACOM.  The next steps in the FFD communication improvement project include upgrading 

the repeater and microwave links on one of our existing VHF channels. 

   

Community Risk Reduction efforts have been augmented by new employee engagement and state and 

local grant funds.  These programs include a continuation of a large-scale hazardous fuel reduction 

project on high-risk wildland interface areas east of the Huachuca Mountains with a focus on Ramsey 

Canyon and other canyons west of Hwy 92 and the exploration of part-time seasonal employees as an 

alternative to the use of fire crews for work.  Pending treatment projections should push the project 

close to the 400-acre mark and will have an impact on fire activity in our highest-risk neighborhoods 

for years to come.  These efforts also include public education about fall injury prevention, CPR, and 

emergency first aid.  Supported by a grant from the Legacy Foundation, the Matter of Balance program 

has been ongoing for the past several years and has produced a reduction in the number of fall-related 

calls we’re seeing.  CPR and Stop the Bleed are also providing tangible improvements in community 

readiness.  FFD have recently completed vaccination training for more than 20 FFD Paramedics, 

which has enabled FFD to support large-scale community-wide vaccination programs. Together with 

Pulsepoint and ProQA from SEACOM, FFD are engaging a community with immediate responders 

that are trained and ready to assist when and where emergencies happen. 

 

During the last year, FFD also completed the long-term strategic planning process and are seeing 

movement towards the necessary objectives to meet identified plan goals that will align the future 

budget cycles needs. 

 

Relevant Financial Policies 

FFD has adopted a comprehensive set of financial policies. The policies are constantly evaluated for 

their effectiveness and how they keep the Governing Board and staff focused on increased internal 

controls, reporting and long-term sustainability.  The policies implemented have been effective in 

protecting the District and its focus on maintaining service levels while also providing long term 

sustainability and success.  

 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

DRAFT

35



 

 
Fry Fire District    8  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

We believe that our current ACFR meets the requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to 

determine its eligibility for this award. 

 

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the personnel of the finance department who assisted 

and contributed to the preparation of this report. Appreciation is also extended to Board Chair Joe 

Huish, members of the Board, the managers, employees and citizens of the District whose continued 

support is vital to the financial health of Fry Fire District. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Mark Savage    The James Vincent Group 

Fire Chief    Finance Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DRAFT

36



 

 
Fry Fire District    9  
4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650  T 520-378-3276 

Fry Fire District 

List of Elected and Appointed 

June 30, 2019 

 
 

 
 

Elected Board Members 
 

Term Expires 

Board Chair Joseph Huish      November 30, 2022 

Board Clerk Eric Andersen      November 30, 2024 

Board Member Robert McMurtrie     November 30, 2024 

Board Member Norman Sturm     November 30, 2024 

Board Member Thomas Tucker     November 30, 2022 

 

 

 

Administrative Offices 

4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, AZ 85650 

Fire Chief/Administrator 

Chief Mark Savage 

Finance Director 

The James Vincent Group 

Legal Counsel 

Barret & Matura, P.C. 

 

DRAFT

37



FINANCIAL SECTION

DRAFT

38



Independent Auditors' Report

Governing Board and Management
Fry Fire District
Sierra Vista, AZ

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry
Fire District as of and  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021, and  the  related notes  to  the  financial  statements, which
collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management  is  responsible  for  the preparation and  fair presentation of  these  financial  statements  in accordance
with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America;  this  includes  the  design,
implementation and maintenance of  internal control  relevant  to  the preparation and  fair presentation of  financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable
to  financial  audits  contained  in Government Auditing  Standards,  issued by  the Comptroller General of  the United
States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.   The procedures  selected depend on  the auditors'  judgment,  including  the assessment of  the  risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments,
the  auditor  considers  internal  control  relevant  to  the  entity’s  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An  audit  also  includes  evaluating  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

12

DRAFT

39



Opinions

In  our  opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all material  respects,  the  respective
financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry Fire District as of June 30, 2021, and the
respective changes  in financial position for the year then ended,  in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted  in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and  analysis,  budgetary  comparison  information,  and  the  pension  plan  and  other  postemployment  benefit  plan
(OPEB)  information, as  listed  in  the  table of contents, be presented  to  supplement  the basic  financial  statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards  Board,  who  considers  it  to  be  an  essential  part  of  financial  reporting  for  placing  the  basic  financial
statements  in  an  appropriate  operational,  economic  or  historical  context.    We  have  applied  certain  limited
procedures to the required supplementary  information  in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United  States  of  America, which  consisted  of  inquiries  of management  about  the methods  of  preparing  the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the  information because the  limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
Fry  Fire  District's  basic  financial  statements.  The  introductory  section  and  statistical  section  are  presented  for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.   The  introductory and
statistical  sections have not been  subjected  to  the  auditing procedures  applied  in  the  audit of  the basic  financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also  issued our report dated November 23, 2021, on
our consideration of Fry Fire District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of  laws,  regulations,  contracts,  and  grant  agreements  and other matters.    The purpose of  that
report  is solely to describe the scope of our testing of  internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the  results of  that  testing, and not  to provide an opinion on  the effectiveness of Fry Fire District's  internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance.   That report  is an  integral part of an audit performed  in accordance with
Government  Auditing  Standards  in  considering  Fry  Fire  District's  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and
compliance.

Tucson, Arizona
November 23, 2021

13

DRAFT

40



Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

(Required Supplementary Information)

DRAFT

41



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

INTRODUCTION

The management of Fry Fire District (the District) presents these financial statements with a narrative overview and
analysis of  financial activities  for  the  twelve months ended  June 30, 2021.   We encourage  readers  to consider  the
information presented here in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and the accompanying
notes to those statements in their understanding of the District’s financial position.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR

 In the government‐wide financial statements, the total assets and deferred outflows of the Fry Fire District

were $16,289,295 at the close of the fiscal year.  The total liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded assets

and  deferred  outflows  by  $7,362,909.    Of  this  amount  $(9,561,229)  represents  the  balance  of  the

unrestricted net position.

 The  District  realized  an  increase  in  its  net  position  of  $197,067  equal  to  the  excess  of  revenues  over

expenses, which was primarily due to an increase in revenue.  Property tax revenue increased $139,744

due  to an  increase  in assessed value.   Non‐tax  levy  revenues  increased due  to a more active wildland

season in 2020 compared to 2021.

 Cash and  investments decreased by $903,242 primarily due to spending capital funds on the purchase of

apparatuses and remodel of fire stations. 

 As of the end of the current fiscal year, the District’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund

balances of $6,946,462, a decrease of $1,235,022 in comparison with the prior year. The decrease in fund

balance was due to capital outlay for the purchase of apparatuses and remodeling fire stations.

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balances for the general fund was $2,443,153.  The

change in fund balance for the general fund was an increase of $358,101 for the fiscal year.  The District

Board  and Administration  are working diligently  to  enhance  the  financial position of  the organization

while still providing a high level of service to the community it serves.

 The  total  long‐term  liabilities of  the District  increased by a net amount of $1,600,575.    Increases  in  the

District’s  actuarially determined net pension/OPEB  liability of $1,872,161  contributed  to  this  increase.

There was no new debt issued in the current year.  

15

DRAFT

42



OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis  is  intended to serve as an  introduction to the basic financial statements of the District.
These  basic  financial  statements  comprise  three  components:    1)  government‐wide  financial  statements,  2)  fund
financial  statements,  and  3)  notes  to  the  financial  statements.    This  report  also  contains  other  supplementary
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government‐Wide Financial Statements

The  Government‐wide  financial  statements  present  the  financial  picture  of  the  District  from  the  economic
measurement  resources  focus  using  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    These  statements  include  all  assets  of  the
District  (including capital assets) as well as all  liabilities  (including  long‐term debt).   They are  intended to provide a
broad overview in a manner similar to a private sector business.  Additionally, certain eliminations have occurred as
prescribed by Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund activity, payables and receivables.

Statement of Net Position ‐ The Statement of Net Position (page 25) presents information of all District's assets plus
deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net
position.   Over time,  increases or decreases  in net position may serve as a useful  indicator of whether the financial
position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

Statement of Activities ‐ The Statement of Activities (page 26) presents information showing how the net position of
the District  changed during  the most  recent  fiscal  year.   All  changes  in net position  are  reported  as  soon  as  the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Fund Financial Statements

The Fund Financial Statements provide detailed  information about  the most  significant  funds not  the District as a
whole.   Some  funds are  required  to be established by State  law and by bond covenants.   However, management
establishes other funds to help it control and manage resources for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting
legal  responsibilities  for using certain  taxes, grants, and other money.   All  the  funds of  the District are considered
governmental funds.

16

DRAFT

43



Governmental Funds Governmental Funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as

governmental activities in the Government–wide financial statements.  All of the basic services of the District
are reported  in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows  into and out of those funds and the
balances  left  at  year  end  that  are  available  for  spending.    These  funds  are  reported  using  an  accounting
method  called modified  accrual  accounting, which measures  cash  and  all  other  financial  assets  that  can
readily be converted to cash.   The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short‐term view of the
operations  and  basic  services  provided  to  residents.    Governmental  fund  information  helps  determine
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance programs
of  the District.   Because  the  focus of governmental  funds  is narrower  than  that of  the Government–wide
financial statements,  it  is useful to compare the  information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented  for governmental activities  in the Government–wide  financial statements.   By doing
so, readers may better understand the long‐term impact of the near‐term financing decisions of the District.
The reconciliation of differences between the governmental fund financial statements and the government‐
wide financial statements is explained in a section following each governmental fund financial statement.

The District maintains three individual government funds: the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund, and the
Debt  Service  Fund.  Information  is  presented  separately  in  the  governmental  fund  balance  sheet  and
governmental  fund  statement of  revenues, expenditures,  and  changes  in  fund balances  for each of  these
funds, all of which are considered to be major funds of the District; the concept and determination of major
funds has been  established by  the Governmental Accounting  Standards Board  (GASB).  There  are no non‐
major governmental funds.

The District adopts an annual appropriated budget to levy taxes and provide for its general fund. A budgetary
comparison  statement has been provided  for  the  fund  to demonstrate compliance with  the budget and  is
presented on page 57.

Notes to the Financial Statements.  The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that
is essential  to a  full understanding of  the data provided  in  the Government‐wide and Governmental  fund
financial statements.  

GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may  serve over  time as a useful  indicator of  the  financial position of a government
entity.    In  the case of  the Fry Fire District,  liabilities and deferred  inflows exceed assets and deferred outflows by
$7,362,909 at the close of the 2021 fiscal year.

By  far,  the  largest portion of net position of  the District, $1,757,056,  reflects  the District's  investment  in  capital
assets (land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, equipment and vehicles), less any related debt
still outstanding that was issued to acquire those items. The District uses these capital assets to provide services to
citizens;  consequently,  these  assets  are not  available  for  future  spending.   Although  the District’s  investment  in
capital assets  is  reported net of  the outstanding  related debt,  the  resources needed  to  repay  that debt must be
provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be liquidated to service these liabilities.  

The restricted portion of net position of $441,264 reflects amounts restricted for debt service obligations. 

17

DRAFT

44



The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $(9,561,229), reflects its cash and current account receivable less
any current  liabilities  (e.g. accounts payable, accrued payroll, and compensated absences) and  long‐term  liabilities
not  associated  with  capital  assets.    The  District  uses  the  cash  balances  to  pay  current  and  ongoing  financial
obligations in order to provide services to residents.

At the end of fiscal year 2021, the District has a negative balance in unrestricted net position.  In fiscal year 2015, the
District adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Pensions, which requires the District to report a net liability for pensions of $17,535,414. In fiscal year 2018, the
District adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefits Other  than Pensions, which  requires  the District  to  report a net  liability  for OPEB of
$97,372.  The District pays for pensions and OPEB on a pay‐as‐you go basis with current financial resources each year.
However, the net pension/OPEB  liability required to be reported  is an actuarially determined amount for resources
that are required sometime in the future.

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position:

Fry Fire District
Condensed Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities Increase

2021 2020 (decrease)

Cash and investments $ 7,011,084 $ 7,914,326 $ (903,242)
Other assets 805,042 766,590 38,452
Capital assets 3,670,685 1,727,541 1,943,144
Total assets 11,486,811 10,408,457 1,078,354

Total deferred outflows 4,802,484 4,099,402 703,082

Other liabilities 575,842 313,821 262,021
Long‐term liabilities 22,027,699 20,427,124 1,600,575
Total liabilities 22,603,541 20,740,945 1,862,596

Total deferred inflows 1,048,663 1,326,890 (278,227)

Net investment in capital assets 1,757,056 1,170,035 587,021
Restricted 441,264 430,877 10,387
Unrestricted (9,561,229) (9,160,888) (400,341)

Total net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ 197,067

Statement of Activities – The net position of  the District  from governmental activities  increased $197,067.   Key
elements of this increase are as follows:

 Net  investment  in  capital assets  increased by $587,021 primarily due  to  spending of bond proceeds on

capital assets.

 Property taxes increased by $139,744 as a result of an increase in assessed valuation.

18

DRAFT

45



 Operating  grants  and  contributions  decreased  by  $136,467.    The  district  receives  fuel  reduction  grants

from  the State of Arizona where  the district  focuses on hazardous  fuel  reduction  in high‐risk wildland

interface areas. The activity in 2021 decreased from 2020 due to COVID‐19.

 Charges  for  services  revenue,  which  includes  both  ambulance  revenue  and  wildland  fire  revenue,

increased $929,794, due to an increase in wildland deployments during the year.

 Expenses  for  the District  increased about $774,298  from  the prior year, primarily due  to an  increase  in

personnel expenses for wildland and pension expenses.

 Pension expense for the year ending June 30, 2021 was $2,387,292, compared with $2,102,691 in the year

ending June 30, 2020.  

The  following  table presents a  comparative  summary of  the District's  revenues and expenses  for  the  current and
preceding fiscal years.

Fry Fire District
Condensed Statement of Activities

For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities Increase

2021 2020 (decrease)

Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 2,610,508 $ 1,680,714 $ 929,794
Operating grants and contributions 79,946 216,413 (136,467)
Rental income 82,006 69,531 12,475

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,397,177 4,257,433 139,744
Fire District Assistance Tax 397,163 400,000 (2,837)
Investment earnings 38,046 ‐ 38,046
Miscellaneous 123,680 194,598 (70,918)

Total revenues 7,728,526 6,818,689 909,837

Expenses:
Public safety 7,415,871 6,613,013 802,858
Interest on long‐term debt 115,588 144,148 (28,560)

Total expenses 7,531,459 6,757,161 774,298

Change in net position 197,067 61,528 135,539

Beginning net position, restated (7,559,976) (7,621,504) 61,528

Ending net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ 197,067

19

DRAFT

46



DISTRICT FUNDS FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance‐related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds ‐ The focus of the District’s governmental funds is to provide information on near‐term inflows,
outflows,  and  balances  of  spendable  resources.  Such  information  is  useful  in  assessing  the  District’s  financing
requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balances may serve as a useful measure of the District’s net resources
available for discretionary use as they represent the portion of fund balance which has not yet been limited to use for
a particular purpose by either an external party, the District  itself, or a group or  individual that has been delegated
authority to assign resources for use for particular purposes by the District’s Governing Board.

At June 30, 2021, the governmental funds of the District reported a combined fund balance of $6,946,462, which is a
decrease of $1,235,022 in comparison with the prior year. 

General Fund ‐ The general fund accounts for all the financial resources retained by the District not accounted for in
any other fund.  As of June 30, 2021, total fund balance was $2,887,392, of which $48,257 was nonspendable because
of prepaid  items, $395,982 was assigned  for paying employee  leave  liabilities, and $2,443,153 was unassigned  for
financial reporting purposes.  Total General Fund balance increased by $358,101.

Capital Projects Fund ‐ The capital projects fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for future construction
costs for new and existing facilities and for the purchase of large fire apparatus. As of June 30, 2021, the ending fund
balance in the Capital Projects fund was $3,617,806.  The decrease in the fund balance of $1,603,510 is primarily due
to purchases of capital assets. 

Debt Service Fund  ‐ The debt service fund accounts for the property tax  levy dedicated to the payment of principal
and interest on general obligation bonds.  The increase in the fund balance was $10,387.

The following statement provides the detail of the District fund balances:

Fry Fire District
Governmental Funds – Fund Balances

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Major funds Amount % Amount %

General  $ 2,887,392 %41.6 $ 2,529,291 %30.9

Capital 3,617,806 52.1 5,221,316 63.8

Debt services 441,264 %6.4 430,877 %5.3

Total fund balance $ 6,946,462 %100.0 $ 8,181,484 %100.0

20

DRAFT

47



BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

There were some variances of note for the fiscal year.

 Revenues  were  over  budget  by  $904,847.    An  increase  in  property  tax  revenues  contributed  to  this

increase. 

 Expenses were over budget by $697,756 primarily due to increases in personnel costs related to wildland

deployments and grant expenses. 

For more detailed information, see budget to actual comparison at page 57.

Fry Fire District
Condensed Budget to Actual ‐ General Fund

As of June 30, 2021

Budget Actual
Variance with

budget

Total revenues $ 6,216,321 $ 7,121,168 $ 904,847

Total expenditures 6,107,839 6,805,595 697,756

Revenue over expenditures 108,482 315,573 207,091

Total other financing sources (uses) (108,482) 42,528 151,010

Net change in fund balance  $ ‐ $ 358,101 $ 358,101

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The District’s investment in capital assets for its governmental type activities as of June 30, 2021 totaled $3,670,685
(net  of  accumulated  depreciation).  This  investment  in  capital  assets  includes  land,  construction  in  progress,
buildings and improvements, equipment, and vehicles.  

During the year, the District purchased or placed in service capital assets of $2,231,325.  This included purchases of
a light rescue truck, two ambulances, two engines, equipment and commencement of fire station remodels. 

The  District  depreciates  capital  assets,  except  for  land  and  construction  in  progress,  consistent  with  generally
accepted accounting principles, utilizing the straight‐line depreciation method. The cost of the asset is divided by its
expected useful life in years and the result is charged to expense each year until the asset is fully depreciated. Major
outlays  for  capital  assets  and  improvements  are  capitalized  as  projects  are  completed  and  placed  into  service.
Additional information on the District's capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial statements at page
40 of this report.

21

DRAFT

48



Fry Fire District
Capital Assets (net of depreciation)

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities

2021 2020
Increase
(decrease)

Land $ 158,423 $ 158,423 $ ‐
Construction in progress 463,943 ‐ 463,943
Buildings and improvements 1,397,855 1,397,855 ‐
Fire equipment 2,254,120 2,123,132 130,988
Vehicles 4,343,911 2,923,899 1,420,012
Accumulated depreciation (4,947,567) (4,875,768) (71,799)

$ 3,670,685 $ 1,727,541 $ 1,943,144

Long Term Liabilities

At the end of the current fiscal year, the District had approximately $22 million in long‐term liabilities outstanding.

The District continues to retire and manage debt to fund various capital projects which support program services. As
of June 30, 2021, the District had bonds payable outstanding of $3,490,000.  This debt currently requires annual debt
service payments that consist of principal and interest of approximately $460,000. All debt is backed by the full faith
and credit of the District. The District has been issued an "AA" rating from Standard and Poor's.  

In accordance with GASB Statements No. 68 and 75, the District is required to include the net pension/OPEB liability
(asset) on  the  financial statements. The net pension/OPEB  liability  is measured as  the  total pension/OPEB  liability,
less the plan’s fiduciary net position.  Relating to the District’s participation in the Public Safety Personnel Retirement
System  (PSPRS),  a  net  pension  liability  is  recorded  at  June  30,  2021  of  $17,238,648  and  a  net OPEB  liability  of
$96,060.  Relating to the District’s participation in the Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS), a net pension liability
is recorded at June 30, 2021 of $296,283.

22

DRAFT

49



The following table shows the District’s Long‐term Liabilities:

Fry Fire District
Long‐term Liabilities

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020

Governmental Activities

2021 2020
Increase
(decrease)

Compensated absences $ 569,588 $ 514,086 $ 55,502
Bonds payable 3,490,000 3,780,000 (290,000)
Unamortized premium 322,642 343,554 (20,912)
Capital leases 12,683 28,859 (16,176)
Net pension/OPEB liability 17,632,786 15,760,625 1,872,161

Total noncurrent liabilities $ 22,027,699 $ 20,427,124 $ 1,600,575

Additional  information  regarding  the  long‐term debt  and noncurrent  liabilities of  the District  can be  found  in  the
notes to the financial statements at pages 40 ‐ 41 of this report.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FY 2022 BUDGET/TAX RATE

The District has continued to pursue every feasible method of reducing operational costs while providing the highest
level of service to the community.  The increase in funding from nontax revenues, such as grants and contributions,
wildland  revenue,  and  ambulance  revenue  have  helped  mitigate  the  impact  of  rising  costs,  such  as  employee
benefits,  to  the budget.    In  current  and  recent  years  the district has  focused on operational efficiency  to  reduce
expenses.  The increase nontax revenues and operational efficiency has allowed the District to maintain the level of
service provided.  Assessed value for fiscal year 2022 did not increase at the rate of previous years with only a 0.54%
increase.  As a result, the district raised its tax rate to $3.2200 for fiscal year 2022. This will allow the District to build
its unrestricted reserve balance to meet future financial needs and ensure long‐term financial stability.

FINANCIAL CONTACT

The financial statements of the District are designed to present users (citizens, taxpayers, customers,  investors and
creditors) with a general overview of  the  finances of  the District and  to demonstrate accountability.    If you have
questions regarding  the report or need additional  financial  information, please contact the Finance Director of the
District at 4817 S. Apache Ave., Sierra Vista, Arizona 85650 or at 520‐378‐3276.

23

DRAFT

50



Basic Financial Statements

DRAFT

51



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

 JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental
activities

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 5,099,388
Receivables:

Property taxes 96,092
Ambulance, net 434,973
Other 223,598

Prepaid items 48,257
Cash and investments, restricted 1,911,696
Capital assets, not depreciated 622,366
Capital assets, depreciated, net 3,048,319
Net pension/OPEB asset 2,122

Total assets 11,486,811

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred outflows related to pensions/OPEB 4,802,484

4,802,484

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 353,526
Accrued expenses 127,024
Accrued interest 68,250
Unearned revenue 27,042
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 540,683
Due in more than one year 21,487,016

Total liabilities 22,603,541

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to pensions/OPEB 1,048,663

1,048,663

Commitments and contingencies

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,757,056
Restricted:

Debt service 441,264
Unrestricted (9,561,229)

Total net position $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 25

DRAFT

52



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental
activities

Expenses:
Public safety:

Communications and IT $ 114,831
Depreciation 286,887
Grants 36,545
Managerial  198,641
Other 13,974
Payroll taxes and employee benefits 2,988,990
Salaries and wages 3,393,367
Training and related 73,862
Utilities and station 82,648
Vehicles and equipment 226,126

Interest 115,588

Total program expenses 7,531,459

Program revenues:
Charges for services 2,610,508
Operating grants and contributions 79,946
Rental income 82,006

Total program revenues 2,772,460

Net program expense 4,758,999

General revenues:
Property taxes 4,397,177
Fire district assistance tax 397,163
Investment earnings 38,046
Other 67,674
Gain on disposal of capital assets 56,006

Total general revenues 4,956,066

Change in net position 197,067

Net position, beginning of year (7,559,976)

Net position, end $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 26

DRAFT

53



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

BALANCE SHEET ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2021

General fund Capital projects Debt service

Total
governmental

funds

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 2,893,930 $ 1,706,110 $ 499,348 $ 5,099,388
Receivables:

Property taxes 85,926 ‐ 10,166 96,092
Ambulance, net 434,973 ‐ ‐ 434,973
Other 223,598 ‐ ‐ 223,598

Prepaid items 48,257 ‐ ‐ 48,257
Cash and investments, restricted ‐ 1,911,696 ‐ 1,911,696

Total assets $ 3,686,684 $ 3,617,806 $ 509,514 $ 7,814,004

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 353,526 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 353,526
Accrued expenses 127,024 ‐ ‐ 127,024
Accrued interest ‐ ‐ 68,250 68,250
Unearned revenue 27,042 ‐ ‐ 27,042

Total liabilities 507,592 ‐ 68,250 575,842

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenue ‐ property taxes 67,753 ‐ ‐ 67,753
Unavailable revenue ‐ charges for
services 223,947 ‐ ‐ 223,947

Total deferred inflows of
resources 291,700 ‐ ‐ 291,700

Fund balance:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 48,257 ‐ ‐ 48,257
Restricted:

Debt service ‐ ‐ 441,264 441,264
Capital projects ‐ 1,911,696 ‐ 1,911,696

Assigned to:
Capital projects ‐ 1,706,110 ‐ 1,706,110
Employee leave 395,982 ‐ ‐ 395,982

Unassigned 2,443,153 ‐ ‐ 2,443,153

Total fund balance 2,887,392 3,617,806 441,264 6,946,462

Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources
and fund balance $ 3,686,684 $ 3,617,806 $ 509,514 $ 7,814,004

See notes to financial statements. 27

DRAFT

54



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2021

Total fund balances ‐ governmental funds  $ 6,946,462

Amounts  reported  for  governmental  activities  in  the  statement  of  net
position are different because: 

Capital  assets  used  in  governmental  activities  are  not  financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 3,670,685

Some  receivables  are  not  available  to  pay  for  current  period
expenditures and, therefore, are reported as deferred inflows in the
funds. 291,700

Net  pension/OPEB  assets  held  in  trust  for  future  benefits  are  not
available  for District operations and,  therefore, are not  reported  in
the funds. 2,122

Certain  liabilities  are not due  and payable  in  the  current period  and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Accrued compensated absences (569,588)
Capital leases payable (12,683)
Bond payable (3,490,000)
Unamortized premium (322,642)
Net pension/OPEB liability (17,632,786)

Deferred outflows and  inflows of  resources  related  to pensions/OPEB
are  applicable  to  future  reporting  periods  and,  therefore,  are  not
reported in the funds:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB 4,802,484
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB (1,048,663)

Net position of governmental activities $ (7,362,909)

See notes to financial statements. 28

DRAFT

55



 FRY FIRE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

General fund Capital projects Debt service

Total
governmental

funds

Revenues:
Property taxes $ 3,911,049 $ ‐ $ 490,325 $ 4,401,374
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 ‐ ‐ 397,163
Charges for services 2,572,572 ‐ ‐ 2,572,572
Grants and contributions 79,946 ‐ ‐ 79,946
Rental income 82,006 ‐ ‐ 82,006
Investment earnings 10,758 8,376 18,912 38,046
Other 67,674 ‐ ‐ 67,674

Total revenues 7,121,168 8,376 509,237 7,638,781

Expenditures:
Public safety:

Emergency operations 5,176,744 ‐ ‐ 5,176,744
Administration 1,008,008 ‐ ‐ 1,008,008

Capital outlay:
Buildings and improvements ‐ 463,943 ‐ 463,943
Fire equipment 130,988 ‐ ‐ 130,988
Vehicles 473,679 1,162,715 ‐ 1,636,394

Debt service:
Principal 16,176 ‐ 290,000 306,176
Interest ‐ ‐ 208,850 208,850

Total expenditures 6,805,595 1,626,658 498,850 8,931,103

Revenues over (under) expenditures 315,573 (1,618,282) 10,387 (1,292,322)

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in (out) (14,772) 14,772 ‐ ‐
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 57,300 ‐ ‐ 57,300

Total other financing sources 42,528 14,772 57,300

Net change in fund balances 358,101 (1,603,510) 10,387 (1,235,022)

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,529,291 5,221,316 430,877 8,181,484

Fund balances, end of year $ 2,887,392 $ 3,617,806 $ 441,264 $ 6,946,462

See notes to financial statements. 29

DRAFT

56



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Net change in fund balances ‐ governmental funds $ (1,235,022)

Amounts  reported  for  governmental  activities  in  the  statement  of  activities  are
different because:

Capital  outlays  are  reported  in  governmental  funds  as  expenditures.
However,  in  the statement of activities,  the cost of  those capital assets  is
allocated over their estimated useful  lives as depreciation expense.   In the
current year, these amounts are:

Capital outlay 2,231,325
Depreciation expense (286,887)
Gain on disposal of capital assets 56,006
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (57,300)

Certain  revenues  relating  to  property  taxes  and  charges  for  services  in  the
statement of activities  that do not provide current  financial  resources are
not reported as revenues in the funds. 33,739

District  pension/OPEB  contributions  are  reported  as  expenditures  in  the
governmental  funds when made. However,  they are  reported as deferred
outflows  of  resources  in  the  statement  of  net  position  because  the
reported net pension/OPEB liability is measured a year before the District's
report  date.  Pension/OPEB  expense,  which  is  the  change  in  the  net
pension/OPEB  liability  adjusted  for  changes  in  deferred  outflows  and
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, is reported in the statement
of activities.

Pension/OPEB contributions 1,498,562
Pension/OPEB expense (2,387,292)

In the statement of activities,  interest  is accrued on  long‐term debt, whereas
in  the governmental  funds  it  is  recorded as an  interest expenditure when
paid. 72,350

Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use
of  current  financial  resources  and,  therefore,  are  not  reported  as
expenditures in governmental funds:

Change in compensated absences (55,502)

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long‐term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Repayment of debt principal  is an expenditure  in the governmental funds,
but  the  repayment  reduces noncurrent  liabilities  in  the  statement of net
position. In the current period, the amount consists of:

Principal paid 306,176
Amortization of premium 20,912

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 197,067

See notes to financial statements. 30

DRAFT

57



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies:

The accounting policies of Fry Fire District (the District) conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) applicable to governmental units as promulgated by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  

Reporting entity:
The District,  established  in  1965 pursuant  to Arizona Revised  Statute  Title 48,  is  a  special‐purpose  local
government organized  to provide  fire protection and other emergency  services  to  residents within  the
District boundaries and the unincorporated areas in and around the City of Sierra Vista.  

The District  is  a  primary  government  because  it  is  a  special‐purpose  government  that  has  a  separately
elected  governing  body,  is  legally  separate,  and  is  fiscally  independent  of  other  state  or  local
governments.    Furthermore,  there  are  no  component  units  combined  with  the  District  for  financial
statement presentation purposes and it is not included in any other governmental reporting entity.

Government‐wide and fund financial statements:
The  basic  financial  statements  include  both  government‐wide  financial  statements  and  fund  financial
statements.   The government‐wide financial statements focus on the District as a whole, while the fund
financial statements focus on major funds.   Each presentation provides valuable information that can be
analyzed  and  compared  between  years  and  between  entities  to  enhance  the  usefulness  of  the
information.

The government‐wide financial statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities.
These statements report the financial activities of the overall government.

A statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function  of  the  District's  governmental  activities.    Direct  expenses  are  those  that  are  specifically
associated with  a  program  or  function  and,  therefore,  are  clearly  identifiable  to  a  particular  function.
Program revenues include:

 charges to customers for services provided

 grants and contributions

Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes and internally dedicated resources,
are reported as general revenues.

Fund  financial statements provide  information about  the District's  funds.   The emphasis of  fund  financial
statements is on major governmental funds, each displayed in a separate column. 

31

DRAFT

58



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation:
The  government‐wide  financial  statements  are  presented  using  the  economic  resources measurement
focus  and  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Revenues  are  recorded  when  earned  and  expenses  are
recorded  at  the  time  liabilities  are  incurred,  regardless  of  when  the  related  cash  flows  take  place.
Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied.  Grants are recognized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements the provider imposed have been met.

Governmental  funds  in  the  fund  financial  statements  are  reported using  the  current  financial  resources
measurement  focus  and  the modified  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Under  this method,  revenues  are
recognized  when  measurable  and  available.    The  District  considers  all  revenues  reported  in  the
governmental  funds  to  be  available  if  the  revenues  are  collected  within  60  days  after  year‐end.
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on
general  long‐term  debt,  claims  and  judgments,  and  compensated  absences,  which  are  recognized  as
expenditures to the extent they are due and payable.   General capital asset acquisitions are reported as
expenditures  in governmental funds.   Proceeds of general  long‐term debt and acquisitions under capital
lease agreements are reported as other financing sources.

Real and personal property taxes are levied on or before the third Monday in August that become due and
payable  in two equal  installments.   The first  installment  is due on the first day of October and becomes
delinquent after  the  first business day of November.   The  second  installment  is due on  the  first day of
March  of  the  next  year  and becomes delinquent  after  the  first business day of May.   A  lien  assessed
against real and personal property attaches on the first day of January preceding assessment and levy.  All
property  taxes  are  billed  and  collected  by  Cochise  County  and  remitted  to  the  District.    In  the
governmental fund financial statements, property taxes are reflected as revenues  in the fiscal period for
which they were levied, provided they are due, or past due and receivable within the current period, and
collected within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay
liabilities of the current period (60 days).  Otherwise, they are reported as deferred inflows of resources. 

Investment earnings associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual
and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered
to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

The District reports the following major governmental funds:

The general fund is the primary operating fund of the District.  The principal revenue source is property
taxes.  Primary expenditures are for public safety. 

The capital projects  fund  is used  to account  for  financial  resources  that are  restricted, committed, or
assigned for the acquisition or construction of major capital assets.

32

DRAFT

59



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation (continued):
The  debt  service  fund  is  used  to  account  for  financial  resources  that  are  restricted,  committed,  or
assigned to expenditure for principal and interest.  

Estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the basic financial statements  in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions  that affect  the  reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of  resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of  the  basic  financial  statements  and  the  reported  amounts  of  revenues  and  expenses  during  the
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Cash and investments:
The District’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, investments
in the County Treasurer's local government investment pool and highly liquid investments with a maturity
of three months or less when purchased. Investments are stated at fair value.  

Investment earnings are comprised primarily of interest earnings. 

Cash and investments, restricted:
Certain proceeds of  the District's  long‐term debt are  classified as  restricted assets on  the balance  sheet
because  they  are maintained  in  separate  bank  accounts  and  their  use  is  limited  by  applicable  debt
covenants. 

Fair value measurements:
Fair value is defined as the price to sell an asset between market participants in an orderly exchange in the
principal or most advantageous market for that asset.  Mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices.
The  fair value  for  the commingled  funds and qualifying alternative  investments  is determined based on
the  investment’s  net  asset  value  as  a  practical  expedient.  Considerable  judgment  is  required  in
interpreting  market  data  used  to  develop  the  estimates  of  fair  value.    Accordingly,  the  estimates
presented in the financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized
in a current market exchange.   The use of different market assumptions and estimation methodologies
may have a material effect on the estimated fair value.

Receivables, unearned revenue and deferred inflows of resources:
All  accounts  and  property  tax  receivables  are  shown  net  of  an  allowance  for  doubtful  accounts,  if  any.
Property  taxes  receivable  for  the  governmental  fund  types, which  have  been  remitted within  60  days
subsequent to period end, are considered measurable and available and recognized as revenues.  All other
property taxes are offset by unavailable revenue and, accordingly, have not been recorded as revenue in
the fund financial statements.  

33

DRAFT

60



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Receivables, unearned revenue and deferred inflows of resources (continued):
Revenue from emergency medical and transportation services are recognized as charges for services.  These
charges  for  services  are  reported  at  their  estimated  net  realizable  amounts  from  patients,  third‐party
payers,  and  other  for  services  rendered,  including  estimated  retroactive  adjustments  under
reimbursement allowances with third‐party payers, provisions for bad debt and uncompensated care.  The
allowance for doubtful accounts, including contractual adjustments, as of June 30, 2021 is approximately
$570,000.   Amounts not collected by the District within 60 days subsequent to year‐end are recorded as
deferred inflows of resources in the fund financial statements. 

Federal  and  state  grants  and  contracts  are  recorded  as  receivables  and  revenues  when  the  related
expenditures  are  incurred.    The  portion  of  reimbursement  in  excess  of  expenditures  are  recorded  as
unearned revenues and amounts not remitted within 60 days subsequent to period end are recorded as
deferred inflows of resources.

Prepaid items:
Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit future accounting periods are recorded as prepaid
items using the consumption method.  A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the time of
purchase and an expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which services are consumed.  

Capital assets:
Capital assets, which  include  land, construction  in progress, buildings and  improvements, equipment, and
vehicles, are reported  in the government‐wide financial statements.   Capital assets are defined as assets
with an initial, individual cost of $1,500 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Such
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost  if actual cost  is not available. Donated
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend
assets  lives  are  not  capitalized.   Major  outlays  for  capital  assets  and  improvements  are  capitalized  as
projects are constructed.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight‐line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Land Not depreciated
Construction in progress Not depreciated
Buildings and improvements 15  to 40 years
Equipment 5 to 20 years
Vehicles  5 to 15 years

34

DRAFT

61



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Compensated absences:
It is the District's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused paid time off.  A liability is
reported for paid time off that the District will pay upon termination or retirement.  None of the liability
for  compensated  absences  is  expected  to  be  liquidated with  expendable  available  financial  resources.
Accordingly,  compensated  absences  are  accrued  as  a  liability  only  in  the  government‐wide  financial
statements.  The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for compensated absences
in prior years. 

Long‐term obligations:
In the government‐wide financial statements, long‐term debt and other long‐term obligations are reported
as noncurrent liabilities in the statement of net position.

In  the  fund  financial  statements, proceeds  from debt  issued are  reported as other  financing sources and
principal  and  interest  payments  are  recognized  as  expenditures  in  the  statement  of  revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources:
The  statement  of  net  position  and  balance  sheet  include  separate  sections  for  deferred  outflows  of
resources and deferred inflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of
net position that applies to future periods that will be recognized as an expense or expenditure in future
periods.  Deferred  inflows  of  resources  represent  an  acquisition  of  net  position  or  fund  balance  that
applies to future periods and will be recognized as a revenue or contra expense in future periods.

Postemployment benefits:
For purposes of measuring the net pension and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabilities or assets,
deferred  outflows  of  resources  and  deferred  inflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions  and OPEB,  and
pension  and  OPEB  expense,  information  about  the  plan's  fiduciary  net  position  and  additions
to/deductions from the plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the plans.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.   The plan's investments are
reported at fair value.

Fund balance:
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  fund  balance  is  divided  into  five  classifications  based  primarily  on  the
extent to which the District is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources.  The
classifications are as follows:

 Nonspendable –  includes  fund balance amounts  that  cannot be  spent either because  it  is not  in

spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints.

35

DRAFT

62



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Description of organization and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

Fund balance (continued):

 Restricted –  includes  fund balance amounts  that are constrained  for  specific purposes which are

externally  imposed by providers,  such as  creditors or amounts  constrained due  to  constitutional

provisions or enabling legislation.

 Committed  –  includes  fund  balance  amounts  that  can  only  be  used  for  the  specific  purposes

imposed by formal action (resolution) of the Governing Board.   Those committed amounts cannot

be used for any other purpose unless the Governing Board removes or changes the specified use by

taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those accounts.

 Assigned –  includes fund balance amounts that are  intended to be used for specific purposes that

are neither considered restricted or committed.   Fund balance may be assigned by the Governing

Board or District officials delegated the authority by the Governing Board.

 Unassigned – includes those fund balances within the general fund, which have not been classified

within the above mentioned categories.  In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification

is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for which

amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.   

The District applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned and unassigned) amounts are available.   Similarly, within
unrestricted  fund  balance,  committed  amounts  are  reduced  first  followed  by  assigned,  and  then
unassigned  amounts  when  expenditures  are  incurred  for  purposes  for  which  amounts  in  any  of  the
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Net position:
Net  position  represents  the  difference  between  assets,  liabilities  and  deferred  outflows/inflows  of
resources.   Net  investment  in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced  by  the  outstanding  balances  of  any  borrowing  used  for  the  acquisition,  construction  or
improvement of those assets.   Net position  is reported as restricted when there are  limitations  imposed
on  their  use  either  through  enabling  legislation  or  through  external  restrictions  imposed  by  creditors,
grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

Budgetary information:
The District is required, under Arizona Revised Statutes, to adopt a budget each fiscal year and to submit it
to the County Treasurer and the County Board of Supervisors no  later than the first day of August each
year; under statute only the general fund must legally adopt an annual budget.  The adopted budget is on
the modified accrual basis of accounting, which  is a  legally allowable basis  for budgetary purposes.   All
annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year‐end.

36

DRAFT

63



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Cash and investments:

Deposits: 
Operating accounts $ 2,489,014

Investments:
Cochise County Treasurer investment pool 2,610,374
Cochise County Treasurer investment pool ‐ bond proceeds, restricted for capital
purchases 1,911,696

$ 7,011,084

The Arizona Revised Statutes authorize the District to  invest public monies  in the State or County Treasurer's
investment  pool;  interest‐bearing  savings  accounts,  certificates  of  deposit  and  repurchase  agreements  in
eligible depositories; bonds or other obligations of the United States government that are guaranteed as to
principal and  interest by the United States government; and bonds of the State of Arizona's counties, cities,
towns, school districts and special districts as specified by statute. 

Deposits:
Custodial credit risk ‐ Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the District's deposits
may not be returned.  The Arizona Revised Statutes require collateral for demand deposits, certificates of
deposit  and  repurchase  agreements  at  101  percent  of  all  deposits  not  covered  by  federal  depository
insurance.

At June 30, 2021, deposits with financial institutions have a carrying value $2,489,014 and a bank balance of
$2,486,281.  The difference represents deposits in transit, outstanding checks, and other reconciling items
at the year‐end. 

Investments:
Currently,  monies  levied  by  the  District  are  invested  with  the  Cochise  County  Treasurer's  Office  and
included in the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).  The District's investment in the County's LGIP
represents a proportionate interest in the pool's portfolio; however, the District's portion is not identified
with specific investments.  No oversight is provided for the Cochise County investment pool, nor does the
structure of  the pool provide  for  shares.   Participation  in  the pool  is  involuntary.   The  fair value of  the
investment pool is discussed in note 3.

The District's investments at June 30, 2021 were as follows: 

Rating Rating Agency Amount

Cochise County Treasurer's investment pool Unrated Not applicable $ 4,522,070

37

DRAFT

64



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Cash and investments (continued):

Investments (continued):
The  District  does  not  have  a  formal  investment  policy with  respect  to  credit  risk,  custodial  credit  risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest rate risk or foreign currency risk for investments.

Credit risk ‐ Arizona Revised Statutes have the following requirements for credit risk: 

 Commercial Paper must be of prime quality and be rated within the top two ratings by a nationally

recognized rating agency.

 Specified bonds, debentures and notes must be rated A or better at the time of purchase by at least

two nationally recognized rating agencies.

 Fixed income securities must carry one of the two highest ratings by Moody's Investors Service  and

Standard and Poor's rating service.  If only one of the above‐mentioned services rates the security,

it must carry the highest rating of that service.

Custodial  credit  risk  ‐  the District’s  investment  in  the  County  Treasurer’s  investment  pool  represents  a
proportionate interest in the pool’s portfolio; however, the District’s portion is not identified with specific
investments and is not subject to custodial credit risk.

Concentration  of  credit  risk  ‐  The  Arizona  Revised  Statutes  do  not  include  any  requirements  for
concentration of credit risk.

Interest  rate  risk  ‐  Interest  rate  risk  is  the  risk  that  changes  in  interest  rates  will  adversely  affect  an
investment's fair value.  The Arizona Revised Statutes require that public monies invested in securities and
deposits  have  a maximum maturity  of  5  years.    Investments  in  repurchase  agreements must  have  a
maximum maturity of 180 days.

The weighted average maturity of the County Treasurer’s investment pool varies by type of investment, and
averages between 1 and 2 years. 

Foreign currency risk ‐ The Arizona Revised Statutes do not allow foreign investments unless the investment
is denominated in the United States dollars.

3. Fair value:

The District measures and categorizes its investments using fair value measurement guidelines established by
GAAP.   These guidelines establish a three‐tier hierarchy of  inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value, as follows:

Level 1  ‐  Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices  for  identical assets or  liabilities  in active markets  that  the
District has the ability to access.

38

DRAFT

65



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

3. Fair value (continued):

Level 2 ‐ Inputs, other than quoted market prices included within Level 1, are observable, either directly or
indirectly.  

Level 3 ‐ Inputs are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

Other investments at fair value ‐ Investments for which fair value is measured at net asset value per share
(or its equivalent).  Due to the inherent uncertainty of these estimates, these values may differ materially
from the values that would have been used had a ready market for these investments existed. 

At June 30, 2021, the fair value of investments measured on a recurring basis is as follows:

Fair value

Other
investments
at fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

External investment pools:
Cochise County Treasurer's
Investment Pool $ 4,522,070 $ 4,522,070 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

The  fair value of a participant’s portion  in the Cochise County Treasurer's  investment pool approximates the
value  of  that  participant’s  pool  shares  and  the  participant’s  shares  are  not  identified  with  specific
investments.      The  investment pool  is not  registered with  the  Securities  and Exchange Commission  as  an
investment  company  and  there  is  no  regulatory  oversight  of  its  operations.    There  are  no  unfunded
commitments or redemption restrictions related to these investments.

The  Cochise  County  Treasurer's  investment  pool  invests  primarily  in  certificates  of  deposits,  U.S.  agency
securities and the State's local government investment pool.  

4. Interfund transfers: 

Interfund transfers during the fiscal year are to be used to fund capital purchases of the capital projects fund.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the general fund transferred $14,772 to the capital projects fund. 

39

DRAFT

66



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

5. Capital assets:

Capital asset activity for the period ended June 30, 2021 was as follows. 

Beginning
balance Increases Decreases Ending balance

Capital assets, not depreciated:
Land $ 158,423 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 158,423
Construction in progress ‐ 463,943 ‐ 463,943

Total capital assets, not depreciated 158,423 463,943 ‐ 622,366

Capital assets, depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 1,397,855 ‐ ‐ 1,397,855
Equipment 2,123,132 130,988 ‐ 2,254,120
Vehicles 2,923,899 1,636,394 (216,382) 4,343,911

Total capital assets, depreciated 6,444,886 1,767,382 (216,382) 7,995,886

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (1,057,767) (34,382) ‐ (1,092,149)
Equipment (1,599,712) (70,258) ‐ (1,669,970)
Vehicles (2,218,289) (182,247) 215,088 (2,185,448)

Total accumulated depreciation (4,875,768) (286,887) 215,088 (4,947,567)

Total capital assets, depreciated, net 1,569,118 1,480,495 (1,294) 3,048,319

Total capital assets, net $ 1,727,541 $ 1,944,438 $ (1,294) $ 3,670,685

6. General obligation bonds:

The District, pursuant  to a  special bond election  in November 2016,  received voter approval  to  issue up  to
$10,000,000 in general obligation debt to construct a new fire station and replace equipment and vehicles. 

Series 2019 (A):
In May 2019,  the Series 2019  (A) General Obligation Bonds were  issued by  the District  in  the amount of
$3,780,000. The interest rate ranges from 3% ‐ 4% and the bonds mature July 1, 2038.

The Series 2019 (A) bonds were issued with a premium of $343,554 that is being amortized over the life of
the debt. 

40

DRAFT

67



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

6. General obligation bonds (continued):

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the general obligation bonds are as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 $ 330,000 $ 129,900 $ 459,900
2023 350,000 116,300 466,300
2024 175,000 106,675 281,675
2025 135,000 102,025 237,025
2026 135,000 97,300 232,300

2027 ‐ 2031 605,000 398,400 1,003,400
2032 ‐ 2036 1,100,000 228,100 1,328,100
2037 ‐ 2041 660,000 40,400 700,400

$ 3,490,000 $ 1,219,100 $ 4,709,100

7. Changes in noncurrent liabilities:

A summary of the changes in noncurrent liabilities for the period ended June 30, 2021 was as follows:

Beginning
balance Additions Reductions

Ending
balance

Due within
one year

Compensated absences $ 514,086 $ 198,125 $ (142,623) $ 569,588 $ 198,000
General obligation bonds 3,780,000 ‐ (290,000) 3,490,000 330,000
Unamortized premium 343,554 (20,912) 322,642
Obligations under capital
leases 28,859 ‐ (16,176) 12,683 12,683

Net pension liability 15,665,155 1,870,259 ‐ 17,535,414 ‐
Net OPEB liability 95,470 1,902 ‐ 97,372 ‐

$ 20,427,124 $ 2,070,286 $ (469,711) $ 22,027,699 $ 540,683

The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for pensions and OPEB in prior years. 

41

DRAFT

68



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

8. Line of credit:

The Board of Supervisors of Cochise County, on behalf of the District, established a line of credit in the amount
of $900,000 with a bank that  is managed by the Cochise County Treasurer's Office.   In accordance with the
Arizona Revised Statutes,  the  line of credit can only be drawn on by  the County Treasurer  in order  to pay
warrants  issued  by  the District  to  fund  operations  prior  to  the  collection  of  the  property  tax  levy  in  the
current year.  Interest is payable at the bank's prime rate (3.25% at June 30, 2021) and the line renews every
July 1.  The balance on the line at the beginning and end of the period was $0.  

9. Risk management:

The District  is exposed to various risks of  loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The District carries commercial insurance
for  all  such  risks of  loss,  including workers'  compensation  and  employees' health  and  accident  insurance.
Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past
three fiscal years.

10. Concentrations:

Certain of the District's work force are members of a union, the Fry Firefighters Local 4913.  The District does
not recognize Fry Firefighters Local 4913 as a bargaining unit; however, the District's current relationship with
the Fry Firefighters Local 4913 is on a meet and confer basis.  

11. Commitments and contingencies:

Intergovernmental agreements:
The District  is party  to a variety of  intergovernmental agreements entered  into  in  the ordinary course of
business pursuant to which  it may be obligated to provide services outside of  its geographic boundaries
and/or  receive assistance  from other parties.   As part of  these agreements,  the District  is obligated  to
indemnify  other  parties  for  certain  liabilities  that  arise  out  of,  or  relate  to,  the  subject matter  of  the
agreements.  

Legal proceedings:
From  time  to  time,  the District may be party  to certain pending or  threatened  lawsuits arising out of or
incident  to  the  ordinary  course  of  business  for  which  it  carries  general  liability  and  other  insurance
coverages.  In the opinion of management and based upon consultation with legal counsel, resolution of
any  pending  or  threatened  lawsuits will  not  have  a material  adverse  effect  on  the  District's  financial
statements.

42

DRAFT

69



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits:

The  District  contributes  to  the  Arizona  State  Retirement  System  (ASRS)  and  the  Public  Safety  Personnel
Retirement System (PSPRS).  These plans are component units of the State of Arizona. 

At  June  30,  2021,  the  District  reported  on  the  Statement  of Net  Position  and  Statement  of  Activities  the
following aggregate amounts related to pensions and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) for all plans to
which it contributes:

Governmental
Activities

Net pension and OPEB assets $ 2,122
Net pension and OPEB liabilities 17,632,786
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB 4,802,484
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB 1,048,663
Pension and OPEB expense 2,387,292

The  District  reported  $1,498,562  of  pension  and OPEB  contributions  as  expenditures  in  the  governmental
funds related to all plans to which it contributes. 

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS):
Plan description ‐ District employees not covered by the other pension plan described below participate in
the  Arizona  State  Retirement  System  (ASRS).  The  ASRS  administers  a  cost‐sharing multiple‐employer
defined benefit pension plan, a cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit health insurance premium
benefit  (OPEB)  plan,  and  a  cost‐sharing multiple‐employer  defined  benefit  long‐term  disability  (OPEB)
plan. The Arizona State Retirement System Board governs the ASRS according to the provisions of A.R.S.
Title 38, Chapter 5, Articles 2 and 2.1. The ASRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes its
financial  statements and  required  supplementary  information. The  report  is available on  its website at
www.azasrs.gov.  

Although an ASRS net OPEB asset/liability has been recorded at June 30, 2021, the ASRS OPEB plans have
not been further disclosed due to the relative insignificance to the District's financial statements.  

Benefits  provided  ‐  The  ASRS  provides  retirement,  health  insurance  premium  supplement,  long‐term
disability,  and  survivor  benefits.    State  statute  establishes  benefit  terms.    Retirement  benefits  are
calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

43

DRAFT

70



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Initial membership date:

Before July 1, 2011 On or after July 1, 2011

Years of service and age
required to receive
benefit

Sum of years and age equals 80
10 years age 62
5 years age 50
any years age 65

30 years age 55
25 years age 60
10 years age 62
5 years age 50
any years age 65

Final average salary is
based on 

Highest 36 consecutive months of
last 120 months

Highest 60 consecutive months of
last 120 months

Benefit percent per year
of service

2.1% to 2.3% 2.1% to 2.3%

   
Retirement  benefits  for  members  who  joined  the  ASRS  prior  to  September  13,  2013  are  subject  to
automatic cost‐of‐living adjustments based on excess investment earnings. Members with a membership
date on or after September 13, 2013 are not eligible for cost‐of‐living adjustments. Survivor benefits are
payable upon a member’s death. For retired members, the retirement benefit option chosen determines
the survivor benefit. For all other members, the beneficiary  is entitled to the member’s account balance
that includes the member’s contributions and employer’s contributions, plus interest earned.

Contributions ‐ In accordance with State statutes, annual actuarial valuations determine active member and
employer contribution requirements. The combined active member and employer contribution rates are
expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued  liability. For  the year ended  June 30, 2021,  statute  required active ASRS
members to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 12.22% (12.04% for retirement and 0.18% for
long‐term  disability)  of  the  members’  annual  covered  payroll,  and  statute  required  the  District  to
contribute  at  the  actuarially  determined  rate  of  12.22%  (11.65%  for  retirement,  0.39%  for  health
insurance premium benefit, and 0.18%  for  long‐term disability) of  the active members’ annual covered
payroll.  

The District's contributions  to  the pension plan  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021 were $23,290.   During
fiscal year 2021, the District paid for the ASRS pension and OPEB contributions from the general fund and
VECC fund.

44

DRAFT

71



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Pension liability ‐ At June 30, 2021, the District reported a liability of $296,283 for its proportionate share of
the ASRS’  net  pension  liability.  The  net  pension  liability was measured  as  of  June  30,  2020.  The  total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined using update procedures to roll
forward  the  total pension  liability  from an actuarial valuation as of  June 30, 2019,  to  the measurement
date of  June 30, 2020.   The District’s proportion of  the net pension  liability was based on  the District's
actual contributions to the plan relative to the total of all participating employers’ contributions for the
year ended June 30, 2020. The District’s proportion measured as of June 30, 2020 was 0.00171%, which
was an increase of 0.00171 from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019.

Pension  expense  and  deferred  outflows/inflows  of  resources  ‐  For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021,  the
District recognized pension expense for ASRS of $104,839. At June 30, 2021, the District reported deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 2,680 $ ‐
Changes in assumptions or other inputs ‐ ‐
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 28,577 ‐
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 160,187 ‐
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 23,290 ‐

$ 214,734 $ ‐

The $23,290  reported as deferred outflows of  resources  related  to ASRS pensions  resulting  from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ending June 30, 2022. 

45

DRAFT

72



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
Other amounts  reported as deferred outflows of  resources and deferred  inflows of  resources  related  to
ASRS pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ending
June 30,

2022 $ 87,627
2023 84,641
2024 10,337
2025 8,839

$ 191,444

Actuarial assumptions ‐ The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the total pension liability are
as follows:

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2019
Actuarial roll forward date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.5%
Projected salary increases 2.7% ‐ 7.2%
Inflation 2.3%
Permanent benefit increase Included
Mortality rates 2017 SRA Scale U‐MP

Actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2019  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial
experience study for the 5‐year period ended June 30, 2016.

The long‐term expected rate of return on ASRS pension plan investments was determined to be 7.5% using
a building‐block method  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These ranges are combined to produce the long‐term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 

46

DRAFT

73



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS) (continued):
The  target allocation and best estimates of geometric  real  rates of  return  for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long‐term expected

geometric real rate of return

Equity %50 %6.39
Fixed income ‐ credit %20 %5.44
Fixed income ‐ interest rate sensitive %10 %0.22
Real estate %20 %5.85

%100

Discount rate ‐ The discount rate used to measure the ASRS total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection
of  cash  flows  used  to  determine  the  discount  rate  assumed  that  contributions  from  participating
employers will be made based on  the actuarially determined  rates based on  the ASRS Board’s  funding
policy,  which  establishes  the  contractually  required  rate  under  Arizona  statute.    Based  on  those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore,  the  long‐term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.

Sensitivity of the District's proportionate share of the ASRS net pension liability to changes in the discount
rate  ‐ The  following  table presents  the District's proportionate  share of  the net pension  liability  (asset)
calculated using  the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what  the District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (6.5%) or 1% higher
(8.5%) than the current rate:

1% decrease
(6.5%)

Current
discount rate

(7.5%)
1% increase

(8.5%)

District's proportionate share of the net pension
liability $ 405,164 $ 296,283 $ 205,265

Pension plan fiduciary net position ‐ Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued ASRS financial report.

47

DRAFT

74



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS):
Plan descriptions  ‐ District employees who are regularly assigned hazardous duty participate  in the Public
Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) or employees who became members on or after July 1, 2017,
may  participate  in  the  Public  Safety  Personnel  Defined  Contribution  Retirement  Plan  (PSPDCRP).  The
PSPRS administers agent and cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit pension plans and agent and
cost‐sharing multiple‐employer defined benefit health  insurance premium benefit  (OPEB) plans. A nine‐
member  board  known  as  the  Board  of  Trustees  and  the  participating  local  boards  govern  the  PSPRS
according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 4. Employees who were PSPRS members
before July 1, 2017, participate in the agent plans, and those who became PSPRS members on or after July
1, 2017, participate  in  the  cost‐sharing plans  (PSPRS  Tier 3 Risk Pool), which  are not  further disclosed
because of their relative insignificance to the District's financial statements.  

The  PSPRS  issues  a  publicly  available  financial  report  that  include  financial  statements  and  required
supplementary information. The reports is available on the PSPRS website at www.psprs.com. 

Benefits provided  ‐ The PSPRS provides retirement, health  insurance premium supplement, disability, and
survivor benefits. State statute establishes benefit terms. Retirement, disability, and survivor benefits are
calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012

On or after January 1,
2012 and before July 1,

2017 On or after July 1, 2017

Years of service
and age required
to receive benefit

20 years of service, any
age

15 years of service, age 62

25 years of service or 15
years of credited service,

age 52.5

15 years of credited
service, age 52.5, 15 or

more years of service, age
55

Final average
salary is based on

Highest 36 consecutive
months of last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive
months of last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive
months of last 15 years

Benefit percent:

Normal
retirement

50% less 2.0% for each
year of credited service

less than 20 years OR plus
2.0% to 2.5% for each
year of credited service
over 20 years, not to

exceed 80%

1.5% to 2.5% per year of credited service, not to
exceed 80%

48

DRAFT

75



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012
On or after January 1, 2012
and before July 1, 2017 On or after July 1, 2017

Accidental
disability
retirement

50% or normal retirement, whichever is greater

Catastrophic
disability
retirement

90% for the first 60 months then reduced to either 62.5% or normal retirement,
whichever is greater

Ordinary
disability
retirement

Normal retirement calculated with actual years of credited service or 20 years of
credited service, whichever is greater, multiplied by years of credited service (not

to exceed 20 years) divided by 20
Survivor benefit:

Retired members 80% to 100% of retired member’s pension benefit

Active member 80% to 100% of accidental disability retirement benefit or 100% of average
monthly compensation if death was the result of injuries received on the job

Retirement  and  survivor benefits  are  subject  to  automatic  cost‐of‐living  adjustments based on  inflation.
PSPRS also provides temporary disability benefits of 50 percent of the member’s compensation for up to
12 months.

Health  insurance premium benefits are available to retired or disabled members with 5 years of credited
service. The benefits are payable only with respect to allowable health insurance premiums for which the
member is responsible. Benefits range from $100 per month to $260 per month depending on the age of
the member and dependents.

Employees covered by benefit terms ‐ At June 30, 2021, the following employees were covered by the agent
pension plan benefit terms:

Pension Health

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 25 25
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3 1
Active employees 32 32

60 58

49

DRAFT

76



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Contributions ‐ State statutes establish the pension contribution requirements for active PSPRS employees.
In  accordance  with  State  statutes,  annual  actuarial  valuations  determine  employer  contribution
requirements for PSPRS pension and health  insurance premium benefits.   The combined active member
and employer contribution rates are expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the
year,  with  an  additional  amount  to  finance  any  unfunded  accrued  liability.  Contribution  rates  are  a
percentage of active members’ annual covered payroll.

Active members ‐ pension 7.65% ‐ 11.65%
District:
Pension %49.51
Health insurance %0.64

In addition,  the District  is  required  to  contribute at  the actuarially determined  rate of 33.61% of annual
covered  payroll  of  retired members who worked  for  the  District  in  positions  that  an  employee who
contributes to the PSPRS would typically fill and of employees participating  in the PSPRS Tier 3 Risk Pool
and PSPDCRP members  in addition to the District’s required contributions to the PSPRS Tier 3 Risk Pool
and PSPDCRP. 

The District's  contributions  to  the pension plan  for  the year ended  June 30, 2021 were $1,435,936, and
contributions to the OPEB plan were $18,678.   During fiscal year 2021, the District paid for the pension
and OPEB contributions from the general fund.

Liability (asset) ‐ At June 30, 2021, the District reported net pension liability of $17,238,648 and a net OPEB
liability of $96,060.     The net  liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2020 and the total  liability used to
calculate the net liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial  assumptions  ‐  The  significant  actuarial  assumptions  used  to measure  the  total  pension/OPEB
liability are as follows:

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.3%
Wage inflation 3.5% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Price inflation 2.5% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Cost‐of‐living adjustment 1.75% for pension/not applicable for OPEB
Mortality rates PubS‐2010 tables
Healthcare cost trend rate Not applicable

50

DRAFT

77



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2020  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial
experience study for the 5‐year period ended June 30, 2017.

The long‐term expected rate of return on PSPRS pension plan investments was determined to be 7.3% using
a building‐block method  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

The  target allocation and best estimates of geometric  real  rates of  return  for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long‐term expected

geometric real rate of return

U.S. public equity %23 %4.93
International public equity %15 %6.09
Global private equity %18 %8.42
Other assets (capital appreciation) %7 %5.61
Core bonds %2 %0.22
Private credit %22 %5.31
Diversifying strategies %12 %3.22
Cash ‐ Mellon %1 %(0.60)

%100

Discount rate  ‐   At June 30, 2020, the discount rate used to measure the total pension/OPEB  liability was
7.30%.    The projection of  cash  flows used  to determine  the discount  rate  assumed  that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made
at  rates equal  to  the difference between  the actuarially determined contribution  rate and  the member
rate. Based on those assumptions, the plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long‐term expected rate of
return on plan  investments was applied  to all periods of projected benefit payments  to determine  the
total pension/OPEB liability.

51

DRAFT

78



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Changes in the net pension liability ‐ 

Total pension
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary
net position

(b)

Net pension
liability
(a) ‐ (b)

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 27,699,543 $ 12,034,388 $ 15,665,155

Adjustment to beginning of year ‐ (75,239) 75,239

Changes for the year:
Service cost 590,218 ‐ 590,218
Interest on the total pension liability 2,016,399 ‐ 2,016,399
Differences between expected and actual
experience in the measurement of the
pension liability 464,888 ‐ 464,888

Contributions ‐ employer ‐ 1,228,795 (1,228,795)
Contributions ‐ employee ‐ 218,825 (218,825)
Net investment income ‐ 154,945 (154,945)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,335,708) ‐

Administrative expense ‐ (12,637) 12,637
Other changes ‐ (16,677) 16,677

Net changes 1,735,797 237,543 1,498,254

Balances at June 30, 2021 $ 29,435,340 $ 12,196,692 $ 17,238,648

52

DRAFT

79



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Changes in the net OPEB liability ‐ 

Total OPEB
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary
net position

(b)

Net OPEB
liability
(a) ‐ (b)

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 480,631 $ 385,161 $ 95,470

Adjustment to beginning of year ‐ ‐ ‐

Changes for the year:
Service cost 11,926 ‐ 11,926
Interest on the total OPEB liability 35,493 ‐ 35,493
Differences between expected and actual
experience in the measurement of the
OPEB liability (23,983) ‐ (23,983)

Contributions ‐ employer ‐ 18,490 (18,490)
Net investment income ‐ 4,742 (4,742)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (25,842) (25,842) ‐

Administrative expense ‐ (386) 386

Net changes (2,406) (2,996) 590

Balances at June 30, 2021 $ 478,225 $ 382,165 $ 96,060

Sensitivity of the District’s net pension/OPEB (asset) liability to changes in the discount rate ‐ The following
table presents the District’s net pension/OPEB (assets) liabilities calculated using the discount rate noted
above, as well as what the District's net pension/OPEB (asset) liability would be if it were calculated using
a  discount  rate  that  is  1  percentage  point  lower  (6.3%)  or  1  percentage  point  higher  (8.3%)  than  the
current rate:

1% decrease
(6.3%)

Current
discount rate

(7.3%)
1% increase

(8.3%)

District's net pension liability  $ 21,551,654 $ 17,238,648 $ 13,760,243

District's net OPEB liability $ 151,833 $ 96,060 $ 49,362

Plan fiduciary net position  ‐ Detailed  information about the plans' fiduciary net position  is available  in the
separately issued PSPRS financial report.

53

DRAFT

80



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
Expense  ‐  For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021,  the  District  recognized  pension  expense  for  PSPRS  of
$1,435,936 and OPEB expense of $19,518.

Deferred  outflows/inflows  of  resources  ‐  At  June  30,  2021,  the  District  reported  deferred  outflows  of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB from the following sources:

Pension Health

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Deferred
outflows of
resources

Deferred
inflows of
resources

Differences between expected and
actual experience $ 733,660 $ 941,667 $ ‐ $ 98,509

Changes in assumptions 1,671,621 ‐ 6,390 3,979
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on plan investments 659,661 ‐ 20,485 ‐

Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,435,936 ‐ 18,678 ‐

$ 4,500,878 $ 941,667 $ 45,553 $ 102,488

The  amounts  reported  as  deferred  outflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions  and OPEB  resulting  from
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an  increase  in the net
asset  or  a  reduction of  the net  liability  in  the  year  ending  June  30,  2022. Other  amounts  reported  as
deferred outflows of  resources and deferred  inflows of  resources  related  to pensions and OPEB will be
recognized as expenses as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Pension Health

2022 $ 588,914 $ (14,933)
2023 588,915 (12,159)
2024 503,264 (12,466)
2025 335,544 (12,737)
2026 40,225 (11,659)

Thereafter 66,413 (11,659)

$ 2,123,275 $ (75,613)

54

DRAFT

81



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

12. Pension and other postemployment benefits (continued):

Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS) (continued):
PSPDCRP  plan  – District  employees who  are  regularly  assigned  hazardous  duty  and  aren’t members  of
PSPRS participate in the PSPDCRP. The PSPDCRP is a defined contribution pension plan. The PSPRS Board
of  Trustees  governs  the PSPDCRP  according  to  the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 4.1.
Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, are established by State statute. 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, active PSPDCRP members were required by statute to contribute at least
9 percent of the members’ annual covered payroll, and the District was required by statute to contribute 9
percent of  active members’  annual  covered payroll  to  an  individual employee  account. Employees  are
immediately vested in their own contributions and the earnings on those contributions. Employees vest in
a  portion  of  the District’s  contributions  each  year  as  set  forth  in  statute.  The  plan  retains  nonvested
District contributions when forfeited because of employment terminations.

13. Subsequent events:

In September 2021, the Governing Board approved a Resolution to issue Certificates of Participation (COPs) not
to exceed $18,000,000 in principal amount.  COPs are debt instruments representing a fractional share of the
District's  interest  in a  tax‐exempt  lease marketed  to  investors.   The District will use the proceeds  from the
COPs to reduce the District's unfunded pension  liability with PSPRS.    In November 2021, the District  issued
$17,360,000 of COPs.  

55

DRAFT

82



Required Supplementary Information

DRAFT

83



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE ‐
BUDGET TO ACTUAL ‐ GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Budgeted amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance with
final budget

Revenues:
Property taxes $ 3,934,985 $ 3,934,985 $ 3,911,049 $ (23,936)
Fire district assistance tax 400,000 400,000 397,163 (2,837)
Charges for services 1,637,000 1,637,000 2,572,572 935,572
Grants and contributions 132,115 132,115 79,946 (52,169)
Rental income 61,200 61,200 82,006 20,806
Investment earnings 14,000 14,000 10,758 (3,242)
Other 37,021 37,021 67,674 30,653

Total revenues 6,216,321 6,216,321 7,121,168 904,847

Expenditures:
Public safety:

Emergency operations 5,272,859 5,272,859 5,176,744 (96,115)
Administration 834,980 834,980 1,008,008 173,028

Capital outlay ‐ ‐ 604,667 604,667
Debt service ‐ ‐ 16,176 16,176

Total expenditures 6,107,839 6,107,839 6,805,595 697,756

Revenues over expenditures 108,482 108,482 315,573 207,091

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (108,482) (108,482) (14,772) 93,710
Proceeds from sale of capital assets ‐ ‐ 57,300 57,300

Total other financing uses (108,482) (108,482) 42,528 151,010

Net change in fund balance ‐ ‐ 358,101 358,101

Fund balance, beginning of year ‐ ‐ 2,529,291 2,529,291

Fund balance, end of year $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 2,887,392 $ 2,887,392

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information  57

DRAFT

84



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION/OPEB LIABILITY ‐ COST SHARING PLAN (ASRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

ASRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2021, which was the first year of participation in this plan)

Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

District's proportion of the net pension
liability %0.001710 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability $ 296,283 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 65,790 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability as a percentage of its
covered employee payroll %450 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability %69 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 58

DRAFT

85



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS ‐ AGENT RETIREMENT PLAN (PSPRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(schedule to be built prospectively from 2015;  2014 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

Total pension liability
Service cost $ 590,218 $ 612,790 $ 591,000 $ 616,597 $ 507,061 $ 509,210 $ 522,125 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Interest 2,016,399 1,967,644 1,873,329 1,678,985 1,556,320 1,497,010 1,285,538 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit changes ‐ ‐ ‐ 290,508 595,933 ‐ 448,678 ‐ ‐ ‐
Difference between expected and actual
experience 464,888 (842,004) (175,939) 686,270 (30,760) (255,469) (900,170) ‐ ‐ ‐

Assumption changes ‐ 658,689 ‐ 864,466 921,105 ‐ 2,380,341 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,349,142) (1,313,153) (1,077,321) (1,010,072) (978,195) (1,094,095) ‐ ‐ ‐

Net change in total pension liability 1,735,797 1,047,977 975,237 3,059,505 2,539,587 772,556 2,642,417 ‐ ‐ ‐
Total pension liability, beginning 27,699,543 26,651,566 25,676,329 22,616,824 20,077,237 19,304,681 16,662,264 ‐ ‐ ‐

Total pension liability, ending (a) $ 29,435,340 $ 27,699,543 $ 26,651,566 $ 25,676,329 $ 22,616,824 $ 20,077,237 $ 19,304,681 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position
Adjustment to beginning of year $ (75,239) $ (16,296) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions ‐ employer 1,228,795 1,208,155 1,495,352 1,068,196 1,072,871 835,895 717,789 ‐ ‐ ‐
Contributions ‐ employee 218,825 224,395 235,228 555,844 419,779 309,556 271,334 ‐ ‐ ‐
Pension plan net investment income 154,945 619,085 722,050 1,085,217 51,388 301,225 999,067 ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (1,335,708) (1,349,142) (1,313,153) (1,077,321) (1,010,072) (978,195) (1,094,095) ‐ ‐ ‐

Hall/Parker settlement ‐ ‐ (395,688) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Administrative expenses (12,637) (11,760) (11,689) (10,002) (7,794) (7,735) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Other (16,677) ‐ 13,023 (25,045) (128,692) 24,156 (320,635) ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in fiduciary net position 162,304 674,437 745,123 1,596,889 397,480 484,902 573,460 ‐ ‐ ‐
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 12,034,388 11,359,951 10,614,828 9,017,939 8,620,459 8,135,557 7,562,097 ‐ ‐ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) $ 12,196,692 $ 12,034,388 $ 11,359,951 $ 10,614,828 $ 9,017,939 $ 8,620,459 $ 8,135,557 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net pension liability, ending (a) ‐ (b) $ 17,238,648 $ 15,665,155 $ 15,291,615 $ 15,061,501 $ 13,598,885 $ 11,456,778 $ 11,169,124 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability %41.44 %43.45 %42.62 %41.34 %39.87 %43.94 %42.14 %‐ %‐ %‐

Covered valuation payroll $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ 2,617,767 $ 2,765,466 $ 2,595,862 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net pension liability as a percentage of
covered valuation payroll %723.33 %629.19 %581.91 %576.47 %519.48 %414.28 %430.27 %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 59

DRAFT

86



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS ‐ AGENT RETIREMENT PLAN (PSPRS)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(schedule to be built prospectively from 2018;  2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(Measurement date) (2020) (2019) (2018) (2017) (2016) (2015) (2014) (2013) (2012) (2011)

Total OPEB liability
Service cost $ 11,926 $ 8,146 $ 8,409 $ 9,144 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Interest on total OPEB liability 35,493 38,568 38,903 39,443 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Changes of benefit changes ‐ ‐ ‐ 22 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Difference between expected and actual
experience (23,983) (74,384) (28,926) (12,200) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Assumption changes ‐ 8,518 ‐ (8,007) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments (25,842) (26,533) (27,153) (29,318) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in total OPEB liability (2,406) (45,685) (8,767) (916) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total OPEB liability, beginning 480,631 526,316 535,083 535,999 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total OPEB liability, ending (a) $ 478,225 $ 480,631 $ 526,316 $ 535,083 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position
Adjustment to beginning of year $ ‐ $ 16,296 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions ‐ employer 18,490 20,207 7,396 21,000 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Contributions ‐ employee ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net investment income 4,742 19,171 23,824 37,794 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Benefit payments (25,842) (26,533) (27,153) (29,318) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Administrative expenses (386) (331) (363) (335) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Other ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Net change in fiduciary net position (2,996) 28,810 3,704 29,141 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 385,161 356,351 352,647 323,506 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) $ 382,165 $ 385,161 $ 356,351 $ 352,647 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net OPEB liability (asset), ending (a) ‐ (b) $ 96,060 $ 95,470 $ 169,965 $ 182,436 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total OPEB liability %79.91 %80.14 %67.71 %65.91 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Covered valuation payroll $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered valuation payroll %4.03 %3.83 %6.47 %6.98 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 60

DRAFT

87



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION/OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

ASRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2021, which was the first year of participation in this plan)

Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 23,290 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 23,290 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 199,914 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %11.65 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 61

DRAFT

88



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION/OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

PSPRS Pension (schedule to be built prospectively from 2018; 2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 1,435,936 $ 1,208,155 $ 1,495,352 $ 1,068,196 $ 1,072,871 $ 835,895 $ 717,789 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 1,435,936 1,208,155 1,495,352 976,189 1,072,871 835,895 717,789 ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ 92,007 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 2,900,880 $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ 2,612,698 $ 2,617,767 $ 2,765,466 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %49.50 %48.53 %56.90 %37.36 %40.98 %30.23 %27.65 %‐ %‐ %‐

PSPRS Health (schedule to be built prospectively from 2018; 2017 ‐ 2012 information not available)
Reporting fiscal year 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Statutorily required contribution $ 18,678 $ 20,207 $ 7,396 $ 21,000 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 18,678 20,207 7,396 21,000 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

District's covered payroll $ 2,900,880 $ 2,383,228 $ 2,489,752 $ 2,627,836 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll %0.64 %0.81 %0.28 %0.80 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information 62

DRAFT

89



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. Budgetary basis of accounting:

The District prepares  its annual budget on  the modified accrual basis of accounting. The  level of budgetary
control  is at the  fund  level.   A budgetary comparison schedule  for the general fund  is  included as required
supplementary information to provide meaningful comparison of actual results to budget on a budget basis.

2. Pension and OPEB plan schedules:

Actuarially determined contribution rates:
Actuarial determined contribution rates for PSPRS are calculated as of June 30 two years prior to the end of
the fiscal year in which contributions are made.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used to establish
the contribution requirements are as follows:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percent‐of‐pay, closed

Remaining amortization period as of the 2019
actuarial valuation

17 years

Asset valuation method 7‐year smoothed market; 80%/120% corridor

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return PSPRS  members  with  initial  membership  date  before
July  1,  2017:  In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  the
investment rate of return was decreased from 7.5% to
7.4%.  In  the 2016 actuarial valuation,  the  investment
rate of return was decreased from 7.85% to 7.5%.    In
the  2013  actuarial  valuation,  the  investment  rate  of
return  was  decreased  from  8.0%  to  7.85%.  PSPRS
members with  initial membership on or  after  July 1,
2017: 7%

Salary increase In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  projected  salary
increases were decreased from 4.0%  ‐ 8.0% to 3.5%  ‐
7.5%. In the 2014 actuarial valuation, projected salary
increases were decreased from 4.5% – 8.5% to 4.0% –
8.0%. In the 2013 actuarial valuation, projected salary
increases were decreased from 5.0% – 9.0% to 4.5% –
8.5%.

63

DRAFT

90



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2. Pension and OPEB plan schedules (continued):

Actuarially determined contribution rates (continued):

Wage growth In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  wage  growth  was
decreased  from  4%  to  3.5%.  In  the  2014  actuarial
valuation, wage growth was decreased  from 4.5%  to
4.0%.    In  the  2013  actuarial  valuation, wage  growth
was decreased from 5.0% to 4.5%.

Retirement age Experience‐based  table  of  rates  that  is  specific  to  the
type of eligibility condition.  Last updated for the 2012
valuation  pursuant  to  an  experience  study  of  the
period July 1, 2006 ‐ June 30, 2011.

Mortality In  the  2017  actuarial  valuation,  changed  to  RP‐2014
tables,  with  75%  of  MP‐2016  fully  generational
projection scales. RP‐2000 mortality table (adjusted by
105% for both males and females).

Factors that affect trends:
Arizona courts have ruled that provisions of a 2011 law that changed the mechanism for funding permanent
pension benefit increases and increased employee pension contribution rates were unconstitutional or a
breach  of  contract  because  those  provisions  apply  to  individuals who were members  as  of  the  law’s
effective date. As a result,  the PSPRS changed benefit  terms  to reflect  the prior mechanism  for  funding
permanent  benefit  increases  for  those members  and  revised  actuarial  assumptions  to  explicitly  value
future permanent benefit  increases. PSPRS also  reduced  those members’ employee  contribution  rates.
These changes are reflected in the plans’ pension liabilities for fiscal year 2015 (measurement date 2014)
for members who were  retired as of  the  law’s effective date and  fiscal  year 2018  (measurement date
2017) for members who retired or will retire after the law’s effective date. These changes also increased
the PSPRS‐required pension contributions beginning in fiscal year 2016 for members who were retired as
of the  law’s effective date. These changes  increased the PSPRS‐required contributions beginning  in fiscal
year 2019 for members who retired or will retire after the law’s effective date.  Also, the District refunded
excess  employee  contributions  to  PSPRS  members.  PSPRS  allowed  the  District  to  reduce  its  actual
employer contributions for the refund amounts. As a result, the District's pension contributions were less
than the actuarially or statutorily determined contributions for 2018 and 2019.

64

DRAFT

91



STATISTICAL SECTION

DRAFT

92



Statistical Section

This part of the comprehensive annual financial report of the District presents detailed information as a context for
understanding  what  the  information  in  the  financial  statements,  note  disclosures,  and  required  supplementary
information says about the government's overall financial health of the District.

This section contains the following tables and information:

Financial Trends
These schedules contain  trend  information  to help the reader understand how the  financial performance
and well‐being of the District have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the most significant local revenue source of
the District – the property tax.

Debt Capacity 
These  schedules present  information  to help  the  reader  assess  the  affordability of  the  current  levels of
outstanding debt of the District and its ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information 
These  schedules  offer  demographic  and  economic  indicators  to  help  the  reader  understand  the
environment within which the financial activities of the District take place.

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information
in  the  financial  report  of  the  District  relates  to  the  services  the District  provides  and  the  activities  it
performs.

66

DRAFT

93



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Governmental Activities
Net investments in capital assets $ 1,757,056 $ 1,170,035 $ 1,629,177 $ 1,331,151 $ 1,363,051 $ 1,549,843 $ 1,545,516 $ 1,774,859 $ 2,023,726 $ 2,275,396
Restricted 441,264 430,877 3,641,003 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Unrestricted (9,561,229) (9,160,888) (12,891,684) (8,871,169) 2,331,387 2,827,055 2,669,453 2,400,368 2,293,515 2,181,561

Total governmental activities
net position $ (7,362,909) $ (7,559,976) $ (7,621,504) $ (7,540,018) $ 3,694,438 $ 4,376,898 $ 4,214,969 $ 4,175,227 $ 4,317,241 $ 4,456,957

Source: District financial records.

67

DRAFT

94



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Expenses
Governmental activities:
Public Safety $ 7,415,871 $ 6,613,013 $ 6,530,095 $ 6,557,014 $ 6,340,914 $ 5,918,573 $ 5,718,176 $ 5,477,159 $ 5,575,194 $ 5,516,911
Interest on long‐term debt 115,588 144,148 37,647 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total primary government
expenses 7,531,459 6,757,161 6,567,742 6,557,014 6,340,914 5,918,573 5,718,176 5,477,159 5,575,194 5,516,911

Program revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for services 2,610,508 1,680,714 1,919,321 1,825,060 1,686,666 1,849,130 1,644,211 1,293,637 1,256,441 1,411,105
Capital grants and contributions ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 66,684 15,546 ‐ ‐
Operating grants and contributions 79,946 216,413 282,787 122,303 66,885 270,288 40,016 ‐ 33,052 84,390
Rental income 82,006 69,531 64,961 76,196 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total primary government
program revenues 2,772,460 1,966,658 2,267,069 2,023,559 1,753,551 2,119,418 1,750,911 1,309,183 1,289,493 1,495,495
Total primary government net
expenses (4,758,999) (4,790,503) (4,300,673) (4,533,455) (4,587,363) (3,799,155) (3,967,265) (4,167,976) (4,285,701) (4,021,416)

General revenues and other changes in net position
Property taxes 4,397,177 4,257,433 3,700,665 3,589,758 3,439,944 3,493,819 3,536,633 3,567,332 3,662,339 3,731,391
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 400,000 405,384 395,683 398,028 386,269 400,744 396,206 390,400 296,031
Investment earnings 38,046 127,554 48,841 25,603 15,001 16,627 14,299 9,912 14,141 15,025
Other 67,674 49,134 64,297 25,562 51,931 64,369 55,331 52,513 49,105 79,813
Gain on sale of capital assets 56,006 17,910 ‐ 16,200 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377
Total primary government 4,956,066 4,852,031 4,219,187 4,052,806 3,904,904 3,961,084 4,007,007 4,025,963 4,145,985 4,131,637

Change in net position

Total primary government $ 197,067 $ 61,528 $ (81,486) $ (480,649) $ (682,459) $ 161,929 $ 39,742 $ (142,013) $ (139,716) $ 110,221

Source: District financial records.

68

DRAFT

95



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

General fund
Nonspendable $ 48,257 $ 43,304 $ 24,616 $ 51,053 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Restricted ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Committed ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Assigned 395,982 394,032 320,994 320,753 508,114 505,156 501,707 458,782 455,560 453,354
Unassigned 2,443,153 2,091,955 1,330,514 1,192,479 448,214 954,845 958,009 837,498 678,206 532,831

Total general fund $ 2,887,392 $ 2,529,291 $ 1,676,124 $ 1,564,285 $ 956,328 $ 1,460,001 $ 1,459,716 $ 1,296,280 $ 1,133,766 $ 986,185

All other governmental funds
Nonspendable $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐
Restricted 2,352,960 3,946,730 3,641,003 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Committed ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Assigned 1,706,110 1,705,463 1,819,794 1,333,951 1,375,059 1,367,054 1,209,737 1,104,088 1,159,749 1,195,376
Unassigned ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total all other governmental
funds $ 4,059,070 $ 5,652,193 $ 5,460,797 $ 1,333,951 $ 1,375,059 $ 1,367,054 $ 1,209,737 $ 1,104,088 $ 1,159,749 $ 1,195,376

Source: District financial records.

69

DRAFT

96



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES ‐ GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DEBT SERVICE RATIO

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Revenues
Property taxes $ 4,401,374 $ 4,259,655 $ 3,706,483 $ 3,601,835 $ 3,439,944 $ 3,493,819 $ 3,536,633 $ 3,567,332 $ 3,662,339 $ 3,731,391
Fire district assistance tax 397,163 400,000 405,384 395,683 398,028 386,269 400,744 396,206 390,400 296,031
Grants and contributions 79,946 1,756,445 1,875,590 1,693,493 1,686,666 1,849,130 1,644,211 1,293,637 1,256,441 1,411,105
Charges for services 2,572,572 216,413 282,787 122,303 66,884 270,288 106,700 15,546 33,052 84,390
Rental income 82,006 69,531 64,961 76,196 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Investment earnings 38,046 127,554 48,841 25,603 30,725 16,627 14,299 9,912 14,141 15,025
Other 67,674 49,134 64,297 25,562 36,207 64,368 55,331 52,512 49,105 79,813

Total revenues 7,638,781 6,878,732 6,448,343 5,940,675 5,658,454 6,080,501 5,757,918 5,335,145 5,405,478 5,617,755

Expenditures
Public Safety 6,184,752 5,468,678 5,808,575 5,471,293 6,115,230 5,639,906 5,396,687 5,134,213 5,214,643 5,292,620
Capital outlay 2,231,325 315,613 140,317 562,855 38,892 282,993 92,146 94,079 108,881 372,251
Debt service:
Principal 306,176 15,988 371,522 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Interest  208,850 96,647 12,798 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Total expenditures 8,931,103 5,896,926 6,333,212 6,034,148 6,154,122 5,922,899 5,488,833 5,228,292 5,323,524 5,664,871
Revenues under expenditures (1,292,322) 981,806 115,131 (93,473) (495,668) 157,602 269,085 106,853 81,954 (47,116)

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 57,300 17,910 ‐ 16,200 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377
Issuance of bonds payable ‐ ‐ 4,123,554 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Issuance of capital lease obligations ‐ 44,847 ‐ 371,522 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total other financing sources (uses) 57,300 62,757 4,123,554 387,722 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 30,000 9,377

Net change in fund balances $ (1,235,022) $ 1,044,563 $ 4,238,685 $ 294,249 $ (495,668) $ 157,602 $ 269,085 $ 106,853 $ 111,954 $ (37,739)

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures %7.69 %2.06 %6.62 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

Source: District financial records.

70

DRAFT

97



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

ASSESSED AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Total

Fiscal year

Commercial,
Industrial,
Utilities, &
Mines

Agriculture &
Vacant

Residential
(owner

occupied)
Residential
(rental) Railroad

Less: Tax
exempt real
property

Taxable
assessed value

Direct tax
rate

Estimated real
market value

Assessed
value as a %
of actual
value

2012 $ 20,582,621 $ 21,170,704 $ 102,856,540 $ 6,929,009 $ ‐ $ 6,198,878 $ 145,339,996 $ 2.6832 $1,333,084,503 %10.90

2013 16,360,731 19,346,610 82,940,206 20,526,216 ‐ 6,249,891 132,923,872 2.7500 1,237,378,282 10.74

2014 19,373,446 16,464,041 79,031,869 20,384,252 ‐ 5,724,253 129,529,355 2.7600 1,196,973,892 10.82

2015 18,800,847 16,308,417 74,532,830 20,057,071 ‐ 5,556,214 124,142,951 2.8116 1,146,827,506 10.82

2016 16,742,560 10,730,611 75,658,843 20,376,671 ‐ 5,688,992 117,819,693 2.9777 1,108,866,479 10.63

2017 16,018,265 9,945,268 75,592,953 19,392,028 ‐ 5,389,080 115,559,434 3.0164 1,096,737,047 10.54

2018 15,784,644 9,481,830 75,527,077 18,843,544 ‐ 5,451,461 114,185,634 3.1476 1,094,063,958 10.44

2019 15,842,537 9,448,058 77,376,346 19,496,477 ‐ 5,896,078 116,267,340 3.1999 1,114,676,687 10.43

2020 15,084,321 13,511,756 78,383,343 17,862,742 ‐ 5,694,313 119,147,849 3.1999 1,136,746,903 10.48

2021 15,453,294 12,944,957 81,657,989 18,219,083 ‐ 5,303,194 122,972,129 3.1999 1,171,242,438 10.50

Source: Cochise County Tax Assessor

71

DRAFT

98



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PROPERTY TAX RATES ‐ ALL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Overlapping Rates

Fiscal year
Fry Fire
District

Fry Fire
District Debt

Service Total District
Cochise
County

State School
Tax

Equalization

Palominas
School
District

Cochise
County
Junior
College

Cochise
County
Library
District

Cochise
County

Flood Plain
Division

Mobile
Home

Relocation
Fund

Total direct
and

overlapping
rates

2012 $ 2.6832 $ ‐ $ 2.6832 $ 2.6276 $ 0.4259 $ 4.3349 $ 1.6657 $ 0.1451 $ 0.2597 $ 0.5000 $ 12.6421

2013 2.7500 ‐ 2.7500 2.6276 0.4717 4.5133 1.7329 0.1451 0.2597 0.5000 13.0003

2014 2.7600 ‐ 2.7600 2.6276 0.5123 5.2765 1.8508 0.1451 0.2597 0.5000 13.9320

2015 2.8116 ‐ 2.8116 2.6276 0.5089 6.8185 2.0329 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.2043

2016 2.9777 ‐ 2.9777 2.6276 0.5054 6.8185 2.1756 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.5096

2017 3.0164 ‐ 3.0164 2.6276 0.5010 5.4687 2.2860 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 14.3045

2018 3.1476 ‐ 3.1476 2.6747 0.4875 5.9803 2.3735 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0684

2019 3.1999 ‐ 3.1999 2.6747 0.4741 5.8534 2.4023 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0092

2020 3.1999 0.3977 3.5976 2.6747 0.4566 5.6027 2.4516 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.1880

2021 3.1999 0.3907 3.5906 2.6747 0.4426 5.5340 2.4020 0.1451 0.2597 ‐ 15.0487

Source: Cochise County Tax Assessor

72

DRAFT

99



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

June 30, 2021

Taxpayer Type of business Assessed value
Percent of total

assessed valuation

Sulpher Springs Valley Electric Utility $ 1,395,219 %1.13
WAA GST Exempt Trust Real Estate 1,253,560 1.02
4029 Golden LLC. Real Estate 652,816 0.53
Southwest Gas Corporation (T&D) Utility 594,310 0.48
Pueblo Del Sol Water Company Utility 590,499 0.48
Qwest Corporation Telecommunications 465,514 0.38
Haymore Plaza Associates Real Estate 396,000 0.32
Stewart Title & Trust Real Estate 371,429 0.30
Boyd Sierra Vista GSA, LLC Real Estate 369,575 0.30
Lively Living Trust Real Estate 311,443 0.25

$ 6,400,365 %5.19

Total assessed value $ 122,972,129

June 30, 2012 

Taxpayer Type of business Assessed value
Percent of total

assessed valuation

Sulpher Springs Valley Electric Utility $ 1,395,219 %0.96
WAA GST Exempt Trust Real Estate 1,253,560 0.86
4029 Golden LLC. Real Estate 652,816 0.45
Southwest Gas Corporation (T&D) Utility 594,310 0.41
Pueblo Del Sol Water Company Utility 590,499 0.41
Qwest Corporation Telecommunications 465,514 0.32
Haymore Plaza Associates Real Estate 396,000 0.27
Stewart Title & Trust Real Estate 371,429 0.26
Boyd Sierra Vista GSA, LLC Real Estate 369,575 0.25
Lively Living Trust Real Estate 311,443 0.21

$ 6,400,365 %4.40

Total assessed value $ 145,339,996

Source: Cochise County Assessor

73

DRAFT

100



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collected within the fiscal year of
the levy Total collections to date

Fiscal year
Operating property

tax levy Tax roll corrections
Property tax levy

(adjusted) Amount % of levy
Collections in

subsequent years Amount % of levy

2012 $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐ $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐

2013 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2014 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2015 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2016 3,499,659 (78) 3,499,581 3,493,819 99.8 3,161 3,496,980 99.9

2017 3,467,392 (119) 3,467,273 3,439,944 99.2 24,816 3,464,760 99.9

2018 3,591,348 245 3,591,593 3,460,354 96.4 128,055 3,588,409 99.9

2019 3,703,000 (426) 3,702,574 3,598,410 97.2 100,057 3,698,467 99.9

2020* 4,264,840 (409) 4,264,431 4,150,316 97.3 108,440 4,258,756 99.9

2021 4,390,118 ‐ 4,390,118 4,302,627 98.0 ‐ 4,302,627 98.0

Source: Cochise County Treasurer

Note: Information from fiscal year 2012 through 2015 could not be obtained.  This schedule will be completed prospectively from fiscal year 2016 forward.

*‐ First year for Debt Service Fund Levy

74

DRAFT

101



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

General obligation bonds Total outstanding debt

Fiscal year Outstanding Legal limit
Capital lease

debt Amount
Percentage of

personal income Debt per capita

2012 $ ‐ $ 8,764,244 $ ‐ $ ‐ %‐ ‐

2013 ‐ 7,996,052 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2014 ‐ 7,771,761 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2015 ‐ 7,448,577 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2016 ‐ 7,078,800 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2017 ‐ 6,933,566 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

2018 ‐ 6,851,138 371,522 371,522 0.01 2.89

2019 4,123,554 6,976,046 ‐ 4,123,554 0.08 31.64

2020 4,123,554 7,132,671 28,859 4,152,413 0.06 31.74

2021 3,812,642 7,378,828 12,683 3,825,325 0.01 29.14

Source: Personal income and population information can be found in the Demographic and Economic Statistics.

75

DRAFT

102



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

Governmental Unit

Debt outstanding
at June 30, 
2020 *

Estimated
percentage
applicable

Estimated share
of overlapping

debt

Debt repaid with property taxes:

Cochise County $ 128,552,832 %23.86 $ 30,672,536

Palominas School District 153,439 23.86 36,610

Cochise County Junior College 19,690,000 23.86 4,698,008

Subtotal, overlapping debt 35,407,154

Fry Fire District direct debt 3,825,325

Total direct and overlapping debt $ 39,232,479

Note:  Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographical boundaries of the
District.   This Schedule estimates  the portion of  the outstanding debt of  those overlapping governments  that  is
borne by the residents and businesses of the District.  The process recognizes that, when considering the District's
ability to issue and repay long‐term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be
taken into account.  However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for
repaying the debt, of each overlapping government.

Source: Arizona Department of Administration

* Outstanding debt as of June 30, 2020 is the most recent information available.

76

DRAFT

103



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Net assessed value $122,972,129 $118,877,849 $116,267,430 $114,185,635 $115,559,434 $117,979,998 $124,142,951 $129,529,355 $133,267,537 $146,070,727

Debt limit rate %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6 %6

Debt limit 7,378,328 7,132,671 6,976,046 6,851,138 6,933,566 7,078,800 7,448,577 7,771,761 7,996,052 8,764,244
Less bond and lease obligations (3,825,325) (4,152,413) (4,123,554) (371,522) ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Legal debt margin $ 3,553,003 $ 2,980,258 $ 2,852,492 $ 6,479,616 $ 6,933,566 $ 7,078,800 $ 7,448,577 $ 7,771,761 $ 7,996,052 $ 8,764,244

Total net debt applicable to the
limit as a percentage of debt
limit %51.85 %58.22 %59.11 %5.42 %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐ %‐

77

DRAFT

104



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year
Population

(Cochise County)
Personal income

(thousands of dollars)
Per capita income
(Cochise County)

Unemployment rate
(Cochise County)

2012 130,537 4,686,920 35,905 9.5

2013 130,752 4,535,292 34,686 9.7

2014 130,906 4,465,980 34,116 8.7

2015 129,628 4,562,024 35,193 7.4

2016 129,112 4,657,515 36,073 6.1

2017 128,343 4,732,071 36,871 5.5

2018 128,383 4,895,203 38,130 5.7

2019 130,319 5,109,813 39,210 6.0

2020 130,808 6,605,150 50,495 8.8

2021 131,264 4,959,285 37,781 6.3

Sources: Office of Economic Opportunity ‐ Arizona Labor Statistics

78

DRAFT

105



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

June 30, 2021

Employer Employees Rank

Trade, Transportation, Utilities 6,600 1
State & Local Government 6,000 2
Professional & Business Services 5,200 3
Federal Government 5,000 4
Education & Health services 4,200 5
Leisure & Hospitality 3,300 6
Natural Resources and Construction 2,100 7
Financial Activities 800 8
Other Services (except Public Administration) 600 9
Manufacturing 600 10

Total 34,400

June 30, 2015

Employer Employees Rank

Fort Huachuca 7,956 1
Cochise County 816 2
Sierra Vista Unified Districts No. 68 707 3
Wal‐Mart Stores, Inc. 643 4
General Dynamics Information Technology 623 5
Canyon Vista Medical Center 623 6
Arizona State Prison Complex 615 7
Cochise College 521 8
Douglas Unified School District No. 27 492 9
Northrop Grumman Corporation 450 10

Total 13,446

Source: Cochise College Center for Economic Research

Note 1: 2020 is the most recent year available for employment statistics and there are no statistics for 2014 and prior

Note 2: Employer statistics within district boundaries were not available.  Employer statistics are based on Cochise
County

Note 3: Statistics were only available by industry for 2020 and by specific employer in 2015

79

DRAFT

106



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public safety

Fire prevention inspections ‐ 254 267 281 260 230 20 251 195 169

Emergency medical service
calls ‐ 2,368 2,229 2,428 2,582 2,837 1,115 1,354 2,380 2,786

Patient transports ‐ 1,642 1,565 1,663 1,603 1,912 1,969 1,602 1,403 1,404

Fire responses ‐ 55 61 94 99 102 31 88 30 52

Other responses ‐ including
hazardous materials, mutual
aid, public service ‐ 782 729 654 584 523 351 435 206 264

Miscellaneous ‐ including false
alarms, good intent ‐ 467 435 739 398 286 348 384 342 611

Source: Various District departments

80

DRAFT

107



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

FULL‐TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public Safety

Fire and rescue service 45 39 39 37 36 36 37 40 42 42

Fire prevention 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Administrative and support 5 4 5 4 4 6 6 6 6 6

Total 51 44 45 42 41 43 44 47 49 49

Source: District HR department

81

DRAFT

108



FRY FIRE DISTRICT

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal year

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Public safety

Number of Stations 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Equipment:
Ambulances 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Engines 5 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Brush rigs 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Rescue units 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Tenders 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Support units 7 6 6 5 5 5 5 5 4 4
UTV/ATV 1 1 1 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Source: District capital assets records

82

DRAFT

109



Report on Internal Control and on Compliance

DRAFT

110



Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards and Report on Compliance with State

of Arizona Regulatory Requirements

Governing Board and Management
Fry Fire District
Sierra Vista, AZ

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained  in Government Auditing Standards  issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Fry Fire
District,  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  June  30,  2021  and  the  related  notes  to  the  financial  statements,  which
collectively comprise  the District’s basic  financial statements and have  issued our  report  thereon dated November
23, 2021.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s  internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the District’s internal control.

A  deficiency  in  internal  control  exists when  the  design  or  operation  of  a  control  does  not  allow management  or
employees,  in  the  normal  course  of  performing  their  assigned  functions,  to  prevent,  or  detect  and  correct,
misstatements on a  timely basis.   A material weakness  is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,  in  internal
control such that there  is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will  not  be  prevented,  or  detected  and  corrected on  a  timely basis.   A  significant  deficiency  is  a deficiency, or  a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was  not  designed  to  identify  all  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that might  be material weaknesses  or  significant
deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

84

DRAFT

111



Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's  financial statements are  free  from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which  could have  a direct  and material  effect on  the determination of  financial
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit,  and  accordingly, we  do  not  express  such  an  opinion.    The  results  of  our  tests  disclosed  no  instances  of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Report on Compliance with State of Arizona Regulatory Requirements

In connection with our audit, nothing contrary came to our attention that caused us to believe that Fry Fire District
incurred  any debt or  liability  in  excess of  taxes  levied  and  to be  collected  and  the monies  actually  available  and
unencumbered at that time in the District's general fund, except for those liabilities as prescribed in Arizona Revised
Statutes  section 48‐805,  subsection B, paragraph 2  and  sections 48‐806  and 48‐807, or  that  the District  failed  to
comply with Arizona Revised Statutes section 48‐805.02, subsection F.  However, our audit was not directed primarily
toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.   This report  is supplemental reporting as required by Arizona
statutes  intended  solely  for  the  information  and  use  of  management  and  the  members  of  the  Arizona  State
Legislature and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report  is solely to describe the scope of our testing of  internal control and compliance and the
results  of  that  testing,  and  not  to  provide  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  entity’s  internal  control  or  on
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the entity’s  internal control and compliance.   Accordingly, this communication  is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Tucson, Arizona
November 23, 2021

85

DRAFT

112


	Agenda
	C.1 Minutes
	D.1 Top 10 Priorities
	D.2 Maintenance Plans
	E.1 November
	E.1 December
	E.1 January
	E.3 Web Form
	E.4 Proclamation 2022-02
	E.5 Huachuca City RFP #1 WFD.PDF
	E.5 Huacuca City RFP #2 WFD.PDF
	E.5 HC Proposal 1 Cover Letter.pdf
	E.5 HC Proposal 1.pdf
	E.5 Supplemental Information_1.pdf
	TOC for packet 1.pdf
	E.5 Binder4.pdf
	FFD Leadership Team
	NFPA Heavy Class Maintenance Schedule
	NFPA Light Duty Maintenance Schedule
	2021 FFD Fee Schedule
	2021 FFD ACFR DRAFT


	E.5 HC Proposal 2 Cover Letter.pdf
	E.5 HC Proposal 2.pdf
	E.5 Supplemental Information_2.pdf
	TOC for packet 1.pdf
	Binder4.pdf
	FFD Leadership Team
	NFPA Heavy Class Maintenance Schedule
	NFPA Light Duty Maintenance Schedule
	2021 FFD Fee Schedule
	2021 FFD ACFR DRAFT


	E.5 HC Proposal 3 Cover Letter.pdf
	E.5 HC Proposal 3.pdf
	E.5 Supplemental Information.pdf
	TOC for packet 1.pdf
	Binder4.pdf
	FFD Leadership Team
	NFPA Heavy Class Maintenance Schedule
	NFPA Light Duty Maintenance Schedule
	2021 FFD Fee Schedule
	2021 FFD ACFR DRAFT





